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UPS Limited

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2019

The Directors present their Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Principal activity
The principal activity of the Company is to provide a consolidated global parcel delivery and courier service,
along with the assistance of its wotldwide associated companies.

Fair review of the business
Turnover has declined slightly during the year but the Directors expect modest growth in both domestic and
intermational turnover in the coming year.

The Company's key financial and other performance indicators during the year were as follows:

Unit 2019 2018
Turnover £'000 1,069,300 1,134,875
Gross Profit £000 262,205 260,730
Operating profit £'000 94,174 102,254
Gross profit margin % 25 23
Operating profit margin % 9 9

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Company's business activities togcther with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance
and Company's forccasts and projections, and taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading
performance, show that the Company will continue to grow and increase its turnover.

The principle risks and uncertainties facing the Company are:

¢ The future economic performance of the UK market will affect the business. Any major downturn as a rcsult
of the UK leaving the EU and COVID-19 could impact futurc growth forecasts.

+ The Company needs to continue to competc in order to continue to grow market share in the face of strong
compctition.

» The Company must continue to manage its cost base and to provide quality service at a cost-eflective level.
The risk the Company faces is the ability of another company to offer the same quality of service for less
cost. The Company continues to improve its technologies and capabilities.

Section 172 statement
The following statement describes how the Directors have had regard to the matters set out in section 172(1)(a)
to (f) when performing their duty under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006.

Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires a director of a company to act in a way that they consider, in
good faith, would most likely promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members as a wholc. In
catrying out this duty under 5172, the Directors of thc Company have given regard, among other things, to the
following:
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UPS Limited

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Section 172 statement (continued)

Decision making process

The Directors of the Company act in good faith to ensure the continued growth, profitability and suitability of
the Company. In doing so, they are required to consider the short, medium and long term positive and negative
impacts of their decisions. Business strategies and decisions are subject to a rigorous review process involving
various levels of employees from numerous departments. Moreover, potential legal and ethical risks which may
compromise the performance of the Company arc monitored and discussed in weekly scnior management
mectings, regular catch-up meetings and monthly risk and compliance mectings. These are reinforced by an
open-door policy whereby employces are encouraged to make (heir manager aware of any ethical and/or legal
risk.

Employees

The Company Dircctors rccognise that the cmployees are fundamental to upholding the Company's key
principles of honesty, quality and integrity, as well as ensuring continued financial success. The Company
continually communicates with its employees through formal and informal meetings, offline and online
communication such as the weekly employee newsletter and also the pre-work communication notice (PCN) in
operating facilities. Moreover, the Company adopts a "No Retaliation” Policy to ensure employees are
comfortable in voicing their views and concerns without fear of reprisal. The Company also offers a 24/7
employee helpline, run by external providers, to offer employees an alternative method of voicing their views
outside of normal business channels.

The Company is dedicated to investing in thc growth and development of its cmployces through a variety of
methods including continuous training and regular performance and salary reviews.

Environment and communities

The Directors recognise the importance of community engagement and the need to make a positive impact on
the environment. In 2016, the UPS Group committed to achieving 10 sustainability goals, more details of which
can be found in the Corporate Sustainability Report. The Group is proud to have achieved 4 of these goals one
year ahead of schedule.

In support of the above locally, UPS in the UK has been deploying electric vehicles for over a decade. The
Central London operation (based in Camden) is now approximately one third electric, and was also the site of a
world-first deployment of a combined smart grid and energy storage solution developed by UPS and its partners
to overcome local grid infrastructure constraints. The Company also runs renewable gas-powered HGVs from
its Tamworth hub as part of the overnight city to city feeder network, having invested in an on-site cryogenic
storage tank for liquefied gas.

More details can be tound in the Group's Sustainability Report and the Group's dedicated sustainability website
- https://sustainability.ups.com/.

Customers, suppliers, consultants and partners

The Company understands thal its success is underpinned by a loyal customer base. As enshrined in the
Company's Code of Conduct, the Directors aim to secure and develop customer relationships fairly and on the
basis of superior services and products and competitive prices. Directors will continually be appraised of, and
involved in, customer developments and decision making. .

Any decision to engage with suppliers, consultants and partners is based on a strict criterion such as
qualifications, compctitive pricing and reputation. Thc Company's Code of Conduct imparts a strict duty of
disclosure on each employee to ensure any personal vested intetest is disclosed prior to deciding on third party
engagement. The Company continually monitors its relationships to ensure they conform to internal procedures
and the relevant competition law requirements.
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UPS Limited

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Section 172 statement (continued)

Fair treatment of members
For the time being, the Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of UPS (UK) Holding Limited.

Principal decisions

Being a part of a large multinational group of companies, the Company adheres to policics und procedures
which are often set by the ultimate parent company, United Parcel Service Inc.. During the year there were no
principal decisions, within the context of section 172 reporting, for the Company to disclose.

Approved by the Board on....0.... & a?ldng%gnc on its behalf by:

Bram Matthew Wclsh
Company Secretary and Director
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UPS Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2019

The Directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Directors of the Company
The Directors who held oftice during the year were as follows:

Peter Raoul Stewardson

Elisabel Rodriguez Marquez - Company Secretary and Director (resigned 1 August 2019)
Louis Anthony Rivieccio Jr

Mark Simon Vale

Bram Matthew Welsh - Company Secretary and Director (appointed 1 August 2019)

Financial risk management
Objectives and policies
The Company is exposed to price risks, including market, currency and interest rate risk, along with credit,

liquidity, cash flow, and regulatory risk. The Company has adopted risk management policies that seek to
mitigate these risks in a cost-effective manner.

Financial assets that expose the Company to financial risk consist principally of cash, trade receivables and
other receivables. Financial liabilities that exposc thc Company to financial risk consist principally of trade
payables and othcr payables. The financial risks associated with these financial instruments are considered
minimal.

Foreign exchange risk
The Directors are of the view that the Company is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk. The
majority of foreign exchange balances are settled in the currency in which they arise.

Interest rate risk
Interest-bearing tinancial assets and liabilitics are all short term. Hence with the current interest rate level any

futurc variation in interest rates will not have a material impact on net profit.

Credit risk
The Company is susceptible to the risk of bad debt from its trade debtors. The Company manages this risk by
adhering to strict internal credit management process and procedures.

Liquidity risk

Management maintain liquidity by monitoring the level of payments and receipts against the ievel of funds held.
In order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing operations and future
developments, cash management is a key priority.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other current receivables and payables approximate
their fair values due to the relatively short-term maturing of these financial instruments.

COVID-19

The extent to which COVID-19 impacts the Company's results will depend on future developments, which are
highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information which may emerge concerning the severity
of the coronavirus, the potential spread to other regions and the actions taken to contain the coronavirus or treat
its impact.
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UPS Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Brexit

The Dircctors expect the general level of activity to remain consistent with 2019 in the forthcoming year. The
Dircctors have considered the effect of Brexit and put in place the required resources that are needed for the UK
leaving the EU. They believe that the Company is in a position to handle any possible financial implications that
arise as a result.

Political donations
There were no political donations from the Company for the financial year end 31 December 2019 (2018:£Nil).
There were no charitable donations for the financial year end 31 December 2019 (2018:£Nil).

Employment of disabled persons

Applications for employmcnt by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the abilities of
the applicant concerned. In the event of members of staft becoming disabled every eftort is made to ensure that
their employment with the Company continues and that appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of the
Company that the training, career development and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be
identical to that of other employees.

Employee involvement

The Company places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and has continued to keep them
informed on matters affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance ot the
Company. This is achieved through formal and informal meetings, online and offline communication such as the
weekly employee newsletter. The enterprise’s quarterly earnings updates are provided to all employees.
Employee representatives are consulted regularly on a wide range of matters aftecting their current and future
interests.

Future developments

The Directors expect the general level of activity to remain consistent with 2019 in the forthcoming year.
However, the future economic pertormance of the UK market may potentially affect the business. Any major
downturn as a result of COVID-19 and the withdrawal of the UK from the EU could impact on future growth
forecasts.

Stakeholder engagement

The Directors recognise the importance of clear communication and proactive engagement with their
stakeholders and further detail on the engagement with stakeholders undertaken during the year appears as part
of the Directors’ section 172 Statement within the Strategic Report.

Employee engagement

The Directors recognise the importance of clear communication and proactive engagement with their employees
and further detail on the engagement during the year appears as part of the Directors’ section [72 Statement
within the Strategic Report.
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UPS Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Statement of corporate governance arrangements
The Company is the main UK trading company within the UPS group of companies. The principal activity of
the Company is the integrated delivery of parcels across the UK and to destinations globalty.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has not adopted an externally published corporate
governance code. [nstead, the Company follows the well-cstablishcd corporatc governance practices and
policics determined by thc UPS Group, ultimately owned by UPS Inc.. This is designed to ensure, among other
things, a harmonised approach to corporate governance within and across the UPS Group.

The Company's central purposc and values are outlined on its website at About UPS | UPS - United Kingdom
(https://www.ups.com/gb/enfabout.page). These principles underpin the conduct of every Director and employee
within the organisation.

The Company understands the importance and benefit of having a broad range of skills, experiences and
backgrounds in its teams. The board consists of Directors with considerable expertise in their respective ficlds.
Being a part of a wider, international group of companies, the sizc and structurc ot the Board of Directors and
their knowledge, skill and expericnce is appropriate for the Company’s strategic needs and challenges. The
Directors delegate responsibility for specific areas of management o a senior leadership team who are
responsible for the management of their respective teams. The Directors and senior management team meet
frequently to report, update and monitor developments across the business, and pursuant to section 172 of the
Companies Act 2006, the Directors of the Company ensure that they exercise independent judgement and
objectivity when making decisions, in addition to the other duties under the Companies Act 2006.

Appointments to the Board and the senior management team, as with all appointments across the Company, are
made in accordance with Equal Opportunities and Promotion from Within Policies. Thc rcnumcration structurc
is established in such a way that UPS secures and rctains quality senior management who can deliver UPS®
strategy in a manner consistent with both its purpose and interests of its shareholders.

The Company has in place comprehensive risk monitoring procedures which include a monthly Business Risk
and Compliance meeting where any relevant issues are considered in detail and appropriate action decided upon.

The Company invests in processes to identify future business opportunities and continue to grow the business.
Sustainability is a priority, with dedicated personnel within the Company and the wider group responsible for
identifying future legislative, ethical and environmental changes which may impact the business and ensuring
they arc adapted to. The Company recogniscs the importance of monitoring, and minimising, its contribution to
carbon emissions. At a group level, UPS voluntarily adheres to the internationally recognised Global Reporting
Initiative and Sustainability Accounting Standards Board frameworks.

Stakeholder engagement is critical to the business and it is a priority for the Company to ensure strong employee
engagement. The Company has in place a series of committees and structures, including the National
Negotiation Committee, the Employee Forum and the European Works Council, to facilitate communication and
engagement with all employees and ensure they are continually informed and consulted in respect of any
developments in the business. The Company also has in place an "Open Door" Policy, a "No Retaliation" Policy
and a confidential (third party operated) employee helpline.

Going concern
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The extent to which COVID-19 impacts the Company's results will depend on future developments, which arc
highly unccrtain and cannot be predicted, including ncw information which may emerge concerning the severity
of the coronavirus, the potential spread to other regions and the actions taken to contain the coronavirus or treat
its impact including the successful roll out of a vaccine.
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UPS Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Going concern (continued)

The Directors have reviewed the unaudited post year end results to the end of November 2020 and are satistied
regarding the performance of the Company. The Directors have also prepared budgets and cash flow forecasts
for a period of at least twelve months from the date of the approval of the financial statements.

Furthermore, the Dircctors have obtained confirmation from its ultimate parent company that it will continue to
make sufficient financial resources available to the Company to enable it to continue its operating activities for a
period of not less than twelve months (rom the date of approval of the financial statements and to enable the
Company to meet its liabilities as they fall due.

The ultimate parent company has also indicated that they will not seek repayment of the inter-company amounts
until the Company has generated sufficient funds from its operations after paying third party liabilities.

On this basis, the Directors considcr it appropriate to prepare the Company's financial statements on a going
concern basis. Accordingly, these financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying amount or
classification of assets and liabilitics that would result if the Company was unable to continue as a going
concern.

Directors' liabilities
The Company has made a qualifying third party indemnity provision for the benefit of its Directors’ which were
made during the year and remain in force at the date of this report.

Disclosure of information to the auditors

Each Director has taken steps that they ought (o have taken as a Director in order to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information. The
Directors confirm that there is no relevant information that they know of and of which they know the auditors
are unaware.

Reappointment of auditors
In accordance with section 485 of thc Companies Act 2006, a rcsolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte
Trcland LLP as auditors of thc Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Events after the financial period including COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) as a
pandemic, which continues to spread throughout the world. The outbreak and rapid spread ot COVID-19 began
to have an adverse impact on the Company's operations and financial performance, as well as on the operations,
financial performance and liquidity of many of the Company’s customers. The Company is unable to predict the
full extent to which COVID-19 will continuc to adversely impact them.

COVID-19 is having a significant effect on overall economic conditions. The Company’s top priority is to
protect its employees and their families, as well as its customers. The Company is taking all precautionary
measures as directed by health authorities and local and national governments. The Company continues to
manitor the outbreak of COVID-19 and other closures, or closures for a longer period of time, which may be
required to help ensure the health and safety of its employees and its customers.

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in, and is cxpccted to continuc to result in, a substantial curtailment of
business activities (including the decrease in demand for a broad variety of goods and services), weakened
economic conditions, supply chain disruptions, significant economic uncertainty and volatility in the financial
markets, both in the United Kingdom and abroad.
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UPS Limited

Directors' Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Events after the financial period including COVID-19 (continued)

Because the severity, magnitude and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and its economic consequences are
uncertain, rapidly changing and difficult to predict, the impacts on the Company's operations are uncertain and
difficult to predict. As noted in the Going Concern portion of the financial statements for the Company, the
Directors have obtained indications that the ultimate parent company will continue to make sufficient financial
resources available to the Company to enable it to continue its operating activities for the identified period.

However, the Company has carried out an additional review of the resuits and net assets as at 30 June 2020.
Following an initial decline in trading performance at the beginning ot the pandemic, year to date results as at
30 June 2020 are now back in linc with the same period in 2019 and thc Company is in a strong net asset
position.

The ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic will depend on evolving factors, many of which are not within
the Company’s control, and to which the Company may not be able to effectively respond. These risks include,
but are not limited to: a significant reduction in revenue due to curtailment of business from its customers; a
reduction in the net profitability due to long-term changes in the Company's mix of products and services: other
effects from governmental, business and individuals’ actions that have been and continue to be taken in response
to the pandemic (including restrictions on travel, transportation and workforce pressurcs). Additional intcrmal
risk factors include reductions in opcrating effectiveness due to employees working remotely and unavailability
of key personnel. Leadership within the Company continues to monitor the impact of COVID-19.

These financial statements have been prepared as of, and for the year ended, 31 December 2019, and reflect
events subsequent to that date that provide additional evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the
reporting period. The effects of COVID-19 on the Company are considered an event that is indicative of
conditions that arose after the reporting period and, accordingly, no adjustments have been made to the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Dividends
There were no dividends paid or received in 2019 (2018: £nil).

Decamber 23 X 0030
Approved by the Board on ‘Mb ..... and signed on its behalf by:

Bram Matthew Welsh
Company Secretary and Director
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UPS Limited
Statement of Directors' Responsibilities

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practicc (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 "The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland" and applicable law). Under
company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satistied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.
In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

= select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

» state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

* prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Deloitte.

Deloitte Ireland LLP
Chartered Accountants &
Statutory Audit Firm

UPS Limited
Independent auditor’'s report to the members of UPS Limited
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements of UPS Limited (the ‘company’):

e give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and
of its profit for the year then ended;

¢ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”; and

+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, which comprise:

e the profit and loss account;

the statement of comprehensive income;

the balance sheet;

the statement of changes in equity; and

the related notes 1 to 28, including a summary of the significant accounting policies set
out in note 2.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting
Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We are required by ISAs (UK) to report in respect of the following matters where:

o the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or

e the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from
the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Continued on next page/
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/Continued from previous page

UPS Limited
Independent auditor’'s report to the members of UPS Limited

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Continued on next page/
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/Continued from previous page
UPS Limited

Independent auditor’s report to the members of UPS Limited

Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that the auditor identified during the audit.

Continued on next page/
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UPS Limited
Independent auditor’'s report to the members of UPS Limited
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

« the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year
for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements;
and

o the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained
in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic
report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters

if, in our opinion:

« adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

+« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a

body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. ~

Ciaran O'Brien FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Deloitte & Touche House

Earlsfort Terrace

Dublin 2

Ireland

23 December 2020
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UPS Limited

Profit and Loss Account for the Year Ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Note £000 £000
Turnover 4 1,069,300 1,134,875
Cost of sales (807,095) (874,145)
Gross profit 262,205 260,730
Administrative expenses (168,031) (158,476)
Operating profit S 94,174 102,254
Other interest receivable and similar income 6 11 176
Interest payable and similar expenses 7 (751) (212)
(740) (36)
Profit before tax 93,434 102,218
Taxation 11 (17,251) (23,397)
Profit for the financial year 76,183 78,821

The above results were derived from continuing operations.

The notes on pages 19 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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UPS Limited

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Note £ 000 £000
Profit for the year 76,183 78,821
Remeasurement gain on defined pension schemes before tax 3,465 30,432
Change in irrecoverable surplus in defined benefit pension
scheme (290) 8,090
Deferred tax effect 11 (540) (6,139)
Total comprehensive income for the year 78,818 111,204

The notes on pages 19 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Registration number: 01933173)
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019

Fixed assets
Tangiblc asscts
Investments

Current assets

Stocks

Debtors

Cash at bank and in hand

UPS Limited

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Provisions for liabilities

Net assets excluding pension asset
Net pension asset

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium reserve
Other reserves

Profit and loss account

Total equity

Approved and authorised by the Board on

Bram Matthew Welsh
Company Secretary and Director

The notes on pages 19 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note

12

15
16

20
21
21
21

December b 2030
and signed on its behalf by:

2019 2018

£ 000 £ 000
364,047 246,223
42,793 42,793
406,840 289,016
2,798 1,475
291,683 321.228
423 1.4
294,904 324,417
(255,126) (242,982)
39,778 81,435
446,618 370,451

{12,789 (13,749)
433,829 356.702
7,497 5,806
441,326 362.508
2 2
196.952 196.952

(72,263) (72,263)
316,635 237.817
441,326 362.508




At | January 2018
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

At 31 December 2018

At 1 January 2019
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

At 31 December 2019

UPS Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Called up share

Share premium

Profit and loss

capital reserve  Other reserves account Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2 196,952 (72,263) 126,613 251,304

- - - 78,821 78,821

- - - 32,383 32,383

- - - 111,204 111,204

2 196.952 (72,263) 237.817 362,508

Called up share  Share premium Profit and loss

capital reserve  Other reserves account Total
£000 £ 000 £000 £000 £000

2 196,952 (72,263) 237,817 362,508

- . - 76,183 76,183

- - - 2.635 2.635

- - - 78,818 78,818

2 196,952 (72,263) 316,635 441,326

The notes on pages 19 to 45 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019

1 General information

The address of its registered office is:
UPS House

Forest Road

Feltham

Middlesex

TW13 7DY

2 Accounting policies

Summary of significant accounting policies and key accounting estimates

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statcments are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statement of compliance
These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland'.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include certain
items at fair value, and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial
Reporting Council.

The tunctional cutrency of the Company is considered to be Pounds Sterling (£) because that is the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the Company operates.

The level of rounding is to the nearest thousand ('000) unless otherwise stated.
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty are disclosed in Note 3.

Summary of disclosure exemptions ]

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 102 and has therefore taken advantage ot
the disclosure exemptions available to it in respect of its separate financial statements. The Company is
consolidated in the financial statements of its ultimate parent company. Exemptions have been taken in these
separate company financial statements in relation to intragroup transactions, financial instruments, presentation
of a cash tlow statement, remuneration of key managcment personnel and sharc-bascd payments.

The Company is exempt from preparing consolidated financial statements by virtue of section 401 of the
Companies Act 20086, as disclosed in Note 13.
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Going concern
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The extent to which COVID-19 impacts the Company's results will depend on future developments, which are
highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information which may emerge concerning the severity
of the coronavirus, the potential spread to other regions and the actions taken to contain the coronavirus or treat
its impact including the successful roll out of a vaccine.

The Directors have reviewed the unaudited post year end results to the end of November 2020 and are satisfied
regarding the performance of the Company. The Directors have also prepared budgets and cash flow forecasts
for a period of at least twelve months from the datc of the approval of the financial statements.

Furthermore, the Directors have obtained confirmation from its ultimate parent company that it will continue to
make sufficient financial resources available to the Company to enable it to continue its operating activities for a
period of not less than twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements and to enable the
Company to meet its liabilities as they fall due.

The ultimate parent company has also indicated that they will not seek repayment of the inter-company amounts
until the Company has generated sufficient funds from its operations aftcr paying third party liabilities.

On this basis, the Direclors consider it appropriate (o prepare the Company's financial statements on a going
concern basis. Accordingly, these financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying amount or
classification of assets and liabilities that would result if the Company was unable to continue as a going
concern.

Third party and employer liability claims provision and related recoveries
A provision is made at the year end for the estimated costs of claims incurred but not settled at the Balance
Sheet date, including the cost of claims incurred but not yet reported ("[BNR") to the Company.

The Company takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims
exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that that final outcome
will prove to be different from the original liability established.

Turnover

Turnover comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and provision
of services in the ordinary course of the Company’s activities. Turnover is shown net of sales value added tax,
returns, rebates and discounts.

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate prevailing at the date of
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated into the
respective functional currency of the entity at the rates prevailing on the reporting period date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate on the date when
the fair value is re-measured.

Non-monetary items measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Profit and Loss
Account, except that a change attributable to an item of income or expense recognised as other comprehensive
income is also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date in the countrics where the Company operates and gencrates taxable
income.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences between taxable profits and profits reported in the
financial statemcnts.

Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that they will be recovered
against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Deferred tax is measured using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference.

Tangible assets
Tangible assets are stated in the Balance Sheet at cost, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of tangible assets includes directly attributable incremental costs incurred in their acquisition and
installation.

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, othcr than land and propertics under construction
over their estimated uscful lives, as follows:

Asset class Depreciation method and rate
Land Nil

Buildings Straight Line: 20-40 years
Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease
Other property, plant and equipment Straight Line: 3-11 years

No depreciation was charged in the year for properties under construction as, at the Balance Sheet date, these
were not yet complete and ready for use.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. The consideration for each acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair values at acquisition date of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed,
and equity instruments issued by the group in exchange for control of the acquired, plus any costs directly
attributable to the business combination. When a business combination agreement provides for an adjustment to
the cost of the combination contingent on future events, the group includes the estimated amount of that
adjustment in the cost of the combination at the acquisition date if the adjustment is probable and can be
measured reliably.

Investments
Interests in subsidiaries are stated in the Balance Sheet at cost less provisions tor impairment.
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and call deposits, and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value.

Trade debtors
Trade debtors are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business.

Trade debtors are recognised initially at the transaction price. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for the impairment of trade
debtors is established when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts
due according to the original terms of the receivables.

Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell. Cost is
determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises direct materials and. where applicable, direct labour
costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. At each reporting date, stocks are assessed for impairment. If stocks are impaired, the carrying
amount is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and scll; the impainnent loss is recogniscd
immcdiately in the Profit and Loss Account.

Trade creditors .

Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have heen acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Trade creditors are classified as current liabilities if the Company does not have an
unconditional right, at the end of the reporting period, to defer settlement of the creditor for at least twelve
months after the reporting date. If there is an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months
after the reporting date, they are presented as non-currcnt liabilities.

Trade creditors are recognised initially at the transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has an obligation at the reporting date as a result of a past event, it
is probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Equity instruments are measured at the fair value of the cash or other
resources received or receivable, net of the direct costs of issuing the equity instruments. [f payment is deferred
and the time value of money is material, the initial measurement is on a present value basis.

Dividends
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the
reporting period in which the dividends are declared.

Pagc 22



UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Leases
Rentals payable under operating lcascs are charged to the Profit and Loss Account on a straight-line basis over
the life of the lease.

Defined contribution pension obligation

A dcfincd contribtion plan is a pension plan under which fixed contributions are paid into a pension fund and the
Company has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions, even if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior years.

Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are due. If
contribution payments exceed the contribution due for service, the excess is recognised as a prepayment.

Defined benefit pension obligation
Typically defined bencfit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement,
usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the Balance Sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of
the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date minus the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit
obligation is measured using the projected unit credit method. The present valuc of the defined bencfit
obligation is dctermined by discounting the cstimatcd future payments by reference to market yields at the
reporting date on high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be
paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

A surplus is recognised only to the extent it will reduce future contributions by the Company or, in a wind up of
the scheme, the Company is entitled to the surplus as set out in the trust deeds.

Actuarial gains and losses are charged or credited to other comprehensive income in the period in which they
arise.

Share-based payments

The ultimate parent company, UPS Inc., operates a Compensation Plan that permits the grant of non-qualified
and incentive share options to eligible employees. Awards are electable in the form of cash or unrestricted
shares of Class A common stock of UPS Inc., and are fully vested at the time of grant. A provision is recognised
in the financial statements at the year end. The election window closes the following March, and where awards
are issued in the form of shares, the Company settles the liability with UPS Inc.. )

3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Judgements

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with
separately below), that the Directors have made in the process of applying the Company's accounting policies
and that have the most significant etfect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Retirement benefit obligations

The Company's total obligation in respect ot defined benefit pension schemes is calculated by independent,
qualified actuaries, updated at least annually. The size of the obligation is sensitive to actuarial assumptions.
These include demographic assumptions covering mortality and longevity, and economic assumptions covering
price inflation, benefit and salary increases together with the discount rate used. The size of the scheme assets is
also sensitive to asset return levels and the lcvel of contributions from the Company. Further details are set out
in Notc 19.

Useful economic lives of tangible assets
The annual depreciation charge for tangible assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated useful economic lives
and residual values of assets.

The usetul economic lives are reviewed annually and amended when necessary based on future investments,

economic utilisation and the physical condition of the assets.

4 Revenue

The analysis of the Company's revenue for the year from continuing operations is as follows:

2019 2018
_ £ 000 £ 000
Rendering of services 1,069,300 1,134,875

The analysis of the Company's turnover for the year by geographical location is as follows:

2019 2018+

£000 £ 000
UK 301,035 299,836
Europe 479,489 540,938
Rest of world 288,776 294,101
1,069,300 1,134,875

*The allocation of the geographical split has been adjusted in 2019 and reflected in the 2018 comparatives due
to mapping but on an overall basis the total has remained the same.

5 Operating profit
Arrived at after charging/(crediting)

2019 2018
£000 £ 000
Depreciation expense 17,301 18,686
Foreign exchange losses 331 339
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 85 (7,571)
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

6 Other interest receivable and similar income

2019 2018
£000 £ 000
Other finance income 11 176
7 Interest payable and similar expenses
2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000
Interest expense on other finance liabilities 751 212
8 Staff costs
The aggregate payroll costs (including Directors’ remuneration) were as follows:
2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000
Wages and salaries 206,454 205,340
Social security costs 19,234 19,504
Pension costs, defined contribution scheme 7,589 5,882
233,277 230,726

The average number of persons employed by the Company (including Directors) during the year, analysed by
category was as follows:

2019 2018
No. No.
Administration and support 3,492 3,522
Other departments 4,693 4,986
8,185 8,508
9 Directors' remuneration
The Directors' remuneration for the year was as fotlows:
As restated
2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000
Wages and salaries 469 488
Social security costs 122 55
Pension costs 87 54
Long term incentive 162 -
840 597
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

9 Directors' remuneration (continued)

In respect of the highest paid Director:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pension costs

Long term incentive

As restated

2019 2018

£000 £ 000
245 306
89 33
76 -
162 -
572 339

Directors' remuneration has been restated for 2018 to include all compensation and benefits received by the

Directors in the period from the date of their appointment.

10 Auditors' remuneration

Audit of the financial statements

11 Taxation

Tax charged in the Profit and Loss Account

Current taxation
UK corporation tax
UK corporation tax adjustment to prior periods

Deferred taxation
Arising from origination and reversal of timing differences
Adjustment in respect of prior periods

Total deferred taxation

Tax cxpense in the Profit and Loss Account
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2019 2018
£ 000 £000
139 148
2019 2018
£000 £000
16,786 18,942
(3,412) -
13,374 18,942
3,075 1,894
802 2,561
3.877 4,455
17,251 23,397




UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

11 Taxation (continued)

The tax on profit before tax for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (2018 -
higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK) of 19% (2018 - 19%).

The differences are reconciled below:

2019 2018
£ 000 £000
Profit before tax 93,434 102,218
Corporation tax at standard rate 17,752 19,422
Adjustment in respect of prior periods (2,610) 2,561
Expenses not deductible 2,109 1,697
Gains/rollover relief - 251)
Income not taxable - 32)
Total tax charge for the year 17,251 23,397
Deferred tax
Asset/(Liability)
2019 £000
Accelerated tax depreciation (6,760)
Other timing difterences (19)
Deferred tax on pension (1,535)
Rolled over gain (1,058)
9,372)
Asset/(Liability)
2018 £000
Accelerated tax depreciation (3,747
Other timing differences (19)
Deferred tax on pension (1,189)
Rolled over gain -
(4,955)

A reduction in thc UK corporation tax ratc from 19% to 17% (effective 1 April 2020) was substantively enacted
on 6 September 2016. The March 2020 Budget announced that a rate of 19% would continue to apply with
effect from 1 April 2020, and this change was substantively enacted on 17 March 2020. Although the tax rate
has remained at 19%, the deferred tax has been calculated at | 7%.

Pagc 27



UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

11 Taxation (continued)

At beginning of financial year
Profit and Loss Account
Other Copmrehensive Income
Closing (Liability)

12 Tangible assets

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2019
Additions

Disposals
At 31 December 2019

Depreciation

At | January 2019
Charge for the year
Eliminated on disposal

At 31 December 2019
Carrying amount

At 31 December 2019
At 31 December 2018

£ 000 £ 000
(4,955) 5,639

(3,877 (4,455)

(540) (6,139)

(9,372) (4,955)

Properties Other -
Land and under  property, plant

buildings construction  and equipment Total

£ 000 £000 £ 000 £ 000
120,983 30,513 257,286 408,782
67.576 48,044 19,712 135.332

- - (7,136) (7,136)
188,559 78,557 269.862 536,978
21,527 - 141,032 162,559
3,753 - 13,548 17,301

- - (6,929) (6,929)
25,280 - 147,651 172.931
163,279 78,557 122.211 364,047
99,456 30,513 116,254 246,223

Included within the net book value of land and buildings above is £117,543,421 (2018 - £94,763,065) in tespect
of freehold land and buildings and £3,963,205 (2018 - £4,692,469) in respect of long leaschold land and

buildings.
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

13 Investments

2019 2018
£000 £000
Investments in subsidiaries 42,793 42,793
Subsidiaries £ 000
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2019 42,793
Additions e
At 31 December 2019 42,793
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2019 42,793
At 31 December 2018 42,793

Details of undertakings

Details of the investments in which the Company holds 20% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital are as follows:

Proportion of voting rights

Undertaking Registered office Holding and shares held
2019 2018
Subsidiary undertakings
UPS SGP Limited Guernsey Ordinary 100% 100%
Great Britain sharc
UPS Pension Trustees England and Wales Ordinary 100% 100%
Limited Great Britain share

The principal activity of UPS SGP Limited is Property Development.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary ot UPS (UK) Holding Limited and of its ultimate parent company
United Parcel Service International Inc. (UPS Inc). It is included in the consolidated financial statements of UPS
Inc. which are publically available. The Company is exempt by virtue of section 401 of the Companies Act 2006
from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements.
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

14 Stocks

Raw materials and consumables

1S Debtors

Trade debtors
Amounts owed by related parties
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

Amounts owed by related parties are interest free and repayable on demand.

16 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank

17 Creditors

Due within one year

Trade creditors

Amounts due to related parties
Social security and other taxes
Deferred tax liabitity

Other creditors

Accruals

Corporation tax liability

Amounts due to related parties are interest free and repayable on demand.

Note

25

Note

25
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2019 2018
£000 £000
2,798 1,475
2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000
118,612 136,975
169.587 180,391
1,783 462
1,701 3,400
291,683 321,228
2019 2018
£ 000 £000
423 1,714
2019 2018
£000 £000
6,083 14,231
168.209 133,909
41,278 48,875
9,372 3,767
3,133 3,082
21109 21,040
5,942 18,078
255,126

242,982




UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

18 Other provisions

Third party &

employer

Provision  liability claims
dilapidations provision Total
£000 £ 000 £ 000
At 1 January 2019 7,056 6,693 13,749
Provisions created 288 2,136 2,424
Utilised/unused provision reversed (789) (2,595) (3,384)
At 31 December 2019 6,555 6,234 12,789

Provision for dilapidations:

The Company occupies a number of buildings under operating leases. The dilapidation provision relates Lo
buildings works that will be required to meet the Company’s obligations to restore the buildings under the lease
agreement.

Third party and employer liability claims provision and related recoveries:
A provision is made at the year-end for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at the Balance Sheet
date, including the cost of claims incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) to the Company.

The cstimated cost of claims includcs expenses to be incurred in settling claims. The Company takes all
reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims exposures. However, given the
uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the final outcome will prove to be different from
the original liability established.

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims the Company uses a variety of estimation tcchniqucs,
including statistical analysis of historical cxpcricnce, which assumes that the development pattern of the current
claims will be consistent with past experience. Allowance is made, however, for changes or uncertainties which
may cause distortion in the underlying statistics or which might cause the cost of unsettled claims (o increase or
reduce when compared with the cost of previously settled claims including, for example, changes in Company
processes which might accelerate or slow down the development and/or recording of paid or incurred claims,
changes in the legal environment, the effect of inflation, changes in mix of claims and the impact of large losses.

In estimating the cost of claims notified but outstanding, the Company has regard to the accident circumstances
as established by investigations, any information available from legal or other experts and information on court
precedents on liabilities with similar characteristics in previous periods. Exceptionally serious accidents are
assessed separately from the averages indicated by actuarial modelling.

The estimation of IBNR claims is subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the estimated liability for
claims already notified to the Company, because of the lack of any information about the claim event except in
those cases where investigators have been called to the scenes of accidents. Claim types which have a longer
development tail and where the IBNR proportion ot the total reserve is, therefore, high will typically display
greater variations between initial estimates and final outcomes because of the greater degree of difficulty of
estimating these reserves.
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

18 Other provisions (continued)

Provisions for claims are calculated gross of any reinsurance recoveries. Reinsurance recoveries are recognised
where such recoveries can be reasonably estimated. Reinsurance recoveries in respect of estimated IBNR claims
are assumed to be consistent with the historical pattern of such recoveries, adjusted to reflect changes in the
nature and extent of the Company s reinsurance programme over time.

19 Pension and other schemes
UPS Lynx Railway Total

2019 £ 000 £000 £000 £ 000
Opening (Liability)/Asset (6,649) 13,464 180 6,995
Statement of Comprehensive Income (charge)/credit (3,147) 6,242 80 3,175
Profit and Loss charge (4,094) (626) (50) (4,770)
Employer contributions 2,753 879 - 3,632
Closing (liability /asset (1137 19959 210 9,032
Deferred tax asset/(liability) 1,893  (3,393) (35) (1,535
Net Pension (liability)/asset (9,244) 16,566 175 A 7,497

UpPs Lynx Railway Total

2018 £000 £ 000 £ 000 £000
Opening (Liability)/Asset (34,786) 8,123 160 (26,503)
Statement of Comprehensive [ncome credit 28.189 8,073 2,260 38,522
Profit and Loss charge . (7,583) (4,592) (2,240) (14,415)
Employer contributions 7,531 1,860 - 9,391
Closing (liability)/asset (6649) 13,464 180 6,995
Deferred tax asset/(liability) 1,130 (2,289) @31 (1,189)
Net Pension (liability)/assct (5,519) 11,178 149 5,806
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)
Defined benefit pension schemes
UPS

The Company operates in a defined benefit ("DB") scheme for qualifying employees in UPS Limited. The most
recent actuarial valuations of scheme assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carricd
out at 31 December 2019 by Mt Martin Rawe, Fellow of the Institutc and Faculty of Actuaries. The present
valuc of the defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost and past service cost were all measured
using the projected unit credit method.

The Plan is governed by Trustees, who are responsible for ensuring that there are sufficient funds to meet
current and future obligations. The contributions payable into the Plan are determined by the Trustees after
obtaining agreement from the Company, and after obtaining the advice of thc Actuary at each formal triennial
actuarial valuation. At the last tricnnial funding valuation, the Company agreed to pay regular contributions into
the Plan based on a percentage of active employees' salaries. The Plan's asscts are held in a separate fund from
the Company's assets.

The valuation used has been based on the most recent formal actuarial valuation at 31 March 2018 and was
updated by Buck to take account of the requirements of FRS 102 and the assumptions set out below in order to
assess the liabilities of the schemes at 31 December 2019. Plan assets are stated at their fair values at the
respective Balance Sheet dates.

The total cost relating to defined benefit schemes for the year recognised in profit or loss as an expense was
£4,094,000 (2018 - £7,583,000).

Reconciliation of scheme assets and liabilities to assets and liabilities recognised

The amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet are as follows:

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000

Fair value of scheme assets 235.943 208.393
Present value of defined benefit obligation (247,080) (215,042)
(11,6137) (6,649)

Deterred tax asset 1,893 1,130
Defined benefit pension scheme deficit (9,244) 5,519
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

Defined benefit obligation
Changes in the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

Present value at start of year
Current employer service cost
Interest cost

Actuarial losses

Benefits paid

Contribution by Plan participants

Present value at end of year

Fair value of scheme assets
Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:

Fair value at start of year

Intercst income

Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest income
Employer contributions

Contributions by scheme participants

Benefits paid

Fair value at end of year
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2019
£000

215,042
3,935
5,952

27,055
(4,991)
87

247,080

2019
£000

208,393
5,793
23,908
2,753
87

(4,991)
235,943



UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

Analysis of assets

The major categories of scheme assets are as follows:

Cash and Net current assets
Equities

Property

Index Linked Gilts

UK Corporate Bonds
Direct Infrastructure

Direct Lending

Absolute return bonds
Liability Driven Investment

2019 2018
£000 £000
13,785 1,825
94,199 86,725
62,117 62,483
- 8,881

- 21,527
8,467 6,486
6,329 2,357
12,218 18,109
38,206 -
235.321 208.393

The pension scheme has not invested in any of the Company's own financial instruments or in properties or

other assets used by the Company.

Principal actuarial assumptions

The principal actuarial assumptions at the Balance Sheet date are as follows:

Discount rate
Pension increases
Salary increases
Inflation (RPI)
Inflation (CPI)

Post retirement mortality assumptions

Current UK pensioners at retirement age - male
Current UK pensioners at retirement age - female
Future UK pensioners at retirement age - male

Future UK pensioners at retirement age - female

Page 35

2019 2018
% %
2.00 2.80
295 3.15
3.25 3.50
3.00 3.25
2.10 2.25
2019 2018
Years Years
21.7 21.8
234 235
23.5 23.6
25.0 25.1




UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

Lynx

The Company operates in a defined benefit scheme for qualifying employces in UPS Limited. The most recent
actuarial valuations of scheme assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out at
31 December 2019 by Mr Martin Rawc, Fcllow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. The present value of
the defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost and past service cost were all measured using the
projected unit credit method. The plan is now closed.

The Plan is governed by Trustees, who arc responsible for cnsuring that there are sufficient funds to meet
current and future obligations. The contributions payable into the Plan are determined by the Trustees after
obtaining agreement from the Company, and after obtaining the advice of the Actuary at each formal triennial
actuarial valuation. At the last triennial funding valuation, the Company agreed to pay regular contributions into
the Plan based on a percentage of active employees' salaries. The Plan's assets are held in a separate fund from
the Company's assets.

The valuation used has been based on the most recent formal actuarial valuation at 31 March 2018 and was
updated by Buck to take account of the requirements of FRS 102 and the assumptions set out below in order to
assess the liabilities of the schemes at 31 December 2019. Plan assets are stated at their fair values at the
respective Balance Sheet dates.

The total cost relating to defined benefit schemes for the year recognised in profit or loss as an expense was
£626,000 (2018 - £4,592,000).

Reconciliation of scheme assets and liabilities to assets and liabilities recognised

The amounts recognised in the statement of finuncial position are as follows:

2019 2018
£000 £000
Fair value of scheme assets 165.557 129,791
Present value of defined benefit obligation (145,598) (116,327)
19,959 13,464
Deferred tax liability (3,393) (2,289)
Defined benefit pension scheme surplus 16,566 11,178
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

Defined benefit obligation

Changes in the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2019

£000
Present value at start of year 116,327
Current employer service cost 1,015
Interest cost 3,194
Actuarial losses 9,662
Benefits paid (4,560)
Transfer of fully funded Tier | member liabilities* 19,945
Contribution by Plan participants ’ 15
Present value at end of year 145,598

*This is the notional asset value of the transferred in assets as at 31 December 2019,
There have been no curtailments or settlements over the year.

On 18 April 2019, Lynx Tier 1 defined contribution ("DC") funds from the DC section of the Plan transferred in
full to the Lynx Section of the Plan. This included both pre-1997 and post-1997 tunds and both an asset and a
liability. The £19.984 million was invested with the Lynx Section DB assets in line with the current Statement
of Investment Principles and the current value is included in the 31 December 2019 Lynx asset value.

Under UK legistation, the Tier 1 members are subject to a guaranteed minimum pension which is defined
relative to years of service and pension amount. Consequently, these members effectively have a DB pension
subject to a minimum of the assets held on a DC basis and the Lynx section of the Plan has always been liable
for the excess of the DB pension over the DC assets. The transfer of the DC assets into the DB fund was
required because of a change to the DC section administrator which necessitated that the assets reside in the
section that was responsible for the liabilities.

The current notional value of £19.945 million of these assets has been included in the reconciliation of both the
asset and liabilities. This is not an additional DB liability but a change in presentation. The previous disclosures
excluded the offsetting assets and liabilities but included the net liabilities for which the Company is
responsible. The current disclosures include the offsetting assets and liabilities to better reflect the underlying
position but the net liabilities are unaffected by this change in presentation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

Fair value of scheme assets

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:

Fair value at start of year

Interest income

Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest income
Employer contributions

Contributions by scheme participants

Benefits paid

Transfer of the assets that represent the fully funded Tier 1 member liabilities*

Fair value at end of year

*This is the notional asset value of the transferred in assets as at 31 December 2019.

Analysis of assets

The major categories of scheme assets are as follows:

163,557

2019
£ 000

129,791
3,583
15,904
879
s
(4,560)
19,945

2019 2018

£000 £ 000
Cash and Net current assets 6,301 355
Equities 67,382 57,070
Other assets 15,474 3,978
Property 35,505 33,050
Index Linked Gilts - 9,670
UK Corporate Bonds 15,339 21,411
Direct Infrastructure 5,557 4,257
Liability Driven Investments 20,618 -
166.176 129,791

The pension scheme has not invested in any of the Company's own financial instruments or in propcrtics or

other assets used by the Company.
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

19 Pension and other schemes (¢continued)

Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

Principal actuarial assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions at the Balance Sheet date are as follows:

2019 2018

% %
Discount rate 2.00 2.80
Pension increases 295 3.15
Salary Increases 3.25 3.50
Inflation (CPI) 2.10 2.25

Post retirement mortality assumptions

2019 2018

Years Years
Current UK pensioners at retirement age - male 21.7 21.8
Current UK pensioners at retirement age - female 234 235
Future UK pensioners at retirement age - male 23.5 23.6
Future UK pensioners at rctirement age - female 250 25.1
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

Railways Pension Scheme

The UPS Shared Cost Section is part of thc Railways Pension Scheme, but its assets and liabilities are identified
separatcly from the remaindcr of the Scheme. The section is a shared cost arrangement whereby the Company is
only responsible for a share of the cost. The figures reported below therefore represent only the Company’s
share of the cost, except that the tables reconciling the Section liabilities and assets from the start to the end of
the year are presented before the deduction of the members' share of the defined benetit cost, or the surplus or
deficit.

The plan is a defined benetit plan providing benefits that are linked to salary near retirement or earlier date of
leaving service. The plan is closed to new entrants.

The most recent actuarial valuations of scheme asscts and the present valuc of the defined benefit obligation
were carried out at 31 December 2019 by Mr Stuart Cook, Fellow of the Tnstitute and Faculty of Actuaries. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost and past service cost were all
measured using the projected unit credit method.

The valuation used has been based on the most recent formal actuarial valuation at 31 December 2016 and was
updated to take account of the requirements of FRS 102 and the assumptions set out below in order to assess the
liabilities of the schemes at 31 December 2019, Plan assets are stated at their fair values at the respective
Balance Sheet dates.

The total cost relating to defined benefit schemes for the year recognised in profit or loss as an expense was
£50,000 (2018 - £2,240,000).

Reconciliation of scheme assets and liabilities to assets and liabilities recognised

The amounts rccognised in the Balance Sheet are as follows:

2019 2018
£ 000 £000
Fair value of scheme assets 39,080 35,480
Present value of defined benefit obligation (27,810) (25,030)
11,270 10,450
Unrecognised past service cost (4.510) (4,180)
Other amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet (6,550) (6,090)
Other amounts not recognised in the Balance Sheet (35) (€1))]
Defined benefit pension scheme surplus 175 149
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

Defined benefit obligation
Changes in the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2019
£ 000
Present value at start of year 25,030
Current service cost 20
Interest cost 690
Actuarial losses 2,760
Benefits paid 690
Present value at end of year 27,810
Fuair value of scheme assets
Changes in the (air value of scheme assets are as follows:
2019
£ 000
Fair valuc at start of year 35,480
Interest income 980
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest income 3,380
Benefits paid (690)
Administration costs (70)
Fair value at end of year ___39;0&)=I
Analysis of assets
The major categories of scheme assets are as tollows:
2019 2018
£ 000 £000
Equities 2,530 8,000
Government bonds 9,700 3,230
Annuities 26,820 24,190
Other assets ‘ 30 60
39,080 35,480

The pension scheme has not invested in any of the Company's own financial instruments or in properties or
other assets used by the Company.
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

19 Peunsion and other schemes (continued)

Defined benefit pension schemes (continued)

Principal actuarial assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions at the Balance Sheet date are as follows:

2019 2018
% %
Discount rate 2.00 2.80
Future salary increases 3.25 3.50
Future pension increases 3.00 225
Inflation (RPI) 3.00 3.25
20 Share capital
Allotted, called up and fully paid shares
2019 2018
No. 000 £000 No. 000 £000
Ordinary shares of £1 each 2 2 2 2
21 Reserves
Called up share capital

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.

Share premium reserve
The sharc premium reserve contains the premium arising on issue of equity shares, net of issue expenses.

Other reserves
Other reserves comprises of legal reserve capital.

Profit and loss account
The profit and loss account represents cumulative profits or losses, net of dividends paid and other adjustments.
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

21 Reserves (continued)

The changes to each component of equity resulting from items of other comprehensive income for the current
year were as follows:

£ 000
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit pension schemes ] 2,635

The changes to each component of equity resulting from items of other comprehensive income for the prior year
were as follows:

£000
Remeasurement gain on defined benefit pension schemes 32,383

22 Capital commitments
Capital commitments
The total amount contracted for but not provided in the financial statements was £12,702,541 (2018 -

£43,426,752). This relates to Properties Under Construction regarding the new hub being built at East Midlands
Airport, which is scheduled for completion during January 2021.

23 Operating lease commitments

The Company had the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases:

2019 2018
£ 000 £ 000

Within one year 9,762 10,162
Between one and five years 25,417 29,856
After five years 139,698 145,021
174,877 185,039

The amount of non-cancellable operating lease payments recognised as an expense during the year was
£7.294,591 (2018: £7,728,079).

24 Contingent liabilities

At 31 December 2019, the Company has in issue 1 Bond and Guarantee in favour of HM Customs and Excise
for £8,600,000 (2018: £2,500,000).
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

25 Related party transactions

Summary of transactions with other related parties

Group membership and related party transactions

The Company, which is incorporated in the United Kingdom, is a wholly owned subsidiary of UPS (UK)
Holding Limited, the ultimate holding company of which is United Parcel Service Intemational Inc..

The smallest and largest group in which these financial statements are consolidated is United Parcel Service of
America, Inc., incorporated in the United States of America. The address of United Parcel Scrvice of America,
Inc. is 55 Glenlake Parkway, NE, Atlanta G A 30328, United Statcs of America.

In common with other companies which are members of a group of companies, the financial statements reflect
the effect of such membership. The Company has availed of the exemption granted in Section 33 of FRS 102,
"Related Party Disclosures" for subsidiary undertakings, 100% of whose voting rights are controtled within the
group, from the requirement to give details of transactions with entities that are part of the group or investees of
the group qualifying as related parties.

26 Parent and ultimate parent undertaking
The Company's immediate parent is UPS (UK) Holding Limited, incorporated in the United Kingdom.

The ultimate parent is United Parcel Service, Inc., incorporated in United States of America.

The ultimate controlling party is United Parcel Service of America, Inc.

27 Comparative amounts

Comparative information has been reclassified where necessary to conform to current year presentation and to
enhance the understanding of the financial statements.

28 Events after the financial period including COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) as a
pandemic, which continues to spread throughout the world. The outbreak and rapid spread of COVID-19 began
to have an adverse impact on the Company's opcrations and financial performance, as well as on the operations,
financial performance and liquidity of many of the Company’s customers. The Company is unable to predict the
full extent to which COVID-19 will continue to adversely impact them.

COVID-19 is having a significant effect on overall economic conditions. The Company’s top priority is to
protect its employees and their families, as well as its customers. The Company is taking all precautionary
measures as directed by health authorities and local and national governments. The Company continues to
monitor the outbreak of COVID-19 and other closures, or closures for a longer period of time, which may be
required to help ensure the heaith and safety of its employees and its customers.
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UPS Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

28 Events after the financial period including COVID-19 (continued)

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in, and is expected to continue to result in, a substantial curtailment of
busincss activities (including thc dccrease in demand for a broad variety of goods and services), weakened
economic conditions, supply chain disruptions, significant economic uncertainty and volatility in the (inancial
markets, both in the United Kingdom and abroad.

Because the severity, magnitude and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and its economic consequences are
uncertain, rapidly changing and difficult to predict, the impacts on the Company's operations are uncertain and
difficult to predict. As noted in the Going Concern portion of the financial statements for the Company, the
Directors have obtained indications that the ultimate parent company will continue to make sufticient financial
resources available to the Company to enable it to continue its operating activities for the identified period.

However, the Company has carried out an additional rcvicw of the results and nct asscts as at 30 Junc 2020.
Following an initial decline in trading performance at the beginning of the pandemic, year to date results as at
30 Junc 2020 are now back in line with the same period in 2019 and the Company is in a strong net asset
position.

The ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic will depend on evolving factors, many of which are not within
the Company’s control, and to which the Company may not be able to effectively respond. These risks include,
but are not limited to: a significant reduction in revenue due to curtailment of business from its customers; a
reduction in the net profitability due to long-term changes in the Company’s mix of products and services; other
effects from governmental, business and individuals® actions that have been and continue to be taken in response
to the pandemic (including restrictions on travel, transportation and workforce pressures). Additional internal
risk factors include reductions in operating effectiveness due to employecs working remotely and unavailability
of key personnel. Leadership within thc Company continucs to monitor the impact of COVID-19.

These financial statements have been prepared as of, and tor the year ended, 31 December 2019, and rctlect
events subsequent to that date that provide additional evidence of conditions that cxisted at the end of the
reporting period. The cffects of COVID-19 on the Company are considered an event that is indicative of
conditions that arose after the reporting period and, accordingly, no adjustments have been made to the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Page 45



2019 Annual Report

Accelerating Forward >>>

CUSTOMER FIRST. PEOPLE LED. INNOVATION DRIVEN.

A



-

'\'/7

YEAR FOUNDED: 1907
2285 DAILY FLIGHT SEGMENTS

WORLDWIDE OPERATING
FACILITIES: MORE THAN 2,500

ALTERNATIVE FUEL VEHICLES:
MORE THAN 10,000

OVER 40,000 UPS ACCESS
POINT LOCATIONS

2019 DELIVERY VOLUME:
5.5 BILLION PACKAGES
AND DOCUMENTS

MORE THAN 125,000
VEHICLES IN DELIVERY FLEET

UPS MY CHOICE®
MEMBERS: 67 MILLION

ONLINE TRACKING:
295 MILLION PER DAY

11.5 MILLION CUSTOMERS

EMPLOYEES: 495,000

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
(in millions except per-share amounts)

2019 2018 2017
Revenue $74,094 $71,861 $66,585
Operating expenses 66,296 64,837 59,056
Netincome 4,440 4,791 4905
Adjusted netincome* 6,543 6,301 5,254
Diluted earnings pershare 511 5.51 5.61
Adju.sted diluted 753 724 6.00
earnings pershare*
Dividends declared 384 364 3.32
per share
Assets 57,857 50,016 45,574
Long-term debt 21,818 19,931 20,278
Shareowners’ equity 3,283 3,037 1,024
Capital expenditures? 6,380 6,283 5,227
Cashgr,d marketable 5741 5,035 4,069
securities
KEY METRICS

2019 2018 2017
Return on Assets (GAAP) 8.2% 10.0% 11.4%
Returnon Assets
(Adjusted)* 12.3% 13.3% 12.1%
Dividend Yield 3.3% 3.7% 26%
FREE CASH FLOW
(millions of dollars)

2019 2018 2017
Net cash from operations $8,639 $12,711 $1,479
Capital expenditures! (6,380) (6,283) (5,227)
Proceeds from
disposals of PP&E 65 37 24
Net change i.n 13 4 5
finance receivables
Otherinvestingactivities (75) 1 1
Free cash flow? 2,262 6,470 (3,718)
Discretionary pension 2,000 _ 7,291

contributions

Adjusted free cash flow
excluding discretionary 4,262 6,470 3,573
pension contributions

*See reconciliation of Non-GAAP financial measures on page Al.
'Adjusted capital expenditures including principal repayments of
finance lease obligations were $6.520 and $6.623 billion in 2019 and
2018, respectively.

2Adjusted free cash flow including principal repayments of finance lease
obligations was $4.122 and $6.130 billion in 2019 and 2018, respectively.



Dear Fellow
Shareowner,

2019 was a year of momentum for UPS.

We reached several important turning points

our transformation as we accelerate forward and

progress to become the fastest, most technology-

enabled company in our industry. Our global integrated

network provided UPS and our customers great flexibility

to respond to the fast pace of change in the market. Our
innovative services and solutions helped our customers compete and grow, especially the
small and medium-sized businesses (SMBs) we serve. And our people led us forward, delivering
great service and fostering a culture of continuous transformation.

2019 atso marked a significant milestone in UPS history. We celebrated the 20th anniversary of our

| public offering, the largest U.S. IPO on the New York Stock Exchange in the 20th century. Even 20
years mm.o\.cnm. recognized the need to transform to facilitate growth. The IPO strengthened our ability
to grow, invest and make strategic acquisitions in markets around the world. It also laid the groundworlk
forthe _‘:moaﬁma m:52 o_ovm_ Lo mﬁ_mm Network we oumﬂﬁm today,

mcn: _::o<m:o:m _jm_Am _ﬁ easier ﬁoq customers to connect with UPS, access our services

and enjoy more control over their inbound and outbound shipments. Our network is more
A g pickup and delivery conditions, thanks to our expanded use of

route optimization and navigation software. Importantly, these actions and investments

enable us to operate more sustainably. When coupled with our alternative fuel and

alternative fleet solutions, we are reducing our environmental impact, the benefits

of which will create long-term value for all stakeholders.

We are investing to increase efficiency and to create new capabilities that will
generate high-quality volume growth. We launched more new solutions

in 2019 than at any other time in recent history. The impacts of our
transformation are becoming more visible in our operating performance,
even as we invest in new capa es. We achieved this success due to the
creativity and commitment of our 495,000 UPSers around the wor




CUSTOMER FIRST. PEOPLE LED. INNOVATION DRIVEN.

Accelerating DELIVERIES

Speed of delivery is becoming increasingly important to consumers and is a critical competitive differentiator for
many of our customers, both large and small. In 2019, we took advantage of the structural shift to faster next-day
delivery, leveraging the strength of our expanding automated network to successfully absorb a 22% surge in
next-day air volume, while strengthening our position as the e-commerce shipper of choice.

The rapid movement toward next-day and seven-day delivery in the U.S. provides tremendous near-term

growth opportunities and we are taking aggressive steps forward to continue speeding up our network to help

all customers adapt, especially SMBs. For example, we are improving time-in-transit for 80% of our customers,
doubling the amount of volume we handle on Saturdays and launching Sunday delivery. These actions are enabling
UPS to take advantage of today’s opportunities, while continuing to diversify our growing customer base and
generate long-term profitable growth.

In 2019, we forged new paths to accelerate deliveries, creating innovative solutions for our customers. We achieved

a milestone in commercial drone aviation when the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) certified UPS with the

first full Part 135 Standard to operate a drone airline at WakeMed, moving lab samples across its vast hospital

campus. Working in partnership with the FAA on approvals, we tested similar services at other hospitals and medical
campuses, proving drone solutions can accelerate deliveries and provide shortened time-in-transit, helping healthcare
professionals better serve their patients. We are continuing to work with the FAA to expand our drone capabilities, as
well as create new, breakthrough solutions to serve the evolving needs of our customers.
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Accelerating eFFICIENCIES

We made great strides expanding capacity and automating our Smart Global Logistics Network. Across the US.,
increased automation and improved efficiency drove unit costs down in 2019, helping fuel positive operating leverage
and profit growth in the year. Adjusted operating margins expanded 50 basis points*', an indication that our strategy
and investments are improving the fundamentals of the business.

As we move through our transformation and open more automated facilities, we remain confident that we will
achieve our goal of a 30% to 35% increase in efficiency. The investments we are making are creating a more nimble,
more competitive UPS, to better serve customers today and well into the future.

Here are some highlights for the year:

>>> We added 11 high-capacity aircraft to our global
fleet, the largest annual addition to date, in our
multi-year fleet expansion program.

>>> We opened 20 new or retrofitted automated
facilities, adding nearly five million square feet and
about 400,000 pieces per hour of automated sort
capacity. Combined with 2018, we have opened a
total of 41 facilities with 10 million square feet and
approximately 800,000 pieces per hour of additional
sort capacity.

>>> We pulled forward efforts to accelerate the U.S.
ground network, widening the reach of our next-day
ground capabilities and speeding up transit times in
key lanes.

>>> |n Europe, we opened a highly-automated superhub
in Eindhoven, the Netherlands, a strategic location
to connect Western European businesses to our
Smart Global Logistics Network and facilitate
market access around the world.

>>> |n Asia, time-in-transit improvements and the
expansion of our Shenzhen, China air hub are
enabling UPS to take advantage of regional growth.

>>> We made wide-spread technology investments to
expand our use of cloud infrastructure, improve
cash flow management, and enhance procurement
practices — all of which contributed to positive
operating leverage.

>>> We advanced the development of ORION 3.0, our
proprietary route optimization and navigation
technology that dynamically adjusts and
recalculates driver routes based on the remaining
packages and pickup requests on the route,
together with changing traffic conditions and other
factors. Deployment in 2020 is on schedule.

The investments we are making are strengthening
our core business. Our integrated network is running
exceptionally well, generating new levels of efficiency
and flexibility. We continually adjust our network to
align capacity with changes in market demand around
the world, which results in a lower cost structure and
positive operating leverage.

*Seereconciliation of Non-GAAP financial measures on page Al.
tOne basis point equals one-hundreth of a percentage point.




CUSTOMER FIRST. PEOPLE LED. INNOVATION DRIVEN.

Accelerating GROWTH

In addition to creating greater efficiency and agility in the network, our transformation program is funding reinvestment
in new state-of-the-art, customer-focused services and solutions. Our program is enabling UPS to pursue the best
market opportunities for diversified revenue growth and long-term financial returns. These growth opportunities
constitute our four Strategic Growth Initiatives:

>>> Small and Medium-sized Businesses (SMBs) >>> |nternational Growth Markets

— We increased the number and variety of retail — B2B and B2C businesses that export to key
partners in our UPS Access Point network e-commerce destinations around the world
significantly in 2019, expanding the network to now have a more affordable way to ship with
approximately 21,000 locations in the U.S. and UPS Worldwide Economy. This deferred service
40,000 globally. Ninety percent of U.S. consumers provides economical and efficient international
will find a UPS Access Point location within five options for small businesses shipping lightweight
miles of their home, offering a new level of and less-expensive products.
package pickup and drop-off convenience. — Customers are now able to reach more

— We launched UPS My Choice for Business, destinations with the expansion of our Express
giving small businesses unprecedented services. Postal codes across 40 countriesin
visibility and control over theirinbound and Europe, Asia, Latin America, Africa and the Middle
outbound shipments. East were added, significantly expanding the

footprint of our time- and day-definite guaranteed
international services.

>>> B2B and B2C e-Commerce

— We introduced the UPS Digital Access Program

creating preferred relationships and embedding >>> Healthcare and Life Sciences

UPS technology directly into leading marketplaces — Healthcare and life sciences customers often need
and digital platforms such as Stamps.com, which a higher level of visibility and security for their
many SMBs already use. Retail is becoming most-critical shipments. To meet those needs, we
increasingly integrated across all digital channels created UPS Premier (next-generation, on-package
as SMBs leverage tools to access Ia.rger pools of sensor technology) which enables advanced
potential customers than they could have reached package tracking and contingency actions for

on their own. UPS's footprint touches all aspects critical shipments.

ofthe e-commerce ecosystem, from demand

— Additionally, we connected all of our global
generation and shipping to visibility and returns.

healthcare and life sciences businesses under

— UPS now enables customers to tender shipments asingle, dedicated UPS Healthcare unit. Wes
later for next-day ground delivery to 98% of the Wheeler, a healthcare professional with deep
U.S. population. UPS Extended Hours Pickup for experience, leads the unit which supports
next-day ground delivery solidifies our market operations and includes a combined workforce
leading position in both next-day air and ground of more than 5,000 employees from Marken,
coverage. Polar Speed, and all 114 UPS healthcare facilities.

— We expanded Saturday pickups and deliveries to
help our customers deliver to consumers faster.
And, in 2020 we expect to double the amount
of Saturday volume we handled in 2019, and
will continue to phase in Sunday delivery.




DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (indollars)
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We outpaced the market in U.S. air growth with -

double-digit volume increases in Next Day Air

and our deferred services. Looking forward,
we see many opportunities to accelerate
high-quality, high-margin volume growth.
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Accelerating EXECUTION

Our financial results demonstrate that ourinvestments
and strong execution are having an impact on the
fundamentals of the business. Both top-and bottom-line
results improved in 2019 due to increased demand for
our services and new cost efficiencies in our network.

Forthe company, consolidated revenue grew 3.1% to
$74 billion and adjusted operating profit grew 10.4%
to $8.2 billion*.

Globally, we delivered more than 5.5 billion packages,
anearly 6% increase over 2018, driven by B2B and B2C
volume growth in the U.S,, which helped offset softness
in global trade, particularly during the second half of
the year.

In U.S. Domestic, revenue grew 6.7% to $46.5 billion with
volume growth across all products. Adjusted operating
profit grew 12.7% to $4.4 billion* and we generated a
margin of 9.4%* or 50 basis points higher than in 2018.

The International segment reported $14.2 billion in
revenue, a decrease of 1.5% due to the dynamic macro
environment. Adjusted operating profit rose 6.7% to
$2.8 billion* and margins expanded, primarily driven
by strong execution, cost management and innovative
services with a focus on SMB market opportunities.

The Supply Chain and Freight segment delivered another
year of strong results, with an 11.2%* increase in adjusted
operating profit and healthy margin expansion. The
diversity of our portfolio, coupled with our continued
focus on SMBs, helped offset softer business conditions
in certain business units.

Once again, UPS generated excellent cash flow — enabling
us to investin our network while rewarding shareowners.
We invested $6.5 billion* in adjusted capital expenditures
and returned $4.3 billion to shareowners, with $1 billion
of share buybacks and $3.3 billion in dividends, a
per-share increase of 5.5% over the prior year.

Executing our strategies for the long-term benefits all
stakeholders — our shareowners, customers, employees,
suppliers, and the communities we serve. Operating more
sustainably is a core principle of our strategy and business
operations. We pursue efficiency at every turn and deploy
advanced technology to optimize resources and reduce
our environmental impact. We are proud to have been
named to the Dow Jones Sustainability World Index

for the seventh consecutive year and the Dow Jones
Sustainability North America Index for the 15th straight
year. Plus, Corporate Responsibility Magazine named UPS
to its “100 Best Corporate Citizens” annual listing for the
10th straight year.

*Seereconciliation of Non-GAAP financial measures on page Al.




Accelerating
FORWARD

We are making significant progress
in our transformation. Through
the investments we are making
today, our network — powered

by next-generation advanced
technologies — will become even
more efficient and flexible. And as
we look ahead, we will continue to
introduce innovative solutions to
help all of our customers grow. We
are accelerating our strategies to
take advantage of the tremendous
growth prospects in the market
today. Our actions will open new
opportunities for our people and
create additional value for our
customers and shareowners in

the near-term and well into the
coming decade.

S

B

David Abney

UPS Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
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PART I

Cautionary Statement About Forward-Looking Statements

This report, our Annual Report to Shareowners and our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) contain “forward-looking statements™ within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Statements other than those of current or historical fact, and all statements accompanied by terms such as “believe,” “project,”
“expect,” “estimate,” “assume,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “target,” “plan” and variations thereof and similar terms, are intended to
be forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are made subject to the safe harbor protections of the federal
securities laws pursuant to Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

From time to time, we also include written or oral forward-looking statements in other publicly disclosed materials. Such
statements relate to our intent, belief and current expectations about our strategic direction, prospects and future results, and
give our current expectations or forecasts of future events; they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. Management
believes that these forward-looking statements are reasonable as and when made. However, caution should be taken not to
place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements because such statements speak only as of the date when made.

Forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from our historical experience and our present expectations or anticipated results. These risks and uncertainties are
described in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and may also be described from time to time in our future reports filed with the
SEC. You should consider the limitations on, and risks associated with, forward-looking statements and not unduly rely on the
accuracy of predictions contained in such forward-looking statements. We do not undertake any obligation to update forward-
looking statements to reflect events, circumstances, changes in expectations or the occurrence of unanticipated events after the
date of those statements.

Item 1. Business

Overview

United Parcel Service, Inc. (“UPS™) was founded in 1907 as a private messenger and delivery service in Seattle,
Washington. Today, we are the world’s largest package delivery company, a leader in the U.S. less-than-truckload industry and
a premier provider of global supply chain management solutions. The global market for these services includes transportation,
distribution, contract logistics, ground freight, ocean freight, air freight, customs brokerage, insurance and financing.

We operate one of the largest airlines in the world, as well as the world’s largest fleet of alternative-powered vehicles. We
deliver packages each business day for 1.6 million shipping customers to 9.9 million delivery customers in over 220 countries
and territories. In 2019, we delivered an average of 21.9 million pieces per day, or a total of 5.5 billion packages. Total revenue
in 2019 was $74.094 billion.

We have three reporting segments: U.S. Domestic Package and International Package, which together we refer to as our
global small package operations, and Supply Chain & Freight, all of which are described below.

Strategy

Our strategy is to provide advanced logistics solutions made possible by a broad portfolio of differentiated services and
capabilities integrated into our customers’ businesses. This strategy, supported by our efficient global multimodal network,
enables us to deliver value to, and build lasting relationships with, our customers.

Customers are able to leverage our broad portfolio of logistics capabilities comprised of: our extensive presence in North
America, Europe, Middle East, Africa, Asia Pacific and Latin America; our reliability; and our industry-leading technologies
and solutions.



We offer a full range of industry-leading products, services and capabilities across a growing geographical and industry
footprint. Achieving our objectives has required new methods and innovative approaches to develop and implement logistics
services that address customer needs for speed to market, visibility, reliability and greater control. Recent examples include:

* the acquisition or creation of platform-based offerings such as UPS e-fulfillment and Ware2Go;

»  specialized healthcare solutions such as UPS Premier, which offers prioritized handling and visibility for critical
healthcare shipments;

¢ a full range of global customs brokerage and shipment insurance services; and

*  offerings such as UPS My Choice for business that give small- and medium-sized businesses ("SMBs") greater
control, visibility and data access to improve their customer service.

We monitor global trade, economic, geopolitical, regulatory and environmental factors, as well as other factors impacting
the business environment. We quickly implement measures to convert risk to opportunity and help our customers adjust their
supply chains to a fast-moving world. We have a long history of joint ventures and partnerships that provide operational
flexibility and the ability to acquire new capabilities as we build scale, and we also forge new marketplace alliances to stay at
the cutting edge of business. For example, our Digital Access Program makes it easier for SMBs to use our services by
embedding our shipping solutions directly into leading e-commerce platforms.

We are a disciplined and focused business that purposefully reinvests capital to achieve both long-term strategic benefits
and favorable returns. In September 2018, we communicated our commitment to continuous transformation and to invest to
modernize our business and operations through state-of-the art technology. We see transformation as an ongoing commitment to
enhance quality and efficiency as we deliver innovative capabilities and services. Our strategic investments are primarily
focused in areas we believe will drive growth and lasting profit potential:

* services and solutions for SMBs;

e international growth markets;

»  global Business to Consumer (“B2C”) and Business to Business (“B2B”) e-commerce;

* healthcare and life-sciences logistics; and

*  operational improvements to drive greater productivity and the use of automation to enhance the efficiency of our
network.

In recent periods, we have added approximately ten million square feet of highly automated capacity in more than forty
new and remodeled facilities globally. We have also continued to implement numerous new technologies to help control the
network and ensure resources are in the right place at the right time.

Products and Services; Reporting Segments

Global Small Package

Our global small package operations provide time-definite delivery services for express letters, documents, smail
packages and palletized freight via air and ground services. These services are supported by numerous shipping, visibility and
billing technologies.

All types of service (air, ground, domestic, international, commercial and residential) are managed through a single,
global integrated pickup and delivery network. We combine all packages within our network, unless dictated by specific service
commitments. This enables one UPS driver to pick up customers’ shipments for any services at a scheduled time each day. Our
integrated network uniquely provides operational and capital efficiencies that have less of an impact on the environment than
single service network designs.



We handle packages up to 108 inches in length that weigh up to 150 pounds and are up to 165 inches in combined length
and girth, as well as palletized shipments weighing more than 150 pounds. We offer same-day pickup of air and ground
packages seven days a week. Our global network offers approximately 150,000 entry points where customers can tender a
package to us at a location or time convenient to them. This integrated network includes UPS drivers who can accept packages,
UPS drop boxes, UPS Access Point locations, The UPS Store locations, authorized shipping outlets and commercial counters,
alliance locations and customer centers attached to UPS facilities. The UPS Access Point network, which includes local small
businesses, national retailers and self-serve lockers, allows consumers to ship or redirect packages to an alternate delivery
location or drop off pre-labeled packages, including returns. We have expanded the UPS Access Point network to total
approximately 21,000 locations within the U.S. and 40,000 globally.

We have developed a robust portfolio of returns services in more than 145 countries resulting from the continued growth
of online and mobile shopping that has increased our customers’ need for efficient and reliable returns. This portfolio provides a
range of cost-effective label options and a broad network of consumer drop points, as well as a selection of returns technologies
that promote efficiency and a friction-free consumer experience. These options include solutions such as UPS Returns, as well
as more-specialized services such as UPS Returns Exchange. Our technologies, such as UPS Returns Manager promote systems
integration, customer ease of use and visibility of inbound merchandise, which help reduce costs and improve efficiency in our
customers' reverse logistics processes.

Our global air operations are centered at our Worldport hub in Louisville, Kentucky. Our U.S. regional air hubs in Dallas,
Texas; Ontario, California, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and Rockford, Illinois support Worldport. Our European air hub is
located in Cologne, Germany, and we maintain Asia Pacific air hubs in Shanghai, China; Shenzhen, China and Hong Kong. Our
regional air hub in Canada is located in Hamilton, Ontario and our regional air hub for Latin America and the Caribbean is in
Miami, Florida. This network design creates cost-effective package processing in our most technology-enabled facilities, which
allows us to use fewer, larger and more fuel-efficient aircraft.

U.S. Domestic Package Reporting Segment

We are a leader in time-definite, guaranteed small package delivery services in the United States. We offer a full spectrum
of U.S. domestic guaranteed air and ground package transportation services, and our U.S. ground fleet serves all business and
residential zip codes in the contiguous United States.

« UPS's Air portfolio offers options enabling customers to specify a time-of-day guarantee for their delivery (e.g. by
8:00 A.M., 10:30 A.M.,, noon, end of day, etc.), while selecting from same day, next day, two day and three day
delivery alternatives.

* Customers can also leverage our extensive ground network to ship using our day-definite guaranteed Ground service.
We deliver more ground packages in the U.S. than any other carrier, with average daily package volume of 15 million,
most within one to three business days.

*  We offer UPS SurePost, an economy residential ground service for customers with non-urgent, lightweight residential
shipments. UPS SurePost is a residential ground service that combines the consistency and reliability of the UPS
ground network with final delivery often provided by the U.S. Postal Service.

International Package Reporting Segment

Our International Package reporting segment consists of our small package operations in Europe, Asia Pacific, Canada,
Latin America and the Indian sub-continent, Middle East and Africa ("ISMEA"). We offer a wide selection of guaranteed day-
and time-definite international shipping services. We offer more guaranteed time-definite express options (Express Plus,
Express and Express Saver) than any other carrier.

In recent years we have continued the expansion of our Express time-definite portfolio, with certain products now
reaching as many as 220 countries and territories. For international package shipments that do not require Express services,
UPS Worldwide Expedited offers a reliable, deferred, guaranteed day-definite service option. The service is now available from
more than 80 origin countries to more than 220 countries and territories. For cross-border ground package delivery, we offer
UPS Standard delivery services within Europe, between the U.S. and Canada and between the U.S. and Mexico.

By expanding our time-definite services, we are better able to offer customers the services they need in the places they do
business. For businesses with time-sensitive shipments, these upgrades can help replenish inventories quicker, improve time to
market and meet urgent delivery requirements.

Europe, our largest region outside of the U.S., accounts for approximately half of our international small package
segment revenue and is one of the primary drivers of our growth. We continue to make major European infrastructure
investments, including new hubs in London, Paris and Eindhoven, the Netherlands.



Asia Pacific also remains a strategic market due to growth rates in intra-Asia trade. To capitalize on these opportunities,
we have continued to bring faster time-in-transit to customers focused on intra-Asia trade and reduced transit times from Asia
to the U.S. and Europe. Through added flight frequencies, we now provide our customers the ability to ship next day to more
places in the U.S. and Europe - guaranteed - than any other express carrier. We serve more than 40 Asia Pacific countries and
territories through more than two dozen alliances with local delivery companies that supplement our owned operations. For
example, our joint venture with SF Express combines SF’s extensive Chinese network with UPS’s delivery capabilities in the
U.S. and Europe, increasing our market presence and providing Chinese enterprises with greater global access. In addition,
improvements to time-in-transit for UPS Express Saver and UPS Worldwide Expedited services to Shanghai have resulted in
faster delivery by a full day to 185 postal codes for packages coming from Europe.

International high-growth markets remain one of our strategic imperatives. Our direct flight from the U.S. to Dubai has
improved time-in-transit to key destinations in ISMEA for shippers throughout the U.S., Canada and the Americas. Markets like
India also provide opportunities for growth. In support of this, we acquired full ownership of our express services unit in 2018.
The unit helps Indian businesses, large and small, connect with global markets via the UPS network. This follows the opening
of two integrated logistics facilities in Hyderabad and Ahmedabad from where customers are provided a 48-hour delivery
timeline to markets in the U.S. and Europe. In addition to these upgrades, we have added Saturday delivery to seven countries
in ISMEA and expanded Express Services to India, the Middle East and other international high-growth markets ahead of Expo
2020 in Dubai, offering greater flexibility and competitiveness.

Supply Chain & Freight

Supply Chain & Freight consists of our forwarding, truckload brokerage, logistics, UPS Freight, UPS Capital and other
businesses. Supply chain complexity creates demand for a global service offering that incorporates transportation, distribution
and international trade and brokerage services, with complementary financial and information services. Outsourcing non-core
logistics activity is a strategy more companies are pursuing. With increased competition and growth opportunities in new
markets, businesses require flexible and responsive supply chains to support their strategies. We meet this demand by offering a
broad array of supply chain services in more than 200 countries and territories.

Forwarding

We are one of the largest U.S. domestic air freight carriers and among the top international air freight forwarders globally.
We offer a portfolio of guaranteed and non-guaranteed global air freight services. Additionally, as one of the world’s leading
non-vessel operating common carriers, we provide ocean freight full-container load, less-than-container load and multimodal
transportation services between most major ports around the world.

Truckload Brokerage

Our acquisition of Coyote Logistics, LLC, a U.S.-based third party logistics provider, in 2015 has resulted in synergies in
the areas of purchased transportation, backhaul utilization, technology systems and industry best practices. Coyote's access to
our fleet, combined with its broad carrier network, has created a customized capacity solution for all markets, customers and
situations. In addition, Coyote provides access to UPS services (such as air freight, customs brokerage and global freight
forwarding) for its customer base.

Our acquisition of Freightex, a U K.- based freight brokerage firm, in 2017 added a full scale truckload brokerage and
transportation management solution to our European portfolio, creating a single-source solution for shippers throughout Europe
with freight ranging from parcel to full truckload. In 2018, Freightex was rebranded as Coyote Logistics to further leverage the
centralized technology and business models with the market knowledge, talent and established customer and carrier bases
already in Europe. Coyote Logistics's European division complements our North American truckload brokerage business, as
many international shippers know and trust the Coyote truckload product.

Logistics

We provide value-added fulfillment and transportation management services to customers through our global network of
owned and leased distribution centers and field stocking locations. We leverage a global network of more than 1,000 facilities
in more than 100 countries to ensure products and parts are in the right place at the right time.



Our distribution centers are strategically located near UPS air and ground transportation hubs for rapid delivery to
consumer and business markets. In 2019, we expanded our network to support new business growth by adding 2 million square
feet of distribution capacity. We also continued to expand our cloud-based transportation and warehouse management
platforms, driving higher operational efficiency and improved customer service. The result has been better visibility, more rapid
onboarding of customers and improved flexibility and response times.

With the strategic focus of serving the unique, priority-handling needs of healthcare and life sciences customers, U.S.
healthcare warehouse and distribution space will total approximately 5 million square feet in 2020. Key features in the new
facilities include climate controls and validated coolers and freezers for customer products requiring strict temperature-
controlled environments.

In 2019, we expanded our e-commerce solutions for SMBs worldwide, offering streamlined fulfillment and shipping
services to consumers in the U.S. and Canada. We launched the UPS eFulfillment program to help sellers quickly and easily
manage multiple marketplaces. The program, which is compatible with over 20 e-commerce marketplaces, includes a
technology platform and physical fulfillment services, such as storage, order processing, packaging and shipping.

UPS Post Sales, our service parts logistics solution, relies on a global network of over 950 central and field stocking sites
to provide same and next-day spare parts delivery, enabling customers to get critical equipment back up and running. This
solution focuses on customers within the high tech, industrial manufacturing, automotive, healthcare and aerospace sectors.
More specific to the healthcare industry, UPS has an implantable medical device solution leveraging 36 field stocking sites,
which helps ensure surgical kits and devices arrive safely and on time at hospital and surgery centers. Implantable medical
device firms benefit from outsourcing and optimizing their supply chain with UPS, which drives down costs and increases
control and service levels.

Also in 2019, UPS announced an expansion of foreign trade zone (“FTZ”) management services in the U.S.. Since our
acquisition of Zone Solutions in 2017, we have developed a comprehensive FTZ solution that helps clients manage the end-to-
end process, from dealing with customers to inventory control. The integration of FTZ services with our logistics network
means UPS can designate any of our 42 U.S. distribution centers as a FTZ, allowing customers to take advantage of the
program’s benefits. The strategic utilization of the FTZ program provides opportunities for duty elimination and duty deferral.

UPS Freight

UPS Freight offers regional, inter-regional and long-haul less-than-truckload ("LTL") services in all 50 states, Canada,
Puerto Rico, Guam, the U.S. Virgin Islands and Mexico. UPS Freight provides reliable LTL service backed by a day-definite,
on-time guarantee at no additional cost. UPS Freight also provides dedicated contract carriage truckload services. User friendly
shipping, visibility and billing technology offerings, including UPS WorldShip, Quantum View and UPS Billing Center, allow
freight customers to create electronic bills of lading, monitor shipment progress and reconcile shipping charges.

Customs Brokerage

We are among the world’s largest customs brokers by both the number of shipments processed annually and by the
number of dedicated brokerage employees worldwide. In addition to customs clearance services, we provide product
classification, trade management, duty drawback and consulting services through STTAS, a UPS company.

UPS Capital

UPS Capital provides financial, insurance and payment services to support all aspects of the order-to-cash cycle and help
protect companies from risk in their supply chains. Services are available in 22 countries and territories. UPS Capital also offers
insured transportation of high value goods including loose gemstones, finished jewelry and wristwatches.



People

The strength of UPS is our people, working together with a common purpose. We have more than 495,000 employees
(excluding temporary seasonal employees), of which 413,000 are in the U.S. and 82,000 are located internationally. Our global
workforce includes approximately 87,000 management employees (40% of whom are part-time) and 408,000 hourly employees
(49% of whom are part-time).

For information regarding employees employed under collective bargaining agreements, see note 6 to the audited,
consolidated financial statements.

Customers

As described below, we believe that our focus on building and maintaining long-term customer relationships is a
competitive strength of UPS. We serve 1.6 million shipping customers and more than 9.9 million delivery customers daily. For
the year ended December 31, 2019, one customer, Amazon.com, Inc. and its affiliates, represented approximately 11.6% of our
consolidated revenues, substantially all of which was within our U.S. Domestic Package segment. For additional information
on our customers, see “Risk Factors - Changes in our relationships with any of our significant customers, including the loss or
reduction in business from one or more of them, could have a material adverse effect on us” and note 13 to the audited,
consolidated financial statements.

Competition

We offer a broad array of services in the package and freight delivery industry and compete with many local, regional,
national and international logistics providers. We believe our strategy, network and competitive strengths position us well to
compete in the marketplace. For additional information on our competitive environment, see "Risk Factors - Our industry is
rapidly evolving. We expect to continue to face significant competition, which could adversely affect us”.

Competitive Strengths

Our competitive strengths include:

Efficient Multimodal Network. We believe that our integrated global air and ground network is the most extensive in the
industry. We provide all types of package services (air, ground, domestic, international, commercial and residential) through a
single pickup and delivery network. We also have extensive air freight, ocean freight, ground freight and logistics networks that
provide additional capabilities in the global transportation and logistics market. Our sophisticated engineering systems allow us
to optimize our network efficiency and asset utilization.

Global Presence. We serve more than 220 countries and territories. We have a significant presence in all of the world’s
major economies.

Cutting-Edge Technology. Technology powers virtually every service we offer and every operation we perform. We are
a global leader in developing technology that helps our customers enhance their shipping and logistics business processes to
lower costs, improve service and increase efficiency. We offer a variety of online service options that enable our customers to
integrate UPS functionality into their own businesses to send, manage and track their shipments conveniently, and also to
provide their customers with better information services. We provide the infrastructure for an internet presence that extends to
tens of thousands of customers who have integrated UPS tools directly into their own websites.

Broad Portfolio of Services. Our portfolio of services helps customers choose the delivery option that is most
appropriate for their requirements. Increasingly, our customers benefit from business solutions that integrate many UPS
services beyond package delivery. For example, our supply chain services — such as freight forwarding, truckload brokerage,
customs brokerage, order fulfillment and returns management — help improve the efficiency of the entire supply chain
management process.

Customer Relationships. We focus on building and maintaining long-term customer relationships. We serve 1.6 million
shipping customers daily and deliver packages to more than 9.9 million delivery customers daily. Cross selling small package
and supply chain services across our customer base is an important growth mechanism for UPS.

Brand Equity. We have built a leading and trusted brand that stands for quality, reliability and service innovation. The
distinctive appearance of our vehicles and the professional courtesy of our drivers are major contributors to our brand equity.



Distinctive Culture. We believe that the dedication of our employees comes in large part from our distinctive
“employee-owner” concept. Our employee stock ownership tradition dates back to 1927, when our founders, who believed that
employee stock ownership was a vital foundation for successful business, created our first stock ownership program.

Financial Strength.  Our financial strength allows us to achieve global scale; to invest in employee development,
technology, transportation equipment and facilities; to pursue strategic opportunities that facilitate our growth; to service our
obligations and to return value to our shareowners.

Government Regulation

We are subject to numerous laws and regulations in the countries in which we operate. Key laws and regulations are
summarized below.

Air Operations

The U.S. Department of Transportation (“DOT?”), the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) and the U.S. Department
of Homeland Security, through the Transportation Security Administration (“TSA”), have regulatory authority over our air
transportation services. The Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as amended, is the statutory basis for DOT and FAA authority and
the Aviation and Transportation Security Act of 2001, as amended, is the basis for TSA aviation security authority.

The DOT’s authority primarily relates to economic aspects of air transportation, such as operations, authority, insurance
requirements, pricing, non-competitive practices, interlocking relations and cooperative agreements. The DOT also regulates,
subject to the authority of the President of the United States, international routes, fares, rates and practices and is authorized to
investigate and take action against discriminatory treatment of U.S. air carriers abroad. International operating rights for U.S.
airlines are usually subject to bilateral agreements between the U.S. and foreign governments or, in the absence of such
agreements, by principles of reciprocity. We are also subject to current and potential aviation regulations imposed by
governments in other countries in which we operate, including registration and license requirements and security regulations.
We have international route operating rights granted by the DOT and we may apply for additional authorities when those
operating rights are available and are required for the efficient operation of our international network. The efficiency and
flexibility of our international air transportation network is dependent on DOT and foreign government regulations and
operating restrictions.

The FAA'’s authority primarily relates to safety aspects of air transportation, including certification, aircraft operating
procedures, transportation of hazardous materials, record keeping standards and maintenance activities and personnel. In 1988,
the FAA granted us an operating certificate, which remains in effect so long as we meet the safety and operational requirements
of the applicable FAA regulations. In addition, we are subject to non-U.S. government regulation of aviation rights involving
non-U.S. jurisdictions and non-U.S. customs regulation.

UPS's aircraft maintenance programs and procedures, including aircraft inspection and repair at periodic intervals, are
approved for all aircraft under FAA regulations. The future cost of repairs pursuant to these programs may fluctuate according
to aircraft condition, age and the enactment of additional FAA regulatory requirements.

The TSA regulates various security aspects of air cargo transportation in a manner consistent with the TSA mission
statement to “protect the Nation’s transportation systems to ensure freedom of movement for people and commerce.” Our
airport and off-airport locations, as well as our personnel, facilities and procedures involved in air cargo transportation must
comply with TSA regulations.

UPS Airlines, along with a number of other U.S. domestic airlines, participates in the Civil Reserve Air Fleet (“CRAF”)
program. Our participation in the CRAF program allows the U.S. Department of Defense (“DOD”) to requisition specified UPS
Airlines aircraft for military use during a national defense emergency. The DOD is required to compensate us for the use of
aircraft under the CRAF program. In addition, participation in CRAF entitles us to bid for other U.S. Government opportunities
including small package and air freight.

Ground Operations

Our ground transportation of packages in the U.S. is subject to regulation by the DOT and its agency, the Federal Motor
Carrier Safety Administration (the “FMCSA™). Ground transportation also falls under state jurisdiction with respect to the
regulation of operations, safety and insurance. Our ground transportation of hazardous materials in the U.S. is subject to
regulation by the DOT's Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration. We also must comply with safety and fitness
regulations promulgated by the FMCSA, including those relating to drug and alcohol testing and hours of service for drivers.
We are subject to similar regulation in many non-U.S. jurisdictions.



The Postal Reorganization Act of 1970 created the U.S. Postal Service as an independent establishment of the executive
branch of the federal government, and created the Postal Rate Commission, an independent agency, to recommend postal rates.
The Postal Accountability and Enhancement Act of 2006 amended the 1970 Act to give the re-named Postal Regulatory
Commission revised oversight authority over many aspects of the Postal Service, including postal rates, product offerings and
service standards. We sometimes participate in proceedings before the Postal Regulatory Commission in an attempt to secure
fair postal rates for competitive services.

Our ground operations are also subject to compliance with various cargo-security and transportation regulations issued by
the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, including regulation by the TSA.

Customs

We are subject to the customs laws regarding the import and export of shipments in the countries in which we operate,
including those related to the filing of documents on behalf of client importers and exporters. Qur activities in the U.S.,
including customs brokerage and freight forwarding, are subject to regulation by the Bureau of Customs and Border Protection,
the TSA, the U.S. Federal Maritime Commission and the DOT. Our international operations are subject to similar regulatory
structures in their respective jurisdictions.

Environmental

We are subject to federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations across all of our business units. These laws
and regulations cover a variety of processes, including, but not limited to: properly storing, handling and disposing of waste
materials; appropriately managing waste water and stormwater; monitoring and maintaining the integrity of underground
storage tanks; complying with laws regarding clean air, including those governing emissions; protecting against and
appropriately responding to spills and releases and communicating the presence of reportable quantities of hazardous materials
to local responders. We have established site- and activity-specific environmental compliance and pollution prevention
programs to address our environmental responsibilities and remain compliant. In addition, we have created numerous programs
which seek to minimize waste and prevent pollution within our operations.

Pursuant to the Federal Aviation Act, the FAA, with the assistance of the Environmental Protection Agency is authorized
to establish standards governing aircraft noise. Our aircraft fleet is in compliance with current noise standards of the federal
aviation regulations. Our international operations are also subject to noise regulations in certain countries in which we operate.

Communications and Data Protection

Because of our extensive use of radio and other communication facilities in our aircraft and ground transportation
operations, we are subject to the Federal Communications Act of 1934, as amended. In addition, the Federal Communications
Commission regulates and licenses our activities pertaining to satellite communications. There has recently been increased
regulatory and enforcement focus on data protection in the U.S. (at both the state and federal level) and in other countries. For
example, the European Union (“E.U.”) General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), which became effective in May 2018,
greatly increases the jurisdictional reach of E.U. law and increases the requirements related to personal data, including
individual notice and opt-out preferences and public disclosure of significant data breaches. Additionally, violations of the
GDPR can result in significant fines. Other governments have enacted or are enacting similar data protection laws, and are
considering data localization laws that would govem the use of data outside of their respective jurisdictions.

Where You Can Find More Information

We maintain a website at www.ups.com. Our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports filed with or furnished to the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are made available free of charge through our investor relations website at
www.investors.ups.com under the heading "Financials - SEC Filings" as soon as reasonably practical after we electronically file
or furnish the reports to the SEC. We have a written Code of Business Conduct that applies to all of our directors, officers and
employees, including our principal executive and financial officers. It is available under the heading "ESG"- Governance
Documents" on our investor relations website. In the event that we make changes in, or provide waivers from, the provisions of
the Code of Business Conduct that the SEC requires us to disclose, we intend to disclose these events within four business days
following the date of the amendment or waiver in that section of our investor relations website.



Our Corporate Governance Guidelines and the Charters for our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Executive
Committee, Risk Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are also available under the heading
"ESG- Governance Documents” on our investor relations website.

Our sustainability report, which describes our activities that support our commitment to acting responsibly and
contributing to society, is available at www.sustainability.ups.com.

We provide the addresses to our internet sites solely for information. We do not intend for any addresses to be active links
or to otherwise incorporate the contents of any website into this or any other report we file with the SEC.



Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business, financial condition and results are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties. In connection with any
investment decision, you should carefully consider the following significant factors, which could materially affect us, including
impacting our business, financial condition, results of operations, stock price or credit rating, as well as our reputation. You
should read these risk factors in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” in Item 7 and our Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes in Item 8. These risks are not the only
ones we face. We could also be affected by other events, factors or uncertainties that are unknown to us, or that we do not
currently consider to be significant risks.

Changes in general economic conditions, in the U.S. and internationally, may adversely affect us.

We conduct operations in over 220 countries and territories. Our operations are subject to cyclicality affecting national
and international economies in general, as well as the local economic environments in which we operate. The factors that result
in general economic changes are beyond our control, and it may be difficult for us to adjust our business model to mitigate the
impact of these factors. In particular, our business is affected by levels of industrial production, consumer spending and retail
activity and we could be materially affected by adverse developments in these aspects of the economy. In addition, there
remains substantial economic uncertainty arising from the United Kingdom’s decision to leave the European Union. The U.K.
and the E.U. continue to negotiate the future relationship between themselves, which could take several years to finalize. The
outcome of these negotiations could result in, among other things, transportation delays, fewer goods being transported
globally, additional volatility in currency exchange rates and further regulations relating to, among other things, trade, aviation
and the transport of goods. Any of the foregoing could materially adversely affect us.

Our industry is rapidly evolving. We expect to continue to face significant competition, which could adversely affect us.

Our industry is rapidly evolving, including demand for faster deliveries and increased visibility into shipments. We expect
continued significant competition on a local, regional, national and international basis. Our competitors include the postal
services of the U.S. and other nations, various motor carriers, express companies, freight forwarders, air couriers, large
transportation and e-commerce companies that are making significant investments in their capabilities, and start ups and other
companies that combine technologies with crowdsourcing to focus on local market needs, some of whom may currently be our
customers. Competition may also come from other sources in the future, including as new technologies are developed.
Competitors have cost and organizational structures that differ from ours and from time to time may offer services or pricing
terms that we may not be willing or able to offer. Additionally, to remain competitive, from time to time we may have to raise
prices and our customers may not be willing to accept these higher prices. If we are unable to timely and appropriately respond
to competitive pressures, we could be adversely affected.

Continued transportation industry consolidation may further increase competition. As a result of consolidation,
competitors may increase their market share, improve their financial capacity and strengthen their competitive positions.
Business combinations could also result in competitors providing a wider variety of services and products at competitive prices,
which could adversely affect us.

Changes in our relationships with any of our significant customers, including the loss or reduction in business from one or
more of them, could have a material adverse effect on us.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, one customer, Amazon.com and its affiliates, accounted for 11.6% of our
consolidated revenues. Some of our other significant customers can account for a relatively significant portion of our revenues
in a particular quarter or year. These customers can impact our revenues based on factors such as: customer product launches;
e-commerce or other industry trends, such as the seasonality associated with the fourth quarter holiday season; business
combinations and the overall growth of a customer's underlying business; as well as any disruptions to their businesses. These
customers could choose to divert all or a portion of their business with us to one of our competitors, demand pricing
concessions for our services, require us to provide enhanced services that increase our costs, or develop their own shipping and
distribution capabilities. In addition, certain of our significant customer contracts include termination rights of either party upon
the occurrence of certain events or without cause upon advance notice to the other party. If all or a portion of our business
relationships with one or more significant customers were to terminate or be canceled it could materially adversely affect us.
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QOur business is subject to complex and stringent laws, regulations and policies which could increase our operating costs.

We are subject to complex and stringent aviation, transportation, environmental, security, labor, employment, safety,
privacy and data protection and other governmental laws, regulations and policies, both in the U.S. and in other countries in
which we operate. In addition, we are impacted by laws, regulations and policies that affect global trade, including tariff and
trade policies, export requirements, taxes, monetary policies and other restrictions and charges. Recently, trade discussions
between the U.S. and various of its trading partners have been fluid, and existing and future trade agreements are and are
expected to continue to be subject to a number of uncertainties, including the imposition of new tariffs or adjustments and
changes to the products covered by existing tariffs. The impact of new laws, regulations and policies or decisions or
interpretations by authorities applying those laws and regulations, cannot be predicted. Compliance with any new laws or
regulations may increase our operating costs or require significant capital expenditures. Any failure to comply with applicable
laws, regulations or policies in the U.S. or in any of the other countries in which we operate could result in substantial fines or
possible revocation of our authority to conduct our operations, which could adversely affect us.

Increased security requirements impose substantial costs on us and we could be the target of an attack or have a security
breach, which could materially adversely affect us.

As a result of concerns about global terrorism and homeland security, governments around the world have adopted or may
adopt stricter security requirements that will result in increased operating costs for businesses in the transportation industry.
These requirements may change periodically as a result of regulatory and legislative requirements and in response to evolving
threats. We cannot determine the effect that any new requirements will have on our cost structure or our operating results, and
new rules or other future security requirements may increase our costs of operations and reduce operating efficiencies.
Regardless of our compliance with security requirements or the steps we take to secure our facilities or fleet, we could also be
the target of an attack or security breaches could occur, which could materially adversely affect us.

Increasingly stringent regulations related to climate change could materially increase our operating costs.

Regulation of greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions exposes our transportation and logistics businesses to potentially
significant new taxes, fees and other costs. Compliance with such regulation, and any increased or additional regulation, or the
associated costs is further complicated by the fact that various countries and regions are following different approaches to the
regulation of climate change.

For example, in 2009 the European Commission approved the extension to the airline industry of the European Union
Emissions Trading Scheme (“ETS”) for GHG emissions. Under this decision, all of our flights operating within the European
Union are covered by the ETS requirements, and we are required annually to purchase emission allowances in an amount
exceeding the number of free allowances allocated to us under the ETS. Similarly, in 2016, the International Civil Aviation
Organization (“ICAO”) passed a resolution adopting the Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation
(“CORSIA™), which is a global, market-based emissions offset program to encourage carbon-neutral growth beyond 2020. A
pilot phase is scheduled to begin in 2021 in which countries may voluntarily participate, and full mandatory participation is
scheduled to begin in 2027. ICAO continues to develop details regarding implementation, but compliance with CORSIA will
increase our operating costs.

In the U.S., Congress in the past several years has considered various bills that would regulate GHG emissions, but these
bills so far have not received sufficient Congressional support for enactment. Nevertheless, some form of federal climate
change legislation is possible in the future. Even in the absence of such legislation, the Environmental Protection Agency
(“EPA™), spurted by judicial interpretation of the Clean Air Act, could determine to regulate GHG emissions, especially aircraft
or diesel engine emissions, and this could impose substantial costs on us. ’

In November 2019, the U.S. began the process to withdraw from the Paris climate accord, an agreement among 196
countries to reduce GHG emissions. The effect of that withdrawal on future U.S. policy regarding GHG emissions, on CORSIA
and on other GHG regulation is uncertain. Nevertheless, the extent to which other countries implement that agreement could
have an adverse direct or indirect effect on us.

We may face additional regulations regarding GHG emissions internationally and in the United States. Potential costs to
us of increased regulation regarding GHG emissions, especially aircraft or diesel engine emissions, include an increase in the
cost of the fuel and other energy we purchase and capital costs associated with updating or replacing our aircraft or vehicles
prematurely. We cannot predict the impact any future regulation would have on our cost structure or our operating results. It is
possible that such regulation could significantly increase our operating costs and that we may not be willing or able to pass
such costs along to our customers. Moreover, even without such regulation, increased awareness and any adverse publicity in
the global marketplace about the GHGs emitted by companies in the airline and transportation industries could harm our
reputation and reduce customer demand for our services, especially our air services.
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Strikes, work stoppages and slowdowns by our employees could adversely affect us.

Many of our U.S. employees are employed under a national master agreement and various supplemental agreements with
local unions affiliated with the Teamsters. Our airline pilots, airline mechanics, ground mechanics and certain other employees
are employed under other collective bargaining agreements. In addition, some of our international employees are employed
under collective bargaining or similar agreements. Strikes, work stoppages or slowdowns by our employees could adversely
affect our ability to meet our customers' needs. As a result, customers may reduce their business or stop doing business with us
if they believe that such actions or threatened actions may adversely affect our ability to provide services. We may face a
permanent loss of customers if we are unable to provide uninterrupted service, and this could materially adversely affect us.
The terms of future collective bargaining agreements also may affect our competitive position and results of operations.

We are exposed to the effects of changing fuel and energy prices, including gasoline, diesel and jet fuel, and interruptions in
supplies of these commodities.

Changing fuel and energy costs have a significant impact on our operations. We require significant quantities of fuel for
our aircraft and delivery vehicles and are exposed to the risks associated with variations in the market price for petroleum
products, including gasoline, diesel and jet fuel. We mitigate our exposure to changing fuel prices through our indexed fuel
surcharges and through hedging transactions from time to time. If we are unable to maintain or increase our fuel surcharges,
higher fuel costs could adversely impact our operating results. Even if we are able to offset changes in fuel costs with
surcharges, high fuel surcharges may result in a mix shift from our higher-yielding air products to lower-yielding ground
products or an overall reduction in volume. There can also be no assurance that hedging transactions will be effective to protect
us from changes in fuel prices. Moreover, we could experience a disruption in energy supplies as a result of war, actions by
producers or other factors beyond our control, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

Changes in exchange rates or interest rates may have a material adverse effect on us.

We conduct business across the globe with a significant portion of our revenue derived from operations outside the United
States. Our operations in international markets are affected by changes in the exchange rates for local currencies, and in
particular the Euro, British Pound Sterling, Canadian Dollar, Chinese Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollar.

We are exposed to changes in interest rates, primarily on our short-term debt and that portion of our long-term debt that
carries floating interest rates. The impact of a 100-basis-point change in interest rates affecting our debt is discussed in the
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk™ section of this report. Additionally, changes in interest rates
impact the valuation of our pension and postretirement benefit obligations and the related benefit cost recognized in the income
statement. The impact of changes in interest rates on our pension and postretirement benefit obligations and costs is discussed
further in the "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" section of this report.

We monitor and manage our exposures to changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates, and use derivative
instruments to mitigate the impact of changes in these rates on our financial position and results of operations; however,
changes in exchange rates and interest rates cannot always be predicted or hedged and may have a material adverse effect on
us.

The proposed phase out of the London Interbank Offer Rate ("LIBOR") could have an adverse effect on us.

Certain of our debt and other financial instruments have interest rates tied to LIBOR. The head of the United Kingdom
Financial Conduct Authority has announced the desire to phase out the use of LIBOR by the end of 2021. There is currently no
definitive information regarding the future utilization of LIBOR or any particular replacement rate. As such, the potential effect
of any such event on our cost of capital cannot be determined. In addition, any further changes or reforms to the determination
or supervision of LIBOR may result in a sudden or prolonged increase or decrease in reported LIBOR, which could have an
adverse impact on extensions of credit held by us and could have a material adverse effect on us.
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Failure to maintain our brand image and corporate reputation could adversely impact us.

Our success depends in part on our ability to maintain the image of the UPS brand and our reputation for providing
excellent service to our customers. Service quality issues, actual or perceived, even when false or unfounded, could tarnish the
image of our brand and may cause customers to use other companies. Also, adverse publicity surrounding labor relations,
environmental concerns, security matters, political activities and similar matters, or attempts to connect our company to such
issues, either in the United States or other countries in which we operate, could negatively affect our overall reputation and use
of our services by customers. Social media accelerates and amplifies the scope of negative publicity, and makes responding to
negative claims more difficult. Damage to our reputation and loss of brand equity could reduce demand for our services and
thus have a material adverse effect on us, and could require additional resources to rebuild our reputation and restore the value
of our brand.

A significant data breach or IT system disruption could materially adversely affect us, including requiring us to increase
spending on data and system security.

We rely heavily on information technology networks and systems, including the Intemet and a number of internally-
developed systems and applications, to manage or support a wide variety of important business processes and activities
throughout our operations. For example, we rely on information technology to receive package level information in advance of
physical receipt of packages, to track items that move through our delivery systems, to efficiently plan deliveries, to execute
billing processes, and to track and report financial and operational data. Our franchised center locations and businesses we have
acquired also are reliant on the use of information technology systems to manage their business processes and activities.

In addition, the provision of service to our customers and the operation of our networks and systems involve the
collection, storage and transmission of significant amounts of proprietary information and sensitive or confidential data,
including personal information of customers, employees and others. To conduct our operations, we regularly move data across
national borders, and consequently we are subject to a variety of continuously evolving and developing laws and regulations in
the United States and abroad regarding privacy, data protection and data security. The scope of the laws that may be applicable
to us is often uncertain and may be conflicting, particularly with respect to foreign laws. For example, the European Union’s
General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR™), which greatly increases the jurisdictional reach of European Union law and
adds a broad array of requirements for handling personal data, including the public disclosure of significant data breaches,
became effective in May 2018. Other countries have enacted or are enacting data localization laws that require data to stay
within their borders. All of these evolving compliance and operational requirements impose significant costs that are likely to
increase over time.

Our information technology systems (as well as those of our franchisees and acquired businesses) are susceptible to
damage, disruptions or shutdowns due to programming errors, defects or other vulnerabilities, power outages, hardware
failures, computer viruses, cyber-attacks, ransomware attacks, malware attacks, theft, misconduct by employees or other
insiders, telecommunications failures, misuse, human errors or other catastrophic events. Hackers, foreign governments, cyber-
terrorists and cyber-criminals, acting individually or in coordinated groups, may launch distributed denial of service attacks or
other coordinated attacks that may cause service outages, gain inappropriate or block legitimate access to systems or
information, or result in other interruptions in our business. In addition, the foregoing breaches in security could expose us, our
customers and franchisees, or the individuals affected, to a risk of loss, disclosure or misuse of proprietary information and
sensitive or confidential data, including personal information of customers, employees and others. The techniques used to
obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service or sabotage systems change frequently, may be difficult to detect and
often are not recognized until launched against a target. As a result, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to
implement adequate measures to prevent any of the events described above.

We also depend on and interact with the information technology networks and systems of third-parties for many aspects
of our business operations, including our customers, and franchisees and service providers such as cloud service providers and
third-party delivery services. These third parties may have access to information we maintain about our company, operations,
customers, employees and vendors, or operating systems that are critical to or can significantly impact our business operations.
Like us, these third parties are subject to risks imposed by data breaches and IT systems disruptions like those described above,
and other events or actions that could damage, disrupt or close down their networks or systems. Security processes, protocols
and standards that we have implemented and contractual provisions requiring security measures that we may have sought to
impose on such third-parties may not be sufficient or effective at preventing such events. These events could result in
unauthorized access to, or disruptions or denials of access to, misuse or disclosure of, information or systems that are important
to our business, including proprietary information, sensitive or confidential data, and other information about our operations,
customers, employees and suppliers, including personal information.



Any of these events that impact our information technology networks or systems, or those of acquired businesses,
franchisees, customers, service providers or other third-parties, could result in disruptions in our operations, the loss of existing
or potential customers, damage to our brand and reputation, regulatory scrutiny, and litigation and potential liability for us.
Among other consequences, our customers’ confidence in our ability to protect data and systems and to provide services
consistent with their expectations could be impacted, further disrupting our operations. Similarly, an actual or alleged failure to
comply with applicable U.S. or foreign data protection regulations or other data protection standards may expose us to
litigation, fines, sanctions or other penalties.

We have invested and continue to invest in technology security initiatives, information technology risk management and
disaster recovery plans. The cost and operational consequences of implementing, maintaining and enhancing further data or
system protection measures could increase significantly to overcome increasingly intense, complex and sophisticated global
cyber threats. Despite our best efforts, we are not fully insulated from data breaches and system disruptions. Although to date
we are unaware of a data breach or system disruption, including a cyber-attack, that has been material to us, we cannot provide
any assurances that such events and impacts will not be material in the future, and our efforts to deter, identify, mitigate and/or
eliminate future breaches may require significant additional effort and expense and may not be successful.

Severe weather or other natural or manmade disasters could adversely affect us.

Severe weather conditions and other natural or manmade disasters, including storms, floods, fires, earthquakes,
epidemics, pandemics, conflicts, unrest, or terrorist attacks, may disrupt our business and result in decreased revenues.
Customers may reduce shipments, or our costs to operate our business may increase, either of which could have a material
adverse effect on us. Any such event affecting one of our major facilities could result in a significant interruption in or
disruption of our business.

We make significant capital investments in our business of which a significant portion is tied to projected volume levels.

We require significant capital investments in our business consisting of aircraft, vehicles, technology, facilities and sorting
and other types of equipment. These investments support both our existing business and anticipated growth. Forecasting
projected volume involves many factors which are subject to uncertainty, such as general economic trends, changes in
governmental regulation and competition. If we do not accurately forecast our future capital investment needs, we could have
excess capacity or insufficient capacity, either of which would negatively affect our revenues and profitability. In addition to
forecasting our capital investment requirements, we adjust other elements of our operations and cost structure in response to
adverse economic conditions; however, these adjustments may not be sufficient to allow us to maintain our operating margins.

Economic, political, social developments and other risks associated with international operations could adversely affect us.

We have significant international operations. As a result, we are continually exposed to changing economic, political and
social developments that are beyond our control. Emerging markets are typically more volatile than those in the developed
world, and any broad-based downturn in these markets could reduce our revenues and adversely affect our business, financial
position and results of operations. We are subject to many laws governing our international operations, including those that
prohibit improper payments to government officials and commercial customers, and restrict where we can do business, our
shipments to certain countries and the information that we can provide to non-U.S. governments. Our failure to manage and
anticipate these and other risks associated with our international operations could materially adversely affect us.

We are subject to changes in markets and our business plans that have resulted, and may in the future result, in substantial
write-downs of the carrying value of our assets, thereby reducing our net income.

Our regular review of the carrying value of our assets has resulted, from time to time, in significant impairments, and we
may in the future be required to recognize additional impairment charges. Changes in business strategy, government
regulations, or economic or market conditions have resulted and may result in further substantial impairments of our intangible,
fixed or other assets at any time in the future. In addition, we have been and may be required in the future to recognize
increased depreciation and amortization charges if we determine that the useful lives of our fixed assets or intangible assets are
shorter than we originally estimated. Such changes have in the past, and may in the future, reduce our net income.
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Employee health and retiree health and pension benefit costs represent a significant expense to us; further cost increases
could materially and adversely affect us.

Our expenses relating to employee health and retiree health and pension benefits are significant. In recent years, we have
experienced significant increases in some of these costs, largely as a result of economic factors beyond our control, including,
in particular, ongoing increases in healthcare costs well in excess of the rate of inflation and historically low discount rates that
we use to value our benefit plan obligations. Continually increasing healthcare costs, volatility in investment returns and
discount rates, as well as changes in laws, regulations and assumptions used to calculate retiree health and pension benefit
expenses, may adversely affect our business, financial position, results of operations or require significant contributions to our
benefit plans. Our national master agreement with the Teamsters includes provisions that are designed to mitigate certain of
these healthcare expenses, but there can be no assurance that our efforts will be successful or that the failure or success of these
efforts will not materially adversely affect us.

We participate in a number of trustee-managed multiemployer pension and health and welfare plans for employees
covered under collective bargaining agreements. As part of the overall collective bargaining process for wage and benefit
levels, we have agreed to contribute certain amounts to the multiemployer benefit plans during the contract period. The
multiemployer benefit plans set benefit levels and are responsible for benefit delivery to participants. Future contribution
amounts to multiemployer benefit plans will be.determined only through collective bargaining, and we have no additional legal
or constructive obligation to increase contributions beyond the agreed-upon amounts. However, in future collective bargaining
negotiations, we could agree to make significantly higher future contributions to improve the funded status of one or more of
these plans. The funded status of these multiemployer plans is impacted by various factors, including investment performance,
healthcare inflation, changes in demographics and changes in participant benefit levels. At this time, we are unable to determine
the amount of additional future contributions, if any, or whether any material adverse effect on us could result from our
participation in these plans.

In addition to our on-going multiemployer pension plan obligations, we may have significant additional exposure with
respect to benefits earned in the Central States Pension Fund (the "CSPF"). For additional information on our potential
additional liabilities related to the CSPF, see note 5 to the audited, consolidated financial statements.

We may have additional tax liabilities.

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and many foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining
our worldwide provision for income taxes. In the course of our business, there are many transactions and calculations where the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. For example, compliance with the 2017 United States Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax
Act”) may require the collection of information not regularly produced within our company and the exercise of significant
judgment in accounting for its provisions. Many aspects of the Tax Act remain unclear and may not be clarified for some time.
In addition, many state jurisdictions continue to issue guidance on the state treatment of certain aspects of the Tax Act. As
regulations and guidance evolve with respect to the Tax Act, our results may differ from previous estimates and may materially
affect our tax rates and our financial position.

We are regularly under audit by tax authorities in different jurisdictions. Economic and political pressures to increase tax
revenue in various jurisdictions may make resolving tax disputes more difficult. Although we believe our tax estimates are
reasonable, the final determination of tax audits and any related litigation in the jurisdictions where we are subject to taxation
could be maternially different from our historical income tax provisions and accruals. In addition, changes in U.S. federal and
state or international tax laws applicable to corporate multinationals, other fundamental law changes currently being considered
by many countries, and changes in taxing jurisdictions’ administrative interpretations, decisions, policies and positions may
materially adversely impact our tax expense and cash flows.

We may be subject to various claims and lawsuits that could result in significant expenditures.

The nature of our business exposes us to the potential for various claims and litigation related to labor and employment,
personal injury, property damage, business practices, environmental liability and other matters. Any material litigation or a
catastrophic accident or series of accidents could result in significant expenditures and have a material adverse effect on us.

Our inability to effectively integrate acquired operations and realize the anticipated benefits of acquisitions, joint ventures
or strategic alliances could adversely affect us.

As part of our business strategy, we may acquire businesses and form joint ventures or strategic alliances. Whether we
realize the anticipated benefits from these transactions depends, in part, upon the successful integration between the businesses
involved, the performance of the underlying operations, capabilities or technologies and the management of the acquired
operations. Accordingly, our financial results could be materially adversely affected by our failure to effectively integrate the
acquired operations, unanticipated performance issues or transaction-related charges.
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Insurance and claims expenses could have a material adverse effect on us.

We have a combination of both self-insurance and high-deductible insurance programs for the risks arising out of the
services we provide and the nature of our global operations, including claims exposure resulting from cargo loss, personal
injury, property damage, aircraft and related liabilities, business interruption and workers' compensation. Workers'
compensation, automobile and general liabilities are determined using actuarial estimates of the aggregate liability for claims
incurred and an estimate of incurred but not reported claims, on an undiscounted basis. Our accruals for insurance reserves
reflect certain actuarial assumptions and management judgments, which are subject to a high degree of variability. If the
number or severity of claims for which we are retaining risk increases, our financial condition and results of operations could
be adversely affected. If we lose our ability to self-insure these risks, our insurance costs could materially increase and we may
find it difficult to obtain adequate levels of insurance coverage.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 2. Properties

Operating Facilities

We own our headquarters, which is located in Atlanta, Georgia and consists of approximately 745,000 square feet of
space in an office campus, and our UPS Supply Chain Solutions group’s headquarters, which is located in Alpharetta, Georgia
and consists of approximately 310,000 square feet of office space. Our information technology headquarters is located in
Parsippany, New Jersey, consisting of about 200,000 square feet of owned office space.

Our primary information technology operations are consolidated in a 444,000 square foot owned facility in New Jersey.
We also own a 175,000 square foot facility in Georgia, which serves as a backup to the main information technology operations
facility in New Jersey.

We own or lease over 1,000 package operating facilities in the U.S., with approximately 80 million square feet of floor
space. These facilities have vehicles and drivers stationed for the pick-up and delivery of packages, and capacity to sort and
transfer packages. Our larger facilities also service our vehicles and equipment, and employ specialized mechanical
installations for the sorting and handling of packages. We own or lease approximately 800 facilities that support our
international package operations, with approximately 24 million square feet of space.

Our aircraft are operated in a hub and spoke pattern in the U.S., with our principal air hub, Worldport, located in
Louisville, Kentucky. The Worldport facility consists of over 5 million square feet and includes high-speed conveyor and
computer control systems. For additional information on our air hubs, see “Item 1 - Business - Products and Services;
Reporting Segments - Global Small Package”.

Our major air hub in Europe is located in Cologne, Germany, and we operate three air hubs in Asia in Shanghai, China,
Shenzhen, China; and Hong Kong.

We own or lease more than 500 facilities, with approximately 38 million square feet of floor space that support our
freight forwarding and logistics operations. We own and operate a logistics campus consisting of approximately 4 million
square feet in Louisville, Kentucky.

We own or lease approximately 200 UPS Freight service centers with approximately 6 million square feet of floor space.
The main offices of UPS Freight in Richmond, Virginia, consist of approximately 217,000 square feet of office space.
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Fleet
Aircraft

The following table shows information about our aircraft fleet as of December 31, 2019:

Operating Leases &

Description Owned & Finance Leases  Chartered From Others On Order Under Option
Boeing 757-200 75 _ — —
Boeing 767-200 ' _ _
Boeing 767-300 64 2 8 —
Boeing 767-300BCF ' ' 3 — o
Bocing 767-300BDSF ‘ 2 2
Airbus A300-600 52 B ' _ _
Boeing MD-11 ‘ 37 = 5 —
Boeing 747-400F ' 1 _ _ —
Boeing, 747-400BCF ' ‘ 2 R _ o
Boeing 747-8F ) 15 _ 13 _
Other ) ) — 309 - R

Total ‘ 261 311 29 _
Vehicles

We operate a global ground fleet of approximately 125,000 package cars, vans, tractors and motorcycles. Our ground
support fleet consists of 36,000 pieces of equipment designed specifically to support our aircraft fleet, ranging from non-
powered container dollies and racks to powered aircraft main deck loaders and cargo tractors. We also have 52,000 containers
used to transport cargo in our aircraft.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

See note 5 to the audited, consolidated financial statements for a discussion of pension related matters and note 9 to the
audited, consolidated financial statements for a discussion of judicial proceedings and other matters arising from the conduct of
our business activities.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

Information about our Executive Officers

The information under the heading "Information about our Executive Officers" in Item 10 hereof is incorporated by
reference into this Part 1.
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PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our class A common stock is not listed on a national securities exchange or traded in an organized over-the-counter
market, but each share of our class A common stock is convertible into one share of our class B common stock. Our class B
common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “UPS”.

As of February 7, 2020, there were 155,914 and 19,196 shareowners of record of class A and class B common stock,
respectively.

Our practice has been to pay dividends on a quarterly basis. The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of
the Board of Directors and will depend on various factors, including our net income, financial condition, cash requirements,
future prospects and other relevant factors.

On February 13, 2020, our Board declared a dividend of $1.01 per share, which is payable on March 10, 2020 to
shareowners of record on February 25, 2020. This represents a 5.2% increase from the previous $0.96 per share quarterly
dividend paid in December 2019.

A summary of repurchases of our class A and class B common stock during the fourth quarter of 2019 is as follows (in
millions, except per share amounts):

Approximate Dollar

Total Number Value of Shares that
Total Number of Shares Purchased Average May Yet be Purchased
of Shares as Part of Publicly Price Paid Under the Program
Purchased® Announced Program Per Share (as of month-end)
October 1—October 31 08 08 § 11596 $ 2,495
November 1—November 30 0.6 0.6 121.81 2,416
December 1—December 31 0.7 0.7 117.99 ) 2,334
Total October 1 —December 31 2.1 21 § 118.59

™ Includes shares repurchased through our publicly announced share repurchase program and shares tendered to pay the exercise price and
tax withholding on employee stock awards.

In May 2016, the Board of Directors approved a share repurchase authorization of $8.0 billion for shares of class A and

class B common stock. We anticipate repurchasing approximately $1.0 billion of shares in 2020. For additional information on
our share repurchase activities, see note 11 to the audited, consolidated financial statements included in this report.
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Shareowner Return Performance Graph

The following performance graph and related information shall not be deemed *“‘soliciting material” or to be ‘filed” with
the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates such
information by reference into such filing. ’

The following graph shows a five-year comparison of cumulative total shareowners’ returns for our class B common
stock, the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index and the Dow Jones Transportation Average. The comparison of the total cumulative
return on investment, which is the change in the stock price plus reinvested dividends for each of the quarterly periods, assumes
that $100 was invested on December 31, 2014 in the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index, the Dow Jones Transportation Average and
our class B common stock.

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return

$200
$180
5160
S$140
$120
$100
580
$60 T | T T T T
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—l— UPS —@— S&P 500 —A— Dow Jones Transports
12/31/2014  12/31/2015 12/31/2016 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2019
United Parcel Service, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 93.50 § 11474 % 12293 $ 103.90 §  130.39
Standard & Poor’s 500 Index $ 100.00 $ 10137 § 11349 § 13826 $ 13219 8 175.30
Dow Jones Transportation Average $ 10000 $ 8324 § 10144 § 12073 8§ 10585 $ 128.76

For information regarding our equity compensation plans, see Item 12 of this report.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data - K

The following table sets forth selected financial data for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2019 (in
millions, except per share amounts). This financial data should be read together with our consolidated financial statements and
related notes, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, including the
Supplemental Information - Items Affecting Comparability section, and other financial data appearing elsewhere in this report.

. S ’ 4

Years Ended December 31,

_ _ 2019 2018 2017 2016 + 2015
!if_e_l_ected Income Statemen‘t_l_?fltg___ - ' - ;h - . _ L . J
Rev.e-r:ue: T " T »
(™" US. Domestic Package | T 8 46493 543503 S 40761 $ 38284 S 36,744
International Package | T a0 w2 13342 12346 12142
I Supply Chain & Freight . T TT3sl Ti3e 12482 10980 10300,
Total Revenue o T 74094 71861 66,585 61,610 . 59,186
@eraﬁng Expenses: . u.-.--.:‘ .‘:w ) o ) T ‘—‘_:__;"_m“ .——_]
Compensation and benefits T T 38008 3, 235 34577 32,534 . 31448
{  Other TT T Tar388 27,602 24479 | 21,388 . 20495
Total Operating Expenses ) o 66 296 64,837 59,056 53,922 51,943
@peratmg Profit: : _t’ .‘-:‘_ :‘; _:_- o T H-_:J
U.S. Domestic Package 4,164 3,643 B 4,303 4,628 4,427
{ Intefnational Package - 2657 2,529 2420 2417 2,123
Supply Chain and Freight - T T o Tgs2 797 " 643 693
{ . Total Operating Profit . ] - :_'_“ 7798 7024 - 7,529 7,688 7,243
Other Income and (Expense): ‘ .
[ Investment income (expense) and other o —-‘----_- :__:(‘1_,_:1-95)' o zét_@)_ TTTUEL -25,1 gé;”w 435
Interest expense - (653) (605) (453) 381) (341)
Encqrﬁe Before Income Taxes - ;_::___ 3, ,6,5__2.,, _ 6019 - 7,137 5121 ___.__11121}
Income Tax Expense 1,212 1,228 2,232 - 1,699 2,497
{Net Income ST T8 4440 $ 4791 § 4905 8  3422°$ 43840}
Per Share Amounts: - 4 N
{ .Basic Earnings Per Share s $ 514 8 553 % 563 "$ 388 S5 S.E’B
Diluted Eamings Per Share A "5 sl 5 551 S 56l 5 38 S 534
{™ Dividends Declared Per Share . * s 384 s 364’8 33 $- 312 5 - 29]
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding:
Chasic — -~ 7 T s se w w9l
Diluted . 89 80 875 887 906
L -
T 7_ ‘ * As of December 31, f
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
'Selected Balfﬂgg Sheet Data: a: '_T:_: jﬂ_ L WTT:-:- L o _'_ L . _ﬁ}
Cash and marketable securities ) $ 5, 741 $ 5035 § 4,069 $ 4567 $ 4,726
v T T T Ty R B R )
Long-term debt B - TUau818 19931 20278 12394 11316
!Shareowners’ equity e __bf ;‘ -- ::E%Sg: :T:EO’?;:‘: :*T-(’)ali- i ;‘__4_1—350‘ :_:—’2:,_5:61-

This table reflects the impact of the adoption of new accounting standards in 2018 and 2019. Refer to note I to the audited, consolidated financial statements.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

Highlights of our annual results follow:

Year Ended December 31, $ Change % Change

‘ 2019 2018 2019/2018 2019/2018
[Revenue (inmillions) ~ + R 74,094 S, 781 $ 2233 31%
Opemtmg E\:penses (in millions) 66,296 64,837 1,459 ] 23 %
{Operating Profit (in millions) $ 7,798 $ 7024 8 774 r_' %
Operating Margin 10.5% 9.8%
{Net Income (in millions) L $ 4440 .S 4791 $ @Sy - (7.3)0—/3:
Basic Earnings Per Share ) $ 514  § 553 % (0.39) (7.1)%
{Diluted Eamings Per Share * - s s11 $ SSL_$ ©040) °  (13¢%
EAXf_rflge Daily Package Volume (in thou;ands) 21,880 20,677 . . ’ o 5.8“;/;.
Average Revenue Per Piece | - $ 1087 § 1098 $ 0.11) ° (1.0)%

*  Consolidated revenue increased 3.1%.

*  Average daily package volume increased 5.8% primarily driven by our U.S. Domestic Package segment, which
experienced growth from SMBs as well as several large customers, led by our largest customer, Amazon.

*  Average revenue per piece is dependent upon base rates, customer and product mix, average billable weight per piece,
fuel surcharge rates and currency. Average revenue per piece decreased as a result of changes in customer and product
mix, and lower average billable weight per piece in our U.S. Domestic Package segment. Currency movements
negatively impacted revenue per piece in our International Package segment.

*  Operating profit and operating margin increased with growth and margin expansion in all segnients.

*  We reported net income of $4.440 billion and diluted earnings per share of $5.11. Adjusted diluted eamiﬁgs per share
was $7.53 after adjusting for the after-tax impacts of the following:

o transformation strategy costs of $196 million;
o legal contingencies and expenses of $91 million; and ,

o pension mark-to-market losses recognized outside of a 10% corridor of $1.816 billion.

2018 compared to 2017

See Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of the Company's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

February 21, 2019.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Supplemental Information - Items Affecting Comparability

We supplement the reporting of our financial information determined under generally accepted accounting principles in
the United States ("GAAP") with certain non-GAAP financial measures including, as applicable, "adjusted" compensation and
benefits, operating expenses, operating profit, operating margin, other income and (expense), income before income taxes,
income tax expense, effective tax rate, net income and earnings per share. Adjusted financial measures may exclude the impact
of period over period exchange rate changes and hedging activities, amounts related to mark-to-market gains or losses,
recognition of contingencies and transformation strategy costs, as described below. We believe that these adjusted financial
measures provide meaningful information to assist investors and analysts in understanding our financial results and assessing
our prospects for future performance. We believe these adjusted financial measures are important indicators of our recurring
results of operations because they exclude items that may not be indicative of, or are unrelated to, our underlying operating
results, and provide a useful baseline for analyzing trends in our underlying businesses. Additionally, these adjusted financial
measures are used internally by management for the determination of incentive compensation awards, business unit operating
performance analysis and business unit resource allocation.

Non-GAAP financial measures should be considered in addition to, and not as an alternative for, our reported results
prepared in accordance with GAAP. Our non-GAAP financial information does not represent a comprehensive basis of
accounting. Therefore, our non-GAAP financial information may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by
other companies.

The year over year comparisons of our financial results are affected by the following items (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

Non-GAAP Adjustments 2019 2018
Operatihg Expenses: ) .
Transformation Strategy Costs $ . 255 § 360 .
Legal Contingencies and Expenses 97 —
Total Adjustments to Operating Expenses $ 352§ 360

Other Income and (Expense):

Defined Benefit Plans Mark-to-Market Charges $ 2,387 $ 1,627
Total Adjustments to Other Income and (Expense) $ 2,387 § 1,627
Total Adjustments to Income Before Income Taxes $ 2,739 $ 1,987

Income Tax Benefit from the Mark-to-Market Charges $ ¢71) $ (390)

Income Tax Benefit from Transformation Strategy Costs (59) (87)

Income Tax Benefit from Legal Contingencies and Expenses (6) —
Total Adjustments to Income Tax Expense $ (636) $ 477),
Total Adjustments to Net Income $ 2,103 $ 1,510

These items have been excluded from comparisons of "adjusted" Compensation and benefits, Operating Expenses,
Operating Profit, Operating Margin, Other Income and (Expense), Income Tax Expense and effective tax rate in the discussion
that follows. The income tax benefit from transformation strategy costs, legal contingencies and expenses and the mark-to-
market charges are calculated by multiplying the statutory tax rates applicable in each tax jurisdiction, including the U.S.
federal jurisdiction and various U.S. state and non-U.S. jurisdictions, by the tax deductible adjustments. The blended average of
the effective tax rates in 2019 and 2018 were 23.2% and 24.0%, respectively.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Impact of Changes in Foreign Currency Exchange Rates and Hedging Activities

We supplement the reporting of our revenue, revenue per piece and operating profit with non-G AAP measures that
exclude the period over period impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes and hedging activities.

Currency-neutral revenue, revenue per piece and operating profit are calculated by dividing current period reported U.S.
dollar revenue, revenue per piece and operating profit by the current period average exchange rates to derive current period
local currency revenue, revenue per piece and operating profit. The derived amounts are then multiplied by the average foreign
exchange rates used to translate the comparable results for each month in the prior year period (including the period over period
impact of foreign currency hedging activities). The difference between the current period reported U.S. dollar revenue, revenue
per piece and operating profit and the derived current period U.S. dollar revenue, revenue per piece and operating profit is the
period over period impact of currency fluctuations.

Transformation Strategy Costs

We supplement the presentation of our operating profit, operating margin, income before income taxes, net income and
earnings per share with similar non-GAAP measures that exclude the impact of costs related to restructuring programs,
including transformation strategy costs. For information regarding transformation strategy costs, see note 17 to the audited,
consolidated financial statements.

Costs Related to Legal Contingencies and Expenses

We supplement the presentation of our operating profit, operating margin, income before income taxes, net income and
earnings per share with similar non-GAAP measures that exclude the impact of costs related to certain of our legal
contingencies and expenses. For information regarding legal contingencies and expenses, see note 9 to the audited, consolidated
financial statements.

Defined Benefit Plans Mark-to-Market Charges

We recognize changes in the fair value of plan assets and net actuarial gains and losses in excess of a 10% corridor for our
pension and postretirement defined benefit plans immediately as part of net periodic benefit cost other than service cost. We
supplement the presentation of our income before income taxes, net income and earnings per share with "adjusted” measures
that exclude the impact of the portion of net periodic benefit cost other than service cost represented by the gains and losses
recognized in excess of the 10% corridor and the related income tax effects. We believe excluding these mark-to-market
impacts from our adjusted results provides important supplemental information to remove the volatility caused by short-term
changes in market interest rates, equity prices and similar factors.

This adjusted net periodic benefit cost ($754 million in 2019 and $615 million in 2018) utilizes the expected return on
plan assets (7.68% in 2019 and 2018) and the discount rate used to determine net periodic benefit cost (4.45% in 2019 and
3.81% in 2018). The unadjusted net periodic benefit cost reflects the actual return on plan assets (17.57% in 2019 and -2.38% in
2018) and the discount rate used to measure the projected benefit obligation at the December 31 measurement date (3.55% in
2019 and 4.45% in 2018).

We recognized pre-tax mark-to-market losses outside of a 10% corridor related to the remeasurement of our pension and
postretirement defined benefit plans' assets and liabilities in "Other Income and (Expense)" of $2.387 and $1.627 billion for
2019 and 2018, respectively. In October 2019, we refined the bond matching approach used to determine the discount rate for
our U.S. pension and postretirement plans by implementing advances in technology and modeling techniques. This refinement
decreased the projected benefit obligation on our consolidated balance sheet by approximately $900 million as of December 31,
2019, decreased the pre-tax mark-to-market charge by approximately $810 million and increased net income by $616 million,
or $0.71 per share on a basic and diluted basis. This change did not have an impact on adjusted net income or adjusted earnings
per share.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The table below indicates the amounts associated with each component of the pre-tax mark-to-market losses, as well as
the weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine our net pertodic benefit cost, for each year:

Year Ended December 31,

Components of mark-to-market gain (loss) (in millions): 2019 2018
Discount rates ‘ - ’ $ (5,670) $ _ 845 ,
Return on assets - A 3,850 ‘ (1,057)
Demographic and other assumption changes ) ’ (24). (22) .
Coordinating benefits attributable to the Central States Pension Fund (543) - (1,393) .
Total mark-to-market gain (loss) _ $ (2,387) $ (1,627)

Year Ended December 31,

Weighted-average actuarial assum ptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost: 2019 2018

Expected rate of return on plan assets 7.68% _7.68 %.
Actual rate of return on plan assets 17.57% (2.38)%
Discount rate used for net periodic benefit cost 445% 381 %
Discount rate at measure;nent date 3.55% 445 %

The pre-tax mark-to-market losses for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, were comprised of the
following components:

2019 - $2.387 billion pre-tax mark-to-market loss:

Return on Assets ($3.850 billion pre-tax gain): In 2019, the actual rate of return on plan assets was higher than our
expected rate of return, primarily due to strong global equity and U.S. bond markets.

Coordinating benefits attributable to the Central States Pension Fund ($543 million pre-tax loss): This represents
our current best estimate of the additional potential coordinating benefits that may be required to be paid related to
the Central States Pension Fund.

Discount Rates ($5.670 billion pre-tax loss): The weighted-average discount rate for our pension and
postretirement medical plans decreased from 4.45% at December 31, 2018 to 3.55% at December 31, 2019,
primarily due to both a decline in U.S. treasury yields and a decrease in credit spreads on AA-rated corporate
bonds in 2019.

Demographic and Other Assumption Changes ($24 million pre-tax loss): This represents the difference between
actual and estimated participant data and demographic factors, including items such as healthcare cost trends,
compensation rate increases and rates of termination, retirement and mortality.

2018 - $1.627 billion pre-tax mark-to-market loss:

Return on Assets ($1.057 billion pre-tax loss): In 2018, the actual rate of return on plan assets was lower than our
expected rate of return, primarily due to weak global equity markets.

Coordinating benefits attributable to the Central States Pension Fund ($1.393 billion pre-tax loss): This
represented our then-current best estimate of potential coordinating benefits that may be required to be paid
related to the Central States Pension Fund.

Discount Rates ($845 million pre-tax gain): The weighted-average discount rate for our pension and
postretirement medical plans increased from 3.81% at December 31, 2017 to 4.45% at December 31, 2018,
primarily due to both an increase in U.S. treasury yields and an increase in credit spreads on AA-rated corporate
bonds in 2018.

Demographic and Other Assumption Changes ($22 million pre-tax loss): This represents the difference between
actual and estimated participant data and demographic factors, including items such as healthcare cost trends,
compensation rate increases and rates of termination, retirement and mortality.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Expense Allocations

Certain operating expenses are allocated between our reporting segments using activity-based costing methods. These
activity-based costing methods require us to make estimates that impact the amount of each expense category that is attributed
to each segment. Changes in these estimates will directly impact the amount of expense allocated to each segment, and
therefore the operating profit of each reporting segment. Our allocation methodologies are refined periodically, as necessary, to

reflect changes in our businesses. There were no significant changes in our expense allocation methodologies during 2019,
2018 or 2017.

26



UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

U.S. Domestic Package Operations

Revenue .

Year Ended December 31, - $ Change % Change
2019 2018 2019/2018 2019/2018
aAverage Dm]y Package Volume (in thousands) ’ . ) ___;_ﬂ *'_'__J,
Next Day Air 1,889 1,542 225 %
I Deferred - 1622 1432 3%
- Ground ) L 15,176 14,49§ o —— i‘lff‘?,
4 Total Average Dally Package Volume - 18,687 17,472 . 70 %
Average Revenue Per Piece:
™ NextDayair .. $ 17741953 .8 (1719 T 2%
Deferred 12.62 13.12 (0.50) 3.8)%
{  Ground 8.55 851 10.04 05 %
Total Average Revenue Per Piece $ 983 § 98 $ (0.03) (0.3)%
{Operating Days in Period ~_ - " 253 253" e
Revenue (in mllllOl’lS) ) .
1 Next Day Air R $ 8479  $ 7618 8 861 113%
Deferred ' 5,180 4,752 428 9.0 %
! Ground T 32,834 31,223 1611 52%
Total Revenue . $ 46,493 $ 43,593 § 2,900 6.7 %
@&ﬂg_EXpemes (in millions): T - . . . !
Operating Expenses $ 42329 § 39950 $ . 2,379 6.0 %
f_ Transformation Strategy Costs —- (108) . (235) 127 (54'.0)%?
Legal Contiﬁgencies and Expenses (CO)) — 97 N/M
! Adjusted Operating Expenses s 42124 § 39715 § - 2,400 6.1%
Operating Profit (in millions) and Operatmg Margm )
L_Qg_e_mnng Profit N I $ - 4164 s 3643 $ 521 143 Zo'
Adjusted Operating Profit $ 4369 § 3878 § 491 12.7 %
' Operagt;g Margin 9.0% - 8.4% ) " _l
Adjusted Operating Margin '94% 8.9% -

The change in overall revenue was due to the following factors for the year ended December 31, 2019 versus 2018:

' Rates / Fuel Total Revenue
Volume Product Mix Surcharge Change
Revenue Change Drivers: - ) I
201972018 7.0% (0.6)% . 03% 6.7%
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Volume
2019 compared to 2018

Our overall volume increased across all products, led by strong growth in our Next Day Air and Deferred driven by the
structural shift to faster delivery in retail and e-commerce, and from additional customer volume. We experienced growth from
a number of large customers and SMBs, with volume growth led by our largest customer, Amazon. This growth was enabled by
our on-going investment in automated facilities and other transformation initiatives.

Business-to-consumer shipments, which represented approximately 54% of the total U.S. Domestic Package average
daily volume, grew 11.3% for the year driven by the growth in e-commerce and retail. Volume grew across all products, with
particularly strong growth in our Air products. Business-to-business shipments increased 2.2% for the year with volume
increases in both air and ground services.

Within our Air products, overall average daily volume increased in both Next Day Air and Deferred. Strong air volume
growth continued primarily in residential Next Day Air and Second Day package products, as consumers and businesses
continue to demand faster delivery options, which we expect will persist. This growth was slightly offset by declines in Next

‘Day Air letter and Second Day letter volume due to shifts in customer preferences.

We experienced year over year growth in both residential and commercial ground products. Growth in residential ground
volume was driven by changes in customer mix resulting from the continued growth in e-commerce, while growth in
commercial ground products was primarily driven by an increase in retail return services.

Rates and Product Mix
2019 compared to 2018

Overall revenue per piece decreased due to customer and product mix and fuel surcharge rates, partially offset by changes
in base rates. ‘

Revenue per piece for ground and air products was positively impacted by a base rate increase on December 26, 2018.
UPS Ground and UPS Air services rates increased an average net 4.9%.

Revenue per piece for our Next Day Air and Deferred products decreased primarily due to a shift in customer and product
miX and a decrease in average billable weight per piece, which was partially offset by the increase in base rates.

Revenue per piece for our ground products increased primarily due to base rate increases and customer and product mix,
partially offset by a decrease in average billable weight per piece.

Fuel Surcharges

We apply a fuel surcharge on our domestic air and ground services. The air fuel surcharge is based on the U.S.
Department of Energy’s (“DOE”) Gulf Coast spot price for a gallon of kerosene-type jet fuel, while the ground fuel surcharge is
based on the DOE’s On-Highway Diesel Fuel Price. Based on published rates, the average fuel surcharge rates for domestic air
and ground products were as follows:

Year Ended December 31, % Point Change

2019 2018 20192018
Next Day Air / Deferred 73% 7.7% (0.4)%
Ground - ' 72% 7.0% 02 %

Effective April 2, 2018, we created separate fuel surcharges for Domestic Air shipments and International Air export
shipments. These surcharges are based on the U.S. Gulf Coast Jet Fuel price and are adjusted weekly. In June and October
2018, ground fuel surcharge rates were raised for all thresholds, and in October and December 2018, Domestic Air fuel
surcharge rates were increased for all thresholds. Ground surcharges continue to be based on the national U.S. Average On-
Highway Diesel Fuel price and adjusted weekly.

While fluctuations in fuel surcharges can be significant from period to period, fuel surcharges represent one of the many
individual components of our pricing structure that impact our overall revenue and yield. Additional components include the
mix of products sold, the base price and any additional charges or discounts on these services.
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Revenue per piece for ground products was positively impacted by fuel surcharge rate increases during 2018, while fuel
surcharge rates for air products decreased slightly for the year.

Total domestic fuel surcharge revenue increased by $140 million for the year as a result of increases in package volume
and shifts in product mix, partially offset by lower fuel surcharge rates on our Air products.

Operating Expenses
2019 compared to 2018

Operating expenses, and operating expenses excluding the impact of transformation strategy costs and legal contingencies
and expenses, increased largely due to pickup and delivery costs (up $1.385 billion), costs of operating our domestic integrated
air and ground network (up $631 million), costs of package sorting (up $301 million) and other indirect operating costs (up $92
million).

In order to manage costs, we continually adjust our air and ground network to better match higher volume levels. In

addition, we continue to deploy and utilize technology to increase package sorting and delivery productivity by reducing .
manual touchpoints. The growth in pickup and delivery and network operational costs was impacted by several factors:

»  Higher employee compensation and benefit costs largely resulting from:
o volume growth, which resulted in an increase in average daily union labor hours of 4.7%;
o union pay rate and benefit increases; and
o growth in the overall size of the workforce due to facility expansions.

We incurred higher employee benefit expenses due to additional headcount, contractual contribution rate increases to
union multiemployer plans and changes in benefit eligibility for certain union employees. These increases were
slightly offset by lower pension expense for our company-sponsored plans due to higher discount rates used to
measure the projected benefit obligations which reduced service costs, and lower premiums due to improved funded
status.

*  We incurred slightly lower fuel expense for the year, driven by declines in fuel prices and higher alternative fuel tax
credits in 2019 due to the passage of additional legislation. These reductions were partially offset by increased network
volume, which resulted in higher fuel usage. Aircraft block hours increased 10.3%, daily package delivery stops
increased 10.9% and daily delivery miles increased 7.9%.

»  Lower costs for outside contract carriers were the result of retaining additional volume within our network.

Total cost per piece, which includes transformation strategy costs and legal contingencies and expenses, decreased 0.9%
for the year. Excluding the year over year impact of transformation strategy costs and legal contingencies and expenses,
adjusted cost per piece decreased 0.8% for the year. Year over year cost per piece decreased due to the incremental impact of
our new automated facilities and other transformation initiatives.

Operating Profit and Margin
2019 compared to 2018

Operating profit increased $521 million with operating margins increasing 60 basis points to 9.0%. Excluding the year
over year impact of transformation strategy costs and legal contingencies and expenses, adjusted operating profit increased
$491 million with operating margins increasing 50 basis points to 9.4%. Operating profit increased as a result of the items
described above.
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International Package Operations
Year Ended December 31, $ Change % Change
2019 2018 ° 2019/2018 2019/2018
@}}}Ee 533; P;:c‘ka.g.e'\;(;lu_m_;‘(in‘t'hohsands): T T ;__ ‘ ’ -_j
Domesic T 7T T i T3 o
w1 G we s e e et S o = o g e ——— e oy
o Bepot 1472 1482 0T
Total Average Daily Package Volume ' 3,193 3,205 0.4)%
éAverage:Re\;e-n;;?-ef Piece: ) - — i ’ . i L T —_J
Domestic $ 7 651 § 659 § (0.08) (12
T T T T T T T R G e
Total Average Revenue Per Piece $ 1693 § 1708 $ (0.15) (0.9)%
[Operating DaysinPeriod ____» = - . s s - ]
_Revenue (in millions):
{ Domesic - .S 283 8- 2874 '8 - a8y (13Y%
Export ey 10837 . 10973 (136) (12)%
™ Cargo& (ﬂer‘f ) - R '- Tsar 595 . . (@) 8%
Total Revenue N S 14220 % 14442 $ (222) (1.5)%
[Operating Expenses (in millions): o R ; "
Operating Expenses ST s U Tses s 11913 § (350) (2.9%
i __ Transformation ggrafsg}:—gg:stﬁ*; e . (122) | (76) . 46) - 605%
Adjusted Operating Expenses $ 11,441 8§ 11,837 § (396) 3.3)%
[Operating Profit Gin millions) and Operating Margin: i N ]
Operating Profit o s 2657 S 2520 § 128 51 %
{ “Adjusted Operating Profit . - _ . § 2719 _S§. 2605 § . .17  61%
Operating Margin ' 18.7% 17.5% _
[——Adjgstgq‘ Operating Margin , , . 19.5% . “18.0% . o J
Currency Translation Benefit /.(CostHM millions)*: ., ‘ _ . )
§ Revenue : DR N ) R $ . . (232) - .
Operating Expenses . . ‘ ’ . . 302 ‘
;:__Operating Profit . - i—w . ST ’ ’ _'$" ’ 70 . —.1
*  Net of currency hedging; amount represents the change compared to the prior year.
Revenue )
The change in overall revenue was due to the foilowing factors for the year ended December 31, 2019 versus 2018:
) Rates / Fuel ' To;al Revenue
Volume Product Mix Surcharge Currency Change
Eﬁ;er.l_ug:_c_l_l‘ang_e ‘lj;lvers_m - Wﬂ_ﬂ o N ..;...... o o ' ’
2019/2018 (0.4)% 0.4% 0.1% (1.6)% (1.5)%
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In addition to variability in usage and market prices, the manner in which we purchase fuel also influences the net impact
of fuel on our results. The majority of our contracts for fuel purchases utilize index-based pricing formulas plus or minus a
fixed locational/supplier differential. While many of the indices are aligned, each index may fluctuate at a different pace,
driving variability in the prices paid for fuel. Because of this, our operating results may be affected should the market price of
fuel suddenly change by a significant amount or change by amounts that do not result in an adjustment in our fuel surcharges,
which can affect our earnings either positively or negatively in the short-term.

The cost of operating our integrated international air and ground network decreased $130 million for 2019. The decrease
in network costs was primarily dniven by a 2.1% decrease in aircraft block hours, due in large part to our ability to adjust our
global air network to match capacity with demand, and lower package volume for the year, together with lower fuel prices.
Pickup and delivery costs decreased $105 million in 2019. The remaining decrease in operating expenses was driven by a $40
million gain from the sale of surplus property in Canada, as well as decreases in the costs of package sorting and other indirect
operating costs.

Operating Profit and Margin

2019 compared to 2018

Operating profit increased $128 million for the year, with operating margin increasing 120 basis points to 18.7%.
Excluding the year over year impact of transformation strategy costs, adjusted operating profit increased, with adjusted
operating margin up 150 basis points to 19.5%. Operating profit increased as a result of the items described above.
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Supply Chain & Freight Operations

Year Ended December 31, $ Change % Change
2019 2018 2019/2018 2019/2018
e o e s < o oo i =
‘Freight LTL Statistics: - : o B ' , i
Réan‘J;(.f n{.ﬁ'.:)ﬁs')' . s 2679 8 2,706 § @7 (1L.0)%
“Revenue Per Hundredweight ~ ~ - T TS a6 (87 s § v 10 T 40%
Shipments (in thousands) _ ! 9,281 9720 (4.5)%
. Sh;;)r‘n—ents Per Day (ln thousands) _ - _ :é@__- s 384 T -t a5
Gross Welght Hauled (m millions of lbs) ' 10,096 10,605 4.8)%
{” Weight Per Shipment (in 1b5) . tos LOST C ©3%
Operating Days in Period ' 253 253
‘Revenue (in millions): = g ” ' i
" Forwarding $ 5867 S 6,580 S 713) (10.8)%
S T e s g
Freight 3,265 3,218 47 " 15%
CTother . T R T 794 20 25%
T T Totl Revenue T TT T 13381 S 13826 $ (445) TTTGa%
tOperatmg E;l;én‘se-s (I]-l— Eﬁiﬂ&.;)"‘“ T T T * . : - ]
Operatmg E\penscs ' 8 72:;1—04 $ 12,974 § (570) '(4.4)%
[ Transformation Strategy Costs __ 5 @9 - 24 (49.0)%
- _Adjusted b'p;;tlng E\{penses T T T T 12379 § 12,025 8 (546) 42)%
‘Operatmg Proﬁt (m mllllons) and Oi)e-r;t-lr:gW“ T s 7 ) : _i
__ Operating g Profit $ “o17 s 852 § 125 14.7 %
L.. Ad]usted Operatmg Proﬁt____-"_w__ __:___ h $___ _"1,0"'63 $ %1 . § 101 112 %:
Operating Margin 713% 6.2%
" Adjusted Operating Margin 7.5% 6.5% ]
Currency Translatlon Benefit / (Cost)—(m mllllons)" _
:___ Revenue : et . _—w N (75) ]
Operatmg Expenses 67
Operatmg Profilt e N _ $ (81___ ]
*  Amount represents the change compared to the prior year. ’
Year Ended December 31, $ Change % Change
2019 2018 2019/2018 2019/2018
Trggsfpzx}}fmgn Strategy C Costs s (in millions): s . o o Co ]
Forwarding $ 12§ 16 $ 4) (25.0)%
N Y__L'c-)__g'_i_s:t_lgs R I O (40.9%%
Freight — 6 6) (100.0)%
T TOther - T E— 5. - (5) (100.0)%
" Total Transformation Strategy Costs s 25 §$ 49 3 24) (49.0)°/¢:
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Revenue
2019 compared to 2018
Total revenue for the Supply Chain & Freight segment decreased $445 million in 2019 compared with 2018.

Forwarding revenue decreased primarily due to an overall decline in market demand that was impacted by global trade
uncertainties. This led to lower volume and declines in market rates in our international air and ocean freight forwarding
businesses. In addition, excess capacity in the truckload brokerage market depressed rates, contributing to the year over year
decrease in revenue. These decreases were partially offset by yield management initiatives in our air and ocean freight
businesses.

Logistics revenue increased as we experienced growth in the healthcare, mail services, retail and manufacturing sectors.

Overall UPS Freight revenue increased, as declines in LTL tonnage and shipment volume which were largely attributable
to market demand and the residual impacts of the fourth quarter 2018 network disruption were more than offset by yield
management initiatives and volume growth in our Ground Freight Pricing product.

Operating Expenses
2019 compared to 2018

Total operating expenses for the Supply Chain & Freight segment, and operating expenses excluding the year over year
impact of transformation strategy costs, decreased in 2019 compared with 2018.

Forwarding operating expenses decreased $685 million largely due to reductions in purchased transportation. Purchased
transportation expense decreased $655 million primarily due to lower tonnage and declines in market rates in our international
air and ocean freight forwarding businesses as well as a decrease in volume and market rates in truckload brokerage. Cost
management initiatives in our freight forwarding businesses also contributed to the reduction in operating expenses.

Logistics operating expenses increased $172 million, primarily due to increases in purchased transportation driven by
increased volume and rates, particularly in our mail services business. Additionally, business investments in healthcare quality
assurance and technology increased costs.

UPS Freight operating expenses decreased $54 million. Decreases in costs associated with operating our linehaul
network ($49 million) and decreases in pickup and delivery costs ($40 million) were driven by lower expenses from outside
transportation carriers as a result of a decline in tonnage, lower fuel surcharges and the residual impacts of the fourth quarter
2018 network disruption. These decreases were offset by increases in transportation expense for our Ground Freight Pricing
product due to higher volume. Cost management initiatives and production improvements largely contributed to the overall
reduction in operating expenses.

Operating Profit and Margin
2019 compared to 2018
Total operating profit for the Supply Chain & Freight segment increased $125 million in 2019 compared with 2018.
Excluding the year over year impact of transformation strategy costs, adjusted operating profit increased $101 million.

Operating margin increased 110 basis points to 7.3%, while the adjusted operating margin increased 100 basis points to 7.5%.
Operating profit and margin were impacted by the items described above.
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Consolidated Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31, $ Change % Change
" . 2019 2018 2019/2018 2019/2018
@pérating Expenses (in millions): . ' : B o - ]
Compensation and Benefits: 7 -‘ ] N $ 38,908 § 37,235 § 1,673 4.5 %
" Transformation Strategy Costs - T esy L @262) 9% (36.6)%
T Adjusted Compensation and Benefits 38742 36,973 1,769 48 %
g N - - - ]
Lfiepajrs and Maintenance 1,838 1,732 106 6.1 %
{Depreciation and Amortization 2360 2207 . 153 - 69 %
Purchased Transportation : 12,590 13,409 T B19) (6.1%
Fuel 3289~ 3427 (138)  ~ (40%
Other Occupancy 1,392 1,362 30 22%
i%ther Expenses : . 5,919 5,465 - 454 83 °;o:
Total Other Expenses 27,388 27,602 (214) (0.8)%
1 Other Transformation Strategy Costs (89), - (98) ¢ ) 9___' ' (9.2)_%3
Legal Contingencies and Expenses 97 —_ o7 N/M
r Adjusted Total Other Expenses o $ 27,202 $ 27,504 §$ (302) _(L.L)Zg’
§Total Operating Expenses .§ 6629 $ 64,837 % 1,459 -23%
Adjusted Total Operating Expenses $ 65,944 § 64,477 $ 1,467 23 %
Currency Translation Cost / (Benefit)* $ T (369)
Year Ended December 31, $ Change % Change
2019 2018 2019/2018 ° 2019/2018
;rAdjustrnel}ts to Operating Expenses (in millions): o ) v i o ' |
Transformation Strategy Costs: _ .
i Compensation $ 21" $ . — $ 21 N/M]
Benefits 145 262 RUY) (44.7%
f- Depreciation and Amortization . 3 12 o) . . (75;9)%_‘
Other Occupancy 8 — 8 N/M
{__OtherExpenses v 78 « 86 . (8) 93)%
Total Transformation Strategy Costs $ 255 $ 360 $ (105) (29.2)%
i&?_gf,l. Contingencies and Expenses: i . 1
Other Expenses $ 97 § — 3 97 N/M
I Total Adjustments to Operating Expenses , 360 .8 " (8). " (22)%,

Compensation and Benefits
2019 compared to 2018

$ 352§

Total compensation and benefits, and total compensation and benefits excluding the year over year impact of
transformation strategy costs, increased for 2019.

5

Total compensation costs increased $1.028 billion or 4.6%. Excluding the year over year impact of transformation
strategy costs, adjusted compensation increased $1.007 billion largely due to higher U.S. Domestic direct labor costs. These
costs increased as a result of additional headcount, driven by U.S. Domestic average daily volume growth that resulted in an

increase in average daily union hours of 4.7%. Contractual union wage

compensation for hourly employees.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
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Benefits costs increased $645 million. Excluding the year over year impact of transformation strategy costs, adjusted
benefits costs increased $762 million due to the following:

*  Health and welfare costs increased $570 million, driven by higher contributions to multiemployer plans due to
contractual rate increases, an overall increase in the size of the workforce and changes in eligibility for certain union
employees.

*  Pension and retirement benefits increased $18 million. The impacts of contractually-mandated contribution increases
to multiemployer plans, as well as an increase in the size of the overall workforce, were substantially offset by lower
service cost for company-sponsored plans as a result of higher discount rates.

«  Vacation, excused absence, payroll taxes and other expenses increased $211 million, primarily driven by salary
increases and growth in the overall size of the workforce.

e Workers' compensation expense decreased $37 million as we experienced more favorable actuarial adjustments. We
evaluate the total range of actuarial outcomes when estimating losses that will ultimately occur. See note 1 to the
audited, consolidated financial statements for a further description of this policy.

Repairs and Maintenance
2019 compared to 2018

The increase in repairs and maintenance expense was driven by maintenance of our aircraft, routine repairs to buildings
and facilities and maintenance of our other transportation equipment, due to additional investments we have made in recent
periods.

Depreciation and Amortization
2019 compared to 2018

We evaluate the useful lives of all our property, plant and equipment based on our usage, maintenance and replacement
policies, and taking into account physical and economic factors that may affect the useful lives of the assets. See note 1 to the
audited, consolidated financial statements for a further description of the policy.

For 2019, depreciation expense increased $365 million, and net income decreased by $287 million, or $0.33 per share on
a basic and diluted basis, as a result of investments in property, plant and equipment, net of disposals and assets becoming fully
depreciated. Depreciation expense decreased $212 million, and net income increased $167 million, or $0.19 per share on a
basic and diluted basis, as a result of lengthening our estimated useful lives for various asset categories in the latter half of
2018. The combined effect of the foregoing was a net increase in depreciation expense of $153 million and a decrease in net
income of $120 million, or $0.14 per share on a basic and diluted basis, for the year.

Purchased Transportation
2019 compared to 2018

The decrease in purchased transportation expense charged to us by third-party air, rail, ocean and truck carriers was
primarily driven by the following factors:

« Expense in our Freight Forwarding and Logistics business decreased $530 million due to decreases in both market
rates and volume in our air and ocean freight forwarding businesses. Our truckload brokerage business also
experienced declines in rates, primarily driven by market overcapacity. These decreases were partially offset by
increases due to volume growth and rate increases in our mail services business.

+ U.S. Domestic Package expense decreased $186 million primarily due to lower overall usage of third-party
transportation carriers.

* International Package expense decreased $100 million primarily due to favorable currency exchange rate movements.

e Other purchased transportation expense decreased $3 million due to changes in the number of leased and chartered
aircraft and lower fuel surcharges passed on to us by outside carriers.
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Fuel
2019 compared to 2018

The decrease in fuel expense was driven by lower jet fuel, diesel and gasoline prices as well as higher alternative fuel tax
credits as a result of legislation passed in 2019. These decreases were partially offset by higher consumption due to additional
aircraft block hours and vehicle miles driven by higher U.S. Domestic package volume.

Other Occupancy
2019 compared to 2018

The increase in other occupancy expense and other occupancy expense excluding the year over year impact of
transformation strategy costs was primarily driven by additional operating facilities coming into service.

Other Expenses
2019 compared to 2018

Other expenses, and other expenses excluding the year over year impact of transformation strategy costs and legal
contingencies and expenses, increased for 2019. The increase was attributable to various items, including adjustments to
reserves for self-insured automobile liability claims, bad debt expense, technology equipment and software licenses,
professional service fees and advertising. These increases were partially offset by a $40 million gain on the sale of surplus
property in Canada and lower travel and entertainment expenses.

Other Income and (Expense)

The following table sets forth investment income (expense) and other and interest expense for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in millions):

Year Ended December 31, $ Change % Change

2019 2018 2019/2018 2019/2018
Investment Income (Expense) and Other $ (1,493) § (400) § (1,093) 2133 %
" Defined Benefit Plans Mark-to-Market Charges 2,387 1,627 760 467 %
Adjusted Investment Income (Expense) and Other $ 894 $ 1,227 $ (333) . 27.1)Y%
Interest Expense ' (653) (605) (48) T 19%
Total Other Income and (Expense) $ (2,146) $ (1,005) $ (1,141) 1135 %
Adjusted Other Income and (Expense) $ 241 $ 622 § (381) 61 ‘f:)»)%:

Investment Income (Expense) and Other
2019 compared to 2018

Investment income (expense) and other for the period increased $1.093 billion, which included a $760 million increase in
mark-to-market pension charges. Excluding the impact of the defined benefit plan mark-to-market charges, adjusted investment
income (expense) and other for the period, which includes expected investment returns on pension assets, net of interest cost on
projected benefit obligations, prior service cost and investment income, decreased $333 million. Expected returns on plan
assets decreased as a result of the lower asset base driven by negative asset returns in 2018, partially offset by the effects of
higher discretionary contributions in 2019. Pension interest cost increased with higher year-end discount rates, ongoing plan
growth and an increase in the projected benefit obligation as a result of the 2018 year-end measurement of our plans.
Investment income increased as a result of higher yields on invested assets, higher overall investment balances and foreign
currency exchange rate movements.
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Interest Expense
2019 compared to 2018
Interest expense increased primarily due to higher average outstanding debt balances and higher effective interest rates,

combined with lower capitalized interest for 2019.

Income Tax Expense

The following table sets forth income tax expense and our effective tax rate for the years ended December 31,2019 and
2018 (in millions): '

Year Ended December 31, $ Change % Change
2019 2018 2019/2018 201972018
fincome Tax Expense: s _ 2 s umss a9 ., (3%
Income Tax Impact of: ,
( Defined Benefit Plans Mark-to-Market Charges 571 390 181 464 %
~ Transformation Strategy Costs o 59 87 (28) (322)%
ri_ : L';s_gal Co-n-ti;l‘gencigiz_lgfi}xpenses . —"w ——:- »-ﬁ _—.M- -_6—-’1_— - — 76 -T o N/M_]
Adjusted [ncome Tax Expensé T s 1.848 1,705 § - 143 84 %
Effective Tax Rate . T 24% _ 204%
Adjusted Effective Tax Rate B " 220% 21.3%

For additional information on income tax expense and our effective tax rate, see note 14 to thg audited, consolidated
financial statements.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2019, we had $5.741 billion in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. We believe that our
current cash position, access to commercial paper programs and debt capital markets and cash flow generated from operations
should be adequate not only for operating requirements, but also to enable us to complete our capital expenditure programs,
transformation strategy and to fund dividend payments, share repurchases, pension contributions and long-term debt payments
through the next several years. We regularly evaluate opportunities to optimize our capital structure, including through
issuances of debt or equity to refinance existing debt and to fund ongoing cash needs.

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

The following is a summary of the significant sources (uses) of cash from operating activities (in millions):

2019 2018

Net Income $ 4,440 $ 4,791
Non-cash operating activities'" 6,405 6,048
Pension and postretirement benefit plan contributions (com?a.ny-sponsomd plans) (2,362)‘ - (186)
Hedge margin receivables and payables 171 482
Income tax receivables and payables ‘ 599 469
Changes in working capital and other non-current assets and liabilities (634) 1,091
Other operating activities 20 T

Net cash from operating activities $ 8,639 § 12,711

M Represents depreciation and amortization, gains and losses on derivative transactions and foreign exchange, deferred income taxes, provisions for
uncollectible accounts receivable, amortization on operating lease assets, pension and postretirement benefit expense, stock compensation expense and other
non-cash items.

Cash from operating activities remained strong throughout 2018 and 2019. Most of the variability in operating cash flows
during this period related to funding company-sponsored pension and postretirement benefit plans (and related cash tax
deductions). Except for discretionary or accelerated fundings of our plans, contributions to our company-sponsored pension
plans have largely varied in accordance with minimum funding requirements. We made discretionary contributions to our three
primary, company-sponsored U.S. pension plans totaling $2.0 billion in 2019. No discretionary contributions were made in
2018. The remaining contributions in 2018 and 2019 were to our international pension plans and U.S. postretirement medical
benefit plans.

Operating cash flows were impacted by changes in our working capital management whereby certain payments from the
fourth quarter of 2018 shifted into the first quarter of 2019. In addition, accelerated growth in the business lifted overall
working capital demand. The net hedge margin collateral received from our derivative counterparties was $171 and $482
million during 2019 and 2018, respectively, due to the change in net fair value of the derivative contracts used in our currency
and interest rate hedging programs. Cash payments for income taxes were $514 million and $2 million for 2019 and 2018,
respectively, primarily due to timing of deductions related to pension contributions.

As of December 31, 2019, our total worldwide holdings of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities were $5.741
billion, of which approximately $2.564 billion was held by foreign subsidiaries. The amount of cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities held by our U.S. and foreign subsidiaries fluctuates throughout the year due to a variety of factors,
including the timing of cash receipts and disbursements in the normal course of business. Cash provided by operating activities
in the U.S. continues to be our primary source of funds to finance domestic operating needs, capital expenditures, share
repurchases, pension contributions and dividend payments to shareowners. All cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities
held by foreign subsidiaries are generally available for distnbution to the U.S. without any U.S. federal income taxes. Any such
distributions may be subject to foreign withholding and U.S. state taxes. When amounts earned by foreign subsidiaries are
expected to be indefinitely reinvested, no accrual for taxes is provided.
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Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Our primary sources (uses) of cash for investing activities were as follows (amounts in millions):

2019 2018
Net cash used in investing activities $ (6,061) $ (6,330) -
Capital Expenditures:
Buildings, facilities and plant equipment $ 2729) $ (3,147)
Aircraft and parts (1,890) (1,496)
Vehicles (987) (931)
Information technology (774) (709)
Total Capital Expenditures(": $ (6,380) $ (6,283)
Capital Expenditures as a % of revenue . 8.6% 8.7%
Other Investing Activities:
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment $ » '65 $ 37
Net change in finance receivables $ 13 8 4
Net (purchases), sales and maturities of marketable securities $ 322 S 87
Cash paid for business acquisitions, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired $ ©6) $ 2)
Other investing activities $ as) $ 1

(n addition to capital expenditures of $6.380 and $6.283 billion in 2019 and 2018, respectively, there were capital expenditures relating to the principal
repayments of finance lease obligations of $140 and $340 million. These are included in cash flows from financing activities.

We have commitments for the purchase of aircraft, vehicles, equipment and real estate to provide for the replacement of
existing capacity and anticipated future growth. We generally fund our capital expenditures with cash from operations. Future
capital spending for anticipated growth and replacement assets will depend on a variety of factors, including economic and
industry conditions. In 2017 we began a multi-year investment program in our smart global logistics network which impacts all
asset categories, with the largest investments in buildings, facilities and plant equipment. This investment program will
continue in 2020, and we anticipate that our capital expenditures will be approximately $6.5 to $7.0 billion.

Capital expenditures on buildings, facilities and plant equipment decreased in 2019 compared to 2018 in our U.S. and
international package businesses, as we completed several facility automation and capacity expansion projects in 2018. Capital
spending on aircraft increased in 2019 compared 2018 due to a net increase in contract deposits on open aircraft orders and final
payments associated with the delivery of aircraft. Capital spending on information technology increased in 2019 compared to
2018 due to continuing development of technology enabled solutions and capitalized software projects. Capital spending on
vehicles increased in 2019 relative to 2018, largely due to the timing of vehicle replacements and expansion of the overall fleet
to support volume growth.

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment were largely attributable to the sale of an international
property in 2019 and disposal of equipment in 2018. The net change in finance receivables was due to reductions in our finance
portfolios in 2019 compared with 2018. Purchases and sales of marketable securities are largely determined by liquidity needs
and the periodic rebalancing of investment types, and will fluctuate from period to period.

Cash paid for business acquisitions in 2019 and 2018 related to our acquisition of area franchise rights for The UPS Store,
as well as other, small acquisitions in our International Small Package and Logistics business units in 2019. Other investing
activities are impacted by changes in our non-current investments and various other items.
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Our primary sources (uses) of cash for financing activities were as follows (amounts in millions, except per share data):

Net cash used in financing activities

Share Repurchases:

Cash expended for shares repurchased
Number of shares repurchased

Shares outstanding at period end

Percent increase (decrease) in shares outstanding
Dividends:

Dividends declared per share

Cash expended for dividend payments
Borrowings:

Net borrowings (repayments) of debt principal
Other Financing Activities:

Cash received for common stock issuénces
Other financing activities

Capitalization:

Total deBt outstanding at year end

Total shareowners’ equity at year end

Total capitalization

2019 2018
L7271y $ (5,692)
(1,004) 8§ (1,011)

o©.n 8.9)
857 858
0.1% 0.1)%
384 8 3.64
(G,194) $ (3.011)
2419 $ (1,622)
218§ 240
(166) $ (288)
25238 § 22,736
3,283 3,037
28521 $ 25773

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we repurchased a total of 9.1 and 8.9 million shares of class A and
class B common stock for $1.005 and $1.000 billion, respectively ($1.004 and $1.011 billion in repurchases for 2019 and 2018,
respectively, are reported on the cash flow statement due to the timing of settlements). For additional information on our share

repurchase activities, see note 11 to the audited, consolidated financial statements.

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, dividends reported within shareowners' equity include $147 and $178
million, respectively, of non-cash dividends that were settled in shares of class A common stock.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors and depends on various factors,
including our net income, financial condition, cash requirements, future prospects and other relevant factors. We expect to
continue the practice of paying regular cash dividends. In February 2020, we increased our quarterly dividend payment from

$0.96 to $1.01 per share, a 5.2% increase.
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Issuances of debt in 2019 consisted of fixed-rate senior notes totaling $3.0 billion and commercial paper. In 2018,
issuances of debt consisted primarily of commercial paper. The following is a summary of debt issuances in 2019 (in millions):

Principal Amount in USD
2019
Fixed-rate se;io;' notes:
2.200% senior notes $ 400
2.500% senior notes. 400
3.400% seniér notes (multiple issuances) 1,450
4.250% senior notes I 750
Total $ 3,000

Repayments of debt in 2019 and 2018 consisted primarily of our $1.0 billion 5.125% fixed-rate senior notes that matured
in April 2019 and our $750 million 5.50% fixed-rate senior notes that matured in January 2018. The remaining repayments of
debt during the period included paydowns of commercial paper and scheduled principal payments on our finance lease
obligations. We consider the overall fixed and floating interest rate mix of our portfolio and the related overall cost of
borrowing when planning for future issuances and non-scheduled repayments of debt.

The amount of commercial paper outstanding fluctuates throughout the year based on daily liquidity needs. The following
is a summary of our commercial paper program (in millions):

Functional currency

outstanding balance Outstanding balance Average balance Average balance Average interest
at year end at year end ($) outstanding outstanding ($) rate
2019
usp s 2172 8 2172 8 1,665 $ 1,665 224 %
EUR € 949 § 1,062 € 903 $ 1,011 (0.39)%
Tol 8 3,234
Functional currency
outstanding balance = Outstanding balance Average balance Average balance Average interest
at year end atyear end (§) outstanding outstanding (8) rate
2018
USD $ 1,968 $ 1,968 § 2,137 § 2,137 1.81 %
EUR e T 606§ 694 € 360 S 425 038)%
Total - $ 2,662 '

The variation in cash received from common stock issuances was primarily due to the amount of stock option exercises
by employees in 2018 and 2019.

Other financing activities includes cash used to repurchase shares from employees sold to satisfy tax withholding
obligations on vested stock awards of $180 and $259 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively. Net cash inflows from premium

payments and settlements of capped call options for the purchase of UPS class B shares were $21 and $34 million in 2019 and
2018, respectively. 4

Sources of Credit

See note 8 to the audited, consolidated financial statements for a discussion of our available credit and debt covenants.
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Guarantees and Other Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Except as disclosed in note 8 to the audited, consolidated financial statements, we do not have guarantees or other off-
balance sheet financing arrangements, including variable interest entities, which we believe could have a material impact on
financial condition or liquidity.

Contractual Commitments

We have contractual obligations and commitments in the form of finance leases, operating leases, debt obligations,
purchase commitments and certain other liabilities. We intend to satisfy these obligations primarily through the use of cash flow
from operations. The following table summarizes the expected cash outflow to satisfy our contractual obligations and
commitments as of December 31, 2019 (in millions):

Commitment Type 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 After2024  Total
Finance Leases $ 199 44 39 37 35 259 $ 613
Operating Leases 619 536 451 360 256 1,267 3,489
Debt Principal ” 4,232 2,551 2,001 2,284 1,474 12,349 24,891
Debt Interest 749 661 601 521 481 6,522 9,535
Purchase Commitments ' 3,569 1,982 966 323 261 201 7,302
Tax Act Repatriation Liability — — — 13 49 61 123
Pension Funding ' C 1,180 — — — — — 1,180
Total _ $ 10548 § 5774 $ 4058 $ 3538 § 255 $ 20,659 $ 47,133

M Purchase commitments includes amounts due under aircraft leases that we entered into in 2019 and our January 29, 2020 announced
commitment to purchase 10,000 electric vehicles.

Our finance lease obligations relate primarily to leases on aircraft and real estate. Finance leases and operating leases are
discussed further in note 10 to the audited, consolidated financial statements. Purchase commitments, as well as our debt
principal obligations, are discussed further in note 8 to the audited, consolidated financial statements. The amount of interest on
our debt was calculated as the contractual interest payments due on our fixed-rate debt and variable rate debt based on interest
rates as of December 31, 2019. The calculations of debt interest take into account the effect of interest rate swap agreements.
For debt denominated in a foreign currency, the U.S. Dollar equivalent principal amount of the debt at the end of the year was
used as the basis to calculate future interest payments.

Purchase commitments represent contractual agreements to purchase assets, goods or services that are legally binding,
including contracts for aircraft, construction of new or expanded facilities and orders for technology equipment and vehicles. As
of December 31, 2019, we had firm commitments to lease three used and purchase eight new Boeing 767-300 aircraft, to be
delivered between 2020 and 2021 and to purchase 13 new Boeing 747-8F aircraft to be delivered between 2020 and 2022. We
also had a firm commitment to purchase five Boeing MD-11 aircraft to be delivered between 2020 and 2021. We paid the full
purchase price for these MD-11 aircraft in December 2019; therefore these amounts are not included in the table above.

On December 22, 2017, the United States enacted into law the Tax Act requiring a one-time transition tax on certain
unrepatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries. Companies may elect to pay the tax over eight years based on an installment
schedule outlined in the Tax Act but are required under current Internal Revenue Service guidance to offset certain
overpayments of tax against the liability. We made this election and have reflected our remaining transition tax due by year as a
contractual obligation.

There are no anticipated required minimum cash contributions to our qualified U.S. pension plans (these plans are
discussed further in note S to the audited, consolidated financial statements). The amount of any minimum funding requirement,
as applicable, for these plans could change significantly in future periods depending on many factors, including future plan
asset returns, discount rates, other actuarial assumptions and changes to pension plan funding regulations. A decline in discount
rates or a sustained significant decline in equity or bond returns could result in our domestic pension plans being subject to
significantly higher minimum funding requirements. Actual contributions made in future years could materially differ and
consequently required minimum contributions beyond 2020 cannot be reasonably estimated.
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As discussed in note 6 to the audited, consolidated financial statements, we are not currently subject to any minimum
contributions or surcharges with respect to the multiemployer pension and health and welfare plans in which we participate.
Contribution rates to these multiemployer pension and health and welfare plans are established through the collective
bargaining process. As we are not subject to any minimum contribution levels, we have not included any amounts in the
contractual commitments table with respect to these multiemployer plans.

The table above does not include approximately $228 million of liabilities for uncertain tax positions because we are
uncertain if or when such amounts will ultimately be settled in cash. Uncertain tax positions are further discussed in note 14 to
the audited, consolidated financial statements.

As of December 31, 2019, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling approximately $1.267 billion issued in
connection with our self-insurance reserves and other routine business requirements. We also issue surety bonds as an
alternative to letters of credit in certain instances, and as of December 31, 2019, we had $1.327 billion of surety bonds written.
As of December 31, 2019, we had unfunded loan commitments totaling $131 million associated with UPS Capital.

We believe that funds from operations and borrowing programs will provide adequate sources of liquidity and capital
resources to meet our expected long-term needs for the operation of our business, including anticipated capital expenditures,
transformation strategy and pension contributions for the foreseeable future.

Contingencies

See note 5 to the audited, consolidated financial statements for a discussion of pension related matters and note 9 for a
discussion of judicial proceedings and other matters arising from the conduct of our business activities.

Collective Bargaining Agreements

Status of Collective Bargaining Agreements

See note 6 to the audited, consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the status of collective bargaining
agreements.

Multiemployer Benefit Plans

We contribute to a number of multiemployer pension and health and welfare plans under the terms of collective
bargaining agreements that cover our union represented employees. Our current collective bargaining agreements set forth the
annual contribution increases allotted to the plans that we participate in, and we are in compliance with these contribution rates.
These limitations will remain in effect throughout the terms of the existing collective bargaining agreements.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

See note 1 to the audited, consolidated financial statements for a discussion of recently adopted accounting standards.

Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective

See note 1 to the audited, consolidated financial statements for a discussion of accounting standards issued, but not yet
effective.

Rate Adjustments

Effective December 29, 2019, the rates and accessorial charges for UPS Ground, UPS Air and International services
increased by an average net 4.9%. UPS Air Freight rates within and between the U.S., Canada and Puerto Rico increased an
average net 4.2%. Density-based UPS Freight non-contractual LTL rates using Tariff 580 increased an average net 3.9%.

These rate changes are customary and occur on an annual basis. Rate changes for shipments originating outside the U.S.
are made throughout the year and vary by geographic market.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial
statements, which are prepared in accordance with GAAP. As indicated in note 1 to the audited, consolidated financial
statements, the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported in our financial statements are affected by estimates
and judgments that are necessary to comply with GAAP. We base our estimates on prior experience and assumptions and third-
party input that we consider reasonable to our circumstances. Actual results could differ materially from our estimates, which
would affect the related amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements. While estimates and judgments are applied
in arriving at many reported amounts, we believe that the following critical accounting policies involve a higher degree of
judgment and complexity.

Contingencies

As discussed in note 9 to the audited, consolidated financial statements, we are involved in various legal proceedings and
subject to various contingencies. The events that may impact our contingent liabilities are often unique and generally are not
predictable. At the time a contingency is identified, we consider all relevant facts as part of our evaluation. We record a liability
for a loss when the loss is probable of occurring and reasonably estimable. Events may arise that were not anticipated and the
outcome of a contingency may result in a loss to us that differs from our previously estimated liability. This difference could be
material. Income taxes and self-insurance are discussed below. Except as disclosed in note 9 to the audited, consolidated
financial statements, other contingent losses that were probable and estimable were not material to our financial position or
results of operations as of, or for the year ended, December 31, 2019. In addition, we have certain contingent liabilities that
have not been recognized as of, or for the year ended, December 31, 2019, because a loss was not reasonably estimable.

Goodwill and Intangible Impairment

We test goodwill for impairment in each of our reporting units on an annual basis. Our U.S. Domestic Package segment is
a reporting unit. In our International Package reporting segment, we have the following reporting units: Europe, Asia, Americas
and ISMEA. In our Supply Chain & Freight segment we have the following reporting units: Forwarding, Logistics, UPS Mail
Innovations, UPS Freight, The UPS Store, UPS Capital, Marken and Coyote Logistics. Our annual goodwill impairment testing
date is July 1* for each reporting unit owned at the testing date. In assessing goodwill for impairment, we initially evaluate
qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount.
If the qualitative assessment is not conclusive and it is necessary to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit, then we utilize a
two-step process to test goodwill for impairment. First, a comparison of the fair value of the applicable reporting unit with the
aggregate carrying value, including goodwill, is performed. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the reporting
unit’s fair value, we perform the second step of the goodwill impairment test to determine the amount of impairment loss. The
second step includes comparing the implied fair value of the affected reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying value of that
goodwill.

We primarily determine the fair value of our reporting units using a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) model and supplement
this with observable valuation multiples for comparable companies, as appropriate. The completion of the DCF model requires
that we make a number of significant assumptions to produce an estimate of future cash flows. These assumptions include
projections of future revenue, costs, capital expenditures and working capital changes, as well as assumptions about the
estimated cost of capital and other relevant variables. The projections that we use in our DCF model are updated annually and
will change over time based on the historical performance and changing business conditions for each of our reporting units. The
determination of whether goodwill is impaired involves a significant level of judgment in these assumptions, and changes in our
business strategy, government regulations, or economic or market conditions could significantly impact these judgments. We
routinely monitor market conditions and other factors to determine if interim impairment tests are necessary. If impairment
indicators are present in future periods, the resulting impairment charges could have a material impact on our results of
operations.

None of the reporting units incurred any goodwill impairment charges in 2019 or 2018. Changes in our forecasts could
cause carrying values of our reporting units to exceed their fair values in future periods, potentially resulting in a goodwill
impairment charge. During the year, management monitored the actual performance of the business relative to the fair value
assumptions used during our annual goodwill impairment test. For the periods presented, no triggering events were identified
that required an interim impairment test. Based on most recent tests, the fair value of all our reporting units exceed their
carrying value.
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A trade name with a carrying value of $200 million and licenses with a carrying value of $4 million as of December 31,
2019 are considered to be indefinite-lived intangibles, and therefore are not amortized. Impairment tests for indefinite-lived
intangibles are performed on an annual basis. We determined that the income approach, specifically the relief from royalty
method, is the most appropriate valuation method for the trade name. The estimated fair value of the trade name is compared to
the carrying value of the asset. If the carrying value of the trade name exceeds its estimated fair value, an impairment charge is
recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. This valuation approach requires
that we make a number of assumptions to estimate fair value. These assumptions include projections of future revenues, market
royalty rates, tax rates, discount rates and other relevant variables. The projections we use in the model are updated annually
and will change over time based on the historical performance and changing business conditions.

All of our remaining recorded intangible assets are deemed to be finite-lived intangibles, and are amortized over their
estimated useful lives. Impairment tests for these intangible assets are only performed when a triggering event occurs that
indicates that the carrying value of the intangible may not be recoverable based on the undiscounted future cash flows of the
intangible. If the carrying amount of the intangible is determined not to be recoverable, a write-down to fair value is recorded.
Fair values are determined based on a DCF model. If impairment indicators are present in future periods, the resulting
impairment charges could have a material impact on our results of operations. Impairments of finite-lived intangible assets were
$2 and $12 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively. There were no impairments of indefinite-lived intangible assets in 2019 or
2018.

Self-Insurance Accruals

We self-insure costs associated with workers’ compensation claims, automobile liability, health and welfare and general
business liabilities, up to certain limits. Insurance reserves are established for estimates of the loss that we will ultimately incur
on reported claims, as well as loss estimates for claims that have been incurred but not yet reported. Recorded balances are
based on third-party actuarial estimates, which incorporate historical loss experience and judgments about the present and
expected cost per claim. Trends in actual experience are a significant factor in the determination of our reserves.

Workers’ compensation, automobile liability and general liability insurance claims may take several years to completely
settle. Consequently, actuarial estimates are required to project the ultimate cost that will be incurred to fully resolve a claim. A
number of factors can affect the actual cost of a claim, including the length of time the claim remains open, trends in healthcare
costs, the results of any related litigation and with respect to workers’ compensation claims and changes in legislation.
Furthermore, claims may emerge in a future year for events that occurred in a prior year at a rate that differs from actuarial
projections. All of these factors can result in revisions to actuarial projections and produce a material difference between
estimated and actual operating results. Based on our historical experience, during 2019 we changed our self-insurance reserves
from the central estimate to the low end of the actuarial range of losses. We believe our estimated reserves for such claims are
adequate; actual experience in claim frequency and/or severity could materially differ from our estimates and affect our results
of operations. For additional information on our self-insurance reserves, refer to note 1 of the audited, consolidated financial
statements.

We sponsor a number of health and welfare insurance plans for our employees. Liabilities and expenses related to these
plans are based on estimates of, among other things, the number of employees and eligible dependents covered under the plans,
anticipated medical usage by participants and overall trends in medical costs and inflation. We believe our estimates are
reasonable/appropriate. Actual experience may differ from these estimates and, therefore, produce a material difference between
_ estimated and actual operating results.

Pension and Postretirement Medical Benefits

Our pension and other postretirement benefit costs are calculated using various actuarial assumptions and methodologies.
These assumptions include discount rates, healthcare cost trend rates, inflation, compensation increase rates, expected returns
on plan assets, mortality rates and other factors. The assumptions utilized in recording the obligations under our plans represent
our best estimates, and we believe that they are reasonable, based on information as to historical experience and performance as
well as other factors that might cause future expectations to differ from past trends.
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Differences in actual experience or changes in assumptions may affect our pension and other postretirement obligations
and future expenses. The primary factors contributing to actuarial gains and losses each year are (1) changes in the discount rate
used to value pension and postretirement benefit obligations as of the measurement date, (2) differences between the expected
and the actual return on plan assets, (3) changes in demographic assumptions including mortality, (4) participant experience
different from demographic assumptions and (5) changes in coordinating benefits with plans not sponsored by UPS. In October
2019, we refined the bond matching approach used to determine the discount rate for our U.S. pension and postretirement plans
by implementing advances in technology and modeling techniques. This refinement decreased the projected benefit obligation
on our consolidated balance sheet by approximately $900 million as of December 31, 2019, decreased the pre-tax mark-to-
market charge by approximately $810 million and increased net income by $616 million, or $0.71 per share on a basic and
diluted basis.

We recognize changes in the fair value of plan assets and net actuarial gains or losses in excess of a corridor (defined as
10% of the greater of the fair value of plan assets or the plans' projected benefit obligations) in pension expense annually at
December 31st each year. The remaining components of pension expense (herein referred to as "ongoing net periodic benefit
cost"), primarily service and interest costs and the expected return on plan assets, are reported on a quarterly basis.

The following sensitivity analysis shows the impact of a 25 basis point change in the assumed discount rate and return on
assets for our pension and postretirement benefit plans, and the resulting increase/(decrease) on our obligations and expense as
of, and for the year ended, December 31, 2019 (in millions).

. 25 Basis Point 25 Basis Point
Pension Plans Increase Decrease

Discount Rate:

Effect on ongoing net periodic.beneﬁt cost 7 ‘ $ - 37N % 38
Effect on neé periodic benefit cost for amounts recognized outside the 10% corridor - (1,390) 2,043
Effect on projected benefit obligation (2,156) 2,294
Return on Assets: . ) ‘ )
Effect on ongoing net periodic benefit cost(" » (100) A 100 '
Effect on net periodic benefit cost for amounts recognized outside the 10% corridor™® (100) 100

Postretirement Medical Plans

Discount Rate:
Effect on ongoing net periodic benefit cost 3 . ®)
Effect on net periodic benefit cost for amounts recognized outside the 10% corridor 37 48
Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation (55) 65
Healthcare Cost Trend Rate:
Effect on ongoin-g net peﬁodic benefit cost 1 (li
Effect on net periodic benefit cost for amounts recognized outside the 10% corridor 4 5)
Effect on accumulated postretirement_beneﬁt obligation 14 ) (16)_

™ Amount calculated based on 25 basis point increase / decrease in the expected return on assets.
®  Amount calculated based on 25 basis point increase / decrease in the actual return on assets.

Refer to note S to the audited, consolidated financial statements for information on our potential liability for coordinating
benefits related to the Central States Pension Fund.
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Depreciation, Residual Value and Impairment of Fixed Assets

As of December 31, 2019, we had $30.482 billion of net fixed assets, the most significant category of which is aircraft. In
accounting for fixed assets, we make estimates of the expected useful lives, the expected residual values and the potential for
impairment based on the fair values of the assets and the cash flows which they generate.

In estimating the lives and expected residual values of aircraft, we rely upon actual experience with the same or similar
aircraft types. Revisions to these estimates could be caused by changes to our maintenance programs, changes in the utilization
of the aircraft, governmental regulations on aging aircraft and changing market prices of new and used aircraft of the same or
similar types. We periodically evaluate these estimates and assumptions, and adjust them as necessary. Adjustments are
accounted for on a prospective basis through depreciation expense. In 2019, we revised our estimates of the useful lives and
residual values for certain airframes, engines and related rotable parts. This change increased the useful lives of certain fleet
types and reduced the useful lives and residual values of the majority of our used aircraft. The net impact to 2019 depreciation
expense was not material. In estimating cash flows, we project future volume levels for our different air products in all
geographic regions in which we do business. Adverse changes in these volume forecasts, or a shortfall of our actual volume
compared with our projections, could result in our current aircraft capacity exceeding current or projected demand. This
situation could lead to an excess of a particular aircraft, resulting in an aircraft impairment charge or a reduction of the expected
life of an aircraft (thus resulting in increased depreciation expense).

We evaluate the useful lives of our property, plant and equipment based on our usage, maintenance and replacement
policies, and taking into account physical and economic factors that may affect the useful lives of the assets. As part of our
ongoing investment in transformation in 2018, we revised our estimates of useful lives for building improvements, vehicles and
plant equipment based on our current assessment of these factors. In general, these changes in estimate had the effect of
lengthening the useful lives of vehicles, building improvements and plant equipment, and were applied prospectively beginning
in 2018 through depreciation expense. See "Consolidated Operating Expenses" of this "Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" for the discussion of the impacts to "Depreciation and Amortization." See
note 1 to the audited, consolidated financial statements for a discussion of our accounting policies and note 4 for a discussion of
the change in estimated useful lives.

We review long-lived assets for impairment when circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable based on the undiscounted future cash flows of the asset. If the carrying amount of the asset is determined not to be
recoverable, a write-down to fair value is recorded. Fair values are determined based on quoted market values, discounted cash
flows or external appraisals, as appropriate. We review long-lived assets for impairment at the individual asset or the asset
group level for which the lowest level of independent cash flows can be identified. The circumstances that would indicate
potential impairment may include, but are not limited to, a significant change in the extent to which an asset is utilized and
operating or cash flow losses associated with the use of the asset.

There were no impairment charges on our property, plant and equipment during 2019 or 2018.

Fair Value Measurements

In the normal course of business, we hold and issue financial instruments that contain elements of market risk, including
derivatives, marketable securities, finance receivables, pension assets, other investments and debt. Certain of these financial
instruments are required to be recorded at fair value, principally derivatives, marketable securities, pension assets and certain
other investments. Fair values are based on listed market prices, when such prices are available. To the extent that listed market
prices are not available, fair value is determined based on other relevant factors, including dealer price quotations. If listed
market prices or other relevant factors are not available, inputs are developed from unobservable data reflecting our own
assumptions and include situations where there is little or no market activity for the asset or liability. Certain financial
instruments, including over-the-counter derivative instruments, are valued using pricing models that consider, among other
factors, contractual and market prices, correlations, time value, credit spreads and yield curve volatility factors. Changes in the
fixed income, foreign exchange and commodity markets will impact our estimates of fair value in the future, potentially
affecting our results of operations. A quantitative sensitivity analysis of our exposure to changes in commodity prices, foreign
currency exchange rates and interest rates is presented in the “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk”
section of this report.
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Certain non-financial assets and lhabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, including property, plant,
and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets. These assets are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis; however, they
are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances, such as when there is evidence of an impairment.

For acquisitions, we allocate the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed
and intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over
the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Such valuations require management to make
significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Significant estimates in valuing certain
intangible assets include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows from acquired customers, technology and trade
names from a market participant perspective, useful lives and discount rates. Management’s estimates of fair value are based
upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. As a result, actual results
may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, which is one year from the acquisition date, we may record
adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of
the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to earnings.

Income Taxes

We make certain estimates and judgments in determining income tax expense for financial statement purposes. These
estimates and judgments occur in the calculation of income by legal entity and jurisdiction, tax credits, benefits and deductions,
and in the calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, which arise from differences in the timing of recognition of revenue
and expense for tax and financial statement purposes, as well as tax, interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions.
Significant changes to these estimates may result in an increase or decrease to our tax provision in a subsequent period.

We assess the likelihood that we will be able to recover our deferred tax assets. If recovery is not likely, we must increase
our provision for taxes by recording a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets that we estimate will not ultimately be
recoverable. We believe that we will ultimately recover a substantial majority of the deferred tax assets recorded on our
consolidated balance sheets. However, should there be a change in our ability to recover our deferred tax assets, our tax
provision would increase in the period in which we determined that the recovery was not likely.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations. We
recognize liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be
sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. Once it is determined that the position
meets the recognition threshold, the second step requires us to estimate and measure the largest amount of tax benefit that is
more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate settlement. The difference between the amount of recognizable tax benefit and
the total amount of tax benefit from positions filed or to be filed with the tax authorities is recorded as a liability for uncertain
tax benefits. It is inherently difficult and subjective to estimate such amounts, as we have to determine the probability of
various possible outcomes. We reevaluate uncertain tax positions on a quarterly basis. This evaluation is based on factors
including, but not limited to, changes in facts or circumstances, changes in tax law, effectively settled issues under audit and
new audit activity. Such a change in recognition or measurement could result in the recognition of a tax benefit or an additional
charge to the tax provision.

See note 14 to the audited consolidated financial statements for a discussion of impacts of the Tax Act.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in certain commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates
and equity prices. All of these market risks arise in the normal course of business, as we do not engage in speculative trading
activities. In order to manage the risk arising from these exposures, we utilize a variety of commodity, foreign exchange and
interest rate forward contracts, options and swaps. A discussion of our accounting policies for derivative instruments and further
disclosures are provided in note 1 to the audited, consolidated financial statements.

Commodity Price Risk

We are exposed to changes in the prices of refined fuels, principally jet-A, diesel and unleaded gasoline, as well as
changes in the price of natural gas and other alternative fuels. Currently, the fuel surcharges that we apply to our domestic and
international package and LTL services are the primary means of reducing the risk of adverse fuel price changes. In order to
mitigate the impact of fuel surcharges imposed on us by outside carriers, we regularly adjust the rates we charge for our freight
brokerage, inter-modal and truckload services. The majority of our contracts for fuel purchases utilize index-based pricing
formulas plus or minus a fixed locational/supplier differential. While many of the indices are aligned, each index may fluctuate
at a different pace, driving variability in the prices paid for fuel. Because of this, our operating results may be affected should
the market price of fuel suddenly change by a significant amount or change by amounts that do not result in an adjustment in
our fuel surcharges, which can significantly affect our earnings either positively or negatively in the short-term. Additionally,
we periodically use a combination of option, forward and futures contracts to provide partial protection from changing fuel and
energy prices. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, however, we had no commodity contracts outstanding.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We have foreign currency risks related to our revenue, operating expenses and financing transactions in currencies other
than the local currencies in which we operate. We are exposed to currency risk from the potential changes in functional
currency values of our foreign currency-denominated assets, liabilities and cash flows. Our most significant foreign currency
exposures relate to the Euro, British Pound Sterling, Canadian Dollar, Chinese Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollar. We use
forwards as well as a combination of purchased and written options to hedge forecasted cash flow currency exposures. These
derivative instruments generally cover forecasted foreign currency exposures for periods of 12 to 48 months. We also utilize
forward contracts to hedge portions of our anticipated cash settlements of intercompany transactions and interest payments on
certain debt subject to foreign currency remeasurement.

Interest Rate Risk

We have issued debt instruments, including debt associated with finance leases, that accrue expense at fixed and floating
rates of interest. We use a combination of interest rate swaps as part of our program to manage the fixed and floating interest
rate mix of our total debt portfolio and related overall cost of borrowing. The notional amount, interest payment and maturity
dates of the swaps match the terms of the associated debt. We also utilize forward starting swaps and similar instruments to lock
in all or a portion of the borrowing cost of anticipated debt issuances. Our floating-rate debt and interest rate swaps subject us to
risk resulting from changes in short-term (primarily LIBOR) interest rates. For a discussion of the risks associated with the
anticipated cessation of LIBOR, see Item 1 A. Risk Factors - "The proposed phase out of the London Interbank Offer Rate
("LIBOR") could have an adverse effect on us".

We also are subject to interest rate risk with respect to our pension and postretirement benefit obligations, as changes in
interest rates will effectively increase or decrease our liabilities associated with these benefit plans, which also results in
changes to the amount of pension and postretirement benefit expense recognized in future periods.

We have investments in debt securities, as well as cash-equivalent instruments, some of which accrue income at variable
rates of interest. Additionally, we hold a portfolio of finance receivables that accrue income at fixed and floating rates of
interest.
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Sensitivity Analysis

The following analysis provides quantitative information regarding our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk,
interest rate risk and equity price risk embedded in our existing financial instruments. We utilize valuation models to evaluate
the sensitivity of the fair value of financial instruments with exposure to market risk that assume instantaneous, parallel shifts in
exchange rates, interest rate yield curves and commodity and equity prices. For options and instruments with non-linear returns,
models appropriate to the instrument are utilized to determine the impact of market shifts.

There are certain limitations inherent in the sensitivity analyses presented, primarily due to the assumption that exchange
rates change in a parallel fashion and that interest rates change instantaneously. In addition, the analyses are unable to reflect
the complex market reactions that normally would arise from the market shifts modeled. While this is our best estimate of the
impact of the specified interest rate scenarios, these estimates should not be viewed as forecasts. We adjust the fixed and
floating interest rate mix of our interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities in response to changes in market conditions.
Additionally, changes in the fair value of foreign currency denvatives and commodity derivatives are offset by changes in the
cash flows of the underlying hedged foreign currency and commodity transactions.

Shock-Test Result

As of December 31,
(in millions) 2019 2018
‘-Chang-e ln Fair Value: T
ACurrency Derivatives(" - . $ (786) $ (743)
Change m An;lual Il_lterest Expense: ) . .
Variable Rate Debt® $ 64 S 58
Interest Rate Derivatives® ) $ 37 §$ 47
Chz;n-ge in Annual Interest Ir{come:
:1\_;I-ar—ke:téble~Secur.i.t'ies(3) . $ — s 1

(' The potential change in fair value from a hypothetical 10% weakening of the U.S. Dollar against local currency exchange rates across all
maturities.

@ The potential change in annual interest expense resulting from a hypothetical 100 basis point increase in short-term interest rates, applied
to our variable rate debt and swap instruments (excluding hedges of anticipated debt issuances).

®  The potential change in interest income resulting from a hypothetical 100 basis point increase in short-term interest rates, applied to our
variable rate investment holdings.

The sensitivity of our pension and postretirement benefit obligations to changes in interest rates is quantified in “Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates”. The sensitivity in the fair value and interest income of our finance receivables due to
changes in interest rates was not material as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareowners and Board of Directors of
United Parcel Service, Inc.
Atlanta, Georgia

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of United Parcel Service, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
"Company") as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, and
cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as
the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and our report dated February 20, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal
control over financial reporting.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for leases due to
the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Update 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This change
has been applied on a modified retrospective basis effective on January 1, 2019.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current-period audit of the financial
statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex
judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit
matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Central States Pension Fund coordinating benefit obligation assumptions - Refer to Note 5, Company-Sponsored Employee
Benefit Plans (Actuarial Assumptions - Central States Pension Fund), to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company was a contributing employer to the Central States Pension Fund (“CSPF”’) until 2007 when it withdrew and
fully funded its allocable share of unvested benefits. The Company agreed to provide coordinating benefits in the UPS/IBT
Full Time Employee Pension Plan (“UPS/IBT Plan”) to CSPF participants whose last employer was the Company and who had
not retired as of January 1, 2008 (the “UPS Transfer Group™) if the CSPF were to lawfully reduce benefits consistent with the
terms of its withdrawal agreement with the Company. The CSPF has asserted that, absent legislative reform, it will become
insolvent in 2025. If the CSPF were to become insolvent consistent with that assertion, the Company may be required to
provide coordinating benefits through the UPS/IBT Plan to the UPS Transfer Group.

Under accounting standards generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), the Company is required to
determine its best estimate of the eventual outcome of this matter and is prohibited from anticipating potential changes in law in
making that best estimate. The Company considered potential outcomes based on the existing legislative framework, including
the eventual insolvency of the CSPF or an approved application to reduce benefits under the U.S. Multiemployer Pension
Reform Act (“MPRA”). As the Company cannot consider a legislative solution when making its best estimate of its projected
benefit obligation, the Company believes the trustees of the CSPF (the “Trustees™) would be more likely to pursue an
application to reduce benefits under the MPRA than they would be to allow the insolvency of the CSPF.

Based upon this possible outcome, the Company developed assumptions related to 1) the order in which benefits would be
reduced to groups of participants under MPRA, 2) whether CSPF can reduce benefits to the UPS Transfer Group under MPRA
without the Company’s consent, 3) the timing and effective date of a MPRA application, and 4) the actuarial assumptions
associated with the timing of future CSPF cash flows. Based on the Company’s deterministic cash flow projection,
management recorded a projected benefit obligation of $2.6 billion for the CSPF coordinating benefits at December 31, 2019.
Given that the passage of time or changes in actuarial assumptions could reduce or eliminate the effectiveness of a MPRA
application in the future, it is reasonably possible that, at the next measurement date, the projected benefit obligation could
increase by approximately $2.2 billion, resulting in a total obligation for the CSPF coordinating benefits of $4.8 billion. The
Company also developed disclosures of the risks and uncertainties associated with this matter.

The assumptions require significant management judgment and the following audit considerations:

1. Auditing management’s conclusion that the CSPF benefits to the UPS Transfer Group cannot be reduced without first
exhausting benefit reductions to the other CSPF participants is challenging because there appears to be multiple legal
interpretations of the benefit reduction provisions of MPRA and those provisions have not yet been litigated.

2. Auditing management’s conclusion that the CSPF could not reduce benefits to the UPS Transfer Group without the
Company’s consent requires judgment because the agreement between CSPF and the Company requiring such consent
was made before the passage of MPRA and has not yet been litigated.

3. Auditing management’s assumptions related to the timing and effective date of a MPRA application is subjective.

4. Auditing the actuarial assumptions used to estimate the timing and present value of future CSPF cash flows is
challenging because the underlying data is limited to information made publicly available by the CSPF.

5. Auditing the sufficiency of the Company’s disclosure of this matter in the footnotes to the financial statements is
challenging due to the number of uncertainties associated with the potential obligation.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures to address the Company’s assumptions used to measure its potential obligation to pay for CSPF
coordinating benefits to the UPS Transfer Group (the “Coordinating Benefits™) included the following, among others:

+  We tested the effectiveness of controls over Coordinating Benefits assumptions, including those over the determination
of the accounting model, the key legal positions relevant to determining its Coordinating Benefits obligation, the other
actuarial assumptions used to project the potential Coordinating Benefits obligation; and the related financial statement
disclosures.
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«  With the assistance of professionals in our firm having expertise in pension accounting, we evaluated the Company’s
conclusions regarding the accounting model applied to the Coordinating Benefits obligation through consideration of
possible alternatives under GAAP.

*  We evaluated the Company’s assumptions used in determining the most likely outcome of the CSPF matter under the
existing legislative framework. In order to evaluate the Company’s expectation that the Trustees would pursue another
benefit suspension in order to avoid insolvency, we obtained evidence regarding the fiduciary responsibilities of the
Trustees to govern the CSPF in a manner that continues to provide benefits to participants and their beneficiaries.

¢ We evaluated the Company’s conclusion that 1) the CSPF could not reduce benefits to the UPS Transfer Group under
MPRA without first exhausting benefit reductions to the other CSPF participants and 2) the CSPF could not reduce
benefits without obtaining the Company’s consent based on the terms of an agreement between the CSPF and the
Company. Specifically, we examined letters from internal and external counsel describing both counsel’s conclusion
that those positions are more likely than not to be sustained if they were to be litigated. With the assistance of
professionals in our firm having expertise in legal matters, we also evaluated whether the legal arguments supporting
this assertion had substantive legal basis.

«  With the assistance of our actuarial specialists, we tested the underlying data and actuarial model used by management
to estimate the potential obligation to provide Coordinating Benefits, including consideration of (1) the expected
timing of CSPF benefit reductions; (2) the discount rate; (3) the projected contributions and benefit payments; and (4)
the expected return on CSPF assets. Further, because the data used by management is limited to publicly available
CSPF information, we considered whether other available sources of data may yield a more precise estimate.

*  We compared the Company’s footnote disclosure relating to this matter to the information communicated between
management and the Company’s audit committee to evaluate whether significant uncertainties had been omitted from
the disclosure.

Valuation of U.S. hedge fund, risk parity, private debt, private equity and real estate investments - Refer to Note 5, Company-
Sponsored Employee Benefit Plans (Fair Value Measurements), to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company’s U.S. pension and postretirement medical benefit plans (the “U.S. Plans™) held hedge fund, risk parity,
private debt, private equity and real estate investments valued at $7.6 billion as of December 31, 2019.

The Company determines the reported values of the U.S. Plans’ investments in hedge, risk parity, private debt, private
equity and real estate funds primarily based on the estimated net asset value (“NAV™) of the fund. In order to estimate NAV, the
Company evaluates audited and unaudited financial reports from fund managers, and makes adjustments, as appropriate, for
investment activity between the date of the financial reports and December 31*. These investments are not actively traded, and
their values can only be estimated using these subjective assumptions.

Auditing the estimated NAV of these hedge fund, risk parity, private debt, private equity and real estate instruments
requires a high degree of auditor judgment and subjectivity to evaluate the completeness, reliability and relevance of the inputs
used by management.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the inputs used by management to estimate the NAV of the U.S. Plans’ hedge fund, risk parity,
private debt, private equity and real estate investments included the following, among others:

»  We tested the effectiveness of controls, including those related to the reliability of values reported by fund managers,
the relevance of asset class benchmark returns, and the completeness and accuracy of unobservable inputs related to
the underlying assets of the funds.
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»  For certain investments, we confirmed directly with the respective fund manager its preliminary estimate of the fund’s
NAYV as of December 31, 2019.

*  We evaluated the Company’s ability to accurately estimate NAV for these funds by comparing each fund’s recorded
valuation as of its most recent fiscal year end to the audited fund financial statements (which are received in arrears of
the Company’s reporting timetable).

Revenue - Refer to Note 2, Revenue Recognition, to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

Approximately 80 percent of the Company’s revenues are from its global small package operations that provide time-
definite delivery services for express letters, documents, small packages and palletized freight via air and ground services. The
Company’s global small package revenues are comprised of a significant volume of low-dollar transactions sourced from
systems that were primarily developed by the Company. The processing of transactions, including the recording of them, is
highly automated and based on contractual terms with the Company’s customers.

Auditing global small package revenue required a significant extent of effort and the involvement of professionals with
expertise in information technology (“IT”) necessary for us to identify, test, and evaluate the Company’s systems, software
applications, and automated controls.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the Company’s systems to process global small package revenue transactions included the
following, among others:

»  With the assistance of our IT specialists, we:

¢ Identified the significant systems used to process global small package revenue transactions and tested the
effectiveness of the general IT controls over each of these systems, including testing of user access controls, change
management controls, and IT operations controls.

*  Tested the effectiveness of system interface controls and automated controls within the global small package revenue
stream, as well as the controls designed to ensure the accuracy and completeness of revenue. We tested the
effectiveness of controls over the relevant global small package revenue business processes, including those in place to
reconcile the various systems to the Company’s general ledger.

*  We performed analytical procedures to evaluate the Company’s recorded revenue and evaluate trends.
+ For a sample of customers, we read the Company’s contract with the customer and evaluated the Company’s pattern of

revenue recognition for the customer. In addition, we evaluated the accuracy of the Company’s recorded global small
package revenue for a sample of customer invoices.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 20, 2020

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1969.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

e (In millions) *
December 31,
B R - . _ L 2019 2018
r - T RSSES T T T TI T T ]
Current Assets: » .
{_Cashand cashequivalents " " e 3 37388 T 4205].
Marketable securities - e ' T 810
Accounts {s receivable, net __-:'"T __...._:- e _'____: :*_-i ::.I.. 9552 -*_,.8,9_58i
Current income taxes receivable B ' 382 - 940
{ Other current assets R ] ::: ;..,‘:.*- __- B : o ’ Mﬁ 1,428 1,2771
o Total Current Assets , O T 17,103 16,210
[Property, Plant and Equipment, Net ___ T T T T T T T30480 26576
Operating Lease Right-Of-Use Assets - 2,856 L —
[Goodwill B ¥ T E I ¥ T3 N
Intangible Assets, Net 2,167 2,075
MInvestments and Restricted Cash  * ° ”_. ' ~ ) _: TS T e T 24 170}
Deferred Income Tax Assets e T T T 330 141
[Other Non-Current Assets - o T T T T 082 1,033
Total Assets . o T $ 57857 $ 50,016
L A LIABILITIES AND SHAREOWNERS EQUITY |~~~ ———=—————"——
Current Liabilities:
{ Current maturities of long-term debt and commercial papér T : o - _ % 3420 § 2,8_9_5]
Current maturities of operating leases : ' '538, =
L._Accounts payable - T ;- - ot 5555 " 5188}
Accrued wages and w1thhold1ngs 2,552 3,047
{Self-insurance reserves . -: - ,—-‘::- . ‘—- _ « P __:__?lf_l_‘__ ___8}9]
Accrued group welfare and retirement plan contributions o 793 715
[Other current liabilities _ . S e —_—_ T T TR 1,522]
Total Current Liabilities - ‘ B - 15413 14,087
@_(li_lg-Tenn’Debt and Finance Leases e e - i —— 21:818 19,9}__1__'J
Non-Current Operating Leases ) 2,391 —
‘Pension and Postretirement Benefit Obligations S T e 1001 8,347}
Deferred Income Tax Liabilities e e 1,632 1,619
{Self-Insurance Reserves ’ ' T L1282, . 1,571
Other Non-Current Liabilities . - ' 1,437 1,424
{Shareowners’ Equity: _- - .,‘._:_....__ N T ]
Class A common stock (156 and 163 shares issued i in 2! 201 9 and 2018) ' ’ -2 2
{ Class B common stock (701 and 696 shares issued in 2019 and 2 2018) _ e :::7-“ 7 }
Additional paid-in capital . 150 —
{__ Retained earnings. s - T o U905 8O006)
Accumulated other comprehenswe loss ) (5 997) - (4,994)
i- Deferred compensation obhganons - - ) ~ . T _Z_Q:::ﬁj
Less: Treasury stock (0.4 shares in 2019 and 0.6 shares in 2018) : T 4(’6) l (5—2)
E____ Total Equity for Controlling Interests *j:v :::" ‘:_;:_*:; b__; : L : L3267 3021
Noncontrolhng Interests _ 7 ‘ 16 16
PTGl Shareowrers Bty - T T T T T g g
Total Liabilities and Shareowners’ Equity ' - . $ 57,857 $ 50,016

See notes to audited, consolidated financial statements.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED INCOME
(In millions, except per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

A _ , 2019 2018 2017
[Revenue . — - $ 74094 § 71,861 $ 66,585]
Operating Expenses: » o
T "Compensation and benefits T R 38008 37:235 . 34,577]
“Repairs and maintenance , 1,838 1,732 1,601
i Depreciation and amortization L 2360 2,207 _ 2,2§_2]
Purchased transportation - 12,590 13,409 11,696
{- Fuel ‘ ' o 3,289 3,427 2,690
Other occupancy 1392 1,362 1,155
[ Other expenses__ . L . .5919 5465 - 5,0551
Total Operating Expenses B _ ' ' T 66,296 64,837 59,056
{Operating Profit__ ‘ T L INEALD 7,024. -~ 7,529]
Other Income and (Expense): _ . '
{_ Investment income (expense) and other - ' . (1493 ___(43_(_)9) 61
Interest expense (653) (605) (453)
{Total Other Income and (Expense) <. ’ .- : . ~(2,146) © (1,005) . " (392)
Income Before Income Taxes ‘ ] ) ' . 5,652 6,019 7,137
fIncome Tax Expense - o T M — 1212 .1.228. 2.232]
Net Income ) ] A $ 4440 $ 4791 8 4,905
IBasic Earnings Per Share _ _ AR $ 514 § 553 $- 5631
Diluted Earnings Per Share 3 511  § 551 § 5.61

STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In millions) :

Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
tNet Income S PN Y . $ 4440 "$ 4,791 78 "4,905}
Change in foreign cunency translat1on adjustment net of tax ) 48 (149) 86
£(_J_1_1§.__nge in unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities, net of tax - 3 . 6 . — . N¢Y)
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax 72 - 485 (321)
{_C_p_;a_t_lge in unrecognized pension and postretirement nent benefit costs, et of tax o (1,129 272 (148)
Comprehensive Income (Loss) N $ 3437 $ 5399 $ 4521

IS

See notes to audited, consolidated financial statements. -



UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS
(In millions)

Years Ended December 31,

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Pension and postretirement benefit expense

Pension and postretirement benefit contributions

Self-insurance reserves

Deferred tax (benefit) expense

Stock compensation expense

Other (gains) losses

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of business acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued wages and withholdings
Other liabilities

Other operating activities

Net cash from operating activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of marketable securities
Sales and maturities of marketable securities
Net change in finance receivables
Cash paid for business acquisitions, net of cash and cash equivalents acquired
Other investing activities ’

Net cash (used in) investing activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Net change in short-term debt
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Repayments of long-term borrowings
Purchases of common stock
Issuances of common stock
Dividends
Other financing activities

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities

Effect Of Exchange Rate Changes On Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Net Increase (Decrease) In Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash:
Beginning of period

End of period

Cash Paid During The Period For:
Interest (net of amount capitalized)

Income taxes (net of refunds and overpayments)

2019 2018 2017
$ 4440 $ 4791 $ 4,905
2,360 2,207 2,282
3,141 2,242 1,643
(2,362) (186)  (7,794)
(185) (86) —
100 758 1,224

915 634 584

74 293 37

(717) (421) (1,022
698 754 (984)

419 1,034 599
(446) 505 200

182 170 (243)

20 16 48

8639 12,711 1,479
(6,380)  (6283)  (5.227)
65 37 24

(561) (973)  (1,630)
883 886 1,990

13 4 5

) @ (134)

(75) 1 1
6,061)  (6,330) (4,971)
310 63 (250)
5,205 1,202 12,016
(3,09)  (2.887) (3,939
(1,004)  (1,011)  (1,813)
218 240 247
(3,194)  (3,011)  (2,771)
(166) (288) (203)
(1727 (5.692) 3,287
20 ) 53

871 598 (152)
4367 3,769 3,921

$ 5238 $ 4367 $ 3,769
$ 628 $ 595 $ 428
$ 514 § 2 $ 1,550

See notes to audited, consolidated financial statements.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Financial Statements and Business Activities

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (‘GAAP”), and include the accounts of United Parcel Service, Inc., and all of its
consolidated subsidiaries (collectively “UPS” or the “Company”). All intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated.

We provide transportation services, primarily domestic and international letter and package delivery. Through our Supply
Chain & Freight subsidiaries, we are also a global provider of specialized transportation, logistics and financial services.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the reported amounts of revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingencies.
Estimates have been prepared on the basis of the most current and best information, and actual results could differ materially
from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

U.S. Domestic and International Package Operations—Revenue is recognized over time as we perform the services in
the contract.

Forwarding —Freight forwarding revenue and the expense related to the transportation of freight are recognized over
time as we perform the services. Truckload brokerage revenue and related transportation costs are recognized over time as we
perform the services. Customs brokerage revenue is recognized upon completing documents necessary for customs entry

purposes.

Logistics —In our Logistics business we have a right to consideration from customers in an amount that corresponds
directly with the value to the customers of our performance completed to date, and as such we recognize revenue in the amount
to which we have a right to invoice the customer.

UPS Freight—Revenue is recognized over time as we perform the services in the contract.

Financial Services—Income on loans and direct finance leases is recognized on the effective interest method. Accrual of
interest income is suspended at the earlier of the time at which collection of an account becomes doubtful or the account
becomes 90 days delinquent. Income on operating leases is recognized on the straight-line method over the terms of the
underlying leases.

Principal vs. Agent Considerations—We utilize independent contractors and third-party carriers in the performance of
some transportation services. GAAP requires us to evaluate whether our businesses themselves promise to transfer services to
the customer (as the principal).or to arrange for services to be provided by another party (as the agent) using a control model.
Based on our evaluation of the control model, we determined that all of our major businesses act as the principal rather than the
agent within their revenue arrangements. Revenue and the associated purchased transportation costs are reported on a gross
basis within our statements of consolidated income.

Refer to note 2 for further discussion of our revenue recognition policies.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into cash. We consider
securities with maturities of three months or less, when purchased, to be cash equivalents. The carrying amount of these
securities approximates fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Investments

Debt securities are either classified as trading or available-for-sale securities and are carried at fair value. Unrealized
gains and losses on trading securities are reported as investment income (expense) and other on the statements of consolidated
income. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are reported as accumulated other comprehensive income
(“AOCT™), a separate component of shareowners’ equity. The amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of
premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization and accretion is included in investment income (expense)
and other, along with interest and dividends. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method; realized
gains and losses resulting from such sales are included in investment income (expense) and other.

We periodically review our available-for-sale investments for indications of other-than-temporary impairment considering
many factors, including the extent and duration to which a security’s fair value has been less than its cost, overall economic and
market conditions and the financial condition and specific prospects for the issuer. Impairment of available-for-sale securities
results in a charge to income when a market decline below cost is other-than-temporary.

Inventories

Fuel and other materials and supplies inventories are recognized as inventory when purchased, and then charged to
expense when used in our operations. Jet fuel, diesel and unleaded gasoline inventories are valued at the lower of average cost
or net realizable value. Total inventories were $511 and $421 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and are
included in “Other current assets” on the consolidated balance sheets.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost. We evaluate the useful lives of our property, plant and equipment based
on our usage, maintenance and replacement policies, and taking into account physical and economic factors that may affect the
useful lives of the assets. As part of our ongoing investment in transformation in 2018, we revised our estimates of useful lives
for building improvements, vehicles and plant equipment based on our current assessment of these factors. In 2019, we revised
our estimates of useful lives and residual values for certain airframes, engines and related rotable parts. The changes in estimate
had the effect of lengthening the useful lives of building improvements, vehicles, plant equipment and certain aircraft, and
reduced the useful lives and residual values of the majority of our used aircraft.

Depreciation and amortization are provided by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
which are as follows:

» Aircraft: 12 to 40 years
¢ Buildings: 20 to 40 years
¢ Leasehold Improvements: lesser of asset useful life or lease term
¢ Plant Equipment: 3 to 20 years
» Technology Equipment: 3 to S years
* Vehicles: 6 to 15 years
For substantially all of our aircraft, the costs of major airframe and engine overhauls, as well as routine maintenance and

repairs, are charged to expense as incurred.

Interest incurred during the construction period of certain property, plant and equipment is capitalized until the underlying
assets are placed in service, at which time amortization of the capitalized interest begins, straight-line, over the estimated useful
lives of the related assets. Capitalized interest was $91 and $97 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

We review long-lived assets for impairment when circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable based on its undiscounted future cash flows. If the carrying amount of the asset is determined not to be recoverable,
a write-down to fair value is recorded. Fair values are determined based on quoted market values, discounted cash flows or
external appraisals, as appropriate. We review long-lived assets for impairment at the individual asset or the asset group level
for which the lowest level of independent cash flows can be identified.

Leased Assets

For a discussion of our accounting policies related to leased assets, refer to note 10.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Pension and Postretirement Benefits

We incur certain employment-related expenses associated with pension and postretirement medical benefits. These
pension and postretirement medical benefit costs for company-sponsored benefit plans are calculated using various actuarial
assumptions and methodologies, including discount rates, expected returns on plan assets, healthcare cost trend rates, inflation,
compensation increase rates, mortality rates and coordination of benefits with plans not sponsored by UPS. Actuarial
assumptions are reviewed on an annual basis, unless circumstances require an interim remeasurement of any of our plans.

We recognize changes in the fair value of plan assets and net actuarial gains or losses in excess of a corridor (defined as
10% of the greater of the fair value of plan assets or the plan's projected benefit obligation) in net periodic benefit cost other
than service cost annually at December 31st each year. The remaining components of pension expense, primarily service and
interest costs and the expected return on plan assets, are recorded on a quarterly basis.

For eligible employees hired after July 1, 2016, UPS contributes annually to a defined contribution plan. We recognize
expense for the required contribution quarterly, and we recognize a liability for any contributions due and unpaid (included in
“Other current liabilities™).

During June 2017, we amended the UPS Retirement Plan and Excess Coordinating Plan to cease accrual of additional
benefits for future service for non-union participants effective January 1, 2023. We remeasured plan assets and pension benefit
obligations for the affected pension plans as of June 30, 2017 to recognize the impact of this change.

We participate in a number of trustee-managed multiemployer pension and health and welfare plans for employees
covered under collective bargaining agreements. Our contributions to these plans are determined in accordance with the
respective collective bargaining agreements. We recognize expense for the contractually required contribution for each period,
and we recognize a liability for any contributions due and unpaid within “Other current liabilities”.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for on an asset and liability approach that requires the recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our consolidated financial
statements or tax returns. In estimating future tax consequences, we generally consider all expected future events other than
proposed changes in the tax law or rates. Valuation allowances are provided if it is more likely than not that a deferred tax
asset will not be realized.

We recognize liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate the tax
position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the
position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. Once it is
determined that the position meets the recognition threshold, the second step requires us to estimate and measure the largest
amount of tax benefit that is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate settlement. The difference between the amount
of recognizable tax benefit and the total amount of tax benefit from positions filed or to be filed with the tax authorities is
recorded as a liability for uncertain tax benefits. It is inherently difficult and subjective to estimate such amounts, as we have
to determine the probability of various possible outcomes. We reevaluate uncertain tax positions on a quarterly basis. This
evaluation is based on factors including, but not limited to, changes in facts or circumstances, changes in tax law, effectively
settled issues under audit and new audit activity. Such a change in recognition or measurement could result in the recognition
of a tax benefit or an additional charge to the tax provision.

In January 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") released guidance on the accounting for tax on
the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income ("GILTI") provisions of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Act"). The GILTI
provisions impose U.S. tax on certain foreign income in excess of a deemed return on tangible assets of foreign corporations.
The guidance indicates that either accounting for deferred taxes related to GILTI inclusions or treating any taxes on GILTI
inclusions as period costs are both acceptable methods subject to an accounting policy election. We elect to treat any
potential GILTI inclusions as period costs.

Foreign Currency Translation and Remeasurement

We translate the results of operations of our foreign subsidiaries using average exchange rates during each period,
whereas balance sheet accounts are translated using exchange rates at the end of each period. Balance sheet currency translation
adjustments are recorded in AOCI. Pre-tax foreign currency transaction gains (losses) from remeasurement, net of hedging,
included in investment income (expense) and other were $(6), $(19) and $3 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

63



¥9

‘s3uTLLIes $1931J8 WA Pa3pay Y} USYm JUSWE]S AWIOIUT S} UT PIpIodal aTe pue ‘IDOV

urm Jusunsnipe uone[suen Aouailmo ugdia10] oY) Ul papIOdal a1k s9)el a3ueyoxs jods ut sa8ueyo 0 9[qeInqLIle $asso] 1o sured

Jau 9y ‘sjuowannbal Surjunodsoe 93pay sy 192w Jey sadpay 10,1 ‘suonjeiado uSIaIo] Ul SJUSUNSIAWT JaU Jo suorpod 93pay 0)
1Q9p PABUTWIOUIP ASUa1m? US1910] 10 $)OBNUOI pIemlio] ‘sdems LOUsIMD SSOID JO asn Y} 0} SI9J2I 33Pay JUSUNSIAUT 19U Y

‘wa) padpay ay uo ssof 1o uted Sumasyjo sy se [jam se ‘pourad yusimo oy

BuLmp 9WoOUT P3)EPI[OSUOD JO SJUSUISIE)S S UT PIZIUS0I3I ST JUSWINHSUI JAT)BALIDP ) UO SSO[ Jo T 3y “sadpay anjea Iiej

se AJirenb pue psjeudissp aIe jeY) STUSUINISUT SANBALISP 10 “YSU Iefnotred e 0) s[qeinqLe s1 jey) S}93Ys 9ouL[eq p}epl[osuod
) ut ANjIqer] Jo jasse SunsIxa Ue Jo anjeaA Jrej ayl w sagueyo o) amsodxa ayy Sui8pay o) s1aja1 a8pay onjea Ie]

‘S3uTIes s}o3]je UoT)oRSURT)

padpay aip yorym Suump pourad sures 9y Ul SSUTUIES OJUT PAIJISSE[O21 PUR ‘TOOV JO jusuoduros e se pay1odal 1 juswmLnsul

9AIIRALIDP 3Y) UO $SO 10 uTed a1 ‘sa8pay MO[J yseo se AJiienb pue pa)yeudisap aie jey) SJUSUIMISUT 9ANBALISP JO] “YsU Te[nonred
© 0) 9[qEINgLNIE ST By} SMO[J Yseo armng payoadxs w Ariqeriea o) amsodxa aip Sui3pay 0) s19J91 38pay Mo[J yseo

‘uoneiado uS1a10] B UI JUSUNSIAUL JaU B JO 93pay & 10 93pay anjea Iej e “03pay Mmo[J yseo e se ‘padpay

Suraq amsodxa sy uodn paseq ‘aareausp-ay seudisap ysnwt Auedwros e ‘sjusumnsut SuiSpay se AJipenb pue pajeudisap

ale Je() SJUSWMNSUT DATRALISP asot]) 10, “diysuone[a1 3uidpay jo adA3 oy uo “rayumy ‘pue drysuotnjejar 3urdpsy e jo yred

se sa1jijenb pue pajeudisap Uaaq Sey )1 IYISYM UO Spuadap JUSUMLISUT SANIBALISP © JO aNjeA JTe] a3 Ut sa8ueys Joj 3urjuncooe
9] ‘anyea Iej Je S}99USs 20UB[eq PIEPI[OSUOO AU} UT SANI[IRT] JO S)ISSE SB SJUSWMNSUT SANBALISP [[B 92TuS0031 ap

SJUBUNAISU] dADALIA(T

"s3uTures 0} pap1o93l are syusunsnipe

yuonbasqns Aue ‘pouad yuswamseaw Sy JO UOISN[OUOd Ay} uod() “[[IMpPoo3 0 13s]J0 Surpuodsaliod ay) YIm ‘pIUnSSE SAIIqer]

pue pannboe sjasse 9y} 0] sjuaunsnipe p109al Aew am “3jep uonIsMbor Y} WOIJ I8 SUO ST YITYM ‘polrad Justuamseawr

o) SuLm(J 'S9)BWITISS WOIJ ISPIP ABW S)[NSaI [BN)OL )INsSal € Se ‘pue 3[qeidIpaidun pue uTeIosun AUaIayUT ale Yorjm

nq “s[qeuosesl 9q 03 PaAdl[aq suondumsse uodn paseq aIe anjea Irej Jo SALWNISI S, JUSWTBUE]A] "S3)el JUNOJSIP PUE SIAI[ [NJasn

‘aAnoadsiad juedionred joyIeWw B WIOIJ SSWEU apel) pue A30[0uyo3) pannboe ‘S19W0ISNO palnboe Woly smo[J Yysed paroadxa

Iyny ‘03 pajIwI| 30U are jnq urpnjout ‘sjasse [qidueiur 0) 30adsal M A[[eroadsa ‘suondumsse pue s9JeUM)Sd JUedIJTUIS

axew 0} JuswaSeuew annbal suonen[eA Yong [IMPo03 Se PapIooal ST SINIIQRT] PUE S}9SSE S[QRIJIIUAPI 353U} JO Sanjea JieJ sy}

ISAO UONRISPISUOD aseyond o anjea J1ej 3y} JO SSIOXA Y [ 'San[eA JIeJ pRjeum)ss JI9Y) Uo paseq pannboe sjasse 9]qiSuejur pue
paumsse sanyiqer] ‘pannboe sjasse a[qISue] 3y 0) UOTIRIAPISUOD aseyamd Jo anjeA Jie] S} 2)ed0[[e om ‘suonjisinbore 10,]

‘Juasa1d SJUSWAINSEIW AN[BA ITRJ I 9)OUJ00] Yora Ul papnjout

s1 ‘AyoIeraty uonenea ayy 0} juensind SaNT[IqeI] PUR S)3SSE YONS JO UOT)ROIJISSE[D [eIdUad oy} Sutpn[oul ‘anjea Irej e pamsesws

SaRI[IQeI] PUE S19sse I0J pasn sardojopoyiaw uonenjea oy Jo uonduosap [e1ousd v jusuutedun ue Jo 90UIPIAS SI 1S} USYM SB

[ons ‘Saoue)SWNOIO UIE}IaD Ul sjusunsnipe anjea J1ej o) 10alqns aIe sjasse 9say | ‘slasse 9[qrdueut pue [[impood ‘quswdinbs pue
“uerd ‘Ayadord Supnyour ‘siseq SULIMOSIUOU B UO IN[LA 18] J& PIINSEIW dIB SANI[IGRI] PUE S)ISSE [RIOUBULJ-UOU UTRLIA))

"K)I[Iqel] 10 13SSE 9 10] AJIATIOR J3NIeW OU JO [N S1 213U} Iy suonemis spnjout pue ‘suondumsse
umo mo Jumoafjal gjep djqearasqoun wolj pado[aasp are syndul ¢ [9A9T "SIAIND PIAIA pUE SB1RI ISSINU SE YONS ‘D[qBAISSqO SIB
1ey} saoud pajonb ueyy o syndur pue ‘sani[Iqer] pue s}asse Je[us Joj saoud pajonb se yons ‘ejep 193IBW [qRAIISqO IAYI0 UO
paseq a1e s;ndut 7 [9A97T 'SSNIIQEI] JO $)3SSE [EONUSPI JOJ SIaIell 9AT)oR Ul $301d pajonb azimn sindut | [9A77 "Ayorelony anjea

Iiey e uodn paseq pszuo39ieo usaq 2AeY Siseq SULLMOAI B UO SN[BA ITEJ J8 PAINSEaU SANI[IqEI] PUe S}9sSe [e1oueutj Q)

SJUU2ANSDD ] ONJDA AIDH

"SIseq [ENUUE UB UO S9JBI 9INJI9}I0J MNO )BN[BAII 9 "SPIEME ) JO SUORIPUOD SU)SaA Iy} JO SULIS) pue amjeu

3 pue I9A0WIy 2240[d WIS JO $9JRI [BOLIOISTY ‘SONSLISIORIRYD JR[IWIS U)IM SPIBME J0] S2IMNJI9)I0] JO S9)RI [EOLIOISTY UO Paseq

$9)el IMY19}10] d)eumsa oy ‘pourad Sunsaa [eurwiou sy SuLmp mod0 0) poadxa SI Jey) J1 “PIASYDE ST AN[IqIST[9 JUSWIAITII

3)ep ayj 03 sjep Juelsd ayy woly pourad Yy 1940 IO ‘saako[dws 3[qISI[9-JUSWAITII 0) PIURIS SPIeME J0] A[SjeIPaWIW PaZIUZ0oal

AJrerauad st 31509 uonesuadwo)) JatjIes J1 ‘(uerd ayy Aq pauijop se) samal aako1dws ay) aep aip 1e Jo ( pouad Sumsaa [eutwiou,,

o)) pouad 1Bk 9A1J IO ‘99IU) “9UO B ISA0 A[qR)Rl ISIA IO JSIA JJI[D SPIEME S} 21aym ‘SUOLIIPUOD 991A1SS FUIPN]oUl ‘SUOT}IPUOD

3unsaa oyy19ads 0y 199[gns are jey) ue(q uonesuadwio)) ANUIIU] SJ () Y} ISpUn Spreme paseq-aIeys 39Lojdwa panssi

JARY 9/ "SSIMIS}I0] pajewnss ss9f ‘(pouad Sumnsaa ayy) pieme oY) 10] a3uBYOXS UT 991AI19S 9p1aoid 03 parmbai st 924ojdwa ue
yomm Surmp powiad o) 1940 pasuadxa pue sanjea IieJ NoY) UO Paseq paINSeaur a1e s3aio[jduid 0} spreme paseq-oreys [y

uonvsuadwo)) pasvg-4o01§

SINTWILVLS TVIDONVNIA AILVAI'TOSNOD OL SALON
STAVIAISANS ANV ‘DNI “TIOIAYIS TADYVd AALINN



UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB issued an accounting standards update (" ASU") that changes the revenue recognition for
companies that enter into contracts with customers to transfer goods or services ("Revenue from Contracts with Customers").
The standard is a comprehensive new revenue recognition model that requires revenue to be recognized in a manner depicting
the transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be received in exchange
for those goods or services. The FASB also issued a number of updates to this standard. Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted
the requirements of this ASU using the full retrospective method. See note 2 for disclosures required by this ASU.

In January 2016, the FASB issued an ASU which addresses certain aspects of the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of financial instruments. We adopted this standard on January 1, 2018. The adoption of this ASU did not have a
material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which requires lessees to recognize a right-of-use
asset and lease liability on their balance sheet for all leases with terms beyond twelve months. The new standard also requires
enhanced disclosures that provide more transparency and information to financial statement users about lease portfolios.
Effective January 1, 2019, we adopted the requirements of this ASU using the modified retrospective approach. We elected the
transition package of practical expedients permitted within the standard. As a result, we did not reassess initial direct costs,
lease classification, or whether our contracts contain or are leases. We also made an accounting policy election to not recognize
right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with an original lease term of twelve months or less, unless the leases include
options to renew or purchase the underlying asset that are reasonably certain to be exercised.

The adoption on January 1, 2019 resulted in the recognition of right-of-use assets for operating leases of approximately
$2.65 billion and operating lease liabilities of approximately $2.70 billion. The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2019 are presented under the new standard, while comparative periods presented have not been adjusted
and continue to be reported in accordance with the previous standard. See note 10 for additional disclosures required by this
ASU.

In August 2016, the FASB issued an ASU that addressed the classification and presentation of specific cash flow matters.
The guidance also clarified how the predominance principle should be applied when cash receipts and cash payments have
aspects of more than one class of cash flows. The guidance was applied retrospectively. We adopted this standard on January 1,
2018. This standard did not have a material impact on our statements of consolidated cash flows.

In November 2016, the FASB issued an ASU intended to reduce diversity in practice by adding or clarifying guidance on
classification and presentation of changes in restricted cash on the statement of cash flows ("Restricted Cash”). Effective
January 1, 2018, we adopted the requirements of this ASU retrospectively. As a result of this update, restricted cash is included
within cash and cash equivalents on our statements of consolidated cash flows.

In March 2017, the FASB issued an ASU to improve the presentation of net periodic pension cost and net periodic
postretirement benefit cost ("Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretivement Benefit
Cost"). The update requires employers to report the current service cost component in the same line item as other compensation
costs arising from services rendered by employees during the period. The other components of net periodic benefit cost are
required to be presented separately from service cost and outside of income from operations. Effective January 1, 2018, we
adopted the requirements of this ASU retrospectively, as required. As a result of this update, the net amount of interest cost,
prior service cost and expected return on plan assets is now presented as other income.

In March 2017, the FASB issued an ASU requiring the premium on callable debt securities to be amortized to the earliest
call date. We adopted this standard on January 1, 2019. It did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2017, the FASB issued an ASU to provide clarity and reduce complexity on when to apply modification
accounting to existing share-based payment awards. We adopted this standard on January 1, 2018. This ASU did not have a
material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In August 2017, the FASB issued an ASU to enhance recognition of the economic results of hedging activities in the
financial statements. In addition, the update made certain targeted improvements to simplify the application of hedge
accounting guidance and increase transparency regarding the scope and results of hedging activities. We adopted this standard
on January 1, 2019. It did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows
but did require additional disclosures. See note 16 for disclosures required by this ASU.

In February 2018, the FASB issued an ASU that allows a reclassification from AOCI to retained earnings for stranded tax
effects resulting from the Tax Act. Effective January 1, 2018, we early adopted this ASU and elected to reclassify the income
tax effects of the Tax Act from AOCI to retained earnings. This resulted in a $735 million increase to retained earnings and a
$735 million decrease to AOCI. Our current accounting policy for releasing income tax effects from other comprehensive
income is based on a portfolio approach.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In August 2018, the FASB issued an ASU that modifies the disclosure requirements for employers that sponsor defined
benefit pension and postretirement plans. The update eliminates the disclosures for amounts in AOCI expected to be recognized
as components of net periodic cost over the next fiscal year and the effects of a one percentage point change in the assumed
healthcare cost trend rate. The update adds disclosure requirements to include the weighted-average interest crediting rates for
cash balance plans and a narrative description of the significant gains and losses related to changes in the benefit obligation for
the period. We early adopted this standard for the year ended December 31, 2018 with retrospective application. The adoption
of this ASU did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

We have recast our consolidated financial statements from amounts previously reported due to the adoption of new
revenue recognition, pension and restricted cash standards. The unaudited consolidated statements of operations, which reflect
the adoption of the new ASUs, are as follows (in millions):

Twelve months ended December 31, 2017
As Previously Adjustments Adjustments Adjustments

, Reported (a) (b) © As Recast
Revenve s 68m 8 M § — S - § 66585
Operating Expenses: _ R _
f " Compensation and benefits : 34,588 R ay - - = 34,577
- égp;i.rs and ﬁ\aintenance 1,600 v 1 — - 1,601
1 ‘_[h)EPr_e_ci_atiﬂorvl_and amortizgtior‘l. N v 2,282 B — — " iy 2,@]
Purchased transportation ) 10,989 * 707 — — 11,696
[ Fuel : 2,690 - — = 2,600 |
Other ;-c-;xpancy : 1,155 — — — 1,155
™™ Other expenses _ 5,039 16 — = 5,055
Total Operat?ng Expenses . 58,343 724 (11) — 59,056
ﬁp}éﬁ'{%@gﬁf - 7,529 - TS — - 7529]
Other Income and (Expense):
{r In;e;;-e'ntincome (expense) and other - 72 — an - 61_1
Interest expense | (453) _ ‘— — (453)
{Total Other Income and (Expense) _.(381) o — a1y - — (392)
.-Ir—x-t-:ome Before—I’;:;me Taxes - 7,148 (11) — ] — 7,137
{IncomeEx Expen;& (Benefit) ' L 2,238 ®) — — . 2,232]
Net Income s 4910 S ) $ — s — s 4,905
{Basic Eamings Per Share + $§ 564 8 (00 $ — $ . — 8§ - 563
Diluted Eamings Per Share "8 561 $ — 3 — 3 — 3 5.61

(a) Recast to reflect the adoption of Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
(b) Recast to reflect the adoption of Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost.

(c) Recast to reflect the adoption of Restricted Cash.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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The unaudited impacted consolidated statement of cash flows line items, which reflect the adoption of the new ASUs, are
as follows (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2017
As Previously Adjustments Adjustments Adjustments

Reported (a) (b) (©) As Recast
Net Income $ 4910 $ 5) $ — 8 — 8 4,905
Adjustments to reconcile net income to
net cash from operating activities: »
Deferred tax (benefit) expense 1,230 ) - — 1,224
Other assets (982) 2) —_ — (984)
Accounts payable ) 592 7 — — 5-99
Accrued wages and withholdings 193 7 — — 200
© Other liabilities (241) @ — — (243)
Other operatiné activities 47 1 48
Cash flows from operating activities 1,479 — — — 1,479
Purchase of marketable securities (1,634) — —_ 4 (1,630)
Net cash used in investing activities (4,975) — — 4 (4,971)
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash (156) — — 4 (152)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted i .
cash at the beginning of_period 3,476 — — 445 3,921

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash at the end of period $ 3320 $ — 3% — 3 49 $ 3,769

(a) Recast to reflect the adoption of Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

(b) Recast to reflect the adoption of /mproving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost.

(c) Recast to reflect the adoption of Restricted Cash.

Other accounting pronouncements adopted during the periods covered by the consolidated financial statements did not
have a matenal impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective

In June 2016, the FASB issued an ASU introducing an expected credit loss methodology for the measurement of financial
assets not accounted for at fair value. The methodology replaces the probable, incurred loss model for those assets. The
standard will be effective for us in the first quarter of 2020. We are substantially complete with our evaluation of the adoption
on our consolidated financial statements and internal controls over financial reporting. This adoption will not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. We will update our process for calculating our
allowance for doubtful accounts to include reasonable and supportable forecasts that could affect expected collectability.

In January 2017, the FASB issued an ASU to simplify the accounting for goodwill impairment. The update removes Step
2 of the goodwill impairment test, which requires a hypothetical purchase price allocation. Under this ASU, goodwill
impairment will be the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying
amount of goodwill. The standard will be effective for us in the first quarter of 2020. We do not expect this ASU to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2019, the FASB issued an ASU to simplify the accounting for income taxes. The update removes certain
exceptions to the general income tax principles. The standard will be effective for us in the first quarter of 2021. We are
evaluating the impact of its adoption on our consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial reporting
environment, but do not expect this ASU to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations
or cash flows.

Other accounting pronouncements issued, but not effective until after December 31, 2019, are not expected to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

67



UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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NOTE 2. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue Recognition

Substantially all of our revenues are from contracts associated with the pick-up, transportation and delivery of packages
and freight (“transportation services’), whether carried out or arranged by UPS, either domestically or internationally, which
generally occurs over a short period of time. Additionally, we provide value-added logistics services to customers, both
domestically and internationally, through our global network of company-owned and leased distribution centers and field
stocking locations. '

Disaggregation of Revenue

Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018 2017
t—ilevc.anue: , . ’ o j
Next Day Air $ 8479 $ 7618 $ 7,088
{Deferred i - K . ' 5,180 4,752 4,422,
Ground . . 32,834 31,223 29,251
| ! US. Domestic Package . B ‘ -$ 46493 $ - 43593 § . 40,761
r ™ e Ay - > . - v —
{Domestic - _ . s, 2836 $ 2874 § 2,646
Export ' 10,837 10,973 10,170
“Cargo & Other R _ - . 547 '595 -+ < 526
f e S yora— - 2. e . 3 .. .

Intematipnal Package $ 14220 $ 14442 § 13,342
L ‘ o ' : e . — 1
Forwarding . ) $ 5867 $ 6,580 $ 5,674
Logisics . ' 3435 . 3234 3017,
Freight - 3,265 . 3218 3,000
grmsr e — - v - - e S 1
{Othe : o, L , 814 194  , 191

Supply Chain & Freight $ 13,381 § 13,826 $ 12,482
r > - — v - - -
Consolidated revenue ) $ 74,094 $ 71,861 $ 66,585

We account for a contract when both parties have approved the contract and are committed to perform their obligations,
the rights of the parties are identified, payment terms are identified, the contract has commercial substance and collectability of
consideration is probable.

Performance Obligations

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer, and is the basis
of revenue recognition in accordance with GAAP. To determine the proper revenue recognition method for contracts, we
evaluate whether two or more contracts should be combined and accounted for as a single contract, and whether the combined
or single contract should be accounted for as more than one performance obligation. This evaluation requires judgment, and the
decision to combine a group of contracts or to separate the combined or single contract into multiple performance obligations
could change the amount of revenue and profit recorded in a given period. Within most of our contracts, the customer contracts
with us to provide distinct services, such as transportation services. The vast majority of our contracts with customers for
transportation services include only one performance obligation; the transportation services themselves. However, if a contract
is separated into more than one performance obligation, we allocate the total transaction price to each performance obligation
based on the estimated relative standalone selling prices of the promised goods or services underlying each performance
obligation. We frequently sell standard transportation services with observable standalone sales prices. In these instances, the
observable standalone sales are used to determine the standalone selling price.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Principal vs. Agent Considerations

In our transportation businesses, we utilize independent contractors and third-party carriers in the performance of some
transportation services. GAAP requires us to evaluate, using a control model, whether our businesses themselves promise to
transfer services to the customer (as the principal) or to arrange for services to be provided by another party (as the agent).
Based on our evaluation of the control model, we determined that all of our major businesses act as the principal rather than the
agent within their revenue arrangements. Revenue and the associated purchased transportation costs are both reported on a
gross basis within our statements of consolidated income.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable, net, include amounts billed and currently due from customers. The amounts due are stated at their
net estimated realizable value. Losses on accounts receivable are recognized when they are incurred, which requires us to make
our best estimate of the probable losses inherent in our customer receivables at each balance sheet date. These estimates require
consideration of historical loss experience, adjusted for current conditions, trends in customer payment frequency, and
judgments about the probable effects of relevant observable data, including present economic conditions and the financial
health of specific customers and market sectors. Our risk management process includes standards and policies for reviewing
major account exposures and concentrations of risk.

Our total allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $93 and $94 million, respectively. Our
total provision for doubtful accounts charged to expense before recoveries during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
was $194 and $118 million, respectively.

Contract Assets and Liabilities

Contract assets include billed and unbilled amounts resulting from in-transit packages, as we have an unconditional right
to payment only once all performance obligations have been completed (i.e. packages have been delivered), and our right to
payment is not solely based on the passage of time. Amounts may not exceed their net realizable value. Contract assets are
generally classified as current and the full balance is converted each quarter based on the short-term nature of the transactions.

Contract liabilities consist of advance payments and billings in excess of revenue as well as deferred revenue. Advance
payments and billings in excess of revenue represent payments received from our customers that will be earned over the
contract term. Deferred revenue represents the amount of consideration due from customers related to in-transit shipments that
has not yet been recognized as revenue based on our selected measure of progress. We classify advance payments and billings
in excess of revenue as either current or long-term, depending on the period over which the advance payment will be earned.
We classify deferred revenue as current based on the timing of when we expect to recognize revenue, which typically occurs
within a short window after period-end. The full balance of deferred revenue is converted each quarter based on the short-term
nature of the transactions. Our contract assets and liabilities are reported in a net position on a contract-by-contract basis at the
end of each reporting period. In order to determine revenue recognized in the period from contract liabilities, we first allocate
revenue to the individual contract liability balance outstanding at the beginning of the period until the revenue exceeds that
deferred revenue balance.

Contract assets related to in-transit packages were $272 and $234 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively,
net of deferred revenue related to in-transit packages of $264 and $236 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Contract assets are included within "Other current assets" in the consolidated balance sheets. Short-term contract liabilities
related to advanced payments from customers were $7 and $5 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Short-term
contract liabilities are included within "Other current liabilities" in the consolidated balance sheets. Long-term contract
liabilities related to advanced payments from customers were $26 million at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
Long-term contract liabilities are included within "Other Non-Current Liabilities" in the consolidated balance sheets.
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NOTE 3. INVESTMENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH

The following is a summary of marketable securities classified as trading and available-for-sale at December 31, 2019
and 2018 (in millions):

Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

2019
Current trading marketable securities:

Corporate debt securities $ 112 8§ — 8 — 8 112

Equity securities . 2 — — 2
Total trading marketable securities 114 — — 114
Current available-for-sale securities:

U.S. government and agency debt securities 191 2 — 7 193

Mongage and asset-backed debt securities 46 1 — 47

Corporate debt securities 130 3 — 133

Non-U .VS. government debt secunties 16 — — 16
Total available-for-sale marketable securities 383 6 — 389
Total current marketable se_curities $ 497 § 6 § — 3 503

Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

2018
Current trading marketable securities:

Corporate debt securities $ 137 § — 3 — $ 137

Equity securities ' 2 — — 2
iTotaJ trading marketable securities 139 — — 139
Current available-for-sale securities:

U.S. government and agency debt securities 297 1 1) 297

Mortgage and asset-backed debt securities . 82 — (1) 81

Corporate debt securities 275 — 2) 273

Non-U.S. government debt securities 20 — — 20
.'l.'otal available-for-sale marketable securities 674 1 @) 671
‘Total cuner{t marketable securities $ 813 § 1 $ 4) $ 810

Total current marketable securities that were pledged as collateral for our self-insurance requirements had an estimated
fair value of $389 and $587 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The gross realized gains on sales of available-for-sale securities totaled $8 million in 2019. There were no gross realized

gains on sales of available-for-sale securities in 2018 or 2017. The gross realized losses on sales of available-for-sale securities
totaled $2, $4 and $2 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

There were no material impairment losses recognized on marketable securities during 2019, 2018 or 2017.
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Investment Other-Than-Temporary Impairments

We have concluded that no material other-than-temporary impairment losses existed as of December 31, 2019. In making
this determination, we considered the financial condition and prospects of each issuer, the magnitude of the losses compared
with the investments’ cost, the probability that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms
of the security, the credit rating of the security and our ability and intent to hold these investments until the anticipated recovery
in market value occurs.

Unrealized Losses

The following table presents the age of gross unrealized losses and fair value by investment category for all securities in a
loss position as of December 31, 2019 (in millions):

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or More Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
U.S. government and agency debt securities $ 42 3 — 8 — 8 — 3 42 3 —
Mortgage and asset-backed debt securities 3 — 5 — 8 —
Corporate debt securities 6 — 2 — 8 —
Non-U.S. government debt securities 9 — 2 — 11 —
Total marketable securities $ 60 $ — $ 9 § — 8 69 $ —

The unrealized losses for the corporate debt securities, mortgage and asset-backed debt securities, and U.S. government
and agency debt securities are primarily due to changes in market interest rates. We have both the intent and ability to hold
these securities for a time necessary to recover the cost basis.

Maturity Information

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of marketable securities at December 31, 2019, by contractual maturity, are
shown below (in millions). Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because the issuers of the securities may
have the night to prepay obligations with or without prepayment penalties.

Estimated

Cost Fair Value
Due in one year or less $ 118 § 118
Due after one year through three years ' 328 332
Due after three years through five years 6 6
Due after five years 43 7 45
495 501

Equity securities 2 2 ’

$ 497 $ 503

Non-Current Investments and Restricted Cash

Non-current investments and restricted cash are primarily associated with our self-insurance obligations. We entered into
an escrow agreement with an insurance carrier to guarantee these obligations. This agreement requires us to provide collateral
to the insurance carrier, which is invested in various marketable securities and cash equivalents. Collateral provided is reflected
in "Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash" in the statements of consolidated cash flows. In 2019 we liquidated our
investment balance associated with this agreement and pledged the required collateral with a surety bond. At December 31,
2019 and 2018, we had $0 and $142 million, respectively, in restricted cash. For additional information on surety bonds written
at December 31, 2019, see note 8.
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We held a $21 and $19 million investment in a variable life insurance policy to fund benefits for the UPS Excess
Coordinating Benefit Plan at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The quarterly change in investment fair value is
recognized in "Investment income (expense) and other" in the statements of consolidated income. Additionally, we held
escrowed cash related to the acquisition and disposition of certain assets of $3 and $9 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. These amounts are classified as “Investments and Restricted Cash” in the consolidated balance sheets.

A reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash from the consolidated balance sheets to the statements of
consolidated cash flows is shown below (in millions):

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Cash and cash equivalents ' $ 5238 $ 4225 § 3,320
Restricted cash $ — 3 142 $ 449
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 5238 $ 4367 $ 3,769

Fair Value Measurements

Marketable securities valued utilizing Level 1 inputs include active exchange-traded equity securities and equity index
funds, and most U.S. government debt securities, as these securities all have quoted prices in active markets. Marketable
securities valued utilizing Level 2 inputs include asset-backed securities, corporate bonds and municipal bonds. These securities
are valued using market corroborated pricing, matrix pricing or other models that utilize observable inputs such as yield curves.

We maintain holdings in certain investment partnerships that are measured at fair value utilizing Level 3 inputs (classified
as “Other non-current investments™ in the tables below, and as “Other Non-Current Assets” in the consolidated balance sheets).
These partnership holdings do not have quoted prices, nor can they be valued using inputs based on observable market data.
These investments are valued internally using a discounted cash flow model with two significant inputs: (1) the after-tax cash
flow projections for each partnership, and (2) a risk-adjusted discount rate consistent with the duration of the expected cash
flows for each partnership. The weighted-average discount rates used to value these investments were 7.40% and 8.16% as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. These inputs, and the resulting fair values, are updated on a quarterly basis.
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The following table presents information about our investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair

value (in millions):

2019
Marketable Securities:
U.S. government and agency debt secunities
Mortgage and asset-backed debt securities
Corporate debt securities
Equity securities
Non-U.S. government debt securities
Total marketable securities
Other non-current investments

Total

2018
Marketable Securities:
U.S. government and agency debt securities
Mortgage and asset-backed debt securities
Corporate debt securities
Equity securities
Non-U.S. government debt securitie§
Tota] marketable securities ’
Other non-current investments

Total

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
$ 193 — — 193
— 47 — 47
— 245 — 245
— 2 — 2
— 16 — 16
193 310 — 503
21 — 1 22
$ 214 310 § 1 525
Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
$ 297 — 8 — 297
— 81 — 81
— 410 — 410
— 2 — 2
— 20 — 20
297 513 — 810
19 — 2 21
$ 316 513 § 2 831

There were no transfers of investments between Level 1 and Level 2 during the years ended December 31, 2019 or 2018.
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NOTE 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment, including both owned assets as well as assets subject to finance leases, consists of the
following as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in millions):

2019 2018

Vehicles ' $ 10613 $ 9,820
Aircraft 19,045 17,499
Land 2,087 2,000
Buildings 5,046 4,808
Building and leasehold improvements 4,898 4,323
Plant equipment 13,849 11,833
Technology equipment 2,206 2,093
Construction-in-progress 1,983 ‘ 2,112

59,727 54,488
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (29,245) (27,912)

$ 30,482 $ 26,576

As part of our ongoing investment in transformation, in 2018 we made prospective revisions to our estimates of useful
lives for building improvements, vehicles and plant equipment which in general had the effect of lengthening the useful lives of
these categories.

For 2019, depreciation expense increased $365 million, and net income decreased by $287 million, or $0.33 per share on
a basic and diluted basis, as a result of investments in property, plant and equipment, net of disposals and assets becoming fully
depreciated. Depreciation expense decreased $212 million, and net income increased $167 million, or $0.19 per share on a
basic and diluted basis, as a result of lengthening our estimated useful lives for various asset categories in the latter half of
2018. The combined effect of the foregoing was a net increase in depreciation expense of $153 million and a decrease in net
income of $120 million, or $0.14 per share on a basic and diluted basis, for 2019.

For 2018, this resulted in a decrease in depreciation expense and an increase in operating income of $286 million and an
increase to net income of $228 million or $0.26 per share on a basic and diluted basis. Separately, capital investments in
additional property, plant and equipment, net of disposals and fully-depreciated assets, resulted in an increase in depreciation
expense of $257 million and a decrease to net income of $205 million or $0.24 per share on a basic and diluted basis in
2018. Combining both impacts resulted in a net decrease of $29 million to depreciation expense, and an increase to net income
of $23 million or $0.03 per share on both a basic and diluted basis in 2018.

We monitor our aircraft fleet utilization in light of current and projected volume levels, aircraft fuel prices and other
factors. Additionally, we monitor our other property, plant and equipment categories for any indicators that the carrying value of
the assets may not be recoverable. No impairment charges on property, plant and equipment were recorded in 2019 or 2018.
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NOTE S. COMPANY SPONSORED EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We sponsor various retirement and pension plans, including defined benefit and defined contribution plans which cover
our employees worldwide.

U.S. Pension Benefits

In the U.S. we maintain the following single-employer defined benefit pension plans: the UPS Retirement Plan, the UPS
Pension Plan, the UPS/IBT Full-Time Employee Pension Plan and the UPS Excess Coordinating Benefit Plan, a non-qualified
plan.

The UPS Retirement Plan is noncontributory and includes substantially all eligible employees of participating domestic
subsidiaries hired prior to July 1, 2016 who are not members of a collective bargaining unit, as well as certain employees
covered by a collective bargaining agreement. This plan generally provides for retirement benefits based on average
compensation earned by employees prior to retirement. Benefits payable under this plan are subject to maximum compensation
limits and the annual benefit limits for a tax-qualified defined benefit plan as prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”).

The UPS Pension Plan is noncontributory and includes certain eligible employees of participating domestic subsidiaries
and members of collective bargaining units that elect to participate in the plan. This plan generally provides for retirement
benefits based on service credits earned by employees prior to retirement.

The UPS/IBT Full Time Employee Pension Plan is noncontributory and includes employees that were previously
members of the Central States Pension Fund ("CSPF"), a multiemployer pension plan, in addition to other eligible employees
who are covered under certain collective bargaining agreements. This plan generally provides for retirement benefits based on
service credits earned by employees prior to retirement.

The UPS Excess Coordinating Benefit Plan is a non-qualified plan that provides benefits to certain participants in the
UPS Retirement Plan, hired prior to July 1, 2016, for amounts that exceed the benefit limits described above.

In the year ended December 31, 2017, we amended the UPS Retirement Plan and the UPS Excess Coordinating Benefit
Plan to cease accruals of additional benefits for future service and compensation for non-union participants effective January 1,
2023. We remeasured plan assets and pension benefit obligations for the affected pension plans as of June 30, 2017, resulting in
a net actuarial gain of $569 million. This reflected a curtailment gain of $1.525 billion resulting from the benefit plan changes
that was partially offset by net actuarial losses of $956 million, driven by a reduction of approximately 32 basis points in the
discount rate compared to December 31, 2016, offset by actual asset returns approximately 275 basis points above our expected
return as of the remeasurement date. The net curtailment gain reduced the actuarial loss recorded in AOCI in the equity section
of the consolidated balance sheets. As actuarial losses were within the corridor (defined as 10% of the greater of the fair value
of plan assets and the plan's projected benefit obligation), there was no impact to the statement of consolidated income as a
result of this remeasurement.

During the fourth quarter of 2019, certain former U.S. employees were offered the option to receive a one-time payment
of their vested pension benefit. Approximately 18,800 former employees accepted this option, accelerating $820 million in
benefit payments during 2019 while reducing the number of participants who are due future payments from U.S. pension plans.
As the cost of these settlements did not exceed the plans' service cost and interest cost for the year, the impact of the settlement
was not recognized in earnings.

International Pension Benefits

We also sponsor various defined benefit plans covering certain of our international employees. The majority of our
international obligations are for defined benefit plans in Canada and the United Kingdom. In addition, many of our international
employees are covered by govemnment-sponsored retirement and pension plans. We are not directly responsible for providing
benefits to participants of government-sponsored plans.
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U.S. Postretirement Medical Benefits

We also sponsor postretirement medical plans in the U.S. that provide healthcare benefits to our non-union retirees, as
well as select union retirees who meet certain eligibility requirements and who are not otherwise covered by multiemployer
plans. Generally, this includes employees with at least 10 years of service who have reached age 55 and employees who are
eligible for postretirement medical benefits from a Company-sponsored plan pursuant to collective bargaining agreements. We
have the right to modify or terminate certain of these plans. These benefits have been provided to certain retirees on a
noncontributory basis; however, in many cases, retirees are required to contribute all or a portion of the total cost of the
coverage.

Defined Contribution Plans

We also sponsor a defined contribution plan for employees not covered under collective bargaining agreements, and
several smaller defined contribution plans for certain employees covered under collective bargaining agreements. The Company
matches, in shares of UPS common stock or cash, a portion of the participating employees’ contributions. Matching
contributions charged to expense were $130, $127 and $119 million for 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

In addition to current benefits under the UPS 401 (k) Savings Plan, non-union employees hired after July 1, 2016, receive
a retirement contribution. UPS contributes 3% to 8% of eligible pay to the UPS 401(k) Savings Plan based on years of vesting
service and business unit. Contributions under this plan are subject to maximum compensation and contribution limits for a tax-
qualified defined contribution plan as prescribed by the IRS. Contributions charged to expense were $67, $28 and $23 million
for 2019, 2018 and 2017 respectively.

Effective June 23, 2017, the Company amended the UPS 401(k) Savings Plan so that non-union employees who currently
participate in the UPS Retirement Plan will, in addition to current benefits under the UPS 401(k) Savings Plan, earn a
retirement contribution beginning January 1, 2023. UPS will contribute 5% to 8% of eligible compensation to the UPS 401 (k)
Savings Plan based on years of vesting service. The amendment also provides for transition contributions for certain
participants. There was no impact to the statement of consolidated income for 2019, 2018 and 2017 as a result of this change.

The UPS Restoration Savings Plan is a non-qualified plan that provides benefits to certain participants in the UPS 401(k)
Savings Plan for amounts that exceed the benefit limits described above.

Contributions are also made to defined contribution money purchase plans under certain collective bargaining
agreements. Amounts charged to expense were $97, $92 and $91 million for 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Net Periodic Benefit Cost

Information about net periodic benefit cost for the company-sponsored pension and postretirement defined benefit plans
is as follows (in millions):

U.S. Postretirement International

U.S. Pension Benefits Medical Benefits Pension Benefits
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017

Netl Periodic Benefit C:ost: . )

Service cost  $1439 S 1661 $ 1,543 § 23 85 298 29 % ST 8 62 5 60
Interest cost 2,067 1,799 1,813 108 104 112 47 45 40
Expected return on assets (3,130) (3,201) (2,883) (8) (8) @) (76) W)) (66)
Amortization of prior service cost 218 193 7 192 7 7 7 2 1 1
Actuarial (gain) loss o 2,296 1,603 729 37 — 53 54 24 18
Curtailment and settlement loss. — - — — - — — 2
Net periodic benefit cost $ 280 $ 2055 $ 1394 $ 167 § 132 § 194 § 84 § 55 § 55
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Actuarial Assumptions

The table below provides the weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit cost.

U.S. Postretirement International
U.S. Pension Benefits Medical Benefits Pension Benefits
‘ 2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
Discount rate - o 450% -384% 441%  451%  382%  423%  294%  278%  275%
Rate of compensation increase 425% 425% 4.27% N/A N/A N/A 3.24% 322% 317%
tExpected retur on assets 775%  775%  8.75%  120%  120%  875%  56%9%  5.76%  5.65%

Cash balance interest credit rate 2.98% 2.50% 291% N/A N/A N/A 3.17% 3.d7% 2.65%

The table below provides the weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations of our
plans.

B . U.S. Postretirement ‘International
\ ., U.S. Pension Benefits Medical Benefits Pension Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
{Discount rate L T- ' ! T 360%  4.50% - 359% ‘ 451%  221% 2".940'@‘
Rate of compensation increase 422%  425% NA  NIA | 300%  324%
{Cash balance interest credit rate T C2s0% T 298%  N/A  NIA .0 259% ' 317%

A discount rate is used to determine the present value of our future benefit obligations. To determine the discount rate for
our U.S. pension and postretirement benefit plahs, we use a bond matching approach to select specific bonds that would satisfy
our projected benefit payments. We believe the bond matching approach reflects the process we would employ to settle our
pension and postretirement benefit obligations. In October 2019, we refined our bond matching approach by implementing
advances in technology and modeling techniques. This refinement decreased the projected benefit obligation on our
consolidated balance sheet for our U.S. pension and postretirement plans by approximately $900 million as of December 31,
2019. Additionally, we estimate that this refinement in method decreased our pre-tax mark-to-market charge by approximately
$810 million and increased net income by $616 million, or $0.71 per share on a basic and diluted basis. For our international
plans, the discount rate is determined by matching the expected cash flows of a sample plan of similar duration to a yield curve
based on long-term, high quality fixed income debt instruments available as of the measurement date. These assumptions are
updated each measurement date, which is typically annually.

As of December 31, 2019, the impact of each basis point change in the discount rate on the projected benefit obligation of
our pension and postretirement medical benefit plans is as follows (in millions):

Increase (Decrease) in the Projected Benefit Obligation

. Pension Benefits Postretirement Medical Benefits
N - . . s . ” - ——— - g . St =
‘One basis point increase in discount rate i $ . (86) $ 2)
A g i " o i, P B . vy r—— - e e et w W me
One basis point decrease in discount rate 92 -3

The Society of Actuaries ("SOA") published mortality tables and improvement scales are used in developing the best
estimate of mortality for U.S. plans. In October 2019, the SOA published updated mortality tables and an updated improvement
scale, both of which reduced expected mortality improvements from previously published tables and improvement scale. Based
on our perspective of future longevity, we updated the mortality assumptions to incorporate these updated tables and
improvement scale for purposes of measuring pension and other postretirement benefit obligations.

Assumptions for the expected return on plan assets are used to determine a component of net periodic benefit cost for the
year. The assumption for our U.S. plans is developed using a long-term projection of returns for each asset class. Our asset
allocation targets are reviewed and, if necessary, updated taking into consideration plan changes, funded status and actual
performance. The expected return for each asset class is a function of passive, long-term capital market assumptions and excess
returns generated from active management. The capital market assumptions used are provided by independent investment
advisors, while excess return assumptions are supported by historical performance, fund mandates and investment expectations.
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For plans outside the U.S., consideration is given to local market expectations of long-term returns. Strategic asset
allocations are determined by plan, based on the nature of liabilities and considering the demographic composition of the plan
participants.

Actuarial Assumptions - Central States Pension Fund

UPS was a contributing employer to the CSPF until 2007 when we withdrew from the CSPF and fully funded our
allocable share of unfunded vested benefits by paying a $6.1 billion withdrawal liability. Under a collective bargaining
agreement with the International Brotherhood of Teamsters (“IBT"”), UPS agreed to provide coordinating benefits in the UPS/
IBT Full Time Employee Pension Plan (“UPS/IBT Plan™) for UPS participants whose last employer was UPS and who had not
retired as of January 1, 2008 (“the UPS Transfer Group”) in the event that benefits are lawfully reduced by the CSPF in the
future consistent with the terms of our withdrawal agreement with the CSPF. Under our withdrawal agreement with the CSPF,
benefits to the UPS Transfer Group cannot be reduced without our consent and can only be reduced in accordance with
applicable law.

In December 2014, Congress passed the Multiemployer Pension Reform Act (“MPRA™). This change in law for the first
time permitted multiemployer pension plans to reduce benefit payments to retirees, subject to specific guidelines in the statute
and government approval. In September 2015, the CSPF submitted a proposed pension benefit reduction plan to the U.S.
Department of the Treasury (“Treasury”). In May 2016, Treasury rejected the proposed plan submitted by the CSPF. In the first
quarter of 2018, Congress established a Joint Select Committee to develop a recommendation to improve the solvency of
multiemployer plans and the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (“PBGC”) before a November 30, 2018 deadline. While the
Commiittee’s efforts failed to meet its deadline, the Committee made significant progress towards finding solutions that will
address the long term solvency of multiemployer pension plans. In the third quarter of 2019, the U.S. House of Representatives
passed the Rehabilitation for Multiemployer Pensions Act of 2019 to provide assistance to critical and declining multiemployer
pension plans. This bill is now with the U.S. Senate for consideration. UPS will continue to work with all stakeholders,
including legislators and regulators, to implement an acceptable solution.

The CSPF has said that it believes a legislative solution to its funded status is necessary or that it will become insolvent in
2025, and we expect that the CSPF will continue to explore options to avoid insolvency. Numerous factors could affect the
CSPF’s funded status and UPS’s potential obligation to pay coordinating benefits under the UPS/IBT Plan. Any obligation to
pay coordinating benefits will be subject to a number of significant uncertainties, including whether the CSPF submits a revised
MPRA filing and the terms thereof, or whether it otherwise seeks federal government assistance, as well as the terms of any
applicable legislation, the extent to which benefits are paid by the PBGC and our ability to successfully defend legal positions
we may take in the future under the MPRA, including the suspension ordering provisions, our withdrawal agreement and other
applicable law.

We account for the potential obligation to pay coordinating benefits to the UPS Transfer Group under Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 715- Compensation- Retirement Benefits (“ASC 715”), which requires us to provide a best
estimate of various actuarial assumptions, including the eventual outcome of this matter, in measuring our pension benefit
obligation at the December 31st measurement date. While we currently believe the most likely outcome to this matter and the
broader systemic problems facing multiemployer pension plans is intervention by the federal government, ASC 715 does not
permit anticipation of changes in law in making a best estimate of pension liabilities.

As such, our best estimate of the next most likely outcome at the December 31, 2019 measurement date is that the CSPF
will submit and implement another benefit reduction plan under the MPRA during 2020. We believe any MPRA filing would be
designed to forestall insolvency by reducing benefits to participants other than the UPS Transfer Group to the maximum extent
permitted, and then reducing benefits to the UPS Transfer Group by a lesser amount.

We evaluated this outcome using a deterministic cash flow projection, reflecting updated estimated CSPF cash flows and
investment eamings, the lack of legislative action and the absence of a MPRA filing by the CSPF in 2019. As a result, at the
December 31, 2019 measurement date, the best estimate of our projected benefit obligation for coordinating benefits that may
be required to be directly provided by the UPS/IBT Plan to the UPS Transfer Group is $2.6 billion.
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The future value of this estimate will be influenced by the terms and timing of any MPRA filing, changes in our discount
rate, rate of return on assets and other actuarial assumptions, presumed solvency of the PBGC, as well as potential solutions
resulting from federal government intervention. Any such event may result in a decrease or an increase in the best estimate of
our projected benefit obligation. If the uncertainties are not resolved, it is reasonably possible that our projected benefit
obligation could increase by approximately $2.2 billion, resulting in a total obligation for coordinating benefits of
approximately $4.8 billion. If a future change in law occurs, it may be a significant event requiring an interim remeasurement of
the UPS/IBT Plan at the date the law is enacted. We will continue to assess the impact of these uncertainties on our projected
benefit obligation in accordance with ASC 715.

Other Actuarial Assumptions

Healthcare cost trends are used to project future postretirement medical benefits payable from our plans. For 2019 U.S.
plan obligations, future postretirement medical benefit costs were forecasted assuming an initial annual rate of increase of
6.5%, decreasing to 4.5% by the year 2024 and with consistent annual increases at that ultimate level thereafter.

Funded Status

The following table discloses the funded status of our plans and the amounts recognized in our consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31st (in millions):

U.S. Postretirement International
U.S. Pension Benefits Medical Benefits Pension Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Funded Status:
Fair value of plan assets $ 46,172 § 39,554 $ 37§ 26 $ 1,558 §$ 1,284
Benefit obligation (54,039) (45,333) (2,616) (2,510) (1,906) (1,552)
Funded status recognized at December 31 $ (7.867) § (5779) $§ (2,579) $§ (2,484) $ (348) § (268)
Funded Status Recognized in our Balance Sheet:
Other non-current assets $ — — S — 8 — 8 34§ 35
Other current liabilities (22) (20) (200) (195) ) 4)
Pension and postretirement benefit obligations (7,845) (5,759) (2,379) (2,289) (377) (299)
Net liability at December 31 $ (7867 $ (5779 § (2,579) § (2484) §$ (348) $ (268)
Amounts Recognized in AOCI:
Uﬁrecognized net prior service cost $ (800) § (1,018) $ 16) $ @2 $ (12) § (14)
Unrecognized net actuanal gain (loss) (5,404) (3,967) (240) (32) (162) (100)
Gross unrecognized cost at December 31 (6,204) (4,985) (256) (53) (174) (114)
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31 1,497 1,205 62 13 40 28
Net unrecognized cost at December 31 $ (4,707 $ (3,780) $ (194) $ 40) $ (134) $ (86)

The accumulated benefit obligation for our pension plans as of the measurement dates in 2019 and 2018 was $57.553 and
$45.704 billion, respectively.

Benefit payments under the pension plans include $27 and $23 million paid from employer assets in 2019 and 2018,
respectively. Benefit payments (net of participant contributions) under the postretirement medical benefit plans include $82 and
$87 million paid from employer assets in 2019 and 2018, respectively. Such benefit payments from employer assets are also
categorized as employer contributions.
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At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the projected benefit obligation, the accumulated benefit obligation and the fair value of

plan assets for pension plans with benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were as follows (in millions):

Projected Benefit Obligation
Exceeds the Fair Value of Plan Assets

Accumulated Benefit Obligation

Exceeds the Fair Value of Plan Assets

2019 2019
U.S. Pension Benefis:
Projected benefit obligation 7 $ 54,039 § 45,333 54,039 $ 45,333
.Accumulated Beneﬂt obligation ) 7 - 7 53,194 44284 53,194 44,284
Fair value of plan assets ‘ 4 46,172 3-9,554 46,172 39,554
Interﬁaﬁfmal i’énsioﬁ Beneﬁis: 7
Projected benefit obligation $ 1319 § 630 1319 $ 630
Accumulated bencfit obligation 1210 539 1,210 539
Fair value of plan assets  o4g 339 948 339

The accumulated postretirement benefit obligation presented in the funded status table exceeds plan assets for all U.S.

postretirement medical benefit plans.
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Benefit Obligations and Fair Value of Plan Assets

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the plans’ benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets
as of the respective measurement dates in each year (in millions).

. ; o . .U.S. Postretirement International
U.S. Pension Benefits Medical Benefits Pension Benefits
. ‘ 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

{fief-n:l:ltmg;ﬁons:“ -*__:—:;M T R o . J
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year  § 45333 § 45847 § 2500 § 2792 § 1552 § 1651
Service cost T 1439 16l 23 29 57 . 62]
Interestcost 2067 1,799 108 104 47 45
Gross_bfnig;s-p;i‘d-“ T N " (2,394) M(_l,.’.:i.;_(_;l.i Q_Si) — (263) . - (-46; ‘.—.-_—-.(.:.;..3_.).
Plan participants’ contributions T T Ty T 3 3
o sty O A N
Actuarial (gain)/loss 7,594 (2,915) 233 (178) 213 81)
;Foreign currency exchange rate changes  * = i - >_ e :_ 4_7: - _('1_@
Curtailments and settlements — — — (2) ¢))
Other o T T T I E)
Othe S . 5 . L. . .

Projected benefit obligation at end of year $ 54039 § 45333 §$ 2616 $ 2,510 $ 1,906 $ 1,552

U.S. Postretirement International
U.S. Pension Benefits Medical Benefits Pension Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

@Value of Plan Assets: B . V oo N . -
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 39554 § 41932 § 26 § 183 § 1,284 § 1,333
{rActuzil return on plan assets 6,991 . __(1,007) (-53— Q) o (6_;
Employer contributions 2,021 19 274 87 67 80
@ participants’ contributions - - L — — 30 726 ' 3 _3_]
Gross benefits paid ‘ (2,394) (1,390) (288) (263) (40) A (33)
iForeign cun’_gncy exchange rate changes * « N - — —_ - 49 (92_)',
Curtailments and settlements 7 — Tz — 2) ¢))
e T - — = e ]
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 46,172 § 39554 § 37 8§ 26 $ 1,558 $ 1,284

2019 - $8.040 billion pre-tax actuarial loss related to benefit obligation:

«  Discount Rates (37.477 billion pre-tax loss): The weighted-average discount rate for our pension and postretirement
medical plans decreased from 4.45% at December 31, 2018 to 3.55% at December 31, 2019, primarily due to both a
decline in U.S. treasury yields and a decrease in credit spreads on AA-rated corporate bonds in 2019. This was
partially offset by a refinement to our bond matching approach from advances in technology and modeling techniques.

»  Coordinating benefits attributable to the Central States Pension Fund (3603 million pre-tax loss): This represents our
current best estimate of the additional potential coordinating benefits that may be required to be paid related to the
Central States Pension Fund before taking into account the impact of the change in discount rates.

«  Demographic and Assumption Changes ($40 million pre-tax gain): This represents the difference between actual and
estimated participant data and demographic factors, including items such as healthcare cost trends, compensation
changes, rates of termination, retirement, mortality and other changes.
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2018 - $3.174 billion pre-tax actuarial gain related to benefit obligation:

e Discount Rates ($4.829 billion pre-tax gain): The weighted-average discount rate for our pension and postretirement
medical plans increased from 3.81% at December 31, 2017 to 4.45% at December 31, 2018, primarily due to both an
increase in U.S. treasury yields and an increase in credit spreads on AA-rated corporate bonds in 2018.

»  Coordinating benefits attributable to the Central States Pension Fund ($1.550 billion pre-tax loss): This represents our
current best estimate of potential coordinating benefits that may be required to be paid related to the Central States
Pension Fund.

»  Demographic and Assumption Changes ($105 million pre-tax loss): This represents the difference between actual and
estimated participant data and demographic factors, including items such as healthcare cost trends, compensation rate
increases and rates of termination, retirement and mortality.

Pension and Postretirement Plan Assets

Under the governance of plan trustees, the Investment Committee establishes investment guidelines and strategies and
regularly monitors the performance of investments and investment managers. The investment guidelines address items such as
establishing appropriate governance provisions; defining investment objectives; determining strategic asset allocation;
monitoring and reporting the investments on a regular basis; appointing/dismissing investment managers, custodians,
consultants and advisors; risk management, determining/defining the mandates for investment managers; rebalancing of assets
and determining investment restrictions/prohibited investments.

Pension assets are invested in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. The primary long-term investment
objectives for pension assets are to: (1) provide for a reasonable amount of long-term growth of capital given prudent levels of
nisk exposure while minimizing permanent loss of capital; (2) generate investment results that meet or exceed the long-term rate
of return assumption for the plans and (3) match the duration of the liabilities and assets of the plans to reduce the need for large
employer contributions in the future. In furtherance of these objectives, investment managers are engaged to actively manage
assets within the guidelines and strategies set forth by the Investment Committee. Active managers are monitored regularly and
their performance is compared to applicable benchmarks.

Fair Value Measurements

Pension assets valued utilizing Level | inputs include equity investments, corporate debt instruments and U.S.
government securities. Fair values were determined by closing prices for those securities traded on national stock exchanges,
while securities traded in the over-the-counter market and listed securities for which no sale was reported on the valuation date
are valued at the mean between the last reported bid and asked prices.

Level 2 assets include certain bonds that are valued based on yields currently available on comparable securities of other
issues with similar credit ratings; mortgage-backed securities that are valued based on cash flow and yield models using
acceptable modeling and pricing conventions; and certain investments that are pooled with other investments in a commingled
fund. We value our investments in commingled funds by taking the percentage ownership of the underlying assets, each of
which has a readily determinable fair value.

Fair value estimates for certain investments are based on unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by observable
market data and are thus classified as Level 3.
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Investments that do not have a readily determinable fair value, and which provide a net asset value ("NAV") or its

equivalent developed consistent with FASB measurement principles, are valued using NAV as a practical expedient. These
investments are not classified in Levels 1, 2, or 3 of the fair value hierarchy but instead included within the subtotals by asset
category. Such investments include hedge funds, risk parity funds, real estate investments, private debt and private equity funds.
Investments in hedge funds and risk parity funds are valued using the reported NAV as of December 3 1st. Real estate
investments, private debt and private equity funds are valued at NAV per the most recent partnership audited financial reports,
and adjusted, as appropriate, for investment activity between the date of the financial reports and December 31st. Due to the
inherent limitations in obtaining a readily determinable fair value measurement for alternative investments, the fair values
reported may differ from the values that would have been used had readily available market information for the alternative
investments existed. These investments are described further below:

Hedge Funds: Plan assets are invested in hedge funds that pursue multiple strategies to diversify risk and reduce
volatility. Most of these hedge funds allow redemptions either quarterly or semi-annually after a two to three month
notice period, while others allow for redemption after only a brief notification period with no restriction on redemption
frequency. No unfunded commitments existed with respect to hedge funds as of December 31, 2019.

Risk Parity Funds: Plan assets are invested in risk parity strategies in order to provide diversification and balance risk/
return objectives. These strategies reflect a multi-asset class balanced risk approach generally consisting of equity,
interest rates, credit and commodities. These funds allow for monthly redemptions with only a brief notification
period. No unfunded commitments existed with respect to risk parity funds as of December 31, 2019.

Real Estate, Private Debt and Private Equity Funds: Plan assets are invested in limited partnership interests in various
private equity, private debt and real estate funds. Limited provision exists for the redemption of these interests by the
limited partners that invest in these funds until the end of the term of the partnerships, typically ranging between 10
and 15 years from the date of inception. An active secondary market exists for similar partnership interests, although
no particular value (discount or premium) can be guaranteed. At December 31, 2019, unfunded commitments to such
limited partnerships totaling approximately $2.241 billion are expected to be contributed over the remaining
investment period, typically ranging between three and six years.
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The fair values of U.S. and international pension and postretirement benefit plan assets by asset category as of
December 31, 2019 are presented below (in millions), as well as the percentage that each category comprises of our total plan
assets and the respective target allocations.

Total - Percentage of Target
, Assets™ Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Plan Assets Allocation
TAsset Category (U.S. Plans): ' -1
Cash and cash equivalents $ %4 $ 818 $ 146 $ — 2.1% 1-5
'@_Equity‘Securitie_s: ) o o ]
U.S. Large Cap 6,607 2,889 ° 3,718 . —
U.S. Small Cap "' 505 - 376" 129 — |
" Emerging Markets 2,039 1,523 516 =
T Giobal Equity 2,892 2,553 339 = i
International Equity ) 4,591 2,499 2,092 — _
v Total Equity Securities - 16,634 9,840 6,794 — - 360 25-55}
Fixed Income Securities:
L U.S. Government Securities - 14,077 12,980 ) . 1,097 — T -....]
Corporate Bonds 5,051 _ 5051 — T
{ Global Bonds 50 — 50 S — 1
Municipal Bonds o 24 - 24 —
f_ *  Total Fixﬂgd Income Securities 719,202 7 12,980 - 6,222 — 41 2 e 35—?5—|
Other Investments: - T )
| _'Hedge Funds 3,273 — 1,380 . T— 7.1 - 5-154
Private Equity 3,030 — — — 6.6 1-10
| Private Debt 1 7) - — — — 17 . . 1-10§
Real Estate 1,940 149 _ 74 — 42 1-10
| Structured Products® 153 — 153 — 03 - 15]
Risk Parity Funds 241 — — — 0.5 1-10
iToal US PlanAssets $ 46209 $ 23787 $ _ 14769 '§ = — 1000%
Asset Category (International Plans) , ’ '
iCash and cash equivalents $ 728 32 8§ 40 - 46 1-10 |
Equity Secunties: _
[ Tocal Markets Equity 209 — 200 . - — ]
U.S. Equity 47 — 47 . —
!—Emerging Markets 33 o 33 . = - L - — -t (. ]
International / Global Equity 441 179 ) 262 — ; -
! Total Equity Securities 730 212 518 — 46.8 - 30—60J
Fixed Income Securities: ) v
( Local Government Bonds 94 N —_ 94 — “:_j
Corporate Bonds 177 20 157 —
. Global Bonds 110 - 110 — — ]
Tom{Fixe_d Income Securities 381 130 251 — ‘245 © 2545
{Z)ther Investments: - . ]
Real Estate 128 — 80 — 82 5-10
[” "Other T T — 218 - 12 159 T TTi20]
Total International Plan Assets $ 1,558 §$ 374 $ 1,107 $ 12 100.0% -
{Total Plan Assets S 47767 8 24161 $ 15876 S . 12 ]

® Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the NAV per share (or its equnvalent) practical expedient have not been classnﬁed
in the fair value hierarchy but are included in the category totals.
@ Represents mortgage and asset-backed securities.
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The fair values of U.S. and international pension and postretirement benefit plan assets by asset category as of
December 31, 2018 are presented below (in millions), as well as the percentage that each category comprises of our total plan
assets and the respective target allocations.

Asset Category (US Plans):
Cash and cash equivalents
Equity Securities:

U.S. Large bap

U.S. Small Cap

Emerging Markets

" Global Equity
International Equity
Total Equity Securities

Fixed Income Secu:"ities: .

U.S. Govemnment Securities

Corporate Bonds .

Global Bonds

Mun'icipal Bonds

" Total Fixed Income Securities
Other Investments:

Hedge Funds

Private Eciuity

Private Debt

- Real Est;te

Structured Products®

Risk Parity Funds
“Total U.S. Plan Assets

Asset Cz;tegory (International Plans):

‘Cash and cash equivalents

-Eq.uity Securities:

Local Markets Equity

U.S. Equity

Emerging Markets

International / Global Equity
Total Equity Securities

Fixed Income Securities:

Local Government Bonds

Corporate Bonds

Global Bonds

Total Fixed Income Securities

Other Investments:

Real Estate

Other
Total Intemational Plan Assets
Total Plan Assets

Total Percentage of Target
Assets(? Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Plan Assets Allocation

$ 157 $ 108 $ 49 — 0.4% 1-5
5,276 2,155 3,121 —
542 386 156 —
1,859 1,436 423 —
2,320 2,056 264 —
3,670 2,189 1,481 —_

13,667 8,222 5,445 — 345 25-55
12,295 11,922 373 —
4303 — 4301 2
55 — 55 —
16 — 16 —

16,669 11,922 4,745 2 421 35-55

3,154 — 1,185 — 8.0 5-15

2,763 — — — 7.0 1-10

836 — 178 — 21 1-10

1,989 152 53 — 50 I-10

" 138 — 138 — 04 1-5

207 — — — 0.5 I-10

$ 39,580 $ 20,404 $ 11,793 § 2 100.0%

$ 45 8 4 8 41 — 35 1-1_0
171 — 171 —
34 — 34 —
33 33 - —
348 150 198 —

586 183 403 — 456 30-60
102 24 78 —
195 54 141 —
27 27 — —

324 105 219 — 252 25-45

121 — 76 — 94 5-10

208 — 191 4 16.3 1-20

$ 1,284 §$ 292§ 930 $ 4 100.0%

$ 40,864 $ 20,696 $ 12,723 § 6

(M Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been classified
in the fair value hierarchy but are included in the category totals.
@ Represents mortgage and asset-backed securities.
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The following table presents the changes in the Level 3 instruments measured on a recurring basis for the years ended
December 31,2019 and 2018 (in millions).

Balance on January 1, 2018

Actual Return on Assets:
Assets Held at End of Year
Assets Sold During the Year

Purchases

Sales

Transfers Into (Out of) Level 3

Balance on December 31, 2018

Actual Return on Assets:
Assets Held at End of Year
Assets Sold During the Year

Purchases

Sales

Transfers Into (Out of) Level 3

Balance on December 31, 2019

December 31, 2018.

Expected Cash Flows

Expected Employér Contributions:

2020 to plan trusts
2020 to plan participants
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

Corporate Bonds Other Total

$ 8 8 — 8 8
M — @)

11 9 20
(10) (3) (15)

$ 2 3 4 3 6

— 1 1
) — @)

4 7 11
@ )

$ — $ 12 $ 12

There were no shares of UPS class A or B common stock directly held in plan assets as of December 31, 2019 or
Information about expected cash flows for the pension and postretirement benefit plans is as follows (in millions):
U.S. U.S. Postretirement International
Pension Benefits Medical Benefits Pension Benefits

$ 1,000 $ 186 §$ 62

) 21 11 5

$ 1,645 $ 241 $ 32

1,802 225 36

1,942 215 41

’ ’ 2,085 206 46
2,230 196 52

13,293 857 353

2025 - 2029

Our funding policy for U.S. plans is to contribute amounts annually that are at least equal to the amounts required by
applicable laws and regulations, or to directly fund payments to plan participants, as applicable. International plans will be
funded in accordance with local regulations. Additional discretionary contributions may be made when deemed appropriate to
meet the long-term obligations of the plans. Expected benefit payments for pensions will be primarily paid from plan trusts.
Expected benefit payments for postretirement medical benefits will be paid from plan trusts and corporate assets.
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NOTE 6. MULTIEMPLOYER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We contribute to a number of multiemployer defined benefit plans under the terms of collective bargaining agreements that
cover our union-represented employees. These plans generally provide for retirement, death and/or termination benefits for eligible
employees within the applicable collective bargaining units, based on specific eligibility/participation requirements, vesting periods
and benefit formulas. The risks of participating in these multiemployer plans are different from single-employer plans in the following
aspects: ’

e Assets contributed to a multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of other
participating employers.

+ If we negotiate to cease participating in a multiemployer plan, we may be required to pay that plan an amount based on our
allocable share of its underfunded status, referred to as a "withdrawal liability". However, cessation of participation in a
multiemployer plan and subsequent payment of any withdrawal liability is subject to the collective bargaining process.

« Ifany of the multiemployer pension plans in which we participate enter critical status, and our contributions are not sufficient
to satisfy any rehabilitation plan funding schedule, we could be required under the Pension Protection Act of 2006 to make
additional surcharge contributions to the multiemployer pension plan in the amount of five to ten percent of the existing
contributions required by our labor agreement. Such surcharges would cease upon the ratification of a new collective
bargaining agreement, and could not recur unless a plan re-entered critical status at a later date.

The discussion that follows sets forth the financial impact on our results of operations and cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, from our participation in multiemployer benefit plans. As part of the overall collective bargaining
process for wage and benefit levels, we have agreed to contribute certain amounts to the multiemployer benefit plans during the
contract period. The multiemployer benefit plans set benefit levels and are responsible for benefit delivery to participants. Future
contribution amounts to multiemployer benefit plans are determined only through collective bargaining, and we have no additional
legal or constructive obligation to increase contributions beyond the agreed-upon amounts (except potential surcharges under the
Pension Protection Act of 2006 as described above).

The number of employees covered by our multiemployer pension plans has remained consistent over the past three years, and
there have been no significant changes that affect the comparability of 2019, 2018 and 2017 contributions. We recognize expense for
the contractually-required contribution for each period, and we recognize a liability for any contributions due and unpaid at the end of
a reporting period.

Status of Collective Bargaining Agreements

As of December 31, 2019, we had approximately 290,000 employees employed under a national master agreement and various
supplemental agreements with local unions affiliated with the Teamsters. The current National Master Agreement ("NMA") was
ratified on April 28, 2019, and runs through July 31, 2023. Most of the economic provisions of the NMA are retroactive to August 1,
2018, which is the effective date of the NMA. The UPS Freight business unit national master agreement was ratified on November 11,
2018.

We have approximately 2,900 pilots who are employed under a collective bargaining agreement with the Independent Pilots
Association ("ITPA"), which becomes amendable on September 1, 2021. On February 10, 2020, the Company and the IPA reached a
tentative agreement on a two-year contract extension. Upon ratification, the extension will go into effect on September 1, 2021 and
become amendable September 1, 2023.

We have approximately 1,500 airline mechanics who are covered by a collective bargaining agreement with Teamsters Local
2727 which becomes amendable November 1, 2023. In addition, approximately 3,300 of our auto and maintenance mechanics who are
not employed under agreements with the Teamsters are employed under collective bargaining agreements with the International
Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers ("TAM"). On May 2, 2019, the IAM ratified a new collective bargaining agreement
which runs through July 31, 2024.
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Multiemployer Pension Plans ' ‘ .

The following table outlines our participation in multiemployer pension plans for the periods ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017, and sets forth our calendar year contributions and accruals for each plan. The “EIN/Pension Plan Number” column provides
the Employer Identification Number (“EIN™) and the three-digit plan number. The most recent Pension Protection Act zone status
available in 2019 and 2018 relates to the plans’ two most recent fiscal year ends. The zone status is based on information that we
received from the plans’ administrators and is certified by each plan’s actuary. Plans certified in the red zone are generally less than
65% funded, plans certified in the orange zone are both less than 80% funded and have an accumulated funding deficiency, or are
expected to have a deficiency in any of the next six plan years; plans certified in the yellow zone are less than 80% funded; and plans
certified in the green zone are at least 80% funded. The “FIP/RP Status Pending/Implemented” column indicates whether a financial
improvement plan (“FIP”) for yellow/orange zone plans, or a rehabilitation plan (“RP”) for red zone plans, is either pending or has
been implemented. As of December 31, 2019, all plans that have either a FIP or RP requirement have had the respective plan
implemented.

Our collectively-bargained contributions satisfy the requirements of all implemented FIPs and RPs and do not currently require
the payment of any surcharges. In addition, minimum contributions outside of the agreed upon contractual rates are not required. For
the plans detailed in the following table, the expiration date of the associated collective bargaining agreements is July 31, 2023, with
the exception of the Automotive Industries Pension Plan, the Automotive Machinists Pension Trust and the IAM National Pension
Fund / National Pension Plan, which have a July 31, 2024 expiration date. For all plans detailed in the following table, we provided
more than 5% of the total plan contributions from all employers for 2019, 2018 and 2017 (as disclosed in the annual filing with the
Department of Labor for each respective plan).

Certain plans have been aggregated in the “all other multiemployer pension plans” line in the following table, as the
contributions to each of these individual plans are not material.

Pension . (in millions)
EIN/ Pension Protection Act FIP / RP Status UPS Centributions and
Plan Zone Status Pending/ Accruals Surcharge ,

Pension Fund ) Number 2019 2018 Implemented 2019 2018 2017 + Imposed
{ Central Pennsylvania Teamsters Defined Benefit Plan '23-6262789-001 Green  Green No =~ ! 48 44 40 No !
Employer-Teamsters Local Nos. 175 & 505 Pension » '

Trust Fund 55-6021850-001 Red Red Yes/Implemented 14 13 12 No
{Hagerstown Motor Carriers and Teamsters Pension Fund  52-6045424-001 Red Red Yes/Implemented 10 - 9 .- . No i
I.A.M. National Pension Fund / National Pension Plan 51-6031295-002 Green  Green No 41 38 35 No
International Brotherhood of Teamsters Umon Local . - . . )

No. 710 Pension Fund 36-2377656-001 Green  Green No -~ 142 - 129 118. ° No
Local 705, International Brotherhood of Teamsters '

Pension Plan 36-6492502-001 Yellow Yellow  Yes/Implemented 113 104 93 No
Local 804 LB.T. & Local 447 LAM—UPS T . o T

Multiemployer Retirement Plan ™ - . 51-6117726-001  Yellow  Yellow , Yes/Implemented 112 116 - 110 No
Milwaukee Drivers Pension Trust Fund 39-6045229-001 Green  Green No 48 42 38 No
New England Teamsters & Trucking Industry Pension . T . «. 1
;Fund .. 04-6372430-001 Red Red  Yes/Implemented 120 121 114 No §
New York State Teamsters Conference Pension and ' ' . .

Retirement Fund 16-6063585- 074 Red Red Yes/Implemented 119 108 100 No
iTeamster Pension Fund of Philadelphia and Vicinity 23-15 11735001 Yellow Yellow Yes/Implemented . 73 66 60 No
Teamsters Joint Councnl No. 83 of Virginia Pension Fund  54-6097996-001 Green Green No 75 69 64 No
LTeamsters Local 639—Employers Pension Trust . 53—0237142-001 G—reen Green . No - 68 61 55 .No —_J
Teamsters Negotmted Pension Plan 43-6196083-001 Green Green ~ No 37 34 32 No
%Truck Drivers and Helpers Local Union No. 355 T T o T
1Retirement Pension Plan 52-6043608-001 Green  Green No . 24 22 20  No
United Parcel Service, Inc.—Local 177, LB.T. -
Multiemployer Retirement Plan . 13-1426500-419 . Red Red Yes/Implemented 100 95 88 No
[\ﬁa’étem Conference of Teamstérs Pension Plan - T 91-6145047-001 G;{een “Green  No 939  g8es . 1712 _I:I-oj T
Western Pennsylvania Teamsters and Employers Pension )

Fund 25-6029946-001 Red Red Yes/Implemented 34 31 30 No
‘ﬁll Other Multiemployer Pension Plans - . - - T oz 72 81

Total Contributions $2,220 $2,042 851,870
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Agreement with the New England Teamsters and Trucking Industry Pension Fund

In 2012, we reached an agreement with the New England Teamsters and Trucking Industry Pension Fund ("NETTI Fund"), a
multiemployer pension plan in which UPS is a participant, to restructure the pension liabilities for approximately 10,200 UPS
employees represented by the Teamsters. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had $845 and $852 million, respectively, recognized
in "Other Non-Current Liabilities" as well as $7 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 recorded in "Other current liabilities" on
our consolidated balance sheets representing the remaining balance of the NETTI Fund withdrawal liability. This liability is payable in
equal monthly installments over a remaining term of approximately 43 years. Based on the borrowing rates currently available to the
Company for long-term financing of a similar maturity, the fair value of the NETTI Fund withdrawal liability as of December 31,

2019 and 2018 was $929 and $832 million, respectively. We utilized Level 2 inputs in the fair value h1erarchy of valuation techmques
to determine the fair value of thlS liability.

Multiemployer Health and Welfare Plans

We also contribute to a number of multiemployer health and welfare plans covering both active and retired employees.
Healthcare benefits are provided to participants who meet certain eligibility requirements as covered under the applicable collective
bargaining unit. The following table sets forth our calendar year plan contributions and accruals. Certain plans have been aggregated
in the “all other multiemployer health and welfare plans” line, as the contributions to each of these individual plans are not material.

(in millions)
UPS Contributions and Accruals

Health and Welfare Fund 2019 2018 2017
@y Area Dellvery Dnvers o ' 3 -: e g .37 40 371
Central Pennsylvama Teamsters Health & Pension Fund ' v 31 29 27
Central States, South East & South West Areas Health and Welfare Fund n i . 2,899 2,530 2,3661
Delta Health Systems—East Bay Drayage Drivers ) \ . . 30 30 29
tJoint Council #83 Heal_E_h fz__‘_}’_glfme Fund ) L B s . : L .45 . 40 ,.37]
Local 804 Welfare Trust Fund : | o o 101 90 84
EMilwaukee Drivers Pension Trust Fund—Milwaukee Drivers Health and Welfare Trust Fund 'T_,_ : 48 N 43 _@
New York State Teamsters Hea]th & Hospital Fund _ _ 71 62 : 59
iNorthern California General Teamsters (DELTA) R K 157 1537, 132
Northern New England Benefit Trust ' o ‘ ' 59 54 50
{Oregorn / Teamster Employers Trust -~ L s N A - © 5] Y43 T 3g
Teamsters 170 Health & Welfare Fund ' 19 18 17
?l' camsters Benefit Trust ., . ] o = I T .47 .. 48 .46 l
Teamsters Local 251 Health & Insurance Plan N o 18 - 17 15
E’Eeam’sters Local 638 Health Fund * - ' - e A S 753 48 . za
Teamsters Local 639—Employers Health & Pension Trust Funds 32 29 27
@aamsters Local 671 Health Services & Insurance Plan - ~ %20 - 19 ’ 17 }
Teamsters Union 25 Health Services & Insur:n(;e‘ﬁan 59 56 - 52
Teamsters Western R Reglon &nL_o.:;a‘l' mlealth Ea:e—-l;g; . - N . 769 656 . 605 l
Truck Drivers and HeTpers Local 355 Baltlmore Area Health & Welfare Fund - 19 18 16
Utah-Idaho Teamsters Security Fuind ) , R R 32 e 29)
Washmgton Teamsters Welfare Trust _ T T o 67 57 ' 52
’AJl Other Multiemployer Health and Welfarci_ T’T_an-;-_‘ I :jﬁ_ I - o 141 ) 156 ; lga
Total Contributions - . ) $ 4810 $ 4268 $ 3,972
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NOTE 7. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table indicates the allocation of goodwill by segment (in millions):

U.S. Domestic International Supply Chain &

Package Package Freight Consolidated

Balance on January 1, 2018 $ 715§ 435 § 2,722 $ 3,872 )

Acquired — — - —

Currency / Other — (18) 43) (61)
Balance on December 31, 2018 $ 715 $ 417 $ 2,679 $ 3,811

Acquired — 2 3 B 5

Currency / Other — 3) —— - 3)
Balance on December 31, 2019 . $ 715§ 416 $ 2,682 § 3,813

2019 Goodwill Activity

The goodwill acquired in the International Package segment is related to our January 2019 acquisition of Transmodal
Services Private Limited in India. The goodwill acquired in the Supply Chain & Freight segment is primarily due to July 2019
acquisitions by Marken in Europe.

The remaining change in goodwill for the International Package segment was due to immaterial purchase accounting
adjustments and the impact of changes in the value of the U.S. Dollar on the translation of non-U.S. Dollar goodwill balances.

2018 Goodwill Activity

The change in goodwill for both the Supply Chain & Freight and the International Package segments was due to
immaterial purchase accounting adjustments and the impact of changes in the value of the U.S. Dollar on the translation of non-
U.S. Dollar goodwill balances.

Goodwill Impairment

We completed our annual goodwill impairment evaluation, as of July 1st, on a reporting unit basis. For the periods
presented, no triggering events were identified that required an interim impairment test.

U.S. Domestic Package is our largest reporting segment and reporting unit. In our International Package reporting
segment, we have the following reporting units: Europe, Asia, Americas and ISMEA. In our Supply Chain & Freight segment
we have the following reporting units: Forwarding, Logistics, UPS Mail Innovations, UPS Freight, The UPS Store, UPS
Capital, Marken and Coyote.

In assessing our goodwill for impairment, we initially evaluate qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the qualitative assessment is not conclusive and it is
necessary to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit, then we utilize a two-step process to test goodwill for impairment. First,
a comparison of the fair value of the applicable reporting unit with the aggregate carrying value, including goodwill, is
performed. We primarily determine the fair value of our reporting units using a discounted cash flow model, and supplement
this with observable valuation multiples for comparable companies, as applicable. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit
exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, we perform the second step of the goodwill impairment test to determine the amount of
impairment loss. The second step includes comparing the implied fair value of the affected reporting unit’s goodwill with the
carrying value of that goodwill.

In 2019, we utilized a qualitative assessment to determine that it was more likely than not that the reporting unit fair value
exceeded the carrying value for U.S. Domestic Package, Forwarding, I.ogistics, Coyote, [TPS Mail Innovations and The UPS
Store. For the remaining reporting units owned at the annual goodwill impairment testing date, we utilized the two-step process
to test goodwill for impairment. We did not have any goodwill impairment charges in 2019, 2018 or 2017. Cumulatively, our
Supply Chain & Freight segment has recorded $622 million of goodwill impairment charges, while our International and U.S.
Domestic Package segments have not recorded any goodwill impairment charges.
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Intangible Assets

The following is a summary of intangible assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in millions):

Weighted-Average

Amortization
Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Period
Amount Amortization Value (in years)

December 31, 2019

Capitalized software $ 4125 $ (2,704) $ 1,421 69

Licenses 117 (64) 53 39

Franchise rights 146 (109) 37 20.0

Customer relaﬁonships 730 (282) 448 10.6

Trade name 200 — 200 N/A

Trademarks, patents and other / 29 (21) 8 7.7

Total Intangible Assets $ 5347 $ (3,180) $ 2,167 717
December 31, 2018 '

Capitalized software $ 3,693 § (2,478) $ 1,215

Licenses 117 (36) 81

Franchise rights ' 145 (105) 40

Customer relationships ' 736 (217) 519

Trade name 200 — 200

Tradema;ks, patents énd othe-r o 52 - 31 - 20

Total Intangible Assets $ 4943 §$ (2,867) $ 2,075

A trade name and licenses with carrying values of $200 and $4 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2019 are deemed
to be indefinite-lived intangible assets, and therefore are not amortized. Impairment tests for indefinite-lived intangible assets
are performed on an annual basis. All of our other recorded intangible assets are deemed to be finite-lived intangibles, and are
thus amortized over their estimated useful lives. Impairment tests for these intangible assets are only performed when a
triggering event occurs that may indicate that the carrying value of the intangible may not be recoverable. Impairments of
finite-lived intangible assets were $2 and $12 million in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Amortization of intangible assets was $377, $339 and $287 million during 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Expected
amortization of finite-lived intangible assets recorded as of December 31, 2019 for the next five years is as follows (in
millions): 2020—$481; 2021—$403; 2022—$332; 2023—$276; 2024—3$220. Amortization expense in future periods will be
affected by business acquisitions, software development, licensing agreements, franchise rights purchased and other factors.
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NOTE 8. DEBT AND FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

The carrying value of our outstanding debt obligations, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 consists of the following (in

millions):

Commercial paper
Fixed-rate senior notes:
5.125% senior notes
3.125% senior notes
2.050% senior notes
2.450% senior notes
2.350% senior notes
2.500% senior notes
2.800% senior notes
2.200% senior notes
2.400% senior notes
3.050% senior notes
3.400% senior notes
2.500% senior notes
6.200% senior notes
4.875% senior notes
3.625% senior notes
3.400% senior notes
3.750% senior notes
4.250% senior notes
3.400% senior notes
Floating-rate senior notes:
Floating-rate senior notes
Floating-rate senior notes
Floating-rate senior notes
Floating-rate senior notes
8.375% Debentures:
8.375% debentures
8.375% debentures
Pound Sterling Notes:
5.500% notes
5.125% notes
Euro Senior Notes:
0.375% senior notes
1.625% senior notes
1.000% senior notes
1.500% senior notes
Floating-rate senior notes
Canadian senior notes:
2.125% senior notes
Finance lease obligations
Facility notes and bonds
Other debt
Total debt
Less: current maturities
Long-term debt

Principal Carrying Value
Amount Maturity 2019 2018
$ 3,243 2020 $ 3234 § 2,662
1,000 2019 — 998
1,500 2021 1,524 1,492
700 2021 699 698 .
1,000 2022 1,003 1,023
600 2022 598 597
1,000 2023 995 994
500 2024 497 496
400 2024 398 —
500 2026 498 498
1,000 2027 992 991
750 2029 745 —
400 2029 397 —
1,500 2038 1,483 1,482
" 500 2040 490 490
375 2042 368 368
500 2046 491 491
1,150 2047 1,136 1,136
750 2049 742 —
700 2049 688 —
350 2021 349 349
400 2022 399 399
500 2023 499 499
1,041  2049-2067 1,028 1,029
424 2020 426 419
276 2030 281 274
87 2031 86 84
597 2050 566 546
783 2023 779 797
783 2025 779 798
560 2028 556 570
560 2032 556 569
560 2020 559 572
573 2024 571 548
498  2020-2210 498 534
320 2029 -2045 320 320
8 2020 -2025 8 13
$ 26,388 25,238 22,736
- (3,420) (2,805)
$ 21,818 $ 19,931
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Commercial Paper

We are authorized to borrow up to $10.0 billion under a U.S. commercial paper program and €5.0 billion (in a variety of
currencies) under a European commercial paper program. We had the following amounts outstanding under these programs as
of December 31, 2019: $2.172 billion with an average interest rate of 1.90% and €949 million ($1.062 billion) with an average
interest rate of -0.44%. As of December 31, 2019, we have classified the entire commercial paper balance as a current liability
on our consolidated balance sheets. The amount of commercial paper outstanding under these programs in 2020 is expected to
fluctuate.

Debt Classification

We have classified both our 8.375% debentures due April 2020 with a principal balance of $424 million, and our €500
million ($560 million) floating-rate senior notes due July 2020, as long-term debt based on our intent and ability to refinance
the debt as of December 31, 2019. We have classified certain floating-rate senior notes that are putable by the note holders as
long-term debt due to our intent and ability to refinance the debt if the put option is exercised by the note holders.

Debt Issuances

On March 15, 2019 we issued two series of notes, both in the principal amounts of $750 million. These fixed-rate notes
bear interest at 3.40% and 4.25% and will mature on March 15, 2029 and March 15, 2049, respectively. Interest on the fixed-
rate senior notes is payable semi-annually, beginning September 2019. The 3.40% fixed-rate senior notes are callable at our
option at a redemption price equal to the greater of 100% of the principal amount, or the sum of the present values of remaining
scheduled payments of principal and interest due from the redemption date until three months prior to maturity, discounted to
the redemption date on a semi-annual basis at the discount rate of the Treasury Rate plus 15 basis points, plus accrued and
unpaid interest. The 4.25% fixed-rate senior notes are callable at our option at a redemption price equal to the greater of 100%
of the principal amount, or the sum of the present values of remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest due from
the redemption date until six months prior to maturity discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis at the discount
rate of the Treasury Rate plus 20 basis points, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

On August 16, 2019 we issued three series of notes, two with principal amounts of $400 million and one in the principal
amount of $700 million. These notes bear interest at 2.20%, 2.50% and 3.40%, respectively, and will mature on September 1,
2024, September 1, 2029 and September 1, 2049, respectively. Interest on the notes is payable semi-annually, beginning March
2020. The 2.20% senior notes are callable at our option at a redemption price equal to the greater of 100% of the principal
amount, or the sum of the present values of scheduled payments of principal and interest due from the redemption date until one
month prior to maturity, discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis at the discount rate of the Treasury Rate plus
10 basis points, plus accrued and unpaid interest. The 2.50% senior notes are callable at our option at a redemption price equal
to the greater of 100% of the principal amount, or the sum of the present values of scheduled payments of principal and interest
due from the redemption date until three months prior to maturity discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis at
the discount rate of the Treasury Rate plus 15 basis points, plus accrued and unpaid interest. The 3.40% senior notes are callable
at our option at a redemption price equal to the greater of 100% of the principal amount, or the sum of the present values of
scheduled payments of principal and interest due from the redemption date until six months prior to maturity, discounted to the
redemption date on a semi-annual basis at the discount rate of the Treasury Rate plus 20 basis points, plus accrued and unpaid
interest.
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Fixed-Rate Senior Notes

All of our fixed-rate notes pay interest semi-annually, and allow for redemption by UPS at any time by paying the greater
of the principal amount or a “make-whole” amount, plus accrued interest. We subsequently entered into interest rate swaps on
several of these notes, which effectively converted the fixed interest rates on the notes to variable LIBOR-based interest rates.
The average interest rate payable on the notes where fixed interest rates were swapped to variable-based interest rates, including
the impact of the interest rate swaps, for 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

Principal Average Effective Interest Rate
Value Maturity 2019 2018
5.50% senior notes $ 750 2018 —% 3.63%.
5.125% senior notes v 1,000 - 2019 A 4.48% 3.99%
3.125% senior notes " 1,500 2021 ’ 2.59% 232%
2.45% senior notes » i 1,000 2022 -3.03% 2.77°/¢;

On April 1, 2019, our $1.00 billion 5.125% senior notes matured and were repaid in full.

8.375% Debentures
The 8.375% debentures consist of two separate tranches, as follows:

¢ $276 million of the debentures have a maturity of April 1, 2030. These debentures have an 8.375% interest rate until
April 1, 2020, and, thereafter, the interest rate will be 7.62% for the final 10 years. These debentures are redeemable in
whole or in part at our option at any time. The redemption price is equal to the greater of 100% of the principal amount
and accrued interest, or the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest
thereon discounted to the date of redemption (at a benchmark treasury yield plus five basis points) plus accrued
nterest.

*  $424 million of the debentures have a maturity of April 1, 2020. These debentures are not subject to redemption prior
to maturity.

Interest is payable semi-annually in April and October for both tranches and neither tranche is subject to sinking fund
requirements. We subsequently entered into interest rate swaps on the 2020 debentures, which effectively converted the fixed
interest rates on the debentures to variable LIBOR-based interest rates. The average interest rate payable on the 2020
debentures, including the impact of the interest rate swaps, for 2019 and 2018 was 7.20% and 6.93%, respectively.

Floating-Rate Senior Notes

The floating-rate senior notes, with principal amounts totaling $1.041 billion, bear interest at either one or three-month
LIBOR, less a spread ranging from 30 to 45 basis points. The average interest rate for 2019 and 2018 was 2.05% and 1.76%,
respectively. These notes are callable at various times after 30 years at a stated percentage of par value, and putable by the note
holders at various times after one year at a stated percentage of par value. The notes have maturities ranging from 2049 through
2067. We classified the floating-rate senior notes that are putable by the note holder as long-term liabilities, due to our intent
and ability to refinance the debt if the put option is exercised by the note holder.

The remaining three floating-rate senior notes in the principal amounts of $350, $400, and $500 million, bear interest at
three-month LIBOR, plus a spread ranging from 15 to 45 basis points. The average interest rate for 2019 and 2018 was 2.82%
and 2.50%, respectively. These notes are not callable. The notes have maturities ranging from 2021 through 2023.

Finance Lease Obligations

We have certain property, plant and equipment subject to finance leases. For additional information on finance lease
obligations, see note 10.
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Facility Notes and Bonds

We have entered into agreements with certain municipalities or related entities to finance the construction of, or
improvements to, facilities that support our operations in the United States. These facilities are located around airport properties
in Louisville, Kentucky; Dallas, Texas; and Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Under these arrangements, we enter into a lease or loan
agreement that covers the debt service obligations on the bonds issued by these entities, as follows:

*  Bonds with a principal balance of $149 million issued by the Louisville Regional Airport Authority associated with our
Worldport facility in Louisville, Kentucky. The bonds, which are due in January 2029, bear interest at a variable rate,
and the average interest rates for 2019 and 2018 were 1.49% and 1.43%, respectively.

* Bonds with a principal balance of $42 million and due in November 2036 issued by the Louisville Regional Airport
Authority associated with our air freight facility in Louisville, Kentucky. The bonds bear interest at a variable rate, and
the average interest rates for 2019 and 2018 were 1.49% and 1.39%, respectively.

* Bonds with a principal balance of $29 million issued by the Dallas / Fort Worth International Airport Facility
Improvement Corporation associated with our Dallas, Texas airport facilities. The bonds are due in May 2032 and bear
interest at a variable rate, however the variable cash flows on the obligation have been swapped to a fixed 5.11%.

* Bonds with a principal balance of $100 million issued by the Delaware County, Pennsylvania Industrial Development
Authority associated with our Philadelphia, Pennsylvania airport facilities. These bonds, which are due September
2045, bear interest at a vanable rate. The average interest rate for 2019 and 2018 was 1.48% and 1.35%, respectively.

Pound Sterling Notes
The Pound Sterling notes consist of two separate tranches, as follows:

* Notes with a principal amount of £66 million accrue interest at a 5.50% fixed rate, and are due in February 2031.
These notes are not callable.

* Notes with a principal amount of £455 million accrue interest at a 5.125% fixed rate, and are due in February 2050.
These notes are callable at our option at a redemption price equal to the greater of 100% of the principal amount and
accrued interest, or the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest
thereon discounted to the date of redemption at a benchmark U.K. government bond yield plus 13 basis points, plus
accrued interest.

Canadian Dollar Senior Notes
The Canadian Dollar notes consist of a single series a follows:

¢ Notes in the principal amount of C$750 million, which bear interest at a 2.125% fixed interest rate and mature in May
2024. Interest on the notes is payable semi-annually. The notes are callable at our option, in whole or in part at the
Govermnment of Canada yield plus 21.5 basis points, and on or after the par call date, at par value.

Euro Senior Notes
The Euro notes consist of four separate issuances, as follows:

* Notes in the principal amount of €500 million accrue interest at a 1% fixed rate and are due in November 2028.
Interest is payable annually on the notes. These notes are callable at our option at a redemption price equal to the
greater of 100% of the principal amount, or the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of
principal and interest thereon discounted to the date of redemption at a benchmark comparable German government
bond yield plus 15 basis points, plus accrued interest.

* Notes with a principal amount of €500 million accrue interest at a variable rate equal to three-month EURIBOR plus
43 basis points and are due in July 2020. Interest is payable quarterly on the notes. These notes are not callable. The
notes bear interest at a variable rate, and the average interest rates for 2019 and 2018 were 0.08% and 0.11%,
respectively.
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* Notes with a principal amount of €700 million accrue interest at a 1.625% fixed rate and are due in November 2025.
Interest is payable annually on the notes. These notes are callable at our option at a redemption price equal to the
greater of 100% of the principal amount, or the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of
principal and interest thereon discounted to the date of redemption at a benchmark German government bond yield
plus 20 basis points, plus accrued interest.

«  Notes with principal amounts of €700 million and €500 million accrue interest at 0.375% and 1.500% fixed rates,
respectively, and are due in November 2023 and November 2032, respectively. Interest on these notes is payable
annually. The notes are callable at our option at a redemption price equal to the greater of 100% of the principal
amount, or the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest thereon
discounted to the date of redemption at a benchmark comparable government bond yield plus 10 and 20 basis points,
respectively, plus accrued interest.

Contractual Commitments

The following table sets forth the aggregate annual principal payments due under our long-term debt and the aggregate
amounts expected to be spent for purchase commitments (in millions).

Purchase

Year Debt Principal Commitments®

2020 $ 4,232 3,569
2021 — 2,551 1,982
2022 2,001 966
2023 ' 2,284 33
2024 ' | I ) C 14 261
After 2024 o 12,349 201
Total ' $ 24,891 $ 7,302

M pyrchase commitments includes amounts due under aircraft leases that we entered into in 2019 and our January 29, 2020 announced
commitment to purchase 10,000 electric vehicles.

_ As of December 31, 2019, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling approximately $1.267 billion issued in connection
with our self-insurance reserves and other routine business requirements. We also issue surety bonds as an alternative to letters
of credit in certain instances, and as of December 31, 2019, we had $1.327 billion of surety bonds written.

Sources of Credit

We maintain two credit agreements with a consortium of banks. One of these agreements provides revolving credit
facilities of $2.0 billion, and expires on December 8, 2020. Generally, amounts outstanding under this facility bear interest at a
periodic fixed rate equal to LIBOR for the applicable interest period and currency denomination, plus an applicable margin.
Altemnatively, a fluctuating rate of interest equal to the highest of (1) the rate of interest last quoted by The Wall Street Journal
as the prime rate in the United States; (2) the Federal Funds effective rate plus 0.50%; and (3) LIBOR for a one month interest
period plus 1.00%, plus an applicable margin, may be used at our discretion. In each case, the applicable margin for advances
bearing interest based on LIBOR is a percentage determined by quotations from Markit Group Ltd. for our 1-year credit default
swap spread, subject to a minimum rate of 0.25% and a maximum rate of 1.00%. The applicable margin for advances bearing
interest based on the prime rate is 1.00% below the applicable margin for LIBOR advances (but not lower than 0.00%). We are
also able to request advances under this facility based on competitive bids for the applicable interest rate. There were no
amounts outstanding under this facility as of December 31, 2019.
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The second agreement provides revolving credit facilities of $2.5 billion, and expires on December 11, 2023. Generally,
amounts outstanding under this facility bear interest at a periodic fixed rate equal to LIBOR for the applicable interest period
and currency denomination, plus an applicable margin. Alternatively, a fluctuating rate of interest equal to the highest of (1) the
rate of interest last quoted by The Wall Street Journal as the prime rate in the United States; (2) the Federal Funds effective rate
plus 0.50%; and (3) LIBOR for a one month interest period plus 1.00%, plus an applicable margin, may be used at our
discretion. In each case, the applicable margin for advances bearing interest based on LIBOR is a percentage determined by
quotations from Markit Group Ltd. for our 1-year credit default swap spread, interpolated for a period from the date of
determination of such credit default swap spread in connection with a new interest period until the latest maturity date of this
facility then in effect (but not less than a period of one year). The minimum applicable margin rate is 0.10% and the maximum
applicable margin rate is 0.75% per annum. The applicable margin for advances bearing interest based on the prime rate is
1.00% below the applicable margin for LIBOR advances (but not less than 0.00%). We are also able to request advances under
this facility based on competitive bids. There were no amounts outstanding under this facility as of December 31, 2019.

Debt Covenants

Our existing debt instruments and credit facilities subject us to certain financial covenants. As of December 31, 2019 and
for all prior periods presented, we have satisfied these financial covenants. These covenants limit the amount of secured
indebtedness that we may incur, and limit the amount of attributable debt in sale-leaseback transactions, to 10% of net tangible
assets. As of December 31, 2019, 10% of net tangible assets is equivalent to $3.646 billion; however, we have no covered sale-
leaseback transactions or secured indebtedness outstanding. We do not expect these covenants to have a material impact on our
financial condition or liquidity.

Fair Value of Debt

Based on the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for long-term debt with similar terms and maturities, the
fair value of long-term debt, including current maturities, is approximately $26.949 and $23.293 billion as of December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively. We utilized Level 2 inputs in the fair value hierarchy of valuation techniques to determine the fair
value of all of our debt instruments.
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NOTE 9. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND CONTINGENCIES

We are involved in a number of judicial proceedings and other matters arising from the conduct of our business.

Although there can be no assurance as to the ultimate outcome, we have generally denied, or believe we have a
meritorious defense and will deny, liability in all pending matters, including (except as otherwise noted herein) the matters
described below, and we intend to vigorously defend each matter. We accrue amounts associated with legal proceedings when
and to the extent a loss becomes probable and can be reasonably estimated. The actual costs of resolving legal proceedings may
be substantially higher or lower than the amounts accrued on those claims.

For matters as to which we are not able to estimate a possible loss or range of losses, we are not able to determine whether
any such loss will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. For
matters in this category, we have indicated in the descriptions that follow the reasons that we are unable to estimate the possible
loss or range of losses.

Judicial Proceedings

In February 2015, the State and City of New York filed suit against UPS in the U.S. District Court for the Southern
District of New York, arising from alleged shipments of cigarettes to New York State and City residents. The complaint asserted
claims under various federal and state laws. The complaint also included a claim that UPS violated the Assurance of
Discontinuance it entered into with the New York Attorney General in 2005 concerning cigarette deliveries. On March 24,
2017, the District Court issued an opinion and order finding liability against UPS on each of the plaintiffs’ causes of action. On
May 25, 2017, the District Court issued a corrected opinion and order on liability and an order awarding the plaintiffs damages
of $9 million and penalties of $238 million. Following an appeal, on November 7, 2019, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the
Second Circuit issued an order awarding the plaintiffs damages of $19 million and penalties of $79 million. An accrual of $100
million with respect to this matter is included on our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2019. We estimate that the
amount of losses could be up to $247 million, plus interest, however, the amount of penalties ultimately payable, if any, is
subject to a variety of complex factors and potential outcomes that could be determined in future legal proceedings, which
would include a petition for a writ of certiorari with the U.S. Supreme Court.

We are a defendant in a number of lawsuits filed in state and federal courts containing various class action allegations
under state wage-and-hour laws. At this time, we do not believe that any loss associated with any matter would have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. One of these matters, Hughes v. UPS Supply Chain
Solutions, Inc. and United Parcel Service, Inc. had previously been certified as a class action in Kentucky state court. In the
second quarter of 2019, the court granted our motion for judgment on the pleadings related to the wage-and-hour claims. The
plaintiffs have appealed this decision.

Other Matters

In October 2015, the Department of Justice ("DOJ") informed us of an industry-wide inquiry into the transportation of
mail under the United States Postal Service ("USPS") International Commercial Air contracts. In October 2017, we received a
Civil Investigative Demand seeking certain information relating to our contracts. The DOJ has indicated it is investigating
potential violations of the False Claims Act or other statutes. We are cooperating with the DOJ. We are unable to predict what
action, if any, might be taken in the future by any government authorities as a result of their investigation. Accordingly, at this
time, we are not able to estimate a possible loss or range of losses that may result from this matter or to determine whether such
loss, if any, would have a matenial adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

In August 2016, Spain’s National Markets and Competition Commission (“CNMC”) announced an investigation into 10
companies in the commercial delivery and parcel industry, including UPS, related to alleged nonaggression agreements to
allocate customers. In May 2017, UPS received a Statement of Objections issued by the CNMC. In July 2017, UPS received a
Proposed Decision from the CNMC. On March 8, 2018, the CNMC adopted a final decision, finding an infringement and
imposing a fine on UPS of €19 million. UPS appealed the decision and in September 2018, obtained a suspension of the
implementation of the decision (including payment of the fine). The appeal is pending. There are multiple factors that prevent
us from being able to estimate a possible loss or range of losses that may result from this matter or to determine whether such
loss, if any, would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity including: (1) we
are vigorously defending ourselves and believe that we have a number of meritorious legal defenses; and (2) there are
unresolved questions of law and fact that could be important to the ultimate resolution of this matter.
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In February 2018, the Turkish Competition Authority ("Authority") opened an investigation into nine companies in the
small package industry, including UPS, related to alleged customer allocations in violation of Turkish competition law. In April
2018, the Authority consolidated this investigation with two other investigations involving similar allegations. The consolidated
investigation involves over 30 companies. In January 2020, the Authority held a hearing and announced a summary decision,
finding an infringement and imposing an immaterial fine on UPS. We do not believe that any loss associated with this matter
will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

We are a party in various other matters that arose in the normal course of business. We do not believe that the eventual
resolution of these other matters (either individually or in the aggregate), including any reasonably possible losses in excess of
current accruals, will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
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NOTE 10. LEASES

We adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), on January 1, 2019. The standard requires lessees to recognize a right-of-
use ("ROU") asset and lease liability for all leases. Some of our leases contain both lease and non-lease components, which we
have elected to treat as a single lease component. We have also elected not to recognize leases that have an original lease term,
including reasonably certain renewal or purchase options, of twelve months or less in our consolidated balance sheets for all
classes of underlying assets. Lease costs for short-term leases are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. We
elected the package of transition practical expedients for existing contracts, which allowed us to carry forward our historical
assessments of whether contracts are, or contain, leases, lease classification and determination of initial direct costs.

We lease property and equipment under finance and operating leases. We have finance and operating leases for package
centers, airport facilities, warehouses, corporate office space, aircraft, aircraft engines, information technology equipment
(primarily mainframes, servers and copiers), vehicles and various other equipment used in operating our business. Certain
leases for real estate and aircraft contain options to purchase, extend or terminate the lease. Determining the lease term and
amount of lease payments to include in the calculation of the ROU asset and lease liability for leases containing options
requires the use of judgment to determine whether the exercise of an option is reasonably certain, and if the optional period and
payments should be included in the calculation of the associated ROU asset and liability. In making this determination, we
consider all relevant economic factors that would compel us to exercise or not exercise an option.

When our leases contain future payments that are dependent on an index or rate, such as the consumer price index, we
initially measure the lease liability and ROU asset using the index or rate at the commencement date. In subsequent periods,
lease payments dependent on an index or rate are not remeasured. Rather, changes to payments due to a change in an index or
rate are recognized in our statements of consolidated income in the period of the change.

When available, we use the rate implicit in the lease to discount lease payments; however, the rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable for substantially all of our leases. For these leases, we use an estimate of our incremental borrowing
rate to discount lease payments based on information available at lease commencement. The incremental borrowing rate is
derived using multiple inputs including our credit rating, the impact of full collateralization, lease term and denominated
currency. The remaining lease terms vary from 1 month to 190 years.

Aircraft

In addition to the aircraft that we own, we have leases for 342 aircraft. Of these leased aircraft, 31 are classified as finance
leases, 14 are classified as operating leases and the remaining 297 are classified as short-term leases. A majority of the
obligations associated with the aircraft classified as finance leases have been legally defeased. Most of our long-term aircraft
operating leases are operated by a third party to handle package and cargo volume in geographic regions where, due to
government regulations, we are restricted from operating an airline.

In order to meet customers' needs, we charter aircraft to handle package and cargo volume on certain international trade
lanes and domestic routes. Due to the nature of these agreements, primarily being that either party can cancel the agreement
with short notice, we have classified these as short-term leases. Additionally, all of the lease payments associated with these
charter agreements are variable in nature based on the number of hours flown.

Real Estate

We have operating and finance leases for package centers, airport facilities, warehouses, corporate office space and
expansion facilities utilized during peak shipping periods. Many of our leases contain charges for common area maintenance or
other miscellaneous expenses that are updated based on landlord estimates. Due to this variability, the cash flows associated
with these charges are not included in the minimum lease payments used in determining the ROU asset and associated lease
liability.

Some of our real estate leases contain options to renew or extend the lease or terminate the lease before the expiration

date. These options are factored into the determination of the lease term and lease payments when their exercise is considered
to be reasonably certain.

We also enter into real estate leases that contain lease incentives, such as tenant improvement allowances or move-in
allowances, that are received or receivable at lease commencement. These incentives reduce lease payments for classification
purposes and reduce the initial ROU asset. When lease incentives are receivable at lease commencement, they also reduce the
initial lease liability.
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From time to time, we enter into leases with the intention of purchasing the property, either through purchase options with
a fixed price or a purchase agreement negotiated contemporaneously with the lease agreement. We classify these leases as
finance leases and include the purchase date and purchase price in the lease term and lease payments, respectively, when the
option to exercise or purchase is reasonably certain.

Transportation and other equipment

We enter into both long-term and short-term leases for transportation equipment to supplement our capacity or meet
contractual demands. Some of these assets are leased on a month-to-month basis and the leases can be terminated without
penalty. The lease term for these types of leases is determined by the length of the underlying customer contract or based on the
judgment of the business unit. We also enter into multi-year leases for trailers to increase capacity during periods of high
demand, which are typically only used for 90-120 days during the year. These leases are treated as short-term as the cumulative
right-of-use is less than 12 months over the term of the contract.

The remainder of our leases are primarily related to equipment used in our air operations, vehicles required to meet
capacity needs during periods of higher demand for our shipping services, technology equipment and office equipment used in
our facilities.

Some of our transportation and technology equipment leases require us to make additional lease payments based on the
underlying usage of the assets. Due to the variable nature of these costs, these are expensed as incurred and are not included in
the ROU asset and lease liability.

The components of lease expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 are as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2019

'Operating lease costs - ‘ - 3 643
Fi-nance lease costs: 7 i
~ Amortization of assets - $ 73
n interest on lease Iiabilit‘ies 7 19

Total finance le;se costs i 92
Varial;le léase c;osts - 206
Shortterm lease costs ‘ 1,122
Total l«;ase costs " $ 2,063
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Supplemental information related to leases and location within our consolidated balance sheets are as follows (in millions,
except lease term and discount rate):

December 31, 2019

Operating Leases:
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 2,856
Current maturities of operating leases $ 538
Non-current operating leases 2,391
Total operating lease liabilities $ 2,929

Finance Leases:

Aircraft ' $ 2,087
Buildings - 272
Vehiclc?s, plant equipfnent, technology‘equipmeﬁt and other 27
Accumulated amortization (884)
Pnc;perty, plant and equipment, net $ 1,502
Current maturities of long-term debt, commercial paper and finance leases $ 181
Long-term debt ar;d finance leases 317

'fotal finance lease liabilities $ 498

Weighted average remainilng lease term (in years):
Operating leases 9.7

l-:inance leases 8.9

Weighted average discount rate:

Operating leases 7 2.78%

Finance leases 4.03%

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2019
Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of liabilities:
Operating cash ﬂo».vs from operating leases $ 620
Operating cash flows from finance leases 19
Financing casﬁ flows from finance leases 140
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:
Operating- leases 7 $ 810
Finance leases $ 110
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Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 are as follows (in millions):

Finance Leases Operating Leases

2020 $ 199 § 619
2021 44 536
2022 39 451
2023 37 360
2024 35 256
Thereafter 259 1,267

Total lease payments 613 3,489
Less: Imputed inte-rest (115) (560)

Total lease obligations 498 2929
Less: Current obligations (181) (538)

Long-term lease obligations $ 317§ 2391

As of December 31, 2019, we have additional leases which have not commenced. These leases will commence when we
are granted access to the property, such as when leasehold improvements are completed by the lessor or a certificate of
occupancy is obtained. These leases will commence in 2020.

Disclosures related to periods prior to adoption of the new lease standard

Rent expense related to our operating leases was $959 and $804 million for 2018 and 2017, respectively. The following
table sets forth the aggregate minimum lease payments under capital and operating leases as of December 31, 2018 (in
millions):

Capital Leases Operating Leases

2019 $ 158§ 578
2020 95 477
2021 ' 42 399
2022 39 325
2023 36 ' 262
After 2023 2% 926

Total lease payments o | 663 2,967
Less: Imputed interest (129)

Total lease obligations _ ‘ — 534
Legszﬁ(-ll:u;rent ob[igaﬁoﬁs 4 » . . (140)

Long-term lease obligations _ - $ 394
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NOTE 11. SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY
Capital Stock, Additional Paid-In Capital and Retained Earnings

We maintain two classes of common stock, which are distinguished from each other by their respective voting rights.
Class A shares of UPS are entitled to 10 votes per share, whereas class B shares are entitled to one vote per share. Class A shares
are primarily held by UPS employees and retirees, as well as trusts and descendants of the Company’s founders, and these shares
are fully convertible into class B shares at any time. Class B shares are publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange
("NYSE") under the symbol “UPS”. Class A and B shares both have a $0.01 par value, and as of December 31, 2019, there were
4.6 billion class A shares and 5.6 billion class B shares authorized to be issued. Additionally, there are 200 million preferred
shares authorized to be issued, with a par value of $0.01 per share. As of December 31, 2019, no preferred shares had been issued.

The following is a rollforward of our common stock, additional paid-in capital, retained eamings and non-controlling
interests accounts for the year ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 (in millions, except per share amounts): .

Year Ended December 31: 2019 ot 2018 2017
Shares Dollars Shares Dollars Shares Dollars
GmaCammonsede T T ]
Balance at beginning of year 163 §$ 2 173 $ 2 180 $ 2
i-__(‘lgir_l‘r_non stoc"k.rpmes ; . - 3) o — A (3) - _:E;l) —I
Stock award pla;ls T o T ‘..05' N —-——-_-:- T “;* Sz V Tm " -.'- —
" Comman sockissanees T T T Ty gL T TS
Conversi—ons ochass;s ;)zgégggo.ﬁ;n;ﬂociw T —(12) o — o "(1-4)‘ T —”-."r.- i (—IO) K H;
L*Slass A shares 1ssued at er:a- c;t_:;':;z}rﬁm *::‘: ) 156 $ 2 163 $ 2 173 § 2
Class B Common Stock.
r Balance at beginning‘ofyear e T 69—6~ bé‘ ~_— 1_- - :-‘6-5'7- E_--.~7 ) ?59*r h -7-i
Common stock purchases T B T (7‘)—' T )] - (12) =
L Conversions ot:a;s; Ato claﬁs B common stock _‘1_2 R . __1-:1 Tt Ta—-" - --I',—-]
Class B shares issued at end of year . 701 $ 7 69 $ 7 687 $ 7
Taddifional PaidIn Capital: “ : ;
Balance at beginning of year I o —E R A . _é — ? —
{_ ‘Stock award plans 7 o T ~:“ ‘_—%'}E‘— -.:‘:.-“ ___ _ 519..._ . _‘__it*?*é_j
Common stock purchases (1,005) (859) (813)
!r ‘Common stock issuances - - T."3'56 N T T 406 - T i -__3—53-}
Option premiums received (p;:i)—h T ;l o 34 - —-—-—;4
l Balance at end of year } - :“_ $ . 150 “—-_ N - $ — $ —1
Retained Earnings: ‘ e - 7 =
f Balance at beginning of yeard_l ’ . o _;;- _‘51906_‘ :M $ -5-,852 ﬁ ---$ 4_,@_(2]
Net income attnibutable to controlling interests T ~—'--4,44-;0 - - 4,791 4,905
{ Dividends (§384,53.64, and S3.32pershare) "7~ @z T T T@Eusy) T oom)
Common stock purchases o - T T ST —(-;1-1-) o ——--~-( 1-,655)
" Reclassification from AOCI pursuant To the early T ) T T
{_adoptionof ASU2018-02 . . LT el T
Other ) — (42) (2)
E*Balance ate_r_l_(igf:;e:‘rj _--_- _“ w: - ::-: -_'_- _ $ 9,105 . ’:" T $ 8,006 ‘ L - $ 5,852
Non-Controlling ht;;ssm - I o - —__—— S
i_ BMance;tB;;inMng ofy;ar -.........-..‘._ oo "'v's ‘_ﬁ—l%dh_' T E” "._-!3:0' P $“ ) -Z:Ll '
Change in'n’o-;l-controlii—r'\-g‘i;t‘er;t;w‘ T T ST ﬁ-—‘--—(l‘;) T 6
LBalance at end ofye:;rm: “’-‘-—W o “1 A_ :..._ T $ 16 ::‘ o $ 16 *:‘;:: $ 304

M The dividend per share amount is the same for both class A and class B common stock. Dividends mclude $147, $178 and $157 million for
2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, that were settled in shares of class A common stock.
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In May 2016, the Board of Directors approved a share repurchase authorization of $8.0 billion for shares of class A and
class B common stock, which has no expiration date. As of December 31, 2019, we had 2.334 billion of this share repurchase
authorization available.

Share repurchases may be in the form of accelerated share repurchase programs, open market purchases or other such
methods as we deem appropriate. The timing of share repurchases will depend upon market conditions. Unless terminated earlier
by the Board, the program will expire when we have purchased all shares authorized for repurchase under the program.

For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we repurchased a total of 9.1, 8.9 and 16.1 million shares of
class A and class B common stock for $1.005, $1.000 and $1.816 billion, respectively ($1.004, $1.011 and $1.813 billion in
repurchases for 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, are reported on the cash flow statement due to the timing of settlements).

From time to time, we enter into share repurchase programs with large financial institutions to assist in our buyback of
company stock. These programs may allow us to repurchase our shares at a price below the weighted average UPS share price for
a given period. We did not enter into any such program during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 or 2017.

In order to lower the average cost of acquiring shares in our ongoing share repurchase program, we periodically enter into
structured repurchase agreements involving the use of capped call options for the purchase of UPS class B shares. We pay a fixed
sum of cash upon execution of each agreement in exchange for the right to receive either a pre-determined amount of cash or
stock. Upon expiration of each agreement, if the closing market price of our common stock is above the pre-determined price, we
will have our initial investment returned with a premium in either cash or shares (at our election). If the closing market price of
our common stock is at or below the pre-determined price, we will receive the number of shares specified in the agreement. We
received net premiums of $21, $34 and $54 million during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively,
related to entering into and settling capped call options for the purchase of class B shares. As of December 31, 2019, we had no
capped call options outstanding.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

We recognize activity in AOCI for unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale securities, foreign currency
translation adjustments, unrealized gains and losses from derivatives that qualify as hedges of cash flows and unrecognized
pension and postretirement benefit costs. Additionally, effective January 1, 2018, we adopted an ASU that allows a
reclassification from AOCI to retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Act (see note 1 for further
information). The activity in AOCI for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in millions): ot

ok

Year Ended December 31: 2019 2018 2017
gorelgn C\nrrc;l;:—’l‘;;sﬁt;;;(-}-mn (Loss), Net of Tax: -~ - o " j
Balance at begmmng of year - $ (1:126) $ (930) $ (1,01:5)
L_’l}anslation adjustfn.:nt (net of tax ¢ eﬁ“e;:t of $10 $37 and $(161)) 4_§ (149) ”j_“ 86
Reclassnficatlon to retamed eamings pursuant to the early adoption of ASU 2018-02 — 47) =
L Balance at end ofyear . :'._ _ — ) N $ (1,078) $ (1,126) $ . (930)
Unrealized Gain (Loss) or; I\./I;n;(etable Securities, N;t (');'—:l“a: -
‘L Balance at begmmng o_f_)_'ear X T - $ - (5)- ?$ ~(§) HS_L - ;E__IE
Current period changes in falr ;—atl-u—e (net of tax effect of $4, $(1) and $(1)) 11 3) 2)
: Reclassification o camings (net of tx effect of S(1), $1 and S1) | 3T
Balance at end of year _ $ 4 S 2) $ 2)
r{_l&lm'ealized Gain (Loss) on Ca;Il’I;lmow Hedges, Net of Tax: - . o 1
Balance at beginning of year $ 40 S (366) $ (45)
" "Current peri?_d changes in fair value (net of tax éffect of $61, il_:iS and $(T90)) 195 T 429 o ~m(‘::)-i"-G‘)'
Reclassification to retained eamings pursuant to the early adoption of ASU 2018-02 — (79) —
§ ™ Reclassification to camings (net of tax effect of $(39), $18 and $(3)) _ - (123) Ts6 T (5)
Balance atend of year $ 112 8 40 $  (366)
1rynrecogmzed Pension a.nd— P:)s-tretlrement Benefit Costs, Net of Tax: . ‘.,..._. ___‘. o
Balance at begmmng of year $ (3,906) $ (3,569) §  (3421)
L Reclassnﬁcatlon to earnings (net of tax effect of $626, $439 and $269) H R 1,9.8_8f ‘7,355‘“ o »---7_:3-1—}
Reclassnﬁcatlon to retained eammgs pursuant to the early adoption of ASU 2018-02 — (609).. - —
Net actuarial gain (loss) and pnor service cost resulting from remeasurements of pla.n assets.and . Lo e
liabilities (net of tax effect of$(979) $(355) and $(180)) - - . (3,117) S(1,117) (879)
Balance at end of year ' (5,035) § (3,906) $ (3,569) -
L Accumulated otl}Sr comprﬂxe_r’}siys income (loss) at end o_fyear __ (5997) $ (4,994) § (4,867)
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Detail of the gains (losses) reclassified from AOCI to the statements of consolidated income for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31:

Amount Reclassified from AQCI

Affected Line Item in the Income

2019 2018 2017 Statement
(Un'reajized (}ain‘(Loss) on Marketable Secm;iﬁes:m_— ’ o _ e e i 3,____'
Realized gain (loss) on sale of securities 6 (€Y} (2) Investment income (expense) and other
L u_!_r_xcom‘e tax (expense) benefit _‘7 D 7‘1)—?_ o .'1 T .1 ) . w: _-_}Tr?;me tax exggrifér ’ _—}
Impact on net income ' 5 3) () Net income
iUnrealiied Gain (Loss) on Cash Flow Hedges: T :—_ s L _:___ ~__; . " . i m:.:]
Interest rate contracts (15) (24) - (@n Interest expense
i_ . —I;:);ign exchange contracts T 177 T (50)"" . 35 ) Revenue ]
Income tax (éxpense) benefit 39 18 o 3) Income tax expense .
r " Impact on net income . - e 123 - (56) 5 [ :Netincome J
Unrecognized Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs: _
:‘__ Prior service costs S .(227) (201) (200) “Investment j;l'come (expense) and other _!
Remeasurement of benefit obligation (2,35:/7 (1,627) (800) Investr;lent income.(expense) and other
L . Income tax (expense) benefit . 626 43_9—-_ 269 Income tax expensé  ° ) I
' Impact on net income ) (1,988) (1,389) (731) Netincome
‘Total amount reclassified for the year (727) Net incomﬂe‘*w

$ (1,860) § (1,448) $

Deferred Compensation Obligations and Treasury Stock

We maintain a deferred compensation plan whereby certain employees were previously able to elect to defer the gains on
stock option exercises by deferring the shares received upon exercise into a rabbi trust. The shares held in this trust are classified
as treasury stock, and the liability to participating employees is classified as “Deferred compensation obligations” in the
shareowners’ equity section of the consolidated balance sheets. The number of shares needed to settle the liability for deferred
compensation obligations is included in the denominator in both the basic and diluted earnings per share calculations. Employees
are generally no longer able to defer the gains from stock options exercised subsequent to December 31, 2004.

Activity in the deferred compensation program for the years ended December 31, 2Ql§, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in

millions): -
Year Er‘lded December 31: . 2019 2018 2017
Shares Dollars Shares Dollars Shares Dollars
{Deferred Compensation Obligations: Vo B . » !
Balance at beginning of year $ 32 $ 37 $ 45
L Reinvested dividends X R T2 - _?___ N - 2 }
Benefit payments - A ®) @) 7 (10)
; * Balance at end ofyear - . - $ 26 8 32 :_“ . $ 371
Treasury Stock: o - .
E - Balance at beginning of year T )] § (3 1 $ o -—6;3— (1) $ _ (45;'
) Reinvested dividends = ) — ?) — ——(2—)
’a_ Benefit payments ) — T T — 7 - , IE
Balance at end of year — 3 (26) (1) $ (32) (1) $ 37
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NOTE 12. STOCK - BASED COMPENSATION

The UPS Incentive Compensation Plan permits the grant of non-qualified and incentive stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock and stock units, and restricted performance shares and units to eligible employees. On May 14, 2018 our
shareholders approved our 2018 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan under which we are authorized to issue an additional
26 million shares. Each share issued in the form of restricted stock units and restricted performance units (collectively referred
to as "Restricted Units"), stock options and other permitted awards reduces the share reserve by one share. We had 13 million
shares available to be 1ssued under the Incentive Compensation Plan as of December 31, 2019.

The primary compensation programs offered under the UPS Incentive Compensation Plan include the UPS Management
Incentive Award program, the Coyote Restricted Stock Award, the UPS Long-Term Incentive Performance Award program and
the UPS Stock Option program. These awards are discussed in the following paragraphs. The total expense recognized in our
income statement under all stock compensation award programs was $915, $634 and $584 million during 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The associated income tax benefit recognized in our statements of consolidated income was $216, $186 and $227
million during 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The cash income tax benefit received from the exercise of stock options and
the lapsing of Restricted Units was $148, $175 and $276 million during 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Management Incentive Award Program ("MIP")

Non-executive management earning the right to receive MIP awards is determined annually by the Salary Committee,
which is comprised of executive officers of UPS. Awards granted to executive officers are determined annually by the
Compensation Committee of the UPS Board of Directors. Our MIP provides, with certain exceptions, that one-half to two-
thirds of the annual award will be made in Restricted Units, depending upon the level of management involved. The remaining
one-third to one-half of the award is electable in the form of cash or unrestricted shares of class A common stock, and is fully
vested at the time of grant.

Upon vesting, Restricted Units result in the issuance of the equivalent number of UPS class A common shares after
required tax withholdings. Except in the case of death, Restricted Units granted under the MIP prior to 2019 vest over a five-
year period with approximately 20% of the award vesting at each anniversary date of the grant. The grant value, less estimated
forfeitures, is expensed on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, except in the case of death, disability or
retirement, in which case immediate expensing occurs. These historical awards will continue to vest through 2023.

Beginning with the MIP award in the first quarter of 2019, Restricted Units vest one year following the grant date, except
in the case of death, disability or retirement, in which case immediate vesting occurs. The grant value, less estimated forfeitures,
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, except in the case of death, disability or retirement, in
which case immediate expensing occurs. All Restricted Units granted are subject to early cancellation or vesting under certain
conditions. Dividends eamned on Restricted Units are reinvested in additional Restricted Units at each dividend payable date
until they have fully vested.

Coyote Restricted Stock Award

In August 2015 we acquired Coyote, a U.S.-based truckload brokerage company. During the third quarter of 2015, we
granted Restricted Units to eligible Coyote management employees. The vesting of Restricted Units granted under this award
varied between one and four years with an equal number of restricted units vesting at each anniversary date, except in the case
of death or disability, in which case immediate vesting occurred. The entire grant was expensed on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period, except in the case of death or disability, in which case immediate expensing occurred. All Restricted
Units granted under this award had vested as of December 31, 2019.
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As of December 31, 2019, we had the following outstanding Restricted Units, including reinvested dividends, granted
under the MIP:

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
Shares Grant Date Contractual Term Value
(in thousands) Fair Value (in years) (in millions)
—y— —— oo 1 o .
Nonvested atJanvary 1,209 - lo1% s 47 ]
Vested (5,100) 102.54 )
'Granted y T 5516 10878 : ]
Reinvestegi Dividends A - 410 N/A 7 -
{Forfeited / Expired _ . _ ] 26) . 10722 _ . o |
Nonvested at December 31, 2019 10,739 $ 106.94 071 $ 1,257
. : = e e ey
gRestncted Units Expected to Vest - . 12,690 § 106.59 074 §$ R 1,482"

The fair value of each Restricted Unit is the NYSE closing price of class B common stock on the date of grant. The
weighted-average grant date fair value of Restricted Units granted during 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $108.78, $110.95 and
$105.62, respectively. The total fair value of Restricted Units vested was $457, $596 and $534 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. As of December 31, 2019, there was $341 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested
Restricted Units. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of two years and one month.

1 . r

Long-Term Incentive Performance ("LTIP") Program

We award Restricted Units in conjunction with our LTIP program to certain eligible employees. Performance targets are
equally-weighted among consolidated operating return on invested capital, growth in currency-constant consolidated revenue
and total shareowner return relative to a peer group of companies ("RTSR"). The Restricted Units granted under this award vest
at the end of a three-year period, except in the case of death, disability or retirement, in which case immediate vesting occurs on
a prorated basis. The number of Restricted Units earned will be based on the percentage achievement of the performance targets
set forth on the grant date. The range of percentage achievement can vary from 0% to 200% of the target awa:rd..

For the two-thirds of the award related to consolidated operating return on invested capital and growth in currency-
constant consolidated revenue, we recognize the grant date fair value of these units, less estimated forfeitures, as compensation
expense ratably over the vesting period, based on the number of awards expected to be earned. The remaining one-third of the
award related to RT SR is valued using a Monte Carlo model. This portion of the award, less estimated forfeitures, is recognized
as compensation expense ratably over the vesting period.

The weighted-average assumptions used by year, and the calculated weighted-average fair values of the RTSR portion of
the grants, are as follows:

. i 2019 2018 2017

:LRisk-free interest rate B : o _;' -“:; 2.23% 2.61% T 146%
];‘(pected volatility . . 19.64% » 16.51% 16 59%
Welghted-a\‘/;e_r:a_ge fair Val-l-.l:()f units granted e $ - 12344 § S 137 _5_7‘_’ s - 119 29 1
S‘l;;;;;;_}':ut T ' 11508%  12347%  113.55%

There is no expected dividend yield as units earn dividend equivalents.
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As of December 31, 2019, we had the following Restricted Units outstanding, including reinvested dividends, that were
granted under our LTIP program:

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
Shares Grant Date Contractual Term Value
(in thousands) Fair Value (in years) (in millions)

Nonvested at January 1, 2019 _ 1,701 $ 108.63
Vested (898) 106.12
Granted 974 107.30
Reinvested Dividends 83 N/A
Forfeited / Expired (169) 108.60
Nonvested at December 31, 2019 1,691 § 109.18 154 § i98
Restricted Units Expected to Vest 1,677 $ 109.16 155 8 196

The fair value of each Restricted Unit is the NYSE closing price of class B common stock on the date of grant. The
weighted-average grant date fair value of Restricted Units granted during 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $107.30, $111.42 and
$105.65, respectively. The total fair value of Restricted Units vested was $71, $97 and $71 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. As of December 31, 2019, there was $103 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested
Restricted Units. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of one year and eight months.

Non-qualified Stock Options

We maintain stock option plans, under which options are granted to purchase shares of UPS class A common stock. Stock
options granted in connection with the UPS Incentive Compensation Plan must have an exercise price at least equal to the
NYSE closing price of UPS class B common stock on the date the option is granted.

Executive officers and certain senior managers receive a non-qualified stock option grant annually, in which the value
granted is determined as a percentage of salary. Options granted generally vest over a five-year period with approximately 20%
of the award vesting at each anniversary date of the grant. All options granted are subject to earlier cancellation or vesting under
certain conditions. The options granted will expire ten years after the date of the grant. Option holders may exercise their
options via the payment of cash or class A common stock and new class A shares are issued upon exercise.

The following is an analysis of options to purchase shares of class A common stock issued and outstanding:

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Contractual Term Value
(in thousands) Price (in years) (in millions)
Outstanding at January 1, 2019 1,384 § 95.36
Exer(-:ised (147) 69.33
Granted ' 261 111.68 i
Forfeited / Expired — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 1,498 § 100.74 " 637 $ 24
Options Vested and Expected to Vest 1498 §$ 100.74 637 $ 24
Exercisable at December 31, 2019 915 § 96.12 525 § 19

The fair value of each option grant is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The weighted-average
assumptions used, by year, and the calculated weighted-average fair values of options, are as follows:

2019 2018 2017
Expected dividend yield 2.94% 2.93% 2.89%
Risk-free interest rate 2.60% 2.84% 2.15%
Expected life in years 75 75 75.
Expected volatility 17.79% 16.72% 17.81%
Weighted-average fair value of options granted $ 1634 8 1523 § 14.70
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Expected volatilities are based on the historical returns on our stock and the implied volatility of our publicly-traded
options. The expected dividend yield is based on the recent historical dividend yields for our stock, taking into account changes
in dividend policy. The risk-free interest rate is based on the term structure of interest rates at the time of the option grant. The
expected life represents an estimate of the period of time options are expected to remain outstanding, and we have relied upon a
combination of the observed exercise behavior of our prior grants with similar characteristics, the vesting schedule of the grants
and an index of peer companies with similar grant characteristics in estimating this variable.

We received cash of $7, $12 and $41 million during 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, from option holders resulting
from the exercise of stock options. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $5, $6 and
$22 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, there was $2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
nonvested options. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of three years and five months.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2019:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-Average
Remaining Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Shares Contractual Term Exercise Shares Exercise
Exercise Price Range (in thousands) (in years) Price (in thousands) Price
f6s.01-580.00 157 152 § 7406 157§ . 7406}
$80.01 - $95.00 100 ’ 3.17 82.89 100 82.89
@49‘5.01 -$110.00 : 985 6.75 10393 . ° 635 T 103.09]
$110.01 - $125.00 256 9.13 111.80 23 111.80
sttt i . r——_ - — a4 e A e v e e —y
I | S 148 637 $ 10074 . . 0ls § _ " 96.12]

Discounted Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We maintain an employee stock purchase plan for all eligible employees. Under this plan, shares of UPS class A common
stock may be purchased at quarterly intervals at 95% of the NYSE closing price of UPS class B common stock on the last day
of each quarterly period. Employees purchased 1, 0.9 and 0.9 million shares at average prices of $102.11, $105.53 and $108.98
per share, during 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. This plan is not considered to be compensatory, and therefore no
compensation cost is measured for the employees’ purchase rights.

112



UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 13. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

We report our operations in three segments: U.S. Domestic Package operations, International Package operations and
Supply Chain & Freight operations. Package operations represent our most significant business and are broken down into
regional operations around the world. Regional operations managers are responsible for both domestic and export products
within their geographic area.

U.S. Domestic Package

Domestic Package operations include the time-definite delivery of letters, documents and packages throughout the United
States.

International Package

International Package operations include delivery to more than 220 countries and territories worldwide, including
shipments wholly outside the United States, as well as shipments with either origin or destination outside the United States. Our
International Package reporting segment includes the operations of our Europe, Asia, Americas and ISMEA operating segments.

Supply Chain & Freight

Supply Chain & Freight includes our Forwarding, Logistics, Coyote, Marken, UPS Mail Innovations, UPS Freight and
other aggregated business units. Our Forwarding, Logistics and UPS Mail Innovations units provide services in more than 200
countries and territories worldwide and include international air and ocean freight forwarding, customs brokerage, distribution
and post-sales services, mail and consulting services. UPS Freight offers a variety of less-than-truckload and truckload services
to customers in North America. Coyote offers truckload brokerage services primarily in the United States. Marken is a global
provider of supply chain solutions to the healthcare and life sciences industry. Other aggregated business units within this
segment include The UPS Store and UPS Capital.

In evaluating financial performance, we focus on operating profit as a segment’s measure of profit or loss. Operating
profit is before investment income (expense) and other, interest expense and income taxes. The accounting policies of the
segments are the same as those described in the "Supplemental Information - Items Affecting Comparability" section of
Management's Discussion and Analysis, with certain expenses allocated between the segments using activity-based costing
methods. As we operate an integrated, global multimodal network, we evaluate many of our capital expenditure decisions at a
network level. Accordingly, expenditures on property, plant and equipment by segment are not presented. Unallocated assets are
comprised primarily of cash, marketable securities and certain investment partnerships. In 2018, we changed the segment
allocation methodology for certain shared assets. All prior periods have been recast to reflect this change in methodology.
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Segment information for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in millions): '

_ ' 2019 2018 2017
— — e e } e e
tRevenue: ; - . N . e _ ‘ ‘ e o ’
U.S. Domestic Package » » $ 46 493 $ 43,593 § 40,761
L International Package . ) o . L L N 14 220 —_— 14 442 . 13, 3421
Supply Chain & Freight 13,381 13,826 12,482
i Consolidated ' ‘ . $ .74094 $ 71861 $ 66,585/
Operating Profit:
T - — e NPT B AN S ! e e Ak e R i e st s e =y
+ U.S. Domestic Package L L $ 4,164 § 3643 § 4,303 ¢
International Package ; 2,657 2,529 2,429
; Supply Chain & Freight - - o - ) . L9717 852 797;
" Consolidated ’ . S 7,798 $ 7,024 S 7,529
{Assets: o : ) * ' N ]
U.S. Domestic Package 7 ) $ 32795 § 28216 $ 25 449
{ _Intenational Package __ - . T . 14,044 12070 . . 10,361
Supply Chain & Freight : - 9, 045 8,411 8,267
[ Unallocated . T TR : ' T 973 1319 1.497)
Consolldated D ' S f $ 57857 §. 50,016 $ 45574
. e e e & vt b e e e
fDeprecmtlon and Amorhzatlon Expense . e i . . - . e
U.S. Domestic Package ] , o $ 1520 § 1375 § 1,479
i International Package . . o . - 547. . . 526 . T 5091"
Supply Chain & Freight _ 293 306 294
f Consolidated o $ 2360 $ 2207 § 22821
i e i e lIC ]

Revenue by product type for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in millions):

. - 2019 2018 2017

@ Domestic Package: : e — ....._-M . : . ) o |
Next Day Air o v $ 8479 $ 7,618 § 7,088

[ Deferred . ‘, , , R 4752 4422
Ground 32,834 31,223 29,251

Total U.S. Domestic Package - T . 46493 43593 40,761

International Package:

[ Domestic . ~ T 2,836 2874 2,646
Export ' ' h S 10837 10973 10,170

;:_ Cargo ' . m“_‘_-: __w_’—:- o __‘:'::_—-M— T sa7 y 595 526]
Total International Package 14,220 14,442 13,342

T T T
Forwarding 5,867 6,580 5,674

T S S T Sl e )
Freight _ 3,265 3,218 3,000

b e s
Total Supply Chain & Freight 13,381 13,826 12,482

i Comsolidated "7 77 77§ 74004 § 71861 $ 66,585
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Geographic information for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in millions):

United States:
Revenue
Long-lived asse;s )

International:

Revenue )
Long-lived assets

Consolidated:

Revenue

Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets include property, plant and equipment, pension and postretirement benefit assets, long-term

investments, goodwill and intangible assets.

No countries outside of the United States provided 10% or more of consolidated revenue for the years ended

2019 2018 2017
58,699 56,115 52,080
27976 24,918 21,141
15395 § 15746 $§ 14,505
9567 § 8577 7,966

1
74094 § 71861 66,585
37543 § 33495 29,107

December 31, 2019, 2018 or 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2019, Amazon.com, Inc. and its affiliates (" Amazon")
represented 11.6% of our consolidated revenues. Substantially all of this revenue was attributed to our U.S. Domestic Package
segment. As of December 31, 2019, Amazon accounted for approximately 16.9% of accounts receivable, net, included within
the consolidated balance sheets. No single customer represented 10% or more of our consolidated revenues for the years ended

December 31, 2018 or 2017.
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The income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 consists of the following (in

millions):

Current:
U.S. Federal
U.S. State and Local
Non-U.S.
Total Current
Deferred:
U.S. Federal
U.S. State and Local
Non-U.S.
Total Deferred
Total Income Tax Expense

Income before income taxes includes the following components (in millions):

United States
Non-U.S.

Total Income Before Income Taxes:

2019 2018 2017
$ 570 $ 89 § 671
183 7 49
359 374 288
1,112 470 1,008
255. 668 1,115
(93) 75 118
(62) 15 ©)
100 758 1,224
$ 1212 § 1228 § 2232
2019 2018 2017
$ 3972 § 4307 $ 5987
1,680 1,712 1,150
$ 5652 $ 6019 § 7,137

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the effective income tax rate for the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018 and 2017 consists of the following:

Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate

U.S. state and local income taxes (net of federal benefit)

Non-U.S. tax rate differential

U.S. federal tax credits

Income tax béneﬁt from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and other non-U.S. tax law changes

Defined benefit plans mark-to-market charge tax rate differential "

Non-U.S. valuation allowance release

Other

Effective income tax rate

® Impact of applying Tax Act corporate rate enacted of 21% versus 35%

2019 2018 2017
21.0% 21.0% 35.0%
14 1.4 1.5
03 02 (2.0)
(1.4) (1.1) (1.8)
— — (3.6)
_ — 1.5
(1.2) — —
13 (1.1) 0.7
21.4% 20.4% 31.3%

Our effective tax rate is affected by recurring factors, such as statutory tax rates in the jurisdictions in which we operate
and the relative amounts of taxable income we earn in those jurisdictions. It is also affected by discrete items that may occur in
any given year, but may not be consistent from year to year.

Our effective tax rate was 21.4% in 2019, compared with 20.4% in 2018 and 31.3% in 2017, primarily due to the effects

of the aforementioned recurring factors and the following discrete tax items.
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Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

On December 22, 2017, the United States enacted into law the Tax Act. The Tax Act made broad and complex changes to
the U.S. tax code, including a permanent corporate rate reduction to 21% and a transition to a territorial international system
effective in 2018. The Tax Act includes provisions that affected 2017, including: (1) requiring a one-time transition tax on
certain unrepatriated eamnings of foreign subsidiaries (“Transition Tax”) that is payable over eight years; (2) requiring a
remeasurement of all U.S. deferred tax assets and liabilities to the newly enacted corporate tax rate of 21% and (3) providing
for additional first-year depreciation that allows full expensing of qualified property placed into service after September 27,
2017.

In late December 2017, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin ("SAB") 118, which provided guidance on
accounting for the tax effects of the Tax Act. SAB 118 provided a measurement period up to one year from the Tax Act
enactment date for companies to complete the related accounting under GAAP. We recorded a $272 million provisional benefit
inclusive of our Transition Tax liability, the change in our indefinite reinvestment assertion for certain foreign subsidiaries and
the remeasurement of our U.S. net deferred tax liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2017. During the fourth quarter of
2018, we completed our accounting for the Tax Act based on the current regulatory guidance available at the end of the SAB
118 measurement period and recorded no material net adjustments to our provisional estimate.

The Tax Act also enacted provisions that took effect in 2018 including but not limited to: (1) a provision that imposes
U.S. tax on certain foreign subsidiary income known as GILTI, (2) a new deduction for Foreign-Derived Intangible Income
("FDII"), (3) additional limitations on tax deductions for expenses such as interest and executive compensation and (4) a new
minimum tax based on certain payments from a U.S. company to foreign related parties known as the Base Erosion and Anti-
Abuse Tax ("BEAT").

We included the impact of each of the newly effective Tax Act provisions in our computation of the 2018 and 2019
income tax expense. Throughout 2018 and 2019, the U.S. Department of the Treasury and IRS issued regulatory guidance
clarifying certain provisions of the Tax Act, and we anticipate additional regulatory guidance and technical clarifications during
future years. When additional guidance is issued, we will recognize the related tax impact in the quarter of enactment.

2019 Discrete Items

In the fourth quarter of 2019, we recognized an income tax benefit of $571 million related to pre-tax mark-to-market
losses of $2.387 billion on our pension and postretirement defined benefit plans. This income tax benefit was generated at a
higher average tax rate than the 2019 U.S. federal statutory tax rate because it included the effect of U.S. state and local and
foreign taxes.

We recorded pre-tax transformation strategy costs of $255 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. As a result,
we recorded an additional income tax benefit of $59 million. This income tax benefit was generated at a higher average tax rate
than the 2019 U.S. federal statutory tax rate due to the effect of U.S. state and local and foreign taxes.

As discussed in note 9, $97 million of legal contingencies and expenses were accrued during 2019 in respect of certain
legal proceedings for which we recorded an additional income tax benefit of $6 million. This income tax benefit was generated
at a lower average tax rate than the U.S. federal statutory tax rate due to the portion of the accrual related to penalties, which are
not deductible for tax purposes.

As of December 31, 2018, we maintained a valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets, primarily related to
foreign net operating loss carryforwards. As of each reporting date, we consider new evidence, both positive and negative, that
could affect the future realization of deferred tax assets. During 2019, we determined that there is sufficient positive evidence to
conclude that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets related to certain foreign net operating loss carryforwards
will be realized. This conclusion is primarily related to achieving cumulative three-year income and anticipated future eamings
within the relevant jurisdiction. Accordingly, we reversed the related valuation allowance and recognized a discrete tax benefit
of approximately $68 million.

Other factors that impacted our 2019 effective tax rate include favorable tax provisions enacted in the Taxpayer Certainty
and Disaster Tax Relief Act of 2019.
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2018 Discrete Items

The decrease in our effective tax rate from 2017 to 2018 was primarily due to the impact of the Tax Act which reduced
the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, we recognized an income tax benefit of $390 million related to pre-tax mark-to-market
losses of $1.627 billion on our pension and postretirement defined benefit plans. This income tax benefit was generated at a
higher average tax rate than the 2018 U.S. federal statutory tax rate because it included the effect of U.S. state and local and
foreign taxes.

We recorded pre-tax transformation strategy costs of $360 million during the year ended December 31, 2018. As a result,
we recorded an additional income tax benefit of $87 million. This income tax benefit was generated at a higher average tax rate
than the 2018 U.S. federal statutory tax rate due to the effect of U.S. state and local and foreign taxes.

The recognition of excess tax benefits and deficiencies related to share-based compensation in income tax expense
resulted in a net tax benefit of $38 million and reduced our effective tax rate by 0.6% during the year ended December 31,
2018.

Other factors that impacted our 2018 effective tax rate include favorable resolutions of uncertain tax positions, favorable
U.S. state and local tax law changes, favorable tax provisions enacted in the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 and discrete tax
credits associated with the filing of our 2017 U.S. federal income tax return.

2017 Discrete Items

In addition to the impact of the Tax Act described above, the following discrete items were recorded during the year
ended December 31, 2017.

In the fourth quarter of 2017, we recognized an income tax benefit of $193 million related to pre-tax mark-to-market
losses of $800 million on our pension and postretirement defined benefit plans. This income tax benefit was generated at a
lower average tax rate than the 2017 U.S. federal statutory tax rate due to future tax rate changes enacted by the Tax Act and
differences between U.S. and foreign statutory rates, which was partially offset by the effect of U.S. state and local taxes.

In the fourth quarter of 2017, tax law changes were enacted in certain non-U.S. jurisdictions in which we operate. As a
result, we recorded a decrease to our foreign net deferred tax assets of $14 million with a corresponding net increase to deferred
tax expense of $14 million.

In the first quarter of 2017, we adopted a new accounting standard that requires the recognition of excess tax benefits
related to share-based compensation in income tax expense, which resulted in tax benefits for the year ended December 31,
2017 of $71 million and reduced our effective tax rate by 1.0%.

Other Items

Beginning in 2012, we were granted a tax incentive for certain of our non-U.S. operations, which is effective through
December 31, 2021. The tax incentive is conditional upon our meeting specific employment and investment thresholds. The
impact of this tax incentive decreased non-U.S. tax expense by $27 million, $27 million and $24 million (increased diluted
earnings per share by $0.03, $0.03 and $0.03) for 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following at December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in millions):

2019 2018

Fixed assets and capitalized software $ 47200 $ (4,010)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (635) —
Other ' o i C(538)  (493)
Deferred tax liabilities (5,943) (4,503)
Pension and postretirement benefits 2,522 1,743
Loss and credit carryforwards 328 298
[nsurance reserves 413 437
Stock compensation 249 - i89
Accrued employee compensation 287 274
Operating lease liabilities 691 -
Other 205 196
Deferred tax assets 4,695 3,137
Deferred tax assets valuation allowance - (54) (112)
Deferred tax asset (net of valuation allowance) ' 4,641 3,025
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (1,302)- $ (1,478)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:

Deferred tax assets $ 330 $ V 141
Deferred tax liabilities (1,632)  (L619)
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $  (1,302) § (1,478)

The valuation allowance changed by $(58), $(14) and $(33) million during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017, respectively.

We have a U.S. federal capital loss carryforward of $21 million as of December 31, 2019, $20 million of which expires
on December 31, 2021, and the remainder of which expires on December 31, 2022. In addition, we have U.S. federal tax credit
carryforwards of $3 million, which can be carried forward for periods ranging from ten years to twenty years.

Further, we have U.S. state and local operating loss and credit carryforwards as follows (in millions):

2019 2018

U.S. state and local operating loss carryforwards . $ 1,374 § 1,014
U.S. state and local credit carryforwards $ 110 8§ 80

The U.S. state and local operating loss carryforwards and credits can be carried forward for periods ranging from one year
to indefinitely. We also have non-U.S. loss carryforwards of $670 million as of December 31, 2019, the majority of which may
be carried forward indefinitely. As indicated in the table above, we have established a valuation allowance for certain U.S.
federal, state and non-U.S. carryforwards due to the uncertainty resulting from a lack of previous taxable income within the
applicable tax jurisdictions and other limitations.
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Undistributed earnings and profits ("E&P") of our foreign subsidiaries amounted to $6.060 billion at December 31, 2019.
As a result of the Tax Act, during the year ended December 31, 2017, we changed our indefinite reinvestment assertion with
respect to the earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries. For all other foreign subsidiaries, we continue to assert that these earnings
are indefinitely reinvested. $1.597 billion of the undistributed E&P of our foreign subsidiaries is considered to be indefinitely
reinvested and, accordingly, no deferred income taxes have been provided thereon. Upon distribution of those earnings in the
form of dividends or otherwise, we would be subject to U.S. state and local taxes and withholding taxes payable in various
jurisdictions. Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred income tax liability is not practicable because of the

complexities associated with its hypothetical calculation.

The following table summarizes the activity related to our uncertain tax positions (in millions):

Tax Interest Penalties
{Balance at January 1, 2017 — s 145 50 s 6]
Additions for tax positions of the current year 16 — —
T Additions for tax positions of prior years o e 33 14 _E
Reductions for tax positions of prior years for:
Lgxgxges based on facts and circumstances - " (24) (18) -
Settlements during the period (6) 3) —
} Lapses of applicable statute of limitations , . 3) — —]
Balance at December 31, 2017 o 160 43 9
{Additions for tax positions of the current year . — _ﬁ" | ]
Additions for tax positions of prior years 7 10 —
‘Eiec_l_l_lctions for tax positions of prior years for: - . e _I
Changes based on facts and circumstances (43) (8) (5
g_ Settlements during the period -t - (15—, = (1) . —!
Lapses of applicable statute of limitations 3) — —
{Balance at December 31, 2018 167 44 5§
Additions for tax positions of the current year - o 6 — —
{Additions for tax positions of prior years * 5T T 13 ..,.',.:_—J
Reductions for tax positions of prior years for: o P
( Changes based on facts and circumstances ¢ . 45) @ (D
Settlements during the period ---_- . —"73) (N —
¢ Lapses of applicable statute of limitations . N CO — ) ’:j
Balance at December 31, 2019 ) $ 172 § 52 8 4

The total amount of gross uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 that, if recognized, would
affect the effective tax rate was $171, $165 and $159 million, respectively. Our continuing policy is to recognize interest and
penalties associated with income tax matters as a component of income tax expense.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, most U.S. state and local jurisdictions, and many non-U.S.

-jurisdictions. We have substantially resolved all U.S. federal income tax matters for tax years prior to 2015.

A number of years may elapse before an uncertain tax position is audited and ultimately settled. It is difficult to predict the
ultimate outcome or the timing of resolution for uncertain tax positions. It is reasonably possible that the liability for uncertain
tax positions could significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months. Items that may cause changes to uncertain
tax positions include the timing of interest deductions and the allocation of income and expense between tax jurisdictions. *
These changes could result from the settlement of ongoing litigation, the completion of ongoing examinations, the expiration of
the statute of limitations, additional regulatory guidance on the Tax Act or other unforeseen circumstances. At this time, an
estimate of the range of the reasonably possible change cannot be made.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The earnings per share amounts are the same for class A and class B common shares as the holders of each class are
legally entitled to equal per share distributions whether through dividends or in liquidation.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in millions, except per share
amounts):

2019 2018 2017

Numerator:

Net income attributable to common shareowners 7 $ 4440 $ 4,791 $§ 4,905
Denominator:

Weighted-average shares 7 o 859 860 865

Deferred compensation obligations — 1 1

Vested portion of restricted shares 5 5 5
Denominator for basic earnings per share 864 866 871
Effect of Dilutive Securities:

Restricted performance units 5 4 3

Stock options — — 1
Denominator for diluted eamings per share ' ' 869 870 875
Basic Earnings Per Share $ 514 § 553 8§ 5.63
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 511 $ 551 § 5.61

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 exclude the effect of 0.5, 0.2 and
0.1 million shares, respectively, of common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of employee stock options because such
effect would be antidilutive.
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NOTE 16. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk Management Policies

Changes in fuel prices, interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates impact our results of operations. These exposures
are actively monitored by management. To manage the impact of these exposures, we enter into a variety of derivative financial
instruments. Our objective is to manage, where it is deemed appropriate to do so, fluctuations in earnings and cash flows associated
with changes in foreign currency rates, commodity prices and interest rates. It is our policy and practice to use derivative financial
instruments only to the extent necessary to manage exposures. As we use price sensitive instruments to hedge a certain portion of
our existing and anticipated transactions, we expect that any loss in value from those instruments generally would be offset by
increases in the value of those hedged transactions. We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or
speculative purposes.

Credit Risk Management

The forward contracts, swaps and options discussed below contain an element of risk that the counterparties may be unable to
meet the terms of the agreements; however, we seek to minimize such risk exposures for these instruments by limiting the
counterparties to banks and financial institutions that meet established credit guidelines and by monitoring counterparties to prevent
concentrations of credit risk with any single counterparty.

We have agreements with all of our active counterparties (covering the majority of our derivative positions) containing early
termination rights and/or zero threshold bilateral collateral provisions whereby cash is required based on the net fair value of
derivatives associated with those counterparties.

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, we held cash collateral of $495 and $325 million, respectively, under these agreements; this
collateral is included in "Cash and cash equivalents" on the consolidated balance sheets and its use by UPS is not restricted. At
December 31, 2019 and 2018 respectively, no additional collateral was required to be posted with our counterparties.

Events such as a counterparty credit rating downgrade (depending on the ultimate rating level) could also allow us to take
additional protective measures such as the early termination of trades. Alternatively, we could be required to provide additional
collateral or terminate transactions with certain counterparties in the event of a downgrade of our credit rating. The amount of
collateral required would be determined by the net fair value of the associated derivatives with each counterparty. We have not
historically incurred, and do not expect to incur in the future, any losses as a result of counterparty default.

At December 31, 2019, there were no instruments in a net liability position that were not covered by the zero threshold
bilateral collateral provisions.

Types of Hedges
Commodity Risk Management

Currently, the fuel surcharges that we apply to our domestic and international package and less-than-truckload services are the
primary means of reducing the risk of adverse fuel price changes on our business. In order to mitigate the impact of fuel surcharges
imposed on us by outside carriers, we regularly adjust the rates we charge for our freight brokerage, inter-modal and truckload
services. We periodically enter into derivative contracts on energy commodity products to manage the price risk associated with
forecasted transactions involving refined fuels, principally jet-A, diesel and unleaded gasoline. The objective of the hedges is to
reduce the variability of cash flows, due to changing fuel prices, associated with the forecasted transactions involving those
products. We normally designate and account for these contracts as cash flow hedges of the underlying forecasted transactions
involving these fuel products and, therefore, the resulting gains and losses from these hedges are recognized as a component of fuel
expense or revenue when the underlying transactions occur.

Foreign Currency Risk Management

To protect against the reduction in value of forecasted foreign currency cash flows from our international package business,
we maintain a foreign currency cash flow hedging program. Our most significant foreign currency exposures relate to the Euro,
British Pound Sterling, Canadian Dollar, Chinese Renminbi and Hong Kong Dollar. We hedge portions of our forecasted revenue
denominated in foreign currencies with option and forward contracts. We normally designate and account for these contracts as cash
flow hedges of anticipated foreign currency denominated revenue and, therefore, the resulting gains and losses from these hedges
are recognized as a component of international package revenue when the underlying sales transactions occur.
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We also hedge portions of our anticipated cash settlements of intercompany transactions and interest payments on certain debt
subject to foreign currency remeasurement using foreign currency forward contracts. We normally designate and account for these
contracts as cash flow hedges of forecasted foreign currency denominated transactions; therefore, the resulting gains and losses from
these hedges are recognized as a component of investment income and other when the underlying transactions are subject to
currency remeasurement.

We hedge our net investment in certain foreign operations with foreign currency denominated debt instruments. The use of
foreign denominated debt as the hedging instrument allows the debt to be remeasured to foreign currency translation adjustment
within AOCI to offset the translation risk from those investments. Balances in the cumulative translation adjustment accounts
remain until the sale or substantially complete liquidation of the foreign entity, upon which they are recognized as a component of
investment income and other.

Interest Rate Risk Management

Our indebtedness under our various financing arrangements creates interest rate risk. We use a combination of derivative
instruments as part of our program to manage the fixed and floating interest rate mix of our total debt portfolio and related overall
cost of borrowing. The notional amount, interest payment date and maturity date of the swaps match the terms of the associated debt
being hedged. Interest rate swaps allow us to maintain a target range of floating-rate debt within our capital structure.

We have designated and account for the majority of our interest rate swaps that convert fixed-rate interest payments into
floating-rate interest payments as hedges of the fair value of the associated debt instruments. Therefore, the gains and losses
resulting from fair value adjustments to the interest rate swaps and fair value adjustments to the associated debt instruments are
recorded to interest expense in the period in which the gains and losses occur. We have designated and account for interest rate
swaps that convert floating-rate interest payments into fixed-rate interest payments as cash flow hedges of the forecasted payment
obligations. The gains and losses resulting from fair value adjustments to the interest rate swaps are recorded to AOCI.

We periodically hedge the forecasted fixed-coupon interest payments associated with anticipated debt offerings by using
forward starting interest rate swaps, interest rate locks or similar derivatives. These agreements effectively lock a portion of our
interest rate exposure between the time the agreement 1s entered into and the date when the debt offering is completed, thereby
mitigating the impact of interest rate changes on future interest expense. These derivatives are settled commensurate with the
issuance of the debt, and any gain or loss upon settlement is amortized as an adjustment to the effective interest yield on the debt.

Outstanding Positions

The notional amounts of our outstanding derivative positions were as follows as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in millions):

2019 2018

Currency Hedge;: _
Euro EUR 4,571 4,924
British Pound Sterling GBP 1494 2,037
Canadian Dollar ' CAD 1,402 1,443
Hong Kong Dollar HKD 3,327 3,642
Singapore Dollar SGD — 20
Interest Rate Hédges:

Fixed to Floating Interest Rate Swaps USD 3,674 4,674
Floating to Fixed Interest Rate Swaps USD 778 778

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had no outstanding commodity hedge positions.
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UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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The following table indicates the location in the consolidated balance sheets where our derivative assets and liabilities have
been recognized, the fair value hierarchy level applicable to each derivative type and the related fair values of those derivatives (in

millions).

We have master netting arrangements with substantially all of our counterparties giving us the right of offset for our derivative
positions. However, we have not elected to offset the fair value positions of our derivative contracts recorded in the consolidated
balance sheets. The columns labeled "Net Amounts if Right of Offset had been Applied" indicate the potential net fair value
positions by type of contract and location in the consolidated balance sheets had we elected to apply the night of offset.

Gross Amounts Presented in
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Net Amounts if Right of
Offset had been Applied

Balance Sheet Fair Value
Asset Derivatives Location Hierarchy Level 2019 2018 2019 2018
Derivatives designated as
hedges: v
Foreign exchange contracts Other current assets Level 2 $ 138 §$ 90 $ 131 § 83
Interest rate contracts Other current assets Level 2 2 1 2 1
Foreign exchange contracts ~ Other non-current assets Level 2 252 230 236 215
Interest rate contracts Other non-current assets Level 2 21 14 20 6
Derivatives not designated
as hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts Other current assets Level 2 7 7 7 5
Foreign exchange contracts  Other non-current assets Level 2 — 1 — 1
Interest rate contracts Other non-current assets Level 2 12 18 11 18
Total Asset Derivatives $ 432§ 361 $ 407 $ 329
Gross Amounts Presented in Net Amounts if Right of
Consolidated Balance Sheets Offset had been Applied
Balance Sheet Fair Value
Liability Derivatives Location Hierarchy Level 2019 2018 2019 2018
Derivatives designated as
hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts Other current liabilities Level 2 $ 7 8 7 8 — § —
. Other non-current
Foreign exchange contracts liabilities Level 2 16 15 — —
Other non-current
Interest rate contracts liabilities Level 2 11 41 10 33
Derivatives not designated '
as hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts Other current liabilities Level 2 — 3 — 1
. Other non-current
Foreign exchange contracts liabilities Level 2 —_ 1 — 1
Other non-current
Interest rate contracts liabilities Level 2 3 — 2 —
Total Liability
Derivatives $ 37 § 67 $ 12 $ 35

Our foreign exchange, interest rate and investment market price derivatives are largely comprised of over-the-counter
derivatives, which are primarily valued using pricing models that rely on market observable inputs such as yield curves, currency
exchange rates and investment forward prices; therefore, these derivatives are classified as Level 2. At December 31, 2019 and 2018
we did not have any derivatives that were classified as Level 1 (valued using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets) or
Level 3 (valued using significant unobservable inputs).
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Balance Sheet Location of Hedged Item in Fair Value Hedges

The following table indicates the amounts that were recorded in the consolidated balance sheets related to cumulative basis
adjustments for fair value hedges as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 (in millions).

Cumulative Cumulative
Carrying Amount Amount of Fair Carrying Amount Amount of Fair
of Hedged Value Hedge of Hedged Value Hedge
Liabilities Adjustments Liabilities Adjustments
Line Item in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in
Which the Hedged Item is Included December 31,2019 December 31,2019 December 31,2018 December 31, 2018
Long-Term Debt and Finance Leases. 3,234 40 4,207 16

The cumulative amount of fair value hedging losses remaining for any hedged assets and liabilities for which hedge
accounting has been discontinued as of December 31, 2019 is $17 million. These amounts will be recognized over the next 11 years.

Income Statement and AOCI Recognition

The following table indicates the amount of gains and losses that have been recognized in the income statement for the fair
value and cash flow hedges, as well as the associated gain or (loss) for the underlying hedged item for fair value hedges for the
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in millions):

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2019 2018

Location and Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Investment Investment
Income on Fair Value and Cash Flow Hedging Interest Income Interest Income
Relationships Revenue Expense and Other Revenue Expense and Other

Gain or (loss) on fair value hedging relationships:
Interest Contl;acts:
Hedged items $ — 8 38) $ — 3 — 3 57 §$ —
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments — 38 — — 57 —
Gains or (loss) on cash flow hedging relationships: ‘

Interest Contracts:

Amount of gain or (loss) reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive income — (15) —_ — (24) —

Foreign Exchange Contracts:

Amount of gain or (loss) reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive income 177 — — (50) — —

Total amounts of income and expense line items
presented in the statement of income in which the
effects of fair value or cash flow hedges.are recorded $ 177 8§ (15) $ — 8 (50) $ 24) $ —
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The following table indicates the amount of gains and (losses) that have been recognized in AOCI for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018 for those denvatives designated as cash flow hedges (in millions):

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in AOCI on Derivatives

Derivative Instruments in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships 2019 2018

Interest rate contracts $ 6 § 1

Foreign exchange contracts 250 563
Total ' $ 256§ 564

As of December 31, 2019, there were $162 million of pre-tax gains related to cash flow hedges that are currently deferred in
AQCI that are expected to be reclassified to income over the 12 month period ended December 31, 2020. The actual amounts that
will be reclassified to income over the next 12 months will vary from this amount as a result of changes in market conditions. The
maximum term over which we are hedging exposures to the variability of cash flows is approximately 13 years.

The following table indicates the amount of gains and losses that have been recognized in AOCI within foreign currency
translation adjustment for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 for those instruments designated as net investment hedges
(in millions):

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in AOCI on Debt

Non-derivative Instruments in Net Investment Hedging Relationships 2019 2018
Foreign denominated debt $ 75 8 211
Total $ 75 8 211

Additionally, we maintain interest rate swaps, foreign exchange forwards and investment market price forward contracts that
are not designated as hedges. The interest rate swap contracts are intended to provide an economic hedge of portions of our
outstanding debt. The foreign exchange forward contracts are intended to provide an economic offset to foreign currency
remeasurement and settlement risk for certain assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. The investment market price
forward contracts are intended to provide an economic offset to fair value fluctuations of certain investments in marketable
securities.

We also periodically terminate interest rate swaps and foreign exchange options by entering into offsetting swap and foreign
currency positions with different counterparties. As part of this process, we de-designate our original swap and foreign exchange
contracts. These transactions provide an economic offset that effectively eliminates the effects of changes in market valuation.

The following is a summary of the amounts recorded in the statements of consolidated income related to fair value changes
and settlements of these interest rate swaps, foreign currency forward and investment market price forward contracts not designated
as hedges for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in millions):

Derivative Instruments Not Designated in (ﬁgzs‘)"ﬁzc(:)fgl(:;lgi Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income
Hedging Relationships in Income 2019 2018

Interest rate contracts Interest expense $ 9 $ 9
Foreién exchange contract-s Investme;lt income and other - . D) - (1.02)
Invest.ment market price contracts Investment income and other — 16
Total $ (10) 8 (93)
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NOTE 17. TRANSFORMATION STRATEGY COSTS

In the first quarter of 2018, we launched the first phase of a multi-year, enterprise-wide transformation strategy impacting
our organization. Over the next several years additional phases will be implemented. The program includes investments, as well
as changes in processes and technology, that impact global direct and indirect operating costs.

The table below presents the transformation strategy costs for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

Transformation Strategy Costs 2019 2018
Compensation and benefits $ 166 $ 262
Total other expenses 89 98

Total Transformation Strategy Costs $ 255 % 360
Income Tax Benefit from Transformation Strategy Costs ) - 39 - (87).
After Tax Transformation Strategy Costs . $ 196 $ 273

The income tax effects of transformation strategy costs are calculated by multiplying the amount of the adjustments by
the statutory tax rates applicable in each tax jurisdiction.

NOTE 18. QUARTERLY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Our revenue, segment operating profit, other income and (expense), net income, basic and diluted earnings per share on a
quarterly basis are presented below (in millions, except per share amounts):

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Revenue:
U.S. Domestic Package $10,480 $10,227 $11,150 $10,354 $11.455 $10437 $13,408 $12,575
International Package 3,459 3,533 3,505 3,602 3,494 3,478 3,762 3,829
Supply Chain & Freight 3,221 3,353 3,393 3,500 -3,369 3,529 3,398 3,444
Total revenue 17,160 17,113 18,048 17456 18318 17,444 20,568 19,848
Operéting Profit: i
U.S. Domestic Package 666 756 1208 939 1216 949 1,074 999
International Package 7 528 594 663 618 667 536 799 781
Supply Chain & Freight 200 170 272 216 245 242 260 . 224
Total operating profit 1,394 1,520 2,143 1,773 2,128 1,727 2,133 2,004
Total Other Income and (Expense) $ 46 $ 141 §$ 61 $§ 153 § 78 $ 162 $(2,331) $(1,461)
Net Income - $ 1,111 $ 1345 § i,685 " $ 1485 $ 1,750 $ 1,508 $ (106) $ 453
Net Income Per Share:
Basic 0§ 128 § 155 $§ 195 § 171 $ 203 $ 174 8§ (0.12) § 0.52
Diluted $ 128 $§ 155 % 194 $ 171 $§ 201 $ 173 8§ (0.12) § 052
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Our quarterly results were impacted by transformation strategy costs, legal contingencies and expenses and defined
benefit plan mark-to-market charges. The table below presents the impact on operating profit and other income and (expense)

for each period.
(in millions, except per share amounts) First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Impact to Operating Profit
Transformation Strategy - Employee Benefits $ 106 — § 2§ 192 41 70 $ 17 8 —
Transformation Strategy - Other Costs 17 — 19 71 22 27 31 —
Legal Contingencies and Expenses — — — — — — 97 —
Allocation of Matters Impacting Operating Profit
to Segments
U.S. Domestic Package $ 28 — 18 196 26 39 133 —
International Package B 84 — 2 36 26 40 10 —
Supply Chain & Freight 11 — 1 31 11 18 2 —
Impact to Other Income and (Expense) /
Defined Benefit Plan Mark-to-Market Charges 5§ — — $ — %3 — — — $ 2387 $ 1,627
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures:

As of the end of the period covered by this report, management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based
upon, and as of the date of, the evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the
disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file and
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported as and when required and is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control:

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31,
2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Management s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting:

UPS management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for
United Parcel Service, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company™). Based on the criteria for effective internal control over
financial reporting established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, management has assessed the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
as effective as of December 31, 2019. The independent registered public accounting firm of Deloitte & Touche LLP, as auditors
of the consolidated balance sheets of United Parcel Service, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019 and the related
statements of consolidated income, consolidated comprehensive income and consolidated cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2019, has issued an attestation report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, which is
included herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareowners and Board of Directors of
United Parcel Service, Inc.
Atlanta, Georgia

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of United Parcel Service, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
"Company") as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). In our opinion, the Company maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established
in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (“PCAOB”), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, of the Company
and our report dated February 20, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and included an
explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s adoption of a new accounting standard.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extermnal purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 20, 2020
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.-

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information about our Executive Officers

Principal Occupation and Employment For the Last

Name and Office Age Five Years

David P. Abney 64 Chief Executive Officer (2014 - present), Chairman (2016
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer - present) Senior Vice President and Chief Operating

Officer (2007 - 2014).

Norman M. Brothers, Jr. 52 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate
Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary (2016 - present), Corporate Legal Department
Corporate Secretary Manager (2014 - 2016), Vice President, Corporate Legal

(2004 - 2014).

Nando Cesarone 48 President, UPS International (2018 - present), Europe

Senior Vice President and President, UPS International Region Manager (2016 - 2018), Asia Pacific Region
Manager (2013 - 2016).

Philippe Gilbert 55 President, UPS Supply Chain Solutions (2019 - present),
Senior Vice President and President, UPS Supply Chain Regional CEO, Americas, DB Schenker Logistics (2015 -
Solutions 2018), Regional CEO, West Europe, DB Schenker

Logistics (2013 - 2015).

Kate M. Gutmann 51 Chief Sales and Solutions Officer; Senior Vice President

Senior Vice President, Chief Sales and Solutions Officer The UPS Store and UPS Capital (2017 - present), Senior
Vice President, Worldwide Sales and Solutions (2014 -
2017), President, Worldwide Sales (2011 - 2014).

Brian Newman 51 Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (2019 - present),

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer Executive Vice President, Finance and Operations, Latin
America, PepsiCo, Inc. (2017 - 2019), Executive Vice
President, Global Operations, PepsiCo, Inc. (2015 - 2017),
Global Head of e-Commerce, PepsiCo, Inc. (2014 - 2015).

Juan R. Perez 53 Chief Information Officer and Engineering Officer (2017
Senior Vice President, Chief Information Officer - present), Chief Information Officer (2016 - 2017), Vice

President, Information Services (2011 - 2016).

Scott A. Price 57 Chief Strategy Transformation Officer (2017 - present),

Senior Vice President, Chief Transformation Officer Executive Vice President of Global Leverage - Walmart
International, Walmart Stores, Inc. (2017), Chief
Administrative Officer and Executive Vice President -
Walmart International, Walmart Stores Inc. (2016 - 2017),
Chief Executive Officer and President of Walmart Asia
Pte. Ltd. (2014 - 2016).

Charlene Thomas 52 Chief Human Resources Officer (2019 - present),

Senior Vice President, Chief Human Resources Officer President, Human Capital Transformation (2019), West
Region Manager (2018 - 2019), North Atlantic District
Manager (2018), Mid-South District Manager
(2016-2018), West-OPS Package Operations Manager
(2016), U.S. Operations Training Staff Manager
(2015-2016).

Kevin Warren 57 Chief Marketing Officer (2018 - present), Executive Vice

Senior Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer President and Chief Commercial Officer, Xerox Corp.
(2017 - 2018), Prestdent, Commercial Business Group,
Xerox Corp. (2016 - 2017), President, Industrial, Retail
and Hospitality Business Group, Xerox Corp. (2015 -
2016), President of Strategic Growth Initiatives, Xerox
Corp. (2014 - 2015).
George Willis 55 President, U.S. Operations (2018 - present), President,

Senior Vice President and President, United States Operations
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Information about our directors is presented under the caption “Our Board of Directors" in our definitive proxy statement
for the Annual Meeting of Shareowners to be held on May 14, 2020 (the “Proxy Statement™) and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Information about our Audit Committee is presented under the caption “Our Board of Directors - Committees of the
Board of Directors” and "Audit Committee Matters" in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information about our Code of Business Conduct is presented under the caption “Where You Can Find More Information™
in Part I, Item 1 of this report.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information about our board and executive compensation is presented under the captions “Our Board of Directors -
Director Compensation" and "Executive Compensation" in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information about security ownership is presented under the caption “Ownership of Our Securities - Securities
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information about our equity compensation plans is presented under the caption “Executive Compensation - Equity
Compensation Plans” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Information about transactions with related persons is presented under the caption “Corporate Governance - Conflicts of
Interest and Related Person Transactions” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Information about director independence is presented under the caption “Corporate Governance - Director Independence”
in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information about aggregate fees billed to us by our principal accountant is presented under the caption “Audit
Committee Matters - Principal Accounting Firm Fees” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(@) Documents filed as a part of this report:
1. Financial Statements.
See Item 8 for the financial statements filed with this report.
2. Financial Statement Schedules.
None.
3. Exhibits.
See the Exhibit Index below for a list of the exhibits incorporated by reference into or filed with this report.
(b) Exhibits Required To Be Filed
See Item 15(a)l above
(c) Financial Statement Schedules Required To Be Filed
See Item 15(a) 2 above

Item 16. Formn 10-K Summary

None.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of United Parcel Service, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to
Form 8-K filed on May 12, 2010).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of United Parcel Service, Inc. as of November 17, 2017 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K., filed on November 17, 2017).

Indenture relating to 8 3/8% Debentures due April 1, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(c) to
Registration Statement No. 33-32481, filed on December 7, 1989)"".

Indenture dated as of December 18. 1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit T-3C to Form T-3 (No. 022-22295),

filed on December 18. 1997).
Indenture dated as of January 26, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Pre-Effective Amendment No.
1 to Form S-3 (No. 333-08369). filed on January 26, 19991

Form of First Supplemental Indenture to Indenture dated as of January 26, 1999 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-3 (No. 333-08369-01), filed on March 15. 2000).

Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 21, 2001 to Indenture dated as of January 26. 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30. 2001).

Indenture dated as of August 26. 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form S-3 (No. 333-108272),
filed on August 27, 2003).

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 15, 2013 to Indenture dated as of August 26, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form S-3ASR (No. 333-192369). filed on November 15, 2013).

Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 18, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K
filed on May 18, 2017).

Form of 6.20% Senior Notes due January 15, 2038 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Form 8-K. filed on
January 15. 2008).

Form of 3.125% Senior Notes due January 15, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, filed
on November 12, 2010).

Form of 4.875% Senior Notes due November 15. 2040 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K. filed

on November 12. 2010).

Form of 2.450% Senior Notes due October 1. 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K. filed on
September 27, 2012).

Form of 3.625% Senior Notes due October 1, 2042 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Form 8-K, filed on
September 27, 2012).

Form of Floating Rate Senior Notes due December 15. 2064 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-
K, filed on December 15, 2014).

Form of Floating Rate Senior Notes due September 15, 2065 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-
K, filed on September 17, 2015).

Form of Floating Rate Sentor Notes due July 15, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K. filed
on November 20, 2015).

Form of 1.625% Senior Notes due November 15. 2025 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, filed

on November 20. 2015).

Form of Floating Rate Senior Notes due March 15, 2066 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K,
filed on April 1. 2016).

Form of 2.40% Senior Notes Due November 2026 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, filed on
October 25, 2016).

Form of 3.40% Senior Notes Due November 2046 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Form 8-K. filed on
October 25, 2016).
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4.36

4.37

438

439

4.40

4.41

10.1

10.1(a)

Form of 1.00% Senior Notes Due November 2028 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, filed on
October 25, 2016).

Form of Floating Rate Senior Notes due March 15, 2067 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K,
filed on March 31, 2017).

Form of Floating Rate Senior Notes due May 16. 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K., filed
on May 16, 2017).

Form of 2.350% Senior Notes due May 16, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, filed on
May 16, 2017).

Form of 2.125% Senior Notes due May 21, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K. filed on
May 18. 2017).

Form of 0.375% Senior Notes due November 15, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, filed
on November 13, 2017).

Form of 1.500% Senior Notes due November 15. 2032 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K_ filed
on November 13, 2017).

Form of Floating Rate Senior Notes due April 1, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K., filed
on November 14, 2017).

Form of Floating Rate Senior Notes due April 1. 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K. filed
on November 14, 2017).

Form of 2.050% Senior Notes due April 1, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Form 8-K, filed on
November 14, 2017).

Form of 2.500% Senior Notes due April 1, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Form 8-K. filed on
November 14, 2017).

Form of 2.800% Senior Notes due November 15, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to Form 8-K, filed
on November 14, 2017).

Form of 3.050% Senior Notes due November 15, 2027 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to Form 8-K, filed
on November 14, 2017).

Form of 3.750% Senior Notes due November 15, 2047 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to Form 8-K, filed
on November 14, 2017).

Form of Floating Rate Senior Notes due November 15, 2067 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to Form 8-
K. filed on November 14, 2017).

Form of 3.400% Senior Notes due March 135, 2029 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K, filed on
March 15, 2019).

Form of 4.250% Senior Notes due March 15, 2049 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K, filed on
March 15, 2019).

Form of 2.200% Senior Notes due September 1, 2024 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K filed
on August 16, 2019).

Form of 2.500% Senior Notes due September 1, 2029 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K filed
on August 16, 2019).

Form of 3.400% Senior Notes due September 1. 2049 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Form 8-K filed
on August 16, 2019).

Description of Securities.

UPS Retirement Plan Amendment and Restatement Effective January 1, 2014 (incorporated by referenbe to Exhibit
10.1 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014).*

Amendment No. 1 to UPS Retirement Plan, as Amended and Restated. effective as of June 30, 2016 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016).*

135



10.1(b)

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.4(a)

10.5

10.5(a)

10.5(b)

10.5(c)

10.5(d)

10.5(e)

10.6

10.6(a)

10.7

10.8

10.8(a)

10.8(b)

10.8(c)

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

Amendment Four to the Amended and Restated UPS Retirement Plan effective June 23, 2017 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K, filed on June 27, 2017).*

UPS 401(k) Savings Plan, Amendment and Restatement effective as of January 1, 2017 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K. filed on June 27.2017).*

UPS Réstoration Savings Plan effective January 1. 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K
filed on June 27, 2017).*

Amendment One to the Amended and Restated UPS Excess Coordinating Benefit Plan effective June 23, 2017
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K, filed on June 27, 2017).* i

UPS Excess Coordinating Benefit Plan, as Amended and Restated, effective as of January 1. 2012 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012).*

United Parcel Service, Inc. 2012 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Annex A to
the Definitive Proxy Statement, filed on March 12, 2012).*

Form of Long-Term Incentive Performance Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2011).*

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019).*

UPS Management Incentive Program Terms and Conditions effective as of January 1. 2011 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.10(3) to the Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2010).*

UPS Stock Option Program Terms and Conditions effective as of January 1. 2012 (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.7(4) to the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31. 2011).*

UPS Long-Term Incentive Performance Program Terms and Conditions effective as of January 1, 2012
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(5) to the Form_10-K for the year ended December 31. 2011).*

Form of UPS Deferred Compensation Plan as Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2012 (incorporated by _
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Form_10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018).*

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated UPS Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.7(1) to the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012).*

2015 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Annex A to the Definitive Proxy
Statement filed on March 24, 2015).*

2018 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Annex A to the Definitive Proxy_
Statement filed on March 16, 2018).*

UPS Management Incentive Program Amended and Restated Terms and Conditions effective November 8, 2018
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(a) to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018).*

UPS Stock Option Program Amended and Restated Terms and Conditions effective November 8. 2018
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(b) to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018).*

UPS Long-Term Incentive Performance Program Amended and Restated Terms and Conditions effective as of
November 8. 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(c) to Form 10-K for the vear ended December 31,

2018).*

Employment offer letter agreement between the Company and Scott Price, dated November 28. 2017 (incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018).*

Form of Protective Covenant Agreement between the Company and Scott Price (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 to Form 10-K for the yvear ended December 31, 2018).*

Employment offer letter agreement between the Company and Kevin Warren. dated May 5. 2018 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018).*

Form of Protective Covenant Agreement between the Company and Kevin Warren (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.12 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018).*

Employment offer letter agreement between the Company and Brian Newman, dated August 7. 2019 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8K filed on August 13, 2019).*
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10.14

10.15

10.16

21
23
31.1

31.2

32.1

322

101

104

Protective Covenant Agreement between the Company and Brian Newman, dated August 7, 2019 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K filed on August 13, 2019).*

Transition Agreement between the Company and James J. Barber, dated October 21, 2019 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K, filed on October 22. 2019).*

UPS Long-Term Incentive Performance Program Amended and Restated Terms and Conditions effective as of
February 13, 2020*.

Subsidiaries.

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Certificate of the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certificate of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a). as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

The following financial information from the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019,
formatted in Inline XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the
Consolidated Statements of Income, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iv) the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (v) the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cover Page Interactive Data File - The cover page from this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019 is formatted in iIXBRL (included as Exhibit 101).

O]

Filed in paper format.

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, United Parcel Service, Inc. has

duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

UNITED PARCEL SERVICE, INC.
(REGISTRANT)

By:

Date: February 20, 2020

/s/ DAVID P. ABNEY

David P. Abney

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

Title

Date

/s1 DAVID P. ABNEY

David P. Abney

1S/ BRIAN NEWMAN

Brian Newman

/s/ RODNEY C. ADKINS

Rodney C. Adkins

/st MICHAEL J. BURNS

Michael J. Burns

/s/ WILLIAM R. JOHNSON

William R. Johnson

/s/ ANN M. LIVERMORE

Ann M. Livermore

/s RUDY H.P. MARKHAM

Rudy H. P. Markham

/s/ FRANCK J. MOISON

Franck J. Moison

/st CLARK T. RANDT, JR.

Clark T. Randt, Jr.

/s CHRISTIANA SMITH SHI

Christiana Smith Shi

/s/ JOHN T. STANKEY

John T. Stankey
/s/ CAROL B. TOME

Carol B. Tomé

/s KEVIN M. WARSH

Kevin M. Warsh

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

February 20, 2020

February 20, 2020

February 20, 2020

February 20, 2020

February 20, 2020

February 20, 2020

February 20, 2020

February 20, 2020

February 20, 2020

February 20, 2020

February 20, 2020

February 20, 2020

February 20, 2020



Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

(amounts in millions, except per share amounts)

Net Income Diluted Earnings Per Share
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 20019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Reported / GAAP $ 4440 $ 4791 $ 4905 $ 3822 $ 4340 $§ sn $ ss1 $ 561 $ 386 $ 534
Transfarmation Strategy 255 360 - - - 029 041 - - -
Legal Contingencies and Expenses. 97 - - - - 0.11 - - - -
Defined Benefit Plans Mark-to-Market Charge 2387 1627 800 2651 1g 275 187 0.90 2.9 0.13
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) from the Items Above (636) @17 193) ©78) [€1)) 0.73) (0.55) (0.22) (1.10) 0.09)
Income Tax Benefit fram the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and other non-U.S. tax law change . - (258) - - - - (0.29) - -
M'Esled $ 6543 S 301 $ 5254 $ 5005 $ 3919 $ 753 0§ 724 $ _6.00 3 574 $ 543
Operating Profit
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Reported / GAAP. $ 7798 $ 7,024 $ 7,529 $ 7688 $ 7243
Transformation strategy 255 360 - -
Legal Conti ies and Expenses - - - - - -
Adjusted ———3a150 ISO 7 384 $ 7529 § 7688 688 $ 7243 10.3% 1i.3% 12.5% 12.2%
Operating Profit Operating Margin
U.S. Domesds Packege Iaterasdoas) Peckage Sapply Chfo & Feeight U.8. Damestic Package Jmerastional Package Sapply Chlo & Freight
2019 2018 2019 2018 2018 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Reported / GAAP $ 4164 $ 3.643 $ 2657 $ 2529 $ 977 $ 852 9.0% 8.4% 18.7% 17.5% 7.3% 6.2%
Transformation strategy 108 235 122 76 25 49 02% 0.5% 0.8% 0.5% 0.2% 0.4%
Legal Contingencies and Expenses 97 - - - - - 02% - - - -
Ad'EBlad $ 4369 $ 3878 $ 2779 $ 2605 $ 1002 $ 901 9.4% 8.9% l9 5% 18.0% 7.5% 6.5%
Curren justment a0 10 8 S
M'End Cun'!ncx Neuwal $ 3. 369 S 33878 878 é?w S 2.615 $__1010 $ 906
Revenne Currency Nentral Revenae
2009
U.S. Domertlz Package Ioterasdoca) Packsge Sapply Chado & Preight Currency 2018
20 __ oIl __Zo19__ 018 _ __ 2019 _ 3018 __ Ml msBeoned % Change
Reported / GAAP $ 46.493 $ 43.593 $ 14220 $ 14442 $ 13381 $ 13826 Intemational Package $ 14452 $ 14442 0.1%
Currency Adjustment - - 232 (147 75 (39 Supply Chain & Freight $ 13456 $ 13,826 2.7%
$ 46,493 $ 43.593 $ 14,452 $ 14395 S 13.456 $ 13,787
Return on Assets Adjosted Shareowners’ Equity
2019 2018 2017 2019 2018 2017
Begirming Balance (Reported / GAAP) $ 50,016 $ 45574 _$ 40.545 $ 3.037 $ 1024 3 430
Begiming Balance (Adjusted) $ 49,539 $ 45123 _$ 41.523 $__6943 $ 4593 $ 3851
Endlng Balance (Reported / GAAP) $ 57.857 $ 50016 _§ 35574 $__3283 $ 3,037 1,024
ized Pension and P Benefit Costs (Net of Tox) . - - 5035 3906 3,569
Lbna-Ta-m U, Deferred Tax Assets (6. (47 (451
Adjusted Ending Balance $ 5721 $ 29,539 $ 45.123 S8 3]8 gl iSO 593
"Avemge Reported Balance ((Reported Beginning + Reported Ending) / 2) $ 53937 § 47,795 § 43.060
Average Adjusted Balance {(Adjusted Begimning + Adjusted Ending)/ 2) $53380 4733t § 43323
Retum on Reported Balance (Reported Net Income / Average Reported Balance) 82% 10.0% 11.4%
Retum on Adjusted Balance (Adjusted Net Incame / Average Adjusted Balance) 123% 13.3% 121%

Reported / GAAP
Principal Repayments of Finance Lease Obligations
Adijusted

AdJusted Capital
Expenditores

2019 2018
$ 6380 § 6283
140 340
S 6520 § 6623

i Co—

Note: The adjustments denoted in the tables above are further described in our annual repons on Form 10K for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015, as well as in the historical financial schedules on our investor relations website. .

Note: We supplement the reporting of our financial mformation determined under Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP™) with centain nan-GAAP fmancial measures, including revenue, operating profit, operating margin, net income, earnings per share, and return on
assets adjusted for the non-comparable items listed in the tables nbove. Adjusted financial measures may also exclude the impact of period over period exchange rate changes and hedging activities. We believe these adjusted measures provide meaningful infarmation to assist
investors and analysts in understanding our financial results and assessing our praspects far futire performance. We believe these adjusted financial measures are important indicatars of our recurring results of operstions because they exclude items that may not be
indicative of| or are unrelated to, our underlying operating results, and provide a useful baseline for analyzing wends in our underlying businesses.
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INVESTOR INFORMATION

ANNUAL MEETING

Ourannual meeting of shareowners will be held at 8a.m. on
May 14, 2020, at the Hotel DuPont, 11th and Market Street,
Wilmington, DE. Shareowners of record as of March 16, 2020,
are entitled to vote at the meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
You can contact our Investor Relations Departmentat:

>>> UPS
55 Glenlake Parkway, NE
Atlanta, GA 30328-3474
800.877.1503 or 404.828.6059
investors.ups.com

EXCHANGE LISTING
Our Class Bcommon stockis listed on the New York
Stock Exchange under the symbol “UPS".

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
Computershare

Send notices of address changes or questions regarding
account status, stock transfer, lost certificates, or
dividend payments to:

>>> Regular Mail
UPS
¢/o Computershare
PO Box 505002
Louisville, KY 40233-5002

or:

>>> Expedited Delivery
UPS
¢/o Computershare
462 South 4th Street, Suite 1600
Louisville, KY 40202

FORM 10-K

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019 forms part of the UPS 2019 Annual

Report.if youwould like an additional copy of our Form

10-K, you can access it through the Investor Relations website
at www.investors.ups.com or at the Securities and Exchange
Commission website, sec.gov. The Form 10-Kalso is available
free of charge by calling, contacting via the website, or writing
to the Investor Relations Department.

UPS SHAREOWNER SERVICES
Convenientaccess 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

>>> Class A Common Shareowners
www.computershare.com/ups
888.663.8325

>>> Class B Common Shareowners
www.computershare.com/ups
800.758.4674

Calls from outside the United States: 201.680.6612
TDD for hearing impaired: 800.231.5469
TDD for non-U.S. shareowners: 201.680.6610

DIRECT STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

To make an initial purchase of UPS Class B Common Stock
online, visit www.computershare.com/Investorand go to
“Invest Now". Follow the instructions provided to search for
Investment Plans and access the Enroliment Wizard.

Current Class B shareowners can enroll in the
plan online by accessing their accounts through
www.computershare.com/ups or by calling 800.758.4674.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN
To reinvest dividends in additional UPS shares:

>>> Class A and B Shareowners
www.computershare.com/ups

ONLINE ACCESS TO SHAREOWNER ACCOUNT
MATERIALS

Enroll in E-Communications, a self-service program that
provides electronic notification and secure access to
shareowner communications. To enroll, access your account
atwww.computershare.com/ups. Afteraccessing your
account, click the “What would you like to do” dropdown
menu in the upper left of the page. Under “Holdings” click
“Manage My Stock,” setect “My Profile,” click “Update” under
“E-Communications” and follow the enroiliment instructions.

UPS WEBSITES
Investor Relations............... investors.ups.com

UPS Corporate................... ups.com

Sustainability/
Corporate Responsibility....... sustainability.ups.com

Services and Solutions.......... ups.com/businesssolutions




[

55 Glenlake Parkway, NE
Atlanta, GA 30328-3474
www.ups.com
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